MIRANT CORP Form 10-K February 27, 2009 Table of Contents

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

x ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008

or

" TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 001-16107

Mirant Corporation

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Delaware (State or Other Jurisdiction of

Incorporation or Organization)

1155 Perimeter Center West, Suite 100,

Atlanta, Georgia (Address of Principal Executive Offices)

(678) 579 5000

(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

20-3538156 (I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

30338 (Zip Code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class Common Stock, par value \$0.01 per share Series A Warrants Series B Warrants Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered New York Stock Exchange New York Stock Exchange New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined by Rule 405 of the Securities Act. x Yes " No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. "Yes x No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. x Yes "No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of the registrants knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer, accelerated filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

 Large Accelerated Filer x
 Accelerated Filer "

 Non-accelerated Filer "
 (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

 Smaller reporting company
 Smaller reporting company "

 Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act)." Yes x No

Aggregate market value of voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant was approximately \$6,974,396,638 on June 30, 2008 (based on \$39.15 per share, the closing price in the daily composite list for transactions on the New York Stock Exchange that day).

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all documents and reports required to be filed by Section 12, 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 subsequent to the distribution of securities under a plan confirmed by a court. x Yes "No

As of February 20, 2009, there were 144,127,672 shares of the registrant s Common Stock, \$0.01 par value per share, outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Registrant s proxy statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K to the extent described herein.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Classer of Contain Defined Terms	Page
	Glossary of Certain Defined Terms	i -v
	<u>PART I</u>	
Item 1.	Business	5
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	24
Item 1B.	Unresolved Staff Comments	33
Item 2.	Properties	34
Item 3.	Legal Proceedings	34
Item 4.	Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders	34
	PART II	
Item 5.	Market for Registrant s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities	35
Item 6.	Selected Financial Data	39
Item 7.	Management s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition	41
Item 7A.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	81
Item 8.	Financial Statements and Supplementary Data	F-1
Item 9.	Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure	87
Item 9A.	Controls and Procedures	87
Item 9B.	Other Information	88
	PART III	
Item 10.	Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant	89
Item 11.	Executive Compensation	89
Item 12.	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters	89
Item 13.	Certain Relationships and Related Transactions	89
Item 14.	Principal Accountant Fees and Services	89
	PART IV	
Item 15.	Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules	90

Glossary of Certain Defined Terms

APSA Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement dated June 7, 2000, between the Company and Pepco.

Bankruptcy Code United States Bankruptcy Code.

Bankruptcy Court United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas, Fort Worth Division.

Baseload Generating Units Units that satisfy minimum baseload requirements of the system and produce electricity at an essentially constant rate and run continuously.

- CAIR Clean Air Interstate Rule.
- CAISO California Independent System Operator.
- Cal PX California Power Exchange.
- CAMR Clean Air Mercury Rule.
- CCX Chicago Climate Exchange.
- CERCLA Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980.
- Clean Air Act Federal Clean Air Act.
- Clean Water Act Federal Water Pollution Control Act.
- CO2 Carbon dioxide.
- Company Old Mirant prior to January 3, 2006, and New Mirant on or after January 3, 2006.
- CPUC California Public Utilities Commission.
- DWR California Department of Water Resources.
- EBITDA Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.

EITF The Emerging Issues Task Force formed by the Financial Accounting Standards Board.

EITF 02-3 EITF Issue No. 02-3, Issues Involved in Accounting for Derivative Contracts Held for Trading Purposes and Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk Management Activities.

- EOB California Electricity Oversight Board.
- EPA United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- EPS Earnings per share.
- ERISA Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.
- FASB Financial Accounting Standards Board.
- FERC Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.
- Table of Contents

FIN FASB Interpretation.

FIN 39 FIN No. 39, Offsetting of Amounts Related to Certain Contracts.

FIN 45 FIN No. 45, Guarantor s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others An Interpretation of FASB Statements Nos. 5, 57, and 107 and Rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34.

FIN 46R FIN No. 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (Revised December 2003) an Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51.

FIN 47 FIN No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirements an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143.

i

FIN 48 FIN No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109.

FSP FASB Staff Position.

FSP FAS 132R-1 FSP FAS No. 132(R)-1, Employers Disclosures about Postretirement Benefit Plan Assets (Revised 2003).

FSP FAS 157-2 FSP FAS No. 157-2, Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157.

FSP FAS 157-3 FSP FAS No. 157-3, Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset When the Market for That Asset Is Not Active.

FSP FIN 39-1 FSP FIN No. 39-1, Amendment of FASB Interpretation No. 39 (FIN 39).

GAAP Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

Gross Margin Operating revenue less cost of fuel, electricity and other products, excluding depreciation and amortization.

Hudson Valley Gas Hudson Valley Gas Corporation.

IBEW International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers.

InterContinental Exchange InterContinental Exchange, Inc.

Intermediate Generating Units Units that meet system requirements that are greater than baseload and less than peaking.

ISO Independent System Operator.

- ISO-NE Independent System Operator-New England.
- kW Kilowatt.
- LIBOR London InterBank Offered Rate.
- LTSA Long-term service agreement.
- MC Asset Recovery MC Asset Recovery, LLC.
- MDE Maryland Department of the Environment.

Mirant Old Mirant prior to January 3, 2006, and New Mirant on or after January 3, 2006.

Mirant Americas Mirant Americas, Inc.

Mirant Americas Energy Marketing Mirant Americas Energy Marketing, LP.

- Mirant Americas Generation Mirant Americas Generation, LLC.
- Mirant Asia-Pacific Mirant Asia-Pacific Limited sold by the Company in the second quarter of 2007.

Mirant Bowline Mirant Bowline, LLC.

Mirant Canal Mirant Canal, LLC.

Mirant Chalk Point Mirant Chalk Point, LLC.

Table of Contents

Mirant Delta Mirant Delta, LLC.

Mirant Energy Trading Mirant Energy Trading, LLC.

Mirant Kendall Mirant Kendall, LLC.

Mirant Lovett Mirant Lovett, LLC.

ii

- Mirant MD Ash Management Mirant MD Ash Management, LLC.
- Mirant Mid-Atlantic Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC and, except where the context indicates otherwise, its subsidiaries.
- Mirant New York Mirant New York, LLC.
- Mirant North America Mirant North America, LLC.
- Mirant NY-Gen Mirant NY-Gen, LLC sold by the Company in the second quarter of 2007.
- Mirant Pagbilao Mirant Pagbilao Corporation sold by the Company in the second quarter of 2007.
- Mirant Potomac River Mirant Potomac River, LLC.
- Mirant Potrero Mirant Potrero, LLC.
- Mirant Power Purchase Mirant Power Purchase, LLC.
- Mirant Services Mirant Services, LLC.
- Mirant Sual Mirant Sual Corporation sold by the Company in the second quarter of 2007.
- Mirant Trinidad Investments Mirant Trinidad Investments, LLC sold by the Company in the third quarter of 2007.
- MW Megawatt.
- MWh Megawatt hour.
- NAAQS National ambient air quality standard.
- NEPOOL New England Power Pool.
- NERC North American Electric Reliability Council.
- Net Capacity Factor The average production as a percentage of the potential net dependable capacity used over a year.
- New Mirant Mirant Corporation on or after January 3, 2006.
- NOL Net operating loss.
- NOV Notice of violation.
- NOx Nitrogen oxides.
- NPCC Northeastern Power Coordinating Council.
- NSR New source review.
- NYISO Independent System Operator of New York.
- NYMEX New York Mercantile Exchange.
- NYSDEC New York State Department of Environmental Conservation.

Table of Contents

NYSE New York Stock Exchange.

Old Mirant MC 2005, LLC, known as Mirant Corporation prior to January 3, 2006.

Orange and Rockland Orange and Rockland Utilities, Inc.

OTC Over-the-counter.

Ozone Season The period between May 1 and September 30 of each year.

Peaking Generating Units Units used to meet demand requirements during the periods of greatest or peak load on the system.

iii

- Pepco Potomac Electric Power Company.
- Petition Date July 14, 2003, the date Mirant and certain of its subsidiaries filed voluntary petitions for relief with the Bankruptcy Court.
- PG&E Pacific Gas & Electric Company.
- PJM PJM Interconnection, LLC.
- Plan The plan of reorganization that was approved in conjunction with the Company s emergence from bankruptcy protection on January 3, 2006.
- **PPA** Power purchase agreement.
- PUHCA Public Utility Holding Company Act of 2005.
- Reserve Margin Excess capacity over peak demand.
- RFC ReliabilityFirst Corporation.
- RGGI Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative.
- RMR Reliability-must-run.
- RTO Regional Transmission Organization.
- SAB SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin.
- SAB 107 SAB No. 107, Share-Based Payment.
- SAB 110 SAB No. 110, Share-Based Payment an amendment of SAB No. 107.
- SEC U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
- Securities Act Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
- Series A Warrants Warrants issued on January 3, 2006, with an exercise price of \$21.87 and expiration date of January 3, 2011.
- Series B Warrants Warrants issued on January 3, 2006, with an exercise price of \$20.54 and expiration date of January 3, 2011.
- SFAS Statement of Financial Accounting Standards.
- SFAS 5 SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies.
- SFAS 107 SFAS No. 107, Disclosure about Fair Value of Financial Instruments.
- SFAS 109 SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes.
- SFAS 123R SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment (Revised 2004).
- SFAS 133 SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (As Amended).
- SFAS 141R SFAS No. 141(R), Business Combinations (Revised 2007).
- SFAS 142 SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.

SFAS 143 SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.

SFAS 144 SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.

SFAS 157 SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements.

SFAS 158 SFAS No. 158, Employer s Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans: An Amendment of FASB Statements Nos. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R).

SFAS 159 SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115.

iv

SFAS 161 SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities An Amendment of FASB Statement No. 133.

Shady Hills Shady Hills Power Company, L.L.C. sold by the Company in the second quarter of 2007.

SO2 Sulfur dioxide.

SOP 90-7 Statement of Position 90-7, Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization Under the Bankruptcy Code.

UWUA Utility Workers Union of America.

VaR Value at risk.

VIE Variable interest entity.

Virginia DEQ Virginia Department of Environmental Quality.

WECC Western Electric Coordinating Council.

West Georgia West Georgia Generating Company, L.L.C. sold by the Company in the second quarter of 2007.

Wrightsville Wrightsville, Arkansas power generating facility sold by the Company in the third quarter of 2005.

v

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

In addition to historical information, the information presented in this Form 10-K includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties and relate to future events, our future financial performance or our projected business results. In some cases, one can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as may, will, should, expect, intend, seek, plan, think, anticipate predict, target, potential or continue or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology.

Forward-looking statements are only predictions. Actual events or results may differ materially from any forward-looking statement as a result of various factors, which include:

legislative and regulatory initiatives regarding deregulation, regulation or restructuring of the industry of generating, transmitting and distributing electricity (the electricity industry); changes in state, federal and other regulations affecting the electricity industry (including rate and other regulations); changes in, or changes in the application of, environmental and other laws and regulations to which we and our subsidiaries and affiliates are or could become subject;

failure of our plants to perform as expected, including outages for unscheduled maintenance or repair;

changes in market conditions, including developments in the supply, demand, volume and pricing of electricity and other commodities in the energy markets and the extent and timing of the entry of additional competition in our markets;

continued poor economic and financial market conditions, including impacts on financial institutions and other current and potential counterparties and negative impacts on liquidity in the power and fuel markets in which we hedge and transact;

increased credit standards, margin requirements, market volatility or other market conditions that could increase our obligations to post collateral beyond amounts that are expected;

our inability to access effectively the OTC and exchange-based commodity markets or changes in commodity market conditions and liquidity, which may affect our ability to engage in asset management, proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities as expected, or result in material gains or losses from open positions;

deterioration in the financial condition of our counterparties and the failure of counterparties to pay amounts owed to us or to perform obligations or services due to us beyond collateral posted;

hazards customary to the power generation industry and the possibility that we may not have adequate insurance to cover losses as a result of such hazards;

price mitigation strategies employed by ISOs or RTOs that reduce our revenue and may result in a failure to compensate our generating units adequately for all of their costs;

changes in the rules used to calculate capacity, energy and ancillary services payments;

legal and political challenges to the rules used to calculate capacity, energy and ancillary services payments in the markets in which we operate;

volatility in our gross margin as a result of our accounting for derivative financial instruments used in our asset management, proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities and volatility in our cash flow from operations resulting from working capital requirements, including collateral, to support our asset management, proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities;

our ability to enter into intermediate and long-term contracts to sell power and to obtain adequate supply and delivery of fuel for our facilities, at our required specifications and on terms and prices acceptable to us;

the inability of our operating subsidiaries to generate sufficient cash flow to support our operations;

our ability to borrow additional funds and access capital markets;

strikes, union activity or labor unrest;

weather and other natural phenomena, including hurricanes and earthquakes;

the cost and availability of emissions allowances;

curtailment of operations because of transmission constraints;

environmental regulations that restrict our ability or render it uneconomic to operate our business, including regulations related to the emission of CO2 and other greenhouse gases;

our inability to complete construction of emissions reduction equipment by January 2010 to meet the requirements of the Maryland Healthy Air Act, which may result in reduced unit operations and reduced cash flows and revenues from operations;

our ability to execute our business plan in California, including entering into long-term power sales agreements for new generating facilities at our existing sites and entering into new tolling arrangements for our existing generating facilities;

the ability of lenders under Mirant North America s revolving credit facility to perform their obligations;

war, terrorist activities or the occurrence of a catastrophic loss;

our consolidated indebtedness and the possibility that we or our subsidiaries may incur additional indebtedness in the future;

restrictions on the ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends, make distributions or otherwise transfer funds to us, including restrictions on Mirant North America contained in its financing agreements and restrictions on Mirant Mid-Atlantic contained in its leveraged lease documents, which may affect our ability to access the cash flows of those subsidiaries to make debt service and other payments; and

the disposition of the pending litigation described in this Form 10-K.

Many of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions are beyond our ability to control or predict. All forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by cautionary statements contained throughout this report. Because of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Furthermore, forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made.

Factors that Could Affect Future Performance

We undertake no obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances that may arise after the date of this report.

In addition to the discussion of certain risks in Management s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition and the accompanying Notes to Mirant s consolidated financial statements, other factors that could affect our future performance (business, financial condition or results of operations and cash flows) are set forth in Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Certain Terms

As used in this report, we, us, our, the Company and Mirant refer to Mirant Corporation and its subsidiaries, unless the context requires otherwise. Also, as used in this report we, us, our, the Company and Mirant refer to Old Mirant prior to January 3, 2006, and to New Mirant or after January 3, 2006.

PART I

Item 1. Business Overview

We are a competitive energy company that produces and sells electricity in the United States. We own or lease 10,112 MW of net electric generating capacity in the Mid-Atlantic and Northeast regions and in California. We also operate an integrated asset management and energy marketing organization based in Atlanta, Georgia. Our customers are principally ISOs, RTOs and investor-owned utilities. Our generating portfolio is diversified across fuel types, power markets and dispatch types and serves customers located near many major metropolitan load centers. Our total net generating capacity is approximately 30% baseload, 58% intermediate and 12% peaking.

Mirant Corporation was incorporated in Delaware on September 23, 2005. Pursuant to the Plan for Mirant and certain of its subsidiaries, on January 3, 2006, New Mirant emerged from bankruptcy and acquired substantially all of the assets of Old Mirant, a corporation that was formed in Delaware on April 3, 1993, and that had been named Mirant Corporation prior to January 3, 2006. The Plan provides that New Mirant has no successor liability for any unassumed obligations of Old Mirant. Old Mirant was then renamed and transferred to a trust, which is not affiliated with New Mirant.

We are focused on the operational performance of our generating facilities, generation of cash from operations and prudent growth of our business.

In 2008, we invested \$672 million in our generating facilities. Much of this amount was invested in emissions control equipment to comply with the Maryland Healthy Air Act. We are installing flue gas desulphurization (FGD) emissions controls at our Chalk Point, Dickerson and Morgantown coal-fired units. In addition, we have installed selective catalytic reduction systems at the Morgantown coal-fired units and one of the Chalk Point coal-fired units and a selective auto catalytic reduction system at the other Chalk Point coal-fired unit. We are installing selective non-catalytic reduction systems at the three Dickerson coal-fired units. Including amounts already spent to date, we will invest \$1.674 billion on emissions reduction controls. These controls will be capable of reducing emissions of SO2, NOx and mercury by approximately 98%, 90% and 80%, respectively, for three of our largest coal-fired units.

Our investments in our generating facilities also reflect our targeted maintenance program to ensure consistent long-term availability of our generating facilities. Our equivalent forced outage rate was 8% in 2008 compared to 10% in 2007 for our Mid-Atlantic baseload coal-fired units excluding our Potomac River facility.

In 2008, we observed significant volatility in commodity prices. Our hedging program reduced our exposure to this volatility and contributed \$207 million to our realized gross margin for 2008. In 2008, we generated \$677 million of net cash provided by operating activities of our continuing operations.

As we generate excess cash from our operations, we will invest it in our business, but only when it is prudent to do so. Our existing generating facility sites have room to add an additional 7,500 MW to 10,000 MW of generating capacity and we continue to consider these opportunities.

We will return excess cash to our stockholders when we cannot prudently invest it in our business. In 2007, we sold our Philippine and Caribbean businesses, six U.S. natural gas-fired facilities and Mirant NY-Gen. After transaction costs and repayment of debt, the net proceeds to us from dispositions completed for the year ended December 31, 2007, were approximately \$5.071 billion. Between November 2007 and December 2008, we returned approximately \$4.056 billion of cash to our stockholders through purchases of 122 million shares of our common stock, including 86 million shares that were purchased through open market purchases in 2008 for approximately \$2.74 billion.

The annual, quarterly and current reports, and any amendments to those reports, that we file with or furnish to the SEC are available free of charge on our website at www.mirant.com as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. General information about us, including our Corporate Governance Guidelines, the charters for our Audit, Compensation, and Nominating and Governance Committees, and our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct, can also be found at www.mirant.com. We will provide print copies of these documents to any stockholder upon written request to Corporate Secretary, Mirant Corporation, 1155 Perimeter Center West, Suite 100, Atlanta, Georgia 30338-5416. Information contained on our website is not incorporated into this Form 10-K.

Business Segments

We have four operating segments: Mid-Atlantic, Northeast, California and Other Operations. The Mid-Atlantic segment consists of four generating facilities located in Maryland and Virginia near Washington, D.C. The Northeast segment consists of three generating facilities located in Massachusetts and one generating facility located in New York near New York City. The California segment consists of three generating facilities located in or near San Francisco. Other Operations includes proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities, unallocated corporate overhead, interest on debt at Mirant Americas Generation and Mirant North America and interest income on our invested cash balances. For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, Other Operations also included gains and losses related to a long-term PPA with Pepco (the Back-to-Back Agreement), which was terminated pursuant to a settlement agreement that became effective in the third quarter of 2007. See Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for further discussion of the Back-to-Back Agreement.

The table below presents our capacity by region and our Net Capacity Factor for the year ended December 31, 2008:

	Total	Net
	Capacity	Capacity
Region	(MW)	Factor
Mid-Atlantic	5,230	33%
Northeast	2,535	13%
California	2,347	4%

The table below summarizes selected financial information of our continuing operations by business segment for the year ended December 31, 2008 (dollars in millions):

			Gross		Operating Income/	
Business Segment	Revenues	%	Margin	%	(Loss)	%
Mid-Atlantic	\$ 2,279	72%	\$1,714	81%	\$ 1,218	91%
Northeast	617	19%	179	8%	23	2%
California	186	6%	127	6%	35	2%
Other Operations	102	3%	103	5%	67	5%
Eliminations	4	%	6	%	(2)	%
Total	\$ 3,188	100%	\$ 2,129	100%	\$ 1,341	100%

Eliminations are primarily related to intercompany sales of emissions allowances. For selected financial information about our business segments, see Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report. See Item 2. Properties for a complete list of our generating facilities.

Asset Management

Our commercial operations consist primarily of procuring fuel, dispatching electricity, hedging the production and sale of electricity by our generating facilities, managing fuel and providing logistical support for

the operation of our facilities (for example, by procuring transportation for coal). We typically sell the electricity we produce into the wholesale market at prices in effect at the time we produce it (the spot price). Spot prices for electricity are volatile, as are prices for fuel and emissions allowances, and in order to reduce the risk of that volatility and achieve more predictable financial results, it is our strategy to enter into hedges forward sales of electricity and forward purchases of fuel and emissions allowances to permit us to produce and sell the electricity for various time periods. In addition, given the high correlation between natural gas prices and electricity prices in the markets in which we operate, we enter into forward sales of natural gas to hedge our exposure to changes in the price of electricity. We procure our hedges in OTC transactions or on exchanges where electricity, fuel and emissions allowances are broadly traded, or through specific transactions with buyers and sellers, using futures, forwards, swaps and options. We also sell capacity and ancillary services where there are markets for such products and when it is economic to do so.

We use dispatch models to assist us in making daily decisions regarding the quantity and price of the power our facilities will generate and sell into the markets. We bid the energy from our generating facilities into the day-ahead energy market and sell ancillary services through the ISO and RTO markets. We sell capacity either bilaterally or through auction processes in each ISO and RTO in which we participate. We work with the ISOs and RTOs in real time to ensure that our generating facilities are dispatched economically to meet the reliability needs of the market.

At February 10, 2009, our aggregate hedge levels based on expected generation for each period were as follows:

	Aggregate Hedge Levels Based on Expected Generation				
	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013
Power	96%	62%	22%	24%	24%
Fuel	90%	64%	53%	29%	6%

Power

We hedge economically a substantial portion of our Mid-Atlantic coal-fired baseload generation and certain of our Northeast gas and oil-fired generation through OTC transactions. However, we generally do not hedge our intermediate and peaking units for tenors greater than 12 months. A significant portion of our hedges are financial swap transactions between Mirant Mid-Atlantic and financial counterparties that are senior unsecured obligations of such parties and do not require either party to post cash collateral either for initial margin or for securing exposure as a result of changes in power or natural gas prices. We also enter into forward sales of natural gas to hedge our exposure to changes in the price of electricity.

While OTC transactions make up a substantial portion of our economic hedge portfolio, at times we sell non-standard, structured products to customers. Additionally, our California facilities operate under contracted capacity and RMR contracts.

Fuel

We enter into contracts of varying terms to secure appropriate quantities of fuel that meet the varying specifications of our generating facilities. For our coal-fired generating facilities, we purchase coal from a variety of suppliers under contracts with terms of varying lengths, some of which extend to 2013. For our oil-fired units, we typically purchase fuel from a limited number of suppliers under contracts with terms of varying lengths.

Our coal supply comes primarily from the Central Appalachian and Northern Appalachian coal regions. Most of our coal is delivered by rail, except for a portion of our coal deliveries at our Morgantown station, which is received by barge at our unloading facility that became operational in the third quarter of 2008. The barge

unloader enables us to receive coal from international locations as well. We monitor coal supply and delivery logistics carefully and, despite occasional interruptions of scheduled deliveries, to date we have managed to avoid any significant detrimental effects on our operations. We typically maintain a target level of coal inventory at our coal-fired facilities for this purpose. Interruptions of scheduled deliveries can result from a variety of disruptions, including coal supplier operational issues, rail system disruptions or severe weather.

Emissions

Our commercial operations manage the acquisition and use of emissions allowances for our generating facilities. Primarily as a result of the pollution control equipment we are installing to comply with the requirements of the Maryland Healthy Air Act, we have significant excess SO2 and NOx emissions allowances for future periods. We plan to continue to maintain some SO2 and NOx emissions allowances in excess of what we need to support our expected generation in case our actual generation exceeds our current forecasts for future periods and for possible future additions of generating capacity. During the fourth quarter of 2007, we began a program to sell excess SO2 and NOx emissions allowances under certain market conditions. At December 31, 2008, the estimated fair value of our excess SO2 and NOx emissions allowances exceeded the carrying value recorded on our consolidated balance sheet by approximately \$63 million.

In September 2008, we joined the CCX, which is a voluntary greenhouse gas registry, reduction and trading system. As part of the agreement for membership in CCX, we have committed to meet annual emissions reduction targets and, by 2010 to reduce our greenhouse gas emissions by six percent below the average of our 1998 to 2001 levels. We expect to satisfy our reduction targets primarily through previously implemented generating unit retirements and capacity factor reductions.

Mid-Atlantic Region

We own or lease four generating facilities in the Mid-Atlantic region with total net generating capacity of 5,230 MW. Our Mid-Atlantic region had a combined 2008 Net Capacity Factor of 33%.

The following table presents the details of our Mid-Atlantic generating facilities:

_		Total Net Generating Capacity				NERC
r	facility	(MW)	Primary Fuel Type Natural	Dispatch Type Intermediate/	Location	Region
			Ivaturai	intermediate/		
Chalk Point		2,413	Gas/Coal/Oil	Baseload/Peaking	Maryland	RFC
			Natural			
Dickerson		849	Gas/Coal/Oil	Baseload/Peaking	Maryland	RFC
Morgantown		1,486	Coal/Oil	Baseload/Peaking	Maryland	RFC
				Baseload/		
Potomac River		482	Coal	Intermediate	Virginia	RFC
Total Mid-Atlantic		5,230				
Total Mid-Atlantic					8	

The Chalk Point facility is our largest generating facility. It consists of two coal-fired baseload units, two dual-fueled (oil and gas) intermediate units and two oil-fired and five dual-fueled (oil and gas) peaking units. Our next largest facility is the Morgantown facility. It consists of two coal-fired baseload units and six oil-fired peaking units. The Dickerson facility has three coal-fired baseload units, and one oil-fired and two dual-fueled (oil and gas) peaking units. The Potomac River facility has three coal-fired baseload units and two coal-fired intermediate units.

In July 2008, the City of Alexandria, Virginia (in which the Potomac River generating facility is located) and Mirant Potomac River entered into an agreement containing certain terms that were included in a proposed

comprehensive state operating permit for the Potomac River generating facility issued by the Virginia DEQ that month. Under that agreement, Mirant Potomac River committed to spend \$34 million over several years to reduce particulate emissions. The \$34 million was placed in escrow and is included in funds on deposit and other noncurrent assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and in our estimated capital expenditures presented in Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition Overview . See Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for a more detailed discussion on the Potomac River Settlement.

Prior to the issuance of the comprehensive state operating permit in July 2008, the Potomac River generating facility operated under a state operating permit issued June 1, 2007, that significantly restricted the facility s operations by imposing stringent limits on its SO2 emissions and constraining unit operations so that no more than three of the facility s five units could operate at one time. In compliance with the comprehensive permit, in 2008 we merged the stacks for units 3, 4 and 5 into one stack at the Potomac River generating facility and, in January 2009, we merged the stacks for units 1 and 2 into one stack. With the completion of the stack combinations, the permit issued in July 2008 will not constrain operations of the Potomac River generating facility below historical operations and will allow operation of all five units at one time. Certain provisions of Virginia s air emissions regulations adopted to implement the CAIR, however, could constrain the facility s operations, as described below in *Environmental Regulation-Virginia CAIR Implementation*.

Northeast Region

We own generating facilities in the Northeast region with total net generating capacity of 2,535 MW. Our Northeast region had a combined 2008 Net Capacity Factor of 13%. The Northeast region is comprised of our facilities located in Massachusetts and New York. Generation is sold from our Northeast facilities through a combination of bilateral contracts, spot market transactions and structured transactions.

The following table presents the details of our facilities in the Northeast Region:

Facility	Total Net Generating Capacity (MW)	Primary Fuel Type	Dispatch Type	Location	NERC Region
			Intermediate/		
Bowline	1,139	Natural Gas/Oil	Peaking	New York	NPCC
Canal	1,126	Natural Gas/Oil	Intermediate	Massachusetts	NPCC
Kendall	256	Natural Gas/Oil	Baseload/Peaking	Massachusetts	NPCC
Martha s Vineyard	14	Diesel	Peaking	Massachusetts	NPCC
Total Northeast Region	2,535				

The Bowline facility is a dual-fueled (natural gas and oil) facility comprised of two intermediate/peaking units. The capacity, energy and ancillary services from our Bowline generating facility are sold into the bilateral markets and into the markets administered by the NYISO. For a discussion of the NYISO, see *Regulatory Environment* below.

The Canal facility consists of one oil-fired intermediate unit and one dual-fueled (oil and gas) intermediate unit. The Kendall facility consists of one combined cycle dual-fueled (oil and gas) baseload unit, two 1,300 pound steam boilers and one simple cycle jet engine peaking unit. The Martha s Vineyard facility consists of five diesel peaking units. The capacity, energy and ancillary services from our Massachusetts generating units are sold into the NEPOOL bilateral markets and into the markets administered by the ISO-NE. For a discussion of the NEPOOL and the ISO-NE, see *Regulatory Environment* below. The Kendall facility also has long-term agreements under which it sells steam resulting from electricity production or is reimbursed for production costs when called upon to provide steam under the agreements.

The Canal facility is located in the lower Southeastern Massachusetts (SEMA) area in ISO-NE. ISO-NE has previously determined that, at times, it is necessary for the Canal facility to operate to meet local reliability criteria for SEMA when it was not economic for the Canal facility to operate based upon prevailing market prices. When the Canal facility operates to meet local reliability criteria, we are compensated at the price we bid into the ISO-NE rather than at the lower market price.

ISO-NE and NSTAR recently developed a plan to upgrade the SEMA transmission system that will reduce the local reliability need for the Canal facility. These transmission upgrades are scheduled for completion in September 2009. Once these upgrades are completed, we expect that the need for the Canal facility to operate for reliability will be reduced. As such, the gross margin from our Canal facility may decrease significantly compared to that generating facility s gross margin for recent years.

On June 11, 2003, Mirant New York, Mirant Lovett and the State of New York entered into a consent decree (the 2003 Consent Decree) governing the future of the Lovett facility s two coal-fired units (units 4 and 5). Pursuant to the 2003 Consent Decree as amended on May 10, 2007, we discontinued operation of unit 4 as of May 7, 2007, and unit 5 on April 19, 2008. In addition, we discontinued operation as of May 7, 2007, of unit 3, a dual-fueled unit (natural gas and oil), the only other operating unit at the facility because it was uneconomic to run the unit. We have substantially completed the demolition of the Lovett facility.

California

We own three generating facilities in California with total net generating capacity of 2,347 MW. Our California facilities had a combined 2008 Net Capacity Factor of 4%. The following table presents the details of our California facilities:

	Facility	Total Net Generating Capacity (MW)	Primary Fuel Type	Dispatch Type	Location	NERC Region
Contra Costa		674	Natural Gas	Intermediate	California	WECC
Pittsburg		1,311	Natural Gas Natural	Intermediate	California	WECC
Potrero		362	Gas/Diesel	Intermediate/ Peaking	California	WECC
Total California		2 3/17				

Total California

2,347

The Contra Costa and Pittsburg facilities are located in Contra Costa County and the Potrero facility is located in the City of San Francisco. The Contra Costa facility consists of two gas-fired intermediate units and the Pittsburg facility consists of three gas-fired intermediate units. The Potrero facility consists of one gas-fired intermediate unit and three diesel peaking units. Through the end of 2006, the majority of our California units were subject to RMR arrangements with the CAISO. These agreements are described further under *Regulatory Environment* below. Pittsburg unit 7 and Contra Costa unit 6 were not subject to an RMR arrangement, and thus functioned solely as merchant facilities in the CAISO. In 2006, we either sold the output of Pittsburg unit 7 and Contra Costa unit 6 into the market through bilateral transactions with utilities and other merchant generators, or dispatched the units in the CAISO clearing markets.

On July 28, 2006, we signed two tolling agreements with PG&E to provide electricity from all our natural gas-fired units in service at Contra Costa and Pittsburg, including Contra Costa unit 6 and Pittsburg unit 7. The agreements are for 100% of the capacity from these units. The contracts have varying tenors for each unit covering from one to five years, and include capacity of 1,985 MW for 2008 and 2009, 1,303 MW for 2010 and 674 MW for 2011. We receive monthly capacity payments with bonuses and/or penalties based on guaranteed heat rate and availability tolerances. As a result of these contracts, the Contra Costa and Pittsburg units are no longer subject to the RMR agreements.

All of our Potrero units continue to be subject to RMR arrangements through 2009 and annually thereafter based upon the CAISO s local reliability requirements.

Our generating facilities in California depend almost entirely on payments they receive to operate in support of system reliability. The energy, capacity and ancillary services markets, as currently constituted, will not support the capital expenditures necessary to repower or reconstruct our facilities to make them commercially viable in a merchant market. In order to obtain the necessary capital support for repowering or reconstructing our facilities, we will need to obtain a contract with a creditworthy buyer. Absent that, our generating facilities in California will be commercially viable only as long as they are necessary for reliability.

Other Operations

In addition to selling the electricity we produce and buying the fuel and emissions allowances we need to produce electricity (asset management), we buy and sell some electricity, fuel and emissions allowances as part of our proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities.

We engage in proprietary trading to gain information about the markets to support our asset management and to take advantage of selected opportunities that we identify from time to time. We enter into fuel oil management activities to hedge economically the fair value of our physical fuel oil inventories and to optimize the approximately three and one half million barrels of storage capacity that we own or lease.

Proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities together typically comprise less than 10% of our realized gross margin. All of our commercial activities are governed by a comprehensive Risk Management Policy, which includes limits on the size of positions and VaR for our proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities. For 2008, our average daily VaR for these activities was approximately \$2 million.

Competitive Environment

The power generating industry is capital intensive and highly competitive. Our competitors include regulated utilities, merchant energy companies, financial institutions and other companies, including companies owned by hedge funds and private equity funds. For a discussion of competitive factors and the effects of seasonality on our business see Item 1A. Risk Factors . Coal-fired generation, natural gas-fired generation and nuclear generation currently account for approximately 48%, 22% and 19%, respectively, of the electricity produced in the United States. Hydroelectric and other energy sources account for the remaining 11% of electricity produced.

The recent economic downturn and programs to reduce the demand for electricity have resulted in a decrease in the rate at which the long-term demand for electricity is forecasted to grow. Given the substantial time necessary to permit and construct new power plants, the process to add generating capacity must begin years in advance of anticipated growth in demand. A number of ISOs and RTOs, including those in markets in which we operate, have implemented capacity markets as a way to encourage construction of additional generation, but it is not clear whether and when independent power producers will be sufficiently incented to build this required new generation. The costs to construct new generation facilities have been rising and there is substantial environmental opposition to building either coal-fired or nuclear plants.

There are several proposed upgrades to the transmission systems in the markets in which we operate that could mitigate the need for additional generating capacity. To the extent that these upgrades are completed, prices for electricity and capacity could be lower than they might otherwise be.

The average market price for the types of coal that we use was approximately 107% higher in the year ended December 31, 2008, than in 2007. Global demand for coal to generate electricity has been a significant factor influencing domestic prices for the types of coal that we use. At the same time, the prices for power and natural

gas were extremely volatile, increasing during the first half of 2008 and decreasing during the second half of 2008. Fluctuations in natural gas prices have a significant effect on the price of power, especially in the PJM market where the marginal price for power is often set by gas-fired units. In 2008 as compared to 2007, the energy gross margin earned from our baseload coal units was negatively affected by contracting dark spreads, the difference between the price received for electricity generated compared to the market price of the coal required to produce the electricity. In the fourth quarter of 2008 and in early 2009, the average market price for the types of coal that we use declined from the highs observed earlier in 2008. However, the average market price for power also declined during the same period.

Climate change concerns have led to significant legislative and regulatory efforts at the state and federal level to limit greenhouse gas emissions, including CO2. The costs of compliance with such efforts could affect our ability to compete in the markets in which we operate, especially with our coal-fired generating facilities.

Regulatory Environment

The electricity industry is subject to extensive regulation at the federal, state and local levels. At the federal level, the FERC has exclusive jurisdiction under the Federal Power Act over sales of electricity at wholesale and the transmission of electricity in interstate commerce. Each of our subsidiaries that owns a generating facility selling at wholesale or that markets electricity at wholesale is a public utility subject to the FERC s jurisdiction under the Federal Power Act. These subsidiaries must comply with certain FERC reporting requirements and FERC-approved market rules and they are subject to FERC oversight of mergers and acquisitions, the disposition of facilities under the FERC s jurisdiction and the issuance of securities.

The FERC has authorized our subsidiaries that constitute public utilities under the Federal Power Act to sell wholesale energy, capacity and certain ancillary services at market-based rates. The majority of the output of the generating facilities owned by our subsidiaries is sold pursuant to this market-based rate authorization, although certain of our facilities sell their output under cost-based RMR agreements for which separate rate authorization was granted by the FERC, as explained below. The FERC could revoke or limit our market-based rate authority if it determined that we possess insufficiently mitigated market power in a regional electricity market. Under the Natural Gas Act, our subsidiary that sells natural gas for resale is deemed by the FERC to have blanket certificate authority to undertake these sales at market-based rates.

The FERC requires that our public utility subsidiaries with market-based rate authority and our subsidiary with blanket certificate authority adhere to general rules against market manipulation as well as certain market behavior rules and codes of conduct. If any of our subsidiaries were found to have engaged in market manipulation, the FERC has the authority to impose a civil penalty of up to \$1 million per day per violation. In addition to the civil penalties, if any of our subsidiaries were to engage in market manipulation or violate the market behavior rules or codes of conduct, the FERC could require a disgorgement of profits or revoke the subsidiary s market-based rate authority or blanket certificate authority. If the FERC were to revoke market-based rate authority, our affected public utility subsidiary would have to file a cost-based rate schedule for all or some of its sales of electricity at wholesale.

Our facilities operate in markets administered by ISOs and RTOs. In areas where ISOs or RTOs control the regional transmission systems, market participants have access to broader geographic markets than in regions without ISOs and RTOs. ISOs and RTOs operate day-ahead and real-time energy and ancillary services markets, typically governed by FERC-approved tariffs and market rules. Some ISOs and RTOs also operate capacity markets. Changes to the applicable tariffs and market rules may be requested by the ISO or RTO, or by other interested persons, including market participants and state regulatory agencies, and such proposed changes, if approved by the FERC, could have a significant effect on our operations and financial results. Although participation in ISOs and RTOs by public utilities that own transmission has been, and is expected to continue to be, voluntary, the majority of such public utilities in Massachusetts, New York, the Mid-Atlantic and California have joined the applicable ISO and RTO.

Our subsidiaries owning generating facilities have made such filings, and received such orders, as are necessary to obtain exempt wholesale generator status under the PUHCA and the FERC s regulations thereunder. Provided all of our subsidiaries owning generating facilities continue to be exempt wholesale generators, or are qualifying facilities under the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978, we and our intermediate holding companies owning direct or indirect interests in those subsidiaries will remain exempt from the accounting, record retention or reporting requirements that PUHCA imposes on holding companies.

State and local regulatory authorities historically have overseen the distribution and sale of electricity at retail to the ultimate end user, as well as the siting, permitting and construction of generating and transmission facilities. Our existing generating facilities are subject to a variety of state and local regulations, including regulations regarding the environment, health and safety and maintenance and expansion of the facilities.

Mid-Atlantic Region. Our Mid-Atlantic facilities sell electricity into the markets operated by PJM. We have access to the PJM transmission system pursuant to PJM s Open Access Transmission Tariff. PJM operates the PJM Interchange Energy Market, which is the region s spot market for wholesale electricity, provides ancillary services for its transmission customers, performs transmission planning for the region and economically dispatches generating facilities. PJM administers day-ahead and real-time single clearing price markets and calculates electricity prices based on a locational marginal pricing model. A locational marginal pricing model determines a price for energy at each node in a particular zone taking into account the limitations on transmission of electricity and losses involved in transmitting energy into the zone, resulting in a higher zonal price when less expensive energy cannot be imported from another zone. Generation owners in PJM are subject to mitigation, which limits the prices that they may receive under certain specified conditions.

Load-serving entities within PJM are required to have adequate sources of generating capacity. Our facilities located in the Mid-Atlantic region that sell electricity into the PJM market participate in the reliability pricing model (the RPM) forward capacity market. The PJM RPM capacity auctions are designed to provide forward prices for capacity that are intended to ensure that adequate resources are in place to meet the regions demand requirements. PJM has conducted five PJM RPM capacity auctions and we began receiving payments in June 2007 as a result of the first auction. The FERC s orders approving and implementing the PJM RPM capacity auctions have been appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit (the DC Circuit). We cannot predict what, if any, effect the appeal process will have on the RPM forward capacity market and the capacity payments that we have received or expect to receive from that market.

The results of the PJM RPM capacity auctions for the delivery area where our facilities are located were as follows:

		Resource	Clearing Price
Auction Date	Capacity Period	per MW-day	
April 2007	June 1, 2007 to May 31, 2008	\$	188.54
July 2007	June 1, 2008 to May 31, 2009	\$	210.11
October 2007	June 1, 2009 to May 31, 2010	\$	237.33
January 2008	June 1, 2010 to May 31, 2011	\$	174.29
May 2008	June 1, 2011 to May 31, 2012	\$	110.00

Since 2008, annual auctions have been conducted to procure capacity three years prior to each delivery period. The first annual auction took place in May 2008, for the provision of capacity from June 1, 2011 to May 31, 2012.

On December 12, 2008, PJM filed with the FERC to revise elements of the RPM forward capacity market. PJM intends to implement these changes in time for the May 2009 annual auction for the provision of capacity from June 1, 2012 to May 31, 2013. We filed an opposition to the proposed changes with the FERC. On February 9, 2009, PJM and a coalition of PJM customers (the PJM Load Group) as well as several state

commissions filed a settlement agreement with the FERC that would materially modify several provisions of the December 12, 2008, filing to the detriment of suppliers in the RPM capacity auction. Under the FERC s rules and regulations, any party to a contested proceeding may unilaterally file a settlement in that proceeding with the FERC. We filed comments opposing the settlement. At this time, we do not know if the FERC will accept, reject or modify PJM s proposed changes to the RPM forward capacity market submitted in both the December 12, 2008, filing and February 9, 2009, settlement filing. Therefore, we cannot predict what effect, if any, these changes will have on the May 2009 PJM RPM auction.

Northeast Region. Our Bowline facility participates in a market controlled by the NYISO. The NYISO provides statewide transmission service under a single tariff and interfaces with neighboring market control areas. To account for transmission congestion and losses, the NYISO calculates energy prices using a locational marginal pricing model. The NYISO also administers a spot market for energy, as well as markets for installed capacity and services that are ancillary to transmission service, such as operating reserves and regulation service (which balances resources with load). The NYISO s locational capacity market rules use a demand curve mechanism to determine for every month the required amount of installed capacity as well as installed capacity prices to be paid for three locational zones: New York City, Long Island and Rest of State. Our facility operates in the Rest of State locational zone.

Our Canal, Kendall and Martha s Vineyard facilities participate in a market administered by ISO-NE. Mirant Energy Trading is a member of NEPOOL, which is a voluntary association of electric utilities and other market participants in Connecticut, Maine, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, Rhode Island and Vermont, and which functions as an advisory organization to ISO-NE. The FERC approved ISO-NE as the RTO for the New England region making ISO-NE responsible for market rule filings at the FERC, in addition to its responsibilities for the operation of transmission systems and for the administration and settlement of the wholesale electric energy, capacity and ancillary services markets. ISO-NE utilizes a locational marginal pricing model similar to the model used in PJM and NYISO.

On March 6, 2006, a settlement proposal was filed with the FERC among ISO-NE and multiple market participants for a forward capacity market (the FCM) under which annual capacity auctions would be conducted for supply three years in advance of provision. The settlement provided for a four-year transition period during which capacity suppliers receive a set price for their capacity commencing on December 1, 2006, with price escalators through May 31, 2010. Beginning December 1, 2006, our generating facilities began receiving capacity revenues under the FCM transition period. During the FCM transition period we received or will receive capacity revenues between \$3.05 per kW- month and \$4.10 per kW-month. The first auction took place in February 2008 for the period June 1, 2010 to May 31, 2011. The clearing price was \$4.50 per kW-month, which was the price floor established as part of the FCM settlement. Our generating facilities will receive \$4.25 per kW-month based on our pro-rata amount of the generating capacity that was sold in the auction. The next auction was held in December 2008 for the period June 1, 2011 to May 31, 2012, and the clearing price was \$3.60 per kW-month. Our generating facilities will receive \$3.12 per kW-month based on our pro-rata amount of the generating capacity that was sold in the auction. In March 2008, the FERC s orders approving and implementing the FCM were affirmed by the DC Circuit; however, the DC Circuit reversed a portion of the FERC. S orders regarding the rights of a non-settling party to challenge the FCM charges through future proceedings initiated at the FERC. On January 15, 2009, the FERC issued an order on remand, directing the settling parties to revise the applicable standard of review to be consistent with the DC Circuit s decision. We do not expect that the DC Circuit s reversal of this element of the FCM or the FERC s actions on remand will have an effect on the FCM and the capacity payments we receive under the FCM.

California. Our California facilities are located inside the CAISO s control area. The CAISO schedules transmission transactions, arranges for necessary ancillary services and administers a real-time balancing energy market. Most sales in California are pursuant to bilateral contracts, but a significant percentage of electrical energy is sold in the real-time market. The CAISO does not operate a forward market like those described for PJM and other eastern markets, nor does it currently operate a capacity market.

The CAISO has proposed changes to its market design to mirror more closely the eastern markets, but not including a capacity market. Although the CAISO has delayed the market redesign several times, it now expects to fully implement it in 2009. The CPUC has begun a proceeding to develop, together with the CAISO, a wholesale capacity market. FERC approval would be required for any such capacity market to become effective. We cannot at this time predict the outcome of the CPUC proceeding or the timing or structure of a wholesale capacity market in California.

Mirant Potrero is party to a PPA with PG&E that from 2006 through 2012 allows PG&E to dispatch and purchase the output of our Potrero units that have been designated RMR units which for 2009 includes all of the Potrero units. Under the PPA, through 2008, PG&E paid us charges equivalent to the rates we charged during 2004 when the units were designated as RMR units reduced by \$1.4 million for each year since 2004. For 2009 through 2012, the charges for the units that are then subject to the PPA will be determined annually by the FERC pursuant to the cost-based formula rates set forth in the RMR agreement. On December 4, 2008, the FERC issued an order approving the charges for the Potrero units for 2009 and 2010. The approved PPA charges for 2009 and 2010 are expected to result in approximately the same level of gross margin for Mirant Potrero as it recognized for 2008.

Environmental Regulation

Our business is subject to extensive environmental regulation by federal, state and local authorities. We must comply with applicable laws and regulations, and obtain and comply with the terms of government issued permits. Our costs of complying with environmental laws, regulations and permits are substantial, including significant environmental capital expenditures. See Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition Capital Expenditures and Capital Resources for additional information.

We expect that available cash and future cash flows from operations will be sufficient to fund these capital expenditures.

Air Emissions Regulations

Our most significant environmental requirements generally fall under the Clean Air Act, regional initiatives and similar state laws. Under the Clean Air Act, we are required to comply with a broad range of mandates concerning air emissions, operating practices and pollution control equipment. Most of our facilities are located in or near metropolitan areas, including New York City, Boston, San Francisco and Washington D.C., which are classified by the EPA as not achieving certain NAAQS (non-attainment areas). As a result of the classification of each of these areas as a non-attainment area, our operations are subject to more stringent air pollution requirements than those applicable to plants located elsewhere. Various states where we have facilities also have other air quality laws and regulations with increasingly stringent limitations and requirements that will affect us in future years. In the future, we expect increased regulation of our air emissions. Significant air regulatory programs to which we are subject are described below.

Clean Air Interstate Rule (CAIR). In 2005, the EPA promulgated the CAIR, which established in the eastern United States SO2 and NOx cap-and-allowance trading programs applicable directly to states and indirectly to generating facilities. These cap-and-trade programs were to be implemented in two phases, with the first phase going into effect in 2009 for NOx and 2010 for SO2 and more stringent caps going into effect in 2015. Various parties appealed the EPA s adoption of the CAIR, and on July 11, 2008, the DC Circuit in *State of North Carolina v. Environmental Protection Agency* issued an opinion that would have vacated the CAIR. Various parties filed requests for rehearing with the DC Circuit and on December 23, 2008, the DC Circuit issued a second opinion in which it granted rehearing only to the extent that it remanded the case to the EPA without vacating the CAIR. Accordingly, the CAIR will remain effective until it is replaced by a rule consistent with the DC Circuit s opinions.

Maryland Healthy Air Act. The Maryland Healthy Air Act was enacted in April 2006 and requires reductions in SO2, NOx and mercury emissions from large coal-fired power facilities. The state law also requires

Maryland to join the RGGI, which is discussed below. The Maryland Healthy Air Act prohibits power facilities from purchasing emissions allowances instead of installing emissions control equipment. We are installing FGD emissions controls at our Chalk Point, Dickerson and Morgantown coal-fired units. In addition, we have installed selective catalytic reduction systems at the Morgantown coal-fired units and one of the Chalk Point coal-fired units and a selective auto catalytic reduction system at the other Chalk Point coal-fired unit. We are installing selective non-catalytic reduction systems at the three Dickerson coal-fired units. These controls will be capable of reducing emissions of SO2, NOx and mercury by approximately 98%, 90% and 80%, respectively, for three of our largest coal-fired units.

The Maryland Healthy Air Act imposes mass limits for (i) emissions of NOx in 2009 with further reductions in 2012 (including sublimits during the Ozone Season) and (ii) emissions of SO2 in 2010 with further reductions in 2013. The Maryland Healthy Air Act also imposes restrictions on emissions of mercury beginning in 2010 with further reductions in 2013. The control equipment we have installed or are installing to meet Maryland state standards will allow our Maryland facilities to comply with (a) all of the requirements of the Maryland Healthy Air Act and (b) the first phase of the CAIR without having to purchase emissions allowances.

Including amounts already spent to date, we expect to incur total capital expenditures of \$1.674 billion to comply with the requirements for SO2, NOx and mercury emissions under the Maryland Healthy Air Act. On July 30, 2007, our subsidiaries Mirant Mid-Atlantic and Mirant Chalk Point entered into an agreement with Stone & Webster, Inc. for engineering, procurement and construction services relating to the installation of the FGD systems described above. The expected cost under the agreement is approximately \$1.13 billion and is a part of the \$1.674 billion of capital expenditures that we expect to incur to comply with the Maryland Healthy Air Act. We will have planned outages in 2009 to complete the installation of the FGD control systems. During those outages, we also will perform routine maintenance activities. As of December 31, 2008, we have paid approximately \$997 million of the \$1.674 billion for capital expenditures related to the Maryland Healthy Air Act. For the year ended December 31, 2008, we paid \$683 million for capital expenditures, excluding capitalized interest, of which \$497 million related to the Maryland Healthy Air Act. We expect that available cash and future cash flows from operations will be sufficient to fund the remaining capital expenditures.

Clean Air Mercury Rule (CAMR). In 2005, the EPA issued the CAMR, which would have limited total annual mercury emissions from coal-fired power plants across the United States through a two-phased cap-and-trade program. In February 2008, the DC Circuit vacated the CAMR and the EPA s decision to delist coal- and oil-fired electric utility steam generating units from sources regulated under section 112 of the Clean Air Act. The EPA and the Utility Air Regulatory Group sought review of the DC Circuit s decision by the United States Supreme Court. In February 2009, the EPA filed to withdraw its petition for review, stating that it intends to promulgate alternative regulations to address mercury emissions from coal- and oil-fired generating facilities are now subject to Section 112 of the Clean Air Act, which authorizes the EPA to develop standards for the installation of maximum achievable control technology (MACT) to reduce emissions of Hazardous Air Pollutants, including mercury. While the EPA has the authority to develop MACT standards for mercury, it has not yet promulgated such standards. We expect many of our coal-fired facilities to emit less mercury as a result of the SO2 and NOx controls that have been, or soon will be, installed.

NSR Enforcement Initiative. In 2001, the EPA requested information concerning some of our facilities in Maryland and Virginia covering a time period that pre-dates our acquisition or lease of those facilities in December 2000. We responded fully to this request. Under the APSA, Pepco is responsible for fines and penalties arising from any violation associated with operations prior to our subsidiaries acquisition or lease of the facilities. If a violation is determined to have occurred at any of the facilities, our subsidiary owning or leasing the facilities may be responsible for the cost of purchasing and installing emissions control equipment, the cost of which may be material. Our subsidiaries owning or leasing the Chalk Point, Dickerson and Morgantown facilities in Maryland are installing a variety of emissions control equipment at those facilities to comply with the Maryland Healthy Air Act, but that equipment may not include all of the pollution control equipment that could be required if a violation of the EPA s NSR regulations is determined to have occurred at

one or more of those facilities. If such a violation is determined to have occurred after our subsidiaries acquired or leased the facilities or, if occurring prior to the acquisition or lease, is determined to constitute a continuing violation, our subsidiary owning or leasing the facility at issue could also be subject to fines and penalties by the state or federal government for the period after its acquisition or lease of the facility, the cost of which may be material, although applicable bankruptcy law may bar such liability for periods prior to January 3, 2006, when the Plan became effective for us and our subsidiaries that own or lease these facilities.

Massachusetts CAIR Implementation. The Commonwealth of Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (MADEP) promulgated regulations to take effect in 2009 to reduce NOx emissions from certain generating facilities. The Massachusetts regulations will require our Canal and Kendall generating facilities during the Ozone Season to reduce their emissions of NOx or utilize emissions allowances in amounts greater than they utilized prior to 2009.

New York CAIR Implementation. The NYSDEC promulgated regulations implementing the SO2 and NOx emissions reductions required by the federal CAIR beginning in 2009. Those regulations will limit NOx emissions through both an annual cap-and-trade program and through a seasonal cap-and-trade program during the Ozone Season, which will require our Bowline generating facility to reduce its emissions of NOx by running less or increasing its utilization of emissions allowances. The regulations also provide for an SO2 emissions program beginning in 2010 that will mandate increased utilization of federal SO2 allowances for every ton of SO2 emitted.

Virginia CAIR Implementation. In April 2006, Virginia enacted legislation that, among other things, granted the Virginia State Air Pollution Control Board the discretion to prohibit electric generating facilities located in a non-attainment area from purchasing SO2 and NOx allowances to achieve compliance under the CAIR. In the fourth quarter of 2007, the Virginia State Air Pollution Control Board approved regulations that it interprets as prohibiting the trading of SO2 and NOx allowances by facilities in non-attainment areas to satisfy the requirements of the CAIR as implemented by Virginia. Our Potomac River facility is located in a non-attainment area for ozone. Thus, this Virginia regulation effectively caps our SO2 and NOx emissions at amounts equal to the allowances allocated to the facility. Mirant Potomac River has appealed these regulations in Virginia state court. In July 2008, the Virginia state court issued a ruling dismissing our appeal, which ruling we have appealed. We have also petitioned (a) the EPA to reconsider and (b) the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit (the Fourth Circuit) to review the EPA s final rule approving Virginia s CAIR program.

New York Consent Decree. In 2000, the State of New York issued an NOV to the previous owner of our Lovett facility alleging NSR violations associated with the operation of that facility prior to its acquisition by us. To resolve the issues raised by the State of New York, on June 11, 2003, Mirant New York, Mirant Lovett and the State of New York entered into the 2003 Consent Decree. Under the 2003 Consent Decree, Mirant Lovett had three options: (1) install emissions controls on Lovett s two coal-fired units (units 4 and 5); (2) shut down unit 4 and convert unit 5 to natural gas; or (3) shut down unit 4 in 2008 and unit 5 in 2007. We concluded that the installation of the required emissions controls was uneconomic. We also concluded that operating unit 5 on natural gas was uneconomic.

On May 10, 2007, Mirant Lovett entered into an amendment to the 2003 Consent Decree with the State of New York that switched the deadlines for shutting down units 4 and 5 so that the deadline for compliance by unit 5 was extended until April 30, 2008, and the deadline for unit 4 was shortened. We discontinued operation of unit 4 as of May 7, 2007. In addition, we discontinued operation of unit 3 because it was uneconomic to run the unit. We shut down unit 5 on April 19, 2008, and have substantially completed the demolition of the Lovett facility.

State Regulation of Greenhouse Gases, including the RGGI. Concern over climate change has led to significant legislative and regulatory efforts at the state and federal level to limit greenhouse gas emissions. One such effort is the RGGI, a multi-state initiative in the Northeast outlining a cap-and-trade program to reduce CO2 emissions from units of 25 MW or greater. The RGGI program calls for signatory states to stabilize CO2 emissions to current levels from 2009 to 2015, followed by a 2.5% reduction each year from 2015 to 2018. Regulations to implement the RGGI have now been approved in each of Maryland, Massachusetts and New York.

In 2009, we expect to produce approximately 16.6 million tons of CO2 at our Maryland, Massachusetts and New York generating facilities. The RGGI regulations require those facilities to obtain allowances to emit CO2 beginning in 2009. No allowances were granted to existing sources of such emissions. Instead, allowances have been made available for such facilities only by purchase through periodic auctions conducted quarterly or through subsequent purchase from a party that holds allowances sold through a quarterly auction process. The Maryland regulations implementing the RGGI also provide that if the allowance clearing price exceeds \$7 (adjusted by changes in the consumer price index since 2005) per ton of CO2 in the auctions of allowances that occur during the first three years, Maryland will withhold the remainder of that year s allowances from sale in any future auction during that calendar year and make those allowances available by direct sale to generators in Maryland. In this scenario, between zero and 50% of Maryland s allowances allocated for sale in that year may be made available for purchase by such generators. Any such allowances made available for each generator to purchase at \$7 per ton, as adjusted, will be in proportion to each generator s annual average heat input during the period 2003 through 2005 as compared to the total average input for all affected Maryland generators in existence at that time.

The first auction of allowances by the RGGI states was held on September 25, 2008. The clearing price for the approximately 12.5 million allowances sold in the auction was \$3.07 per ton. The second auction took place in December 2008, and the clearing price for the approximately 31.5 million allowances sold was \$3.38 per ton. The allowances sold in these auctions can be used for compliance in any of the RGGI states. Further auctions will occur on a quarterly basis through 2011.

We are continuing to evaluate our options to comply with the RGGI, but its implementation in Maryland, Massachusetts and New York could have a material adverse effect upon our operations and our operating costs, depending upon the availability and cost of emissions allowances and the extent to which such costs may be offset by higher market prices to recover increases in operating costs caused by the RGGI.

In California, emissions of greenhouse gases are governed by the Global Warming Solutions Act (AB 32), which requires that greenhouse gas emissions be reduced to 1990 levels by 2020. AB 32 also requires the California Air Resources Board to develop by January 2009 a greenhouse gas reduction plan for all industrial sectors. In December 2008, the California Air Resource Board approved a plan for implementing AB 32. The plan contemplates a cap-and-trade program, beginning in 2012. AB32, and any plans, rules and programs approved to implement AB 32, could have a material adverse effect on how we operate our California facilities and the costs of operating the facilities.

In August 2008, Massachusetts also adopted the Global Warming Solutions Act (the Climate Protection Act), which establishes a program to reduce greenhouse gas emissions significantly over the next 40 years. Under the Climate Protection Act, the MADEP is to establish a reporting and verification system for statewide greenhouse gas emissions, including emissions from generating facilities producing all electricity consumed in Massachusetts, and to determine what the state s greenhouse gas emissions level was in 1990. The Massachusetts Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs (MAEEA) is then to establish statewide greenhouse gas emissions limits effective beginning in 2020 that will reduce such emissions from the 1990 levels by a range of 10% to 25% beginning in 2020, with the reduction increasing to 80% below 1990 levels by 2050. In setting these limits, the MAEEA is to consider the potential costs and benefits of various reduction measures, including emissions limits for electric generating facilities, and may consider the use of market-based compliance mechanisms. A violation of the emissions limits established under the Climate Protection Act may result in a civil penalty of up to \$25,000 per day. Implementation of the Climate Protection Act could have a material adverse effect on how we operate our Massachusetts facilities and the costs of operating those facilities.

Federal Regulation of Greenhouse Gases. Various bills have been proposed in Congress to govern CO2 emissions from generating facilities. Also, in light of the United States Supreme Court ruling in Massachusetts v. EPA that greenhouse gases fit within the Clean Air Act s definition of air pollutant, the EPA may also promulgate regulations regarding the emission of greenhouse gases. Congress or the EPA will likely take action

to regulate CO2 within the next several years. The final form of such regulation will be influenced by political and economic factors and is uncertain at this time. Current proposals include a cap-and-trade system that would require us to purchase allowances for the CO2 emitted by our generating facilities. While we expect that market prices for electricity would increase following such regulation and would allow us to recover most of the cost of these allowances, we cannot predict with any certainty the actual increases in costs such regulation could impose upon us or our ability to recover such cost increases through higher market rates for electricity, and these regulations could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated statements of operations, financial position or cash flows. We expect to produce approximately 18.3 million tons of CO2 at all of our generating facilities in 2009.

Water Regulations

We are required under the Clean Water Act to comply with intake and discharge requirements, requirements for technological controls and operating practices. To discharge water, we generally need permits required by the Clean Water Act. Such permits typically are subject to review every five years. As with air quality regulations, federal and state water regulations are expected to impose additional and more stringent requirements or limitations in the future. This is particularly the case for regulatory requirements governing cooling water intake structures, which are subject to regulation under section 316(b) of the Clean Water Act (the 316 (b) regulations). A 2007 decision by the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit (the Second Circuit) in *Riverkeeper Inc. et al v. EPA*, in which the court remanded to the EPA for reconsideration numerous provisions of the EPA s section 316(b) regulations for existing power plants, has created substantial uncertainty about exactly what technologies or other measures will be needed to satisfy section 316(b) requirements in the future and when any new requirements will be imposed. That decision by the Second Circuit is under review by the United States Supreme Court.

Endangered Species Acts. Mirant Delta s use of water from the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta at its Contra Costa and Pittsburg generating facilities potentially affects certain fish species protected under the Federal Endangered Species Act and the California Endangered Species Act. Mirant Delta therefore must maintain authorization under both statutes to engage in operations that could result in a take of (i.e., cause harm to) fish of the protected species. In January and February 2006, Mirant Delta received correspondence from the United States Fish and Wildlife Service and the Army Corps of Engineers expressing the view that the Federal Endangered Species Act take authorization for the Contra Costa and Pittsburg facilities was no longer in effect as a result of changed circumstances. Mirant Delta disagreed with the agencies characterization of its take authorization as no longer being in effect. In late October 2007, Mirant Delta received correspondence from the United States Fish and Wildlife Service, the National Marine Fisheries Service and the Army Corps of Engineers clarifying that Mirant Delta continued to be authorized to take four species of fish protected under the Federal Endangered Species Act. The agencies have initiated a process that will review the environmental effects of Mirant Delta is water usage, including effects on the protected species of fish. That process could lead to changes in the manner in which Mirant Delta can use river water for the operation of the Contra Costa and Pittsburg generating facilities.

Mirant and Mirant Delta received two letters, one dated September 27, 2007, sent on behalf of the Coalition for a Sustainable Delta, four water districts, and an individual and the second dated October 16, 2007, sent on behalf of San Francisco Baykeeper (collectively with the parties sending the September 27, 2007, letter, the Noticing Parties), providing notice that the Noticing Parties intend to file suit alleging that Mirant Delta has violated, and continues to violate, the Federal Endangered Species Act through the operation of its Contra Costa and Pittsburg generating facilities. The Noticing Parties contend that the facilities use of water drawn from the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta for cooling purposes results in harm to four species of fish listed as endangered species. The Noticing Parties assert that Mirant Delta s authorizations to take (i.e., cause harm to) those species, biological opinions and incidental take statements issued by the National Marine Fisheries Service on October 17, 2002, for three of the fish species and the United States Fish and Wildlife Service on November 4, 2002, for the fourth fish species, have been violated by Mirant Delta. Therefore, the notifying parties assert that

the authorizations for the effects on the four fish species caused by the operation of the Contra Costa and Pittsburg generating facilities are no longer applicable. Following receipt of these letters, in late October 2007, Mirant Delta received correspondence from the United States Fish and Wildlife Service, the National Marine Fisheries Service and the Army Corps of Engineers clarifying that Mirant Delta continued to be authorized to take the four species of fish protected under the Federal Endangered Species Act. The agencies have initiated a process that will review the environmental effects of Mirant Delta s water usage, including effects on the protected species of fish. That process could lead to changes in the manner in which Mirant Delta can use river water for the operation of the Contra Costa and Pittsburg generating facilities. In a subsequent letter, the Coalition for a Sustainable Delta also alleged violations of the National Environmental Policy Act and the California Endangered Species Act associated with the operation of Mirant Delta s facilities. Mirant Delta disputes the allegations made by the Noticing Parties. No lawsuits have been filed to date, and San Francisco Baykeeper on February 1, 2008, withdrew its notice of intent to sue.

Additionally, in September 2007, Mirant Delta signed an amendment to a Memorandum of Agreement with the California Department of Fish and Game. The amendment requires Mirant Delta to initiate monitoring of the effects on fish of the operations of the Contra Costa and Pittsburg generating facilities, to prepare an environmental impact report, and to submit within 24 months an application for a new permit authorizing Mirant Delta to take the protected fish species affected by the operation of its facilities. The amendment extends Mirant Delta s authorization for take of fish species protected under the California Endangered Species Act until the California Department of Fish and Game completes its consideration of the application for the new permit.

Potrero National Pollution Discharge Elimination System Permit. On June 8, 2006, Bayview-Hunters Point Community Advocates and Communities for a Better Environment filed a petition challenging the issuance of the National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit for our Potrero facility. On February 8, 2007, Bayview-Hunters Point Community Advocates and Communities for a Better Environment filed another petition with a request to amend their initial petition. On March 21, 2007, the California State Water Resources Control Board notified the parties that petitioners requested that as of March 19, 2007, the two petitions be moved from active status to abeyance. Those petitions currently remain in abeyance. Additionally, on June 15, 2007, Bayview-Hunters Point Community Advocates and Communities for a Better Environment and San Francisco Baykeeper filed a third petition requesting that the NPDES permits for Potrero and Mirant Delta s Pittsburg facility be reopened. The State Water Resources Control Board denied that petition on November 27, 2007.

Kendall NPDES and Surface Water Discharge Permit. On September 26, 2006, the EPA issued to Mirant Kendall an NPDES renewal permit for the Kendall generating facility. The same permit was concurrently issued by the MADEP as a state Surface Water Discharge Permit (SWD Permit), and was accompanied by MADEP is earlier issued water quality certificate under section 401 of the Clean Water Act. The new permits impose new temperature limits at various points in the Charles River, an extensive temperature, water quality and biological monitoring program and a requirement to develop and install a barrier net system to reduce fish impingement and entrainment. The provisions regulating the thermal discharge could cause substantial curtailments of the operations of the Kendall facility. Mirant Kendall has appealed the permits in three proceedings: (1) appeal of the NPDES permit to the EPA is Environmental Appeals Board; (2) appeal of the SWD Permit to the MADEP; and (3) appeal of the water quality certification to the MADEP. The effect of the permits has been stayed pending the outcome of these appeals. The two appeals to the MADEP have been stayed pending the outcome of the appeal to the Environmental Appeals Board. On September 28, 2007, the Environmental Appeals Board stayed the appeal proceedings until April 18, 2008, in order for the EPA to address the sections of the permit that are affected by the EPA is suspension of the 316(b) regulations as a result of the 2007 decision by the Second Circuit in *Riverkeeper, Inc. et al. v. EPA*. Subsequent orders by the Environmental Appeals Board have extended that stay to March 6, 2009. On March 6, 2008, the EPA and the MADEP issued a draft permit modification to address the 316(b) provisions of the permit that would require modifications to the intake structure for the Kendall generating facility to add fine and coarse mesh barrier exclusion technologies and to install a mechanism to sweep organisms away from the intake structure through an induced water flow. On May 1, 2008,

Kendall submitted comments on the draft permit modification objecting to the new requirements. On December 19, 2008, the EPA and the MADEP issued final permit modifications to address the 316(b) regulations. Those final permit modifications did not substantially modify the requirements proposed in the draft modifications, and on February 2, 2009 Mirant Kendall filed an appeal of those modifications. While the appeals are pending, the effect of any contested permit provisions will be stayed and the Kendall generating facility will continue to operate under its current NPDES permit. We are unable to predict the outcome of these proceedings.

Canal NPDES and SWD Permit. On August 1, 2008, the EPA issued to Mirant Canal an NPDES renewal permit for the Canal generating facility. The same permit was concurrently issued by MADEP as a state SWD Permit, and was accompanied by MADEP s earlier water quality certificate under section 401 of the Clean Water Act. The new permit imposes a requirement on Mirant Canal to install closed cycle cooling or an alternative technology that will reduce the entrainment of marine organisms by the Canal generating facility to levels equivalent to what would be achieved by closed cycle cooling. Mirant Canal appealed the NPDES permit to the EPA s Environmental Appeals Board and appealed the surface water discharge and the water quality certificate to the MADEP. On December 4, 2008, the EPA requested a stay to the appeal proceedings until June 1, 2009 and withdrew provisions related to the closed cycle cooling requirements. The EPA has re-noticed these provisions as draft conditions for additional public comment. Mirant Canal filed comments on January 29, 2009, stating that installing closed cycle cooling at the Canal generating facility was not justified and that without some cost-recovery mechanism the cost would make continued operation of the facility uneconomic. While the appeals of the renewal permit are pending, the effect of any contested permit provisions is stayed and the Canal generating facility will continue to operate under its current NPDES permit. We cannot predict the outcome of this proceeding.

NPDES and State Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Permit Renewals. In addition to the proceedings described above in *Kendall NPDES and Surface Water Discharge Permit* and *Canal NPDES and SWD Permit* related to the renewal of the NPDES permit for the Kendall and Canal facilities, proceedings are currently pending for renewal of the NPDES permits for the Dickerson and Morgantown facilities leased by Mirant Mid-Atlantic, the Chalk Point facility owned by Mirant Chalk Point, three ash sites in Maryland owned by Mirant MD Ash Management, the Potomac River facility owned by Mirant Potomac River, the Contra Costa and Pittsburg facilities owned by Mirant Delta and the Potrero facility owned by Mirant Potrero. A proceeding is also pending for renewal of the State Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (SPDES) permit for the Bowline facility owned by Mirant Bowline.

In general, the EPA and the state agencies responsible for implementing the provisions of the Clean Water Act applicable to the intake of water and discharge of effluent by electric generating facilities have been making the requirements imposed upon such facilities more stringent over time. For example, with respect to the Potrero facility, the California Regional Water Quality Control Board has previously stated its intent not to renew the facility s NPDES permit unless Mirant Potrero can demonstrate that the operation of the facility does not adversely affect the San Francisco Bay. With respect to each of these permit renewal proceedings, the permit renewal proceeding could take years to resolve and the agency or agencies involved could impose requirements upon the Mirant entity owning the facility that require significant capital expenditures, limit the times at which the facility can operate, or increase operations and maintenance costs materially.

Wastes, Hazardous Materials and Contamination

Our facilities are subject to laws and regulations governing waste management. The Federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 (and many analogous state laws) contains comprehensive requirements for the handling of solid and hazardous wastes. The generation of electricity produces non-hazardous and hazardous materials, and we incur substantial costs to store and dispose of waste materials. The EPA and the states in which we operate coal-fired units may develop new regulations that impose additional requirements on facilities that store or dispose of materials remaining after the combustion of fossil fuels, including types of coal ash. If so, we may be required to change the current waste management practices at some facilities and incur additional costs.

In November 2008, the MDE promulgated new regulations to govern the handling, storage, recycling and disposal of coal combustion byproducts in Maryland. We have challenged portions of these new regulations in state court because they do not provide adequate time for effectuating the required changes to our facilities and they are unclear in many respects.

Additionally, CERCLA, also known as the Superfund law, establishes a federal framework for dealing with the cleanup of contaminated sites. Many states have enacted similar state superfund statutes as well as other laws imposing obligations to investigate and clean up contamination. Our Contra Costa, Pittsburg and Potrero facilities have areas of soil and groundwater contamination subject to CERCLA and the California Health and Safety Code. In 1998, prior to our acquisition of those facilities from PG&E, consultants for PG&E conducted soil and groundwater investigations at those facilities which revealed contamination. The consultants conducting the investigation estimated the aggregate cleanup costs at those facilities could be as much as \$60 million. Pursuant to the terms of the Purchase and Sale Agreement with PG&E, PG&E has responsibility for the containment or capping of all soil and groundwater contamination and the disposition of up to 60,000 cubic yards of contaminated soil from the Potrero generating facility and the remediation of any groundwater or solid contamination identified by PG&E s consultants in 1998 at the Contra Costa and Pittsburg generating facilities, before those facilities were purchased in 1999 by our subsidiaries. Pursuant to our requests, PG&E has disposed of 807 cubic yards of contaminated soil from the Potrero generating facility. We are not aware of soil or groundwater conditions for which we expect remediation costs to be material that are not the responsibility of other parties.

Employees

At December 31, 2008, we employed 1,661 people, which included approximately 1,146 employees at our generating facilities, 62 employees at our regional offices and 453 employees at our corporate headquarters in Atlanta, Georgia. The following details the employees subject to collective bargaining agreements:

Union	Location	Number of Employees Covered	Contract Expiration Date
Mid-Atlantic Region			
IBEW Local 1900	Maryland and Virginia	530	6/1/2010
Northeast Region			
IBEW Local 503 ⁽¹⁾	New York	49	4/30/2013
UWUA Local 369 ⁽²⁾	Cambridge,		
	Massachusetts	34	2/28/2009
UWUA Local 480	Sandwich, Massachusetts	46	6/1/2011
California			
IBEW Local 1245	California	118	10/31/2013
Total		777	

⁽¹⁾ Our previous contract with Local 503 expired on June 1, 2008. After reaching an impasse in negotiations with Local 503, on January 28, 2009, we unilaterally implemented the terms of our final offer to the union. Bargaining unit employees have continued to work under the terms imposed by us without disruption.

⁽²⁾ We are currently in negotiations with Local 369 on new agreements.

To mitigate and reduce the risk of disruption during labor negotiations, we engage in contingency planning for operation of our generating facilities to the extent possible during an adverse collective action by one or more of our unions.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The following are factors that could affect our future performance:

Our revenues are unpredictable because most of our facilities operate without long-term power sales agreements, and our revenues and results of operations depend on market and competitive forces that are beyond our control.

We sell capacity, energy and ancillary services from our generating facilities into competitive power markets on a short-term fixed price basis or through power sales agreements. Since mid-2007, our revenues from selling capacity have become a significant part of our overall revenues. Except for our Potrero facility, we are not guaranteed recovery of our costs or any return on our capital investments through mandated rates. The market for wholesale electric energy and energy services reflects various market conditions beyond our control, including the balance of supply and demand, our competitors marginal and long run costs of production, and the effect of market regulation. Being concentrated in a few geographic markets results in concentrated exposure to those markets, especially PJM. The price for which we can sell our output may fluctuate on a day-to-day basis and our ability to transact may be affected by the overall liquidity in the markets in which we operate. The markets in which we compete remain subject to one or more forms of regulation that limit our ability to raise prices during periods of shortage to the degree that would occur in a fully deregulated market and may thereby limit our ability to recover costs and an adequate return on our investment. Our revenues and results of operations are influenced by factors that are beyond our control, including:

the failure of market regulators to develop and maintain efficient mechanisms to compensate merchant generators for the value of providing capacity needed to meet demand;

actions by regulators, ISOs, RTOs and other bodies that may prevent capacity and energy prices from rising to the level necessary for recovery of our costs, our investment and an adequate return on our investment;

legal and political challenges to the rules used to calculate capacity payments in the markets in which we operate;

the possibility that the appellate court considering the pending appeal of the FERC s rulings that approved the RPM provisions of PJM s tariff does not affirm the FERC s approval of those provisions, resulting in modifications to the capacity payments made under that tariff in the future and possibly refunds for past periods;

the ability of wholesale purchasers of power to make timely payment for energy or capacity, which may be adversely affected by factors such as retail rate caps, refusals by regulators to allow utilities to recover fully their wholesale power costs and investments through rates, catastrophic losses and losses from investments by utilities in unregulated businesses;

increases in prevailing market prices for fuel oil, coal, natural gas and emissions allowances that may not be reflected in prices we receive for sales of energy;

increases in supplies as a result of actions of our current competitors or new market entrants, including the development of new generating facilities or alternative energy sources that may be able to produce electricity less expensively than our generating facilities and improvements in transmission that allow additional supply to reach our markets;

decreases in energy consumption resulting from demand-side management programs such as automated demand response, which may alter the amount and timing of consumer energy use;

the competitive advantages of certain competitors, including continued operation of older power plants in strategic locations after recovery of historic capital costs from ratepayers;

existing or future regulation of our markets by the FERC, ISOs and RTOs, including any price limitations and other mechanisms to address some of the price volatility or illiquidity in these markets or the physical stability of the system;

regulatory policies of state agencies that affect the willingness of our customers to enter into long-term contracts generally, and contracts for capacity in particular;

changes in the rate of growth in electricity usage as a result of such factors as national and regional economic conditions and implementation of conservation programs;

seasonal variations in energy and gas prices and capacity payments; and

seasonal fluctuations in weather, in particular abnormal weather conditions. In addition, unlike most other commodities, electric energy can only be stored on a very limited basis and generally must be produced at the time of use. As a result, the wholesale power markets are subject to substantial price fluctuations over relatively short periods of time and can be unpredictable.

The global financial crisis may have an effect on our business and financial condition in ways that we currently cannot predict.

The continued credit crisis and related turmoil in the global financial system has had and may continue to have an effect on our business and our financial condition. For example, in October 2008, Lehman Commercial Paper, Inc., a subsidiary of Lehman Brothers Holdings, Inc. and a lender under the senior secured revolving credit facility of our subsidiary, Mirant North America, filed for bankruptcy. As a result of the Lehman Commercial Paper, Inc. bankruptcy, we expect that the total availability under our senior secured revolving credit facility has decreased from \$800 million to \$755 million, assuming that Lehman Commercial Paper, Inc. does not honor its \$45 million commitment. While we do not expect that the Lehman Commercial Paper, Inc. bankruptcy will have a material adverse effect on Mirant, the credit crisis could negatively affect availability under the Mirant North America senior secured revolving credit facility if other lenders under such facility are forced to file for bankruptcy or are otherwise unable to perform their obligations. Absent significant non-performance of lenders under the existing Mirant North America senior secured revolving credit facility for future operations (including potential working capital requirements) and capital expenditures as discussed in Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition Liquidity and Capital Resources. However, in the event of significant non-performance of lenders under the existing Mirant North America senior secured revolving credit facility, the credit crisis could have a negative effect on our ability to obtain new lines of credit if financial institutions are unwilling or unable to enter into new revolving credit facilities.

In addition to the potential effect on our liquidity that could arise from the global financial crisis, the crisis could have a negative effect on the markets in which we sell power, purchase fuel and perform other trading and marketing activities. In recent years, global financial institutions have been active participants in such markets. As such financial institutions consolidate and operate under more restrictive capital constraints in response to the financial crisis, there could be less liquidity in the energy and commodity markets, which could have a negative effect on our ability to hedge and transact with creditworthy counterparties. In addition, we are exposed to credit risk resulting from the possibility that a loss may occur from the failure of a counterparty to perform according to the terms of a contractual arrangement with us. Deterioration in the financial condition of our counterparties as a result of the global financial crisis and the resulting failure to pay amounts owed to us or to perform obligations or services owed to us beyond collateral posted could have a negative effect on our business and financial condition.

Because of the current market design in California our generating facilities may have a limited life unless we make significant capital expenditures to increase their commercial and environmental performance.

Our generating facilities in California depend almost entirely on payments in support of system reliability. The energy market, as currently constituted, will not justify the capital expenditures necessary to repower or

reconstruct our facilities to make them commercially viable in a merchant market. If a commercially reasonable capacity market were to be instituted by the CAISO or we could obtain a contract with a creditworthy buyer, it is possible that we could justify investing the necessary capital to repower or reconstruct our facilities. Absent that, our generating facilities will be commercially viable only as long as they are necessary for reliability.

Changes in commodity prices may negatively affect our financial results by increasing the cost of producing power or lowering the price at which we are able to sell our power.

Our generating business is subject to changes in power prices and fuel costs, and these commodity prices are influenced by many factors outside our control, including weather, market liquidity, transmission and transportation inefficiencies, availability of competitively priced alternative energy sources, demand for energy commodities, production of natural gas, crude oil and coal, natural disasters, wars, embargoes and other catastrophic events, and federal, state and environmental regulation and legislation. Significant fluctuations in commodity prices may affect our financial results and financial position by increasing the cost of producing power and decreasing the amounts we receive from the sale of power. Specifically, significant fluctuations in the price of coal may affect the financial position of the coal suppliers with which we have contracted. In addition, significant fluctuations in the price of natural gas may cause significant fluctuations in the price of electricity.

Our use of derivative financial instruments in our asset management activities will not fully protect us from fluctuations in commodity prices and our risk management policy cannot eliminate the risks associated with these activities.

We engage in asset management activities related to sales of electricity and purchases of fuel. The income and losses from these activities are recorded as operating revenues and fuel costs. We may use forward contracts and other derivative financial instruments to manage market risk and exposure to volatility in prices of electricity, coal, natural gas, emissions and oil. We cannot provide assurance that these strategies will be successful in managing our price risks, or that they will not result in net losses to us as a result of future volatility in electricity, fuel and emissions markets. Actual power prices and fuel costs may differ from our expectations.

Our asset management activities include natural gas derivative financial instruments that we use to hedge power prices for our baseload generation. The effectiveness of these hedges is dependent upon the correlation between power and natural gas prices in the markets where we operate. If those prices are not sufficiently correlated, our financial results and financial position could be adversely affected.

Additionally, we expect to have an open position in the market, within our established guidelines, resulting from the management of our portfolio. To the extent open positions exist, fluctuating commodity prices can affect our financial results and financial position, either favorably or unfavorably. Furthermore, the risk management procedures we have in place may not always be followed or may not always work as planned. Unauthorized hedging and related activities by our employees could result in significant penalties and financial losses. As a result of these and other factors, we cannot predict the outcome that risk management decisions may have on our business, operating results or financial position. Although management devotes considerable attention to these issues, their outcome is uncertain.

We are exposed to the risk of fuel and fuel transportation cost increases and volatility and interruption in fuel supply because our facilities generally do not have long-term agreements for the supply of natural gas, coal and oil.

Although we attempt to purchase fuel based on our expected fuel requirements, we still face the risks of supply interruptions and fuel price volatility. Our cost of fuel may not reflect changes in energy and fuel prices in part because we must pre-purchase inventories of coal and oil for reliability and dispatch requirements, and thus the price of fuel may have been determined at an earlier date than the price of energy generated from it. The price we can obtain from the sale of energy may not rise at the same rate, or may not rise at all, to match a rise in fuel costs. This may have a material adverse effect on our financial performance. The volatility of fuel prices could adversely affect our financial results and operations.

The average market price for the types of coal that we use was approximately 107% higher in the year ended December 31, 2008, than in 2007. Global demand for coal to generate electricity has been a significant factor influencing domestic prices for the types of coal that we use. At the same time, the prices for power and natural gas were extremely volatile, increasing during the first half of 2008 and decreasing during the second half of 2008. Fluctuations in natural gas prices have a significant effect on the price of power, especially in the PJM market where the marginal price for power is often set by gas-fired units. In 2008 as compared to 2007, the energy gross margin earned from our baseload coal units was negatively affected by contracting dark spreads, the difference between the price received for electricity generated compared to the market price of the coal required to produce the electricity. In the fourth quarter of 2008 and in early 2009, the average market price for the types of coal that we use declined from the highs observed earlier in 2008. However, the average market price for power also declined during the same period.

We enter into contracts of varying terms to secure appropriate quantities of fuel that meet the varying specifications of our generating facilities. For our coal-fired generating facilities, we purchase coal from a variety of suppliers under contracts with terms of varying lengths, some of which extend to 2013.

Our asset management, proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities may increase the volatility of our quarterly and annual financial results.

We engage in asset management activities to hedge economically our exposure to market risk with respect to: (1) electricity sales from our generating facilities; (2) fuel used by those facilities; and (3) emissions allowances. We generally attempt to balance our fixed-price purchases and sales commitments in terms of contract volumes and the timing of performance and delivery obligations through the use of financial and physical derivative financial instruments. We also use derivative financial instruments with respect to our limited proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities, through which we attempt to achieve incremental returns by transacting where we have specific market expertise. Derivatives from our asset management, proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities are recorded on our balance sheet at fair value pursuant to SFAS 133. None of our derivatives recorded at fair value are designated as hedges under SFAS 133 and changes in their fair values are therefore recognized currently in earnings as unrealized gains or losses. As a result, our financial results including gross margin, operating income and balance sheet ratios will, at times, be volatile and subject to fluctuations in value primarily because of changes in forward electricity and fuel prices. For a more detailed discussion of the accounting treatment of our asset management, proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities, see Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report.

Operation of our generating facilities involves risks that may have a material adverse effect on our cash flows and results of operations.

The operation of our generating facilities involves various operating risks, including, but not limited to:

the output and efficiency levels at which those generating facilities perform;

interruptions in fuel supply and quality of available fuel;

disruptions in the delivery of electricity;

adverse zoning;

breakdowns or equipment failures (whether a result of age or otherwise);

restrictions on emissions;

violations of our permit requirements or changes in the terms of or revocation of permits;

releases of pollutants and hazardous substances to air, soil, surface water or groundwater;

ability to transport and dispose of coal ash at reasonable prices;

shortages of equipment or spare parts;

labor disputes;

operator errors;

curtailment of operations because of transmission constraints;

failures in the electricity transmission system which may cause large energy blackouts;

implementation of unproven technologies in connection with environmental improvements; and

catastrophic events such as fires, explosions, floods, earthquakes, hurricanes or other similar occurrences. If our facilities experience unplanned outages, we may be required to procure replacement power in the open market to satisfy contractual commitments. If we should lack adequate liquidity to post margin and collateral requirements, we may be exposed to significant losses and may miss significant opportunities, and we may have increased exposure to the volatility of spot markets.

A decrease in, or the elimination of, the revenues generated by our facilities or an increase in the costs of operating such facilities could materially affect our cash flows and results of operations, including cash flows available to us to make payments on our debt or our other obligations.

Our operating results are subject to quarterly and seasonal fluctuations.

Our operating results have fluctuated in the past and are likely to continue to do so in the future as a result of a number of factors, including seasonal variations in demand and fuel prices.

We compete to sell energy, capacity and ancillary services in the wholesale power markets against some competitors that enjoy competitive advantages, including the ability to recover fixed costs through rate-base mechanisms and a lower cost of capital.

Regulated utilities in the wholesale markets generally enjoy a lower cost of capital than we do and often are able to recover fixed costs through regulated retail rates, including, in many cases, the costs of generation, allowing them to build, buy and upgrade generating facilities without relying exclusively on market clearing prices to recover their investments. The competitive advantages of such participants could adversely affect our ability to compete effectively and could have an adverse impact on the revenues generated by our facilities.

Our business and activities are subject to extensive environmental requirements and could be adversely affected by such requirements, including future changes to them.

Our business is subject to extensive environmental regulations promulgated by federal, state and local authorities, which, among other things, restrict the discharge of pollutants into the air, water and soil, and also govern the use of water from adjacent waterways. Such laws and regulations frequently require us to obtain permits and remain in continuous compliance with the conditions established by those permits. To comply with these legal requirements and the terms of our permits, we must spend significant sums on environmental monitoring, pollution control equipment and emissions allowances. If we were to fail to comply with these requirements, we could be subject to civil or criminal liability, injunctive relief and the imposition of liens or fines. We may be required to shut down facilities (including ash sites) if we are unable to comply with the requirements, or if we determine the expenditures required to comply are uneconomic.

From time to time, we may not be able to obtain necessary environmental regulatory approvals. Such approvals could be delayed or subject to onerous conditions. If there is a delay in obtaining environmental regulatory approval or if onerous conditions are imposed, the operation of our generating facilities or ash sites or the sale of electricity to third parties could be prevented or become subject to additional costs. Such delays or onerous conditions could have a material adverse effect on our financial performance and condition. In addition, environmental laws, particularly with respect to air emissions, wastewater discharge and cooling water systems, are generally becoming more stringent, which may require us to make additional facility upgrades or restrict our operations.

Increased public concern and growing political pressure related to global warming have resulted in significant increases in the regulation of greenhouse gases, including CO2 at the state level. Future local, state and federal regulation of greenhouse gases is likely to create substantial environmental costs for us in the form of taxes or purchases of emissions allowances. Many of the states where we own generating facilities, including California, Maryland, Massachusetts and New York, have recently committed, or expressed an intent to commit, to mandatory reductions in statewide CO2 emissions through a regional cap-and-trade program. Maryland, Massachusetts and New York have already joined the RGGI, which required all allowances to be purchased initially through an auction process, the first of which took place in September 2008. Auctions, such as those mandated by the RGGI, may decrease the amount of available allowances and substantially increase emissions allowance prices. Because our generating facilities emit CO2, these regulations and similar future laws may significantly increase our operating costs.

Certain environmental laws, including CERCLA and comparable state laws, impose strict and, in many circumstances, joint and several liability for costs of remediating contamination in soil, groundwater and elsewhere. Some of our facilities have areas with known soil and/or groundwater contamination. Releases of hazardous substances at our generating facilities, or at locations where we dispose of (or in the past disposed of) hazardous substances and other waste, could require us to spend significant sums to remediate contamination, regardless of whether we caused such contamination. The discovery of significant contamination at our generating facilities, at disposal sites we currently use or have used, or at other locations for which we may be liable, or the failure or inability of parties contractually responsible to us for contamination to respond when claims or obligations regarding such contamination arise, could have a material adverse effect on our financial performance and condition.

Major environmental construction projects planned by 2010 at our Mid-Atlantic coal facilities may not meet their anticipated schedule, which would restrict these units from running at their maximum economic levels. If the operating constraints were sufficiently severe, Mirant Mid-Atlantic may not have sufficient cash flow to permit it to make distributions or, if more severe, to meet its obligations.

Under the Maryland Healthy Air Act, we are required to reduce annual emissions below certain levels by January 2010. The levels established do not allow for the use of emissions allowances to meet the mandated levels. To meet these requirements, we are installing pollution control equipment on all of our Maryland coal-fired units. We may not have completed installation of or be able to operate this pollution control equipment by January 2010 because of a number of factors, including:

adverse weather conditions;

unanticipated cost increases;

engineering problems;

construction problems;

failure or delays in obtaining necessary permits and approvals;

shortages of equipment, materials or skilled labor;

unscheduled delays in delivery of materials and equipment; and

work stoppages.

Any of these factors may significantly increase the estimated costs of our environmental construction projects or result in a loss of cash flows from operations because of reduced unit operations.

The expected decommissioning and/or site remediation obligations of certain of our generating facilities may negatively affect our cash flows.

We expect that certain of our generating facilities and related properties will become subject to decommissioning and/or site remediation obligations that may require material expenditures. Furthermore, laws

and regulations may change to impose material additional decommissioning and remediation obligations on us in the future. If we are required to make material expenditures to decommission or remediate one or more of our facilities, such obligations will affect our cash flows and may adversely affect our ability to make payments on our obligations.

Our consolidated indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital to fund our operations, limit our ability to react to changes in the economy or our industry and prevent us from meeting or refinancing our obligations.

As of December 31, 2008, our consolidated indebtedness was \$2.676 billion. In addition, the present value of lease payments under the Mirant Mid-Atlantic leveraged leases is approximately \$1.0 billion (assuming a 10% discount rate) and the termination value of the Mirant Mid-Atlantic leveraged leases is \$1.4 billion. Our leverage and obligations under the leveraged leases could have important consequences, including the following: (1) it may limit our ability to obtain additional debt or equity financing for working capital, capital expenditures, debt service requirements, acquisitions and general corporate or other purposes; (2) a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations must be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on our indebtedness and will not be available for other purposes, including our operations, capital expenditures and future business opportunities; (3) the debt service requirements of our indebtedness could make it more difficult for us to satisfy or refinance our financial obligations; (4) certain of our borrowings, including borrowings under our senior secured credit facilities, are at variable rates of interest, exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates; (5) it may limit our ability to adjust to changing market conditions and place us at a competitive disadvantage compared with our competitors that have less debt and are not burdened by such obligations and restrictions; and (6) we may be more vulnerable in a downturn in general economic conditions or in our business and we may be unable to carry out capital expenditures that are important to our long-term growth or necessary to comply with environmental regulations.

Mirant Corporation and its subsidiaries that are holding companies, including Mirant Americas Generation and Mirant North America, may not have access to sufficient cash to meet their obligations if their subsidiaries, in particular, Mirant Mid-Atlantic, are unable to make distributions.

We and certain of our subsidiaries, including Mirant Americas Generation and Mirant North America, are holding companies and, as a result, we are dependent upon dividends, distributions and other payments from our operating subsidiaries to generate the funds necessary to meet our obligations. The ability of certain of our subsidiaries to pay dividends and distributions is restricted under the terms of their debt or other agreements. In particular, a significant portion of cash from our operations is generated by the power generating facilities of Mirant Mid-Atlantic leveraged leases, Mirant Mid-Atlantic is subject to a covenant that restricts its right to make distributions to its immediate parent, Mirant North America. In turn, Mirant North America is subject to covenants that restrict its ability to make distributions to its parent, Mirant Americas Generation. The ability of Mirant North America and Mirant Mid-Atlantic to satisfy the criteria set forth in their respective debt covenants in the future could be impaired by factors which negatively affect their financial performance, including interruptions in operation or curtailment of operations to comply with environmental restrictions, significant capital and other expenditures and adverse conditions in the power and fuel markets. Further, the Mirant North America senior notes and senior secured credit facilities include financial covenants that will exclude from the calculation the financial results of any subsidiary that is unable to make distributions or dividends at the time of such calculation. Thus, the inability of Mirant Mid-Atlantic to make distributions to Mirant North America under the leveraged lease transaction would have a material adverse effect on the calculation of the financial covenants under the senior notes and senior secured credit facilities of Mirant North America, including the leverage and interest coverage maintenance covenants under its senior credit facility.

The obligations of Mirant Corporation and its holding company subsidiaries, including the indebtedness of Mirant Americas Generation and Mirant North America, are effectively subordinated to the obligations or

indebtedness of their respective subsidiaries, including the Mirant Mid-Atlantic leveraged leases. See Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis Liquidity and Capital Resources for a discussion of restrictions on the ability of Mirant North America to make distributions to its parent, Mirant Americas Generation.

We may be unable to generate sufficient liquidity to service our debt and to post required amounts of cash collateral necessary to hedge market risk effectively.

Our ability to pay principal and interest on our debt depends on our future operating performance. If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to allow us to make scheduled payments on our debt, we may have to reduce or delay capital expenditures, sell assets, seek additional capital, restructure or refinance. There can be no assurance that the terms of our debt will allow these alternative measures, that the financial markets will be available to us on acceptable terms or that such measures would satisfy our scheduled debt service obligations.

We seek to manage the risks associated with the volatility in the price at which we sell power produced by our generating facilities and in the prices of fuel, emissions allowances and other inputs required to produce such power by entering into hedging transactions. These asset management activities may require us to post collateral either in the form of cash or letters of credit. As of December 31, 2008, we had approximately \$111 million of posted cash collateral and \$301 million of letters of credit outstanding primarily to support our asset management activities, debt service and rent reserve requirements and other commercial arrangements. See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for further information on our posted cash collateral and letters of credit. While we seek to structure transactions in a way that reduces our potential liquidity needs for collateral, we may be unable to execute our hedging strategy successfully if we are unable to post the amount of collateral required to enter into and support hedging contracts.

We are an active participant in energy exchange and clearing markets. These markets require a per contract initial margin to be posted, regardless of the credit quality of the participant. The initial margins are determined by the exchanges through the use of proprietary models that rely on a variety of inputs and factors, including market conditions. We have limited notice of any changes to the margin rates. Consequently, we are exposed to changes in the per unit margin rates required by the exchanges and could be required to post additional collateral on short notice.

Our business is subject to complex government regulations. Changes in these regulations, or their administration, by legislatures, state and federal regulatory agencies, or other bodies may affect the costs of operating our facilities or our ability to operate our facilities. Such costs, in turn, may negatively affect our results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to regulation by the FERC regarding the terms and conditions of wholesale service and rates, as well as by state agencies regarding physical aspects of our generating facilities. The majority of our generation is sold at market prices under market-based rate authority granted by the FERC. If certain conditions are not met, the FERC has the authority to withhold or rescind market-based rate authority and require sales to be made based on cost-of-service rates. A loss of our market-based rate authority could have a materially negative impact on our generating business.

Even where market-based rate authority has been granted, the FERC may impose various forms of market mitigation measures, including price caps and operating restrictions, where it determines that potential market power might exist and that the public interest requires such potential market power to be mitigated. In addition to direct regulation by the FERC, most of our facilities are subject to rules and terms of participation imposed and administered by various ISOs and RTOs. Although these entities are themselves ultimately regulated by the FERC, they can impose rules, restrictions and terms of service that are quasi-regulatory in nature and can have a material adverse impact on our business. For example, ISOs and RTOs may impose bidding and scheduling rules, both to curb the potential exercise of market power and to ensure market functions. Such actions may materially affect our ability to sell and the price we receive for our energy, capacity and ancillary services.

To conduct our business, we must obtain and periodically renew licenses, permits and approvals for our facilities. These licenses, permits and approvals can be in addition to any required environmental permits. No assurance can be provided that we will be able to obtain and comply with all necessary licenses, permits and approvals for these facilities. If we cannot comply with all applicable regulations, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

We cannot predict whether the federal or state legislatures will adopt legislation relating to the restructuring of the energy industry. There are proposals in many jurisdictions that would either roll back or advance the movement toward competitive markets for the supply of electricity, at both the wholesale and retail levels. In addition, any future legislation favoring large, vertically integrated utilities and a concentration of ownership of such utilities could affect our ability to compete successfully, and our business and results of operations could be adversely affected. We cannot provide assurance that the introductions of new laws, or other future regulatory developments, will not have a material adverse impact on our business, operations or financial condition.

Changes in technology may significantly affect our generating business by making our generating facilities less competitive.

We generate electricity using fossil fuels at large central facilities. This method results in economies of scale and lower costs than newer technologies such as fuel cells, microturbines, windmills and photovoltaic solar cells. It is possible that advances in those technologies will reduce their costs to levels that are equal to or below that of most central station electricity production, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Terrorist attacks, future wars or risk of war may adversely affect our results of operations, our ability to raise capital or our future growth.

As power generators, we face heightened risk of an act of terrorism, either a direct act against one of our generating facilities or an inability to operate as a result of systemic damage resulting from an act against the transmission and distribution infrastructure that is used to transport our power. If such an attack were to occur, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected. In addition, such an attack could affect our ability to service our indebtedness, our ability to raise capital and our future growth opportunities.

Our operations are subject to hazards customary to the power generating industry. We may not have adequate insurance to cover all of these hazards.

Our operations are subject to many hazards associated with the power generating industry, which may expose us to significant liabilities for which we may not have adequate insurance coverage. Power generation involves hazardous activities, including acquiring, transporting and unloading fuel, operating large pieces of rotating equipment and delivering electricity to transmission and distribution systems. In addition to natural risks, such as earthquake, flood, storm surge, lightning, hurricane and wind, hazards, such as fire, explosion, collapse and machinery failure, are inherent risks in our operations. These hazards can cause significant injury to personnel or loss of life, severe damage to and destruction of property, plant and equipment, contamination of, or damage to, the environment and suspension of operations. The occurrence of any one of these events may result in our being named as a defendant in lawsuits asserting claims for substantial damages, environmental cleanup costs, personal injury and fines and/or penalties. We maintain an amount of insurance protection that we consider adequate, but we cannot assure that our insurance will be sufficient or effective under all circumstances and against all hazards or liabilities to which we may be subject. A successful claim for which we are not fully insured could have a material adverse effect on our financial results and our financial condition.

We are currently involved in significant litigation that, if decided adversely to us, could materially adversely affect our results of operations and profitability.

We are currently involved in various litigation matters, which are described in more detail in this Form 10-K. We intend to defend vigorously against those claims that we are unable to settle, but the results of this litigation cannot be determined. Adverse outcomes for us in this litigation could require significant expenditures by us and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and profitability.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments None.

Item 2. *Properties*

The properties below were owned or leased as of December 31, 2008. Our leasehold or ownership interest is 100% for each property.

Generating Facilities	Location	Dispatch Type	Primary Fuel	Total MW(1)	2008 Net Capacity Factor
Mid-Atlantic Region:	Location	Dispatch Type	i i initar y i uci	MI ((1)	Tuctor
Chalk Point	Maryland	Intermediate/Baseload/ Peaking	Natural Gas/Coal/Oil	2,413	21%
Dickerson	Maryland	Baseload/Peaking	Natural Gas/Coal/Oil	849	37%
Morgantown	Maryland	Baseload/Peaking	Coal/Oil	1,486	53%
Potomac River	Virginia	Intermediate/Baseload	Coal	482	19%
Total Mid-Atlantic				5,230	33%
Northeast Region:					
Canal	Massachusetts	Intermediate	Natural Gas/Oil	1,126	17%
Kendall	Massachusetts	Baseload/Peaking	Natural Gas/Oil	256	39%
Martha s Vineyard	Massachusetts	Peaking	Diesel	14	3%
Bowline	New York	Intermediate/Peaking	Natural Gas/Oil	1,139	2%
Total Northeast				2,535	13%
California:					
Contra Costa	California	Intermediate	Natural Gas	674	3%
Pittsburg	California	Intermediate	Natural Gas	1,311	2%
Potrero	California	Intermediate/Peaking	Natural Gas/Diesel	362	17%
Total California				2,347	4%
Total Operations				10,112	21%

(1) Total MW amounts reflect nominal net summer capacity for 2008.

We also own an oil pipeline, which is approximately 51.5 miles long and serves the Chalk Point and Morgantown generating facilities.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

See Note 16 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for discussion of the material legal proceedings to which we are a party.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders None.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities Common Stock

All shares of Old Mirant s common stock were cancelled on January 3, 2006, and 276.5 million shares of New Mirant common stock were distributed to holders of unsecured claims and equity securities. In addition, we reserved 23.5 million shares for unresolved claims, of which approximately 850,000 shares had not yet been distributed as of December 31, 2008. New Mirant is authorized to issue 1.5 billion shares of common stock having a par value of \$.01 per share and 100 million shares of preferred stock having a par value of \$.01 per share. On January 3, 2006, New Mirant also issued Series A Warrants and Series B Warrants, expiring January 3, 2011, which entitled their holders to purchase, as of that date, an aggregate of 35.3 million and 17.6 million shares of common stock, respectively. The exercise price of the Series A Warrants and Series B Warrants is \$21.87 and \$20.54 per share, respectively. There were approximately 26.9 million Series A Warrants and 7.1 million Series B Warrants outstanding at December 31, 2008.

All of the New Mirant common stock was issued in accordance with Section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code, and we received no proceeds from such issuance. The issuance of shares of New Mirant common stock was exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act, as amended, and equivalent provisions of state securities laws, in reliance upon Section 1145(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.

Our common stock is currently traded on the NYSE under the ticker symbol MIR. We have submitted to the NYSE our 2008 annual certificate from our Chief Executive Officer certifying that he is not aware of any violation by the Company of NYSE corporate governance listing standards. The closing price of our stock on December 31, 2008, was \$18.87. The following table sets forth the high and low prices for our common stock as reported by the NYSE for the periods indicated.

Price Range of Common Stock

Quarter	High	Low	
2007			
First	\$ 41.70	\$ 30.41	
Second	\$ 49.00	\$ 39.61	
Third	\$ 44.20	\$ 34.77	
Fourth	\$ 44.61	\$ 36.20	
2008			
First	\$ 39.53	\$ 33.75	
Second	\$ 42.21	\$ 36.08	
Third	\$ 39.20	\$ 17.32	
Fourth	\$ 20.28	\$ 11.99	

Holders

As of January 31, 2009, there were approximately 58,770 record holders of our common stock, par value \$.01 per share.

Dividends

We have not paid or declared any cash dividends on our common stock in the last two fiscal years and we do not anticipate paying any quarterly cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Return of Cash

On November 9, 2007, we announced that we planned to return a total of \$4.6 billion of excess cash to our stockholders based on four factors: (1) the outlook for the business, (2) preserving our credit profile, (3) maintaining adequate liquidity, including for capital expenditures and (4) maintaining sufficient working capital. On September 22, 2008, we announced that we had returned \$3.856 billion of cash to our stockholders and suspended our program to return excess cash to our stockholders based on our evaluation of the four factors that were set out upon commencement of the share repurchase program. On November 7, 2008, we announced that we were resuming our program of returning excess cash to our stockholders and would purchase an additional \$200 million of shares through open market purchases. This \$200 million was completed in the fourth quarter of 2008 and was in addition to the previous \$3.856 billion of cash returned to our stockholders.

On November 9, 2007, we announced that the first stage of the cash distribution would be accomplished through an accelerated share repurchase program for \$1 billion, plus open market purchases for up to an additional \$1 billion. In the fourth quarter of 2007, we repurchased 26.66 million shares of common stock for \$1 billion through the accelerated share repurchase program.

On February 29, 2008, we announced that we had decided to return the remaining \$2.6 billion of cash through open market purchases of common stock but that we would continue to evaluate the most efficient method to return the cash to stockholders.

On May 15, 2008, the accelerated share repurchase program was completed and we received an additional 682,387 shares, resulting in a total of 27.34 million shares purchased. The final price of shares repurchased under the accelerated share repurchase program was \$36.57 per share, which was determined based on a discount to the volume weighted average trading price of our common stock over the period of the accelerated share repurchase program.

Between November 2007 and December 2008, we returned approximately \$4.056 billion of cash to our stockholders through purchases of 122 million shares of our common stock, including 86 million shares that were purchased through open market purchases in 2008 for approximately \$2.74 billion. We have repurchased approximately 48% of the 256 million basic shares that we had outstanding when the program began in November 2007.

Share Repurchases

The following table sets forth information regarding repurchases by us of our common shares on the NYSE during the three-month period ended December 31, 2008:

Period	Shares repurchased (in millions)	Average price paid per share	Total number of shares purchased as part of publicly announced plans (in millions)	value of may purcha the	mate dollar shares that y yet be used under plans nillions)
Oct 1, 2008 Oct 31, 2008		\$		\$	
Nov 1, 2008 Nov 30, 2008	10.46	\$ 16.57	10.46	\$	26.71
Dec 1, 2008 Dec 31, 2008	1.48	\$ 18.04	1.48	\$	
Total	11.94		11.94		

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table sets forth the compensation plans under which our equity securities were authorized for issuance as of December 31, 2008:

Plan category	Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights (in millions)	Weighted average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants and rights		Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans (excluding securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights) (in millions)
Equity compensation plans approved				
by security holders	6.3	\$	29.46	12.3
Equity compensation plans not				
approved by security holders	N/A		N/A	N/A
Total	6.3	\$	29.46	12.3

Our 2005 Omnibus Incentive Plan for certain employees and directors of Mirant became effective on January 3, 2006, and is deemed to have been approved by our stockholders by virtue of its approval under the Plan.

Stock Performance Graph

The performance graph below is being provided as furnished and not filed as permitted by 17 Code of Federal Regulations 229.201(e), in this Form 10-K and compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the Standard & Poor s 500 Index, the Standard & Poor s Multi-Utility Index and the Standard & Poor s Independent Power Producers and Energy Traders Index since the re-issuance of our common stock in connection with our emergence from bankruptcy on January 3, 2006. Our stock was re-listed on the NYSE on January 11, 2006. Because all of Old Mirant s outstanding common stock was cancelled upon emergence from bankruptcy, stock performance prior to 2006 does not provide a meaningful comparison for current stockholders and thus has not been provided. The graph assumes that \$100 was invested on January 11, 2006, in our common stock and each of the above indices, and that all dividends are reinvested. The stockholder return shown below may not be indicative of future performance.

Indexed Returns

Year Ended

Company / Index	12/31/2006	12/31/2007	12/31/2008
Mirant	\$ 126.38	\$ 156.04	\$ 75.54
S&P 500 Index	\$ 111.69	\$ 117.82	\$ 74.23
S&P 500 Multi-Utilities Index	\$ 115.41	\$ 127.95	\$ 96.80
S&P 500 Independent Power Producers & Energy Traders	\$ 125.03	\$ 157.71	\$ 48.70
Total Datum to Staakhaldana			

Total Return to Stockholders

(Includes reinvestment of dividends)

Annual Return Percentage

Year Ended

Company / Index	12/31/2006	12/31/2007	12/31/2008
Mirant	26.38%	23.47%	(51.59)%
S&P 500 Index	11.69%	5.49%	(37.00)%
S&P 500 Multi-Utilities Index	15.41%	10.86%	(24.34)%
S&P 500 Independent Power Producers & Energy Traders	25.03%	26.13%	(69.12)%

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto, which are included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The following tables present our selected consolidated financial information, which is derived from our consolidated financial statements.

		Years Ended December 31,				
	2008	2007	2006	2005	2004	
		(in millior	is except per	share data)		
Statements of Operations Data:						
Operating revenues	\$ 3,188	\$ 2,019	\$ 3,087	\$ 2,620	\$ 3,231	
Income (loss) from continuing operations	1,215	433	1,752	(1,385)	(9)	
Income (loss) from discontinued operations	50	1,562	112	93	(467)	
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles				(15)		
Net income (loss)	1,265	1,995	1,864	(1,307)	(476)	
Basic EPS per common share from continuing operations	\$ 6.53	\$ 1.72	\$ 6.15	N/A	N/A	

Our Statement of Operations Data for each year reflects the volatility caused by unrealized gains and losses related to derivative financial instruments used to hedge electricity and fuel economically. Changes in the fair value and settlements of derivative financial instruments used to hedge electricity economically are reflected in operating revenue and changes in the fair value and settlements of derivative financial instruments used to hedge fuel economically are reflected in cost of fuel, electricity and other products in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Changes in the fair value and settlements of derivative financial instruments are recorded on a net basis as operating revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information.

	Years Ended December 31,				
	2008	2007	2006	2005	2004
	(in millions)				
Unrealized gains (losses) included in operating revenues	\$ 840	\$ (564)	\$ 757	\$ (92)	\$176
Unrealized losses (gains) included in cost of fuel, electricity and other products	54	(28)	102	(76)	8
Total	\$ 786	\$ (536)	\$ 655	\$ (16)	\$ 168

Our Statement of Operations Data for the year ended December 31, 2007, reflects gains on sales of discontinued operations as discussed in Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report. EPS information for years prior to 2006 has not been presented because the information is not relevant in any material respect for users of our financial statements. See Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report. Our Statement of Operations Data for the year ended December 31, 2006, reflects significant income tax benefits as discussed in Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report.

Our Statement of Operations Data for the year ended December 31, 2005, reflects the effects of accounting for the Plan confirmed on December 9, 2005. During our bankruptcy proceedings, our consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with SOP 90-7. Our Statement of Operations Data for the year ended December 31, 2004, does not include interest expense on debt that was subject to compromise subsequent to the Petition Date and includes goodwill impairment losses of \$582 million.

The consolidated Balance Sheet Data for years 2006, 2005 and 2004, segregates pre-petition liabilities subject to compromise from those liabilities that were not subject to compromise.

		Years Ended December 31,				
	2008	2007	2006	2005	2004	
		(in millions)				
Balance Sheet Data:						
Total assets	\$ 10,688	\$ 10,538	\$ 12,845	\$ 14,364	\$ 11,926	
Total long-term debt	2,676	3,095	3,275	2,582	38	
Liabilities subject to compromise			18	18	9,164	
Stockholders equity (deficit)	\$ 3,762	\$ 5,310	\$ 4,443	\$ 3,856	\$ (1,318)	

The debt of Mirant Americas Generation that was reinstated in 2005 is included in liabilities subject to compromise for 2004. In 2005, we recorded the effects of the Plan. As a result, liabilities subject to compromise at December 31, 2005 and 2006, only reflect the liabilities of our New York entities that remained in bankruptcy at that time. Total assets for all periods reflect our election in 2008 to discontinue the net presentation of assets subject to master netting agreements upon adoption of FSP FIN 39-1.

Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition

This section is intended to provide the reader with information that will assist in understanding our financial statements, the changes in those financial statements from year to year and the primary factors contributing to those changes. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the notes accompanying those financial statements.

Overview

We are a competitive energy company that produces and sells electricity in the United States. We own or lease 10,112 MW of net electric generating capacity in the Mid-Atlantic and Northeast regions and in California. We also operate an integrated asset management and energy marketing organization based in Atlanta, Georgia.

Share Repurchases

Between November 2007 and December 2008, we returned approximately \$4.056 billion of cash to our stockholders through purchases of 122 million shares of our common stock, including 86 million shares that were purchased through open market purchases in 2008 for approximately \$2.74 billion. We have repurchased approximately 48% of the 256 million basic shares that we had outstanding when the program began in November 2007. See Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information related to our share repurchases.

Hedging Activities

We hedge economically a substantial portion of our Mid-Atlantic coal-fired baseload generation and certain of our Northeast gas and oil-fired generation through OTC transactions. However, we generally do not hedge our intermediate and peaking units for tenors greater than 12 months. A significant portion of our hedges are financial swap transactions between Mirant Mid-Atlantic and financial counterparties that are senior unsecured obligations of such parties and do not require either party to post cash collateral either for initial margin or for securing exposure as a result of changes in power or natural gas prices. At February 10, 2009, our aggregate hedge levels based on expected generation for each period were as follows:

		Aggregate Hedge Levels Based on Expected Generation				tion
		2009	2010	2011	2012	2013
	Power	96%	62%	22%	24%	24%
	Fuel	90%	64%	53%	29%	6%
• • • •	10 1 10					

Capital Expenditures and Capital Resources

Including amounts already spent to date, we expect to incur total capital expenditures of \$1.674 billion to comply with the limitations on SO2, NOx and mercury emissions under the Maryland Healthy Air Act. As of December 31, 2008, we have paid approximately \$997 million for capital expenditures related to the Maryland Healthy Air Act. For the year ended December 31, 2008, we paid \$683 million for capital expenditures, excluding capitalized interest, of which \$497 million related to the Maryland Healthy Air Act. The following table details the expected timing of payments for our estimated capital expenditures, excluding capitalized interest, for 2009 and 2010 (in millions):

	2009	2010
Maryland Healthy Air Act	\$ 490	\$187
Other environmental	33	33
Maintenance	162	132
Construction	55	55
Other	14	15
Total	\$ 754	\$ 422

We expect that available cash and future cash flows from operations will be sufficient to fund these capital expenditures.

Consolidated Financial Performance

We reported net income of \$1.265 billion, \$1.995 billion and \$1.864 billion for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The change in net income is detailed as follows (in millions):

			Years Ended I Increase/	December 31	,	Increase/
	2008	2007	(Decrease)	2007	2006	(Decrease)
Realized gross margin	\$ 1,343	\$ 1,643	\$ (300)	\$ 1,643	\$ 1,281	\$ 362
Unrealized gross margin	786	(536)	1,322	(536)	655	(1,191)
Total gross margin	2,129	1,107	1,022	1,107	1,936	(829)
Operating Expenses:						
Operations and maintenance	683	707	(24)	707	592	115
Depreciation and amortization	144	129	15	129	137	(8)
Impairment losses		175	(175)	175	119	56
Gain on sales of assets, net	(39)	(45)	6	(45)	(49)	4
Total operating expenses	788	966	(178)	966	799	167
Operating income	1,341	141	1,200	141	1,137	(996)
Total other expense (income), net	124	(299)	423	(299)	99	(398)
Income from continuing operations before reorganization items,						
net and income taxes	1,217	440	777	440	1,038	(598)
Reorganization items, net		(2)	2	(2)	(164)	162
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	2	9	(7)	9	(550)	559
Income from continuing operations	1,215	433	782	433	1,752	(1,319)
Income from discontinued operations	50	1,562	(1,512)	1,562	112	1,450
Net income	\$ 1,265	\$ 1,995	\$ (730)	\$ 1,995	\$ 1,864	\$ 131

The following discussion includes non-GAAP financial measures because we present our consolidated financial performance in terms of gross margin. Gross margin is our operating revenue less cost of fuel, electricity and other products, and excludes depreciation and amortization. We present gross margin, excluding depreciation and amortization, and realized gross margin separately from unrealized gross margin in order to be consistent with how we manage our business. Therefore, it may not be possible to compare our non-GAAP financial measures with those of other companies which also present similar non-GAAP financial measures. We encourage our investors to review our consolidated financial statements and other publicly filed reports in their entirety and not to rely on a single financial measure.

Commodity Prices

The prices for power, natural gas and fuel oil were extremely volatile during 2008. For the year ended December 31, 2008, we recognized unrealized gains of \$786 million. We are generally economically neutral for that portion of the portfolio that we have hedged because our realized gross margin will reflect the contractual prices of our power and fuel contracts.

Our coal supply comes primarily from the Central Appalachian and Northern Appalachian coal regions. The average market price for the types of coal that we use was approximately 107% higher in the year ended December 31, 2008, than in the same period in 2007. Global demand for coal to generate electricity was a significant factor influencing domestic prices for the types of coal that we use. Coal prices in other regions did not increase as dramatically; however, switching the types of coal that we use would require significant capital expenditures and increases in

transportation costs. As a result of the increases in market prices, the energy gross margin earned from our baseload coal units was negatively affected by contracting dark spreads, the difference

between the price received for electricity generated compared to the market price of the coal required to produce the electricity. In the fourth quarter of 2008 and in early 2009, the average market price for the types of coal that we use declined from the highs observed earlier in 2008. However, the average market price for power also declined during the same period. We enter into contracts of varying terms to secure appropriate quantities of fuel that meet the varying specifications of our generating facilities. For our coal-fired generating facilities, we purchase coal from a variety of suppliers under contracts with terms of varying lengths, some of which extend to 2013. Most of our coal contracts are not required to be recorded at fair value under SFAS 133. As such, these contracts are not included in derivative contract assets and liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2008, the net fair value of these long-term coal agreements was approximately \$38 million.

Results of Operations

The following discussion of our performance is organized by reportable segment, which is consistent with the way we manage our business.

In the tables below, the Mid-Atlantic region includes our Chalk Point, Dickerson, Morgantown and Potomac River facilities. The Northeast region includes our Bowline, Canal, Kendall, Lovett (shutdown on April 19, 2008) and Martha s Vineyard facilities. The California region includes our Contra Costa, Pittsburg and Potrero facilities. Other Operations includes proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities, unallocated corporate overhead, interest on debt at Mirant Americas Generation and Mirant North America and interest on our invested cash balances. For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, Other Operations also includes gains and losses related to the Back-to-Back Agreement with Pepco, which was terminated pursuant to a settlement agreement that became effective in the third quarter of 2007. See Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for further discussion of the Pepco Settlement Agreement.

Operating Statistics

The following table summarizes Net Capacity Factor by region for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006:

		Y ears Ended December 31,					
	2008	2007	Decrease	2007	2006	Increase/ (Decrease)	
Mid-Atlantic	33%	37%	(4)%	37%	36%	1%	
Northeast	13%	22%	(9)%	22%	18%	4%	
California	4%	4%	%	4%	6%	(2)%	
Total	21%	25%	(4)%	25%	24%	1%	

. . . .

The following table summarizes power generation volumes by region for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 (in gigawatt hours):

	Years Decem 2008		Increase/ (Decrease)	Increase/ (Decrease) %	Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006		Increase/ (Decrease)	Increase/ (Decrease) %
Mid-Atlantic:								
Baseload	14,350	15,390	(1,040)	(7)%	15,390	15,662	(272)	(2)%
Intermediate	489	1,105	(616)	(56)%	1,105	736	369	50%
Peaking	160	337	(177)	(53)%	337	210	127	60%
Total Mid-Atlantic	14,999	16,832	(1,833)	(11)%	16,832	16,608	224	1%
Northeast:				(=0) 2				(0) 21
Baseload	1,131	2,691	(1,560)	(58)%	2,691	2,757	(66)	(2)%
Intermediate	1,919	2,814	(895)	(32)%	2,814	1,896	918	48%
Peaking	5	5		%	5	15	(10)	(67)%
Total Northeast	3,055	5,510	(2,455)	(45)%	5,510	4,668	842	18%
California:								
Intermediate	868	804	64	8%	804	1,102	(298)	(27)%
Peaking	21	18	3	17%	18	34	(16)	(47)%
Total California	889	822	67	8%	822	1,136	(314)	(28)%
Total Mirant	18,943	23,164	(4,221)	(18)%	23,164	22,412	752	3%

The decrease in power generation volumes for the year ended December 31, 2008, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2007, is primarily the result of the following:

a decrease in Mid-Atlantic as a result of contracting dark spreads, lower demand and second quarter 2008 planned outages to allow for the installation of emissions control equipment as part of our compliance with the Maryland Healthy Air Act.

a decrease in Northeast as a result of higher fuel prices at times making it uneconomic for certain units to generate, the shutdown of units 3 and 4 of the Lovett generating facility in April 2007 and the shutdown of unit 5 of the Lovett generating facility in April 2008.

The increase in power generation volumes for the year ended December 31, 2007, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2006, is primarily the result of the following:

an increase in Mid-Atlantic intermediate and peaking generation volumes as a result of favorable spreads between the cost of oil used to generate one MWh of electricity and the market value of the electricity generated (oil conversion spreads) in 2007 as compared to 2006.

an increase in Northeast intermediate generation as a result of increased demand in 2007.

Through the end of 2006, the majority of our California units were subject to RMR arrangements with the CAISO. Since that time, all of our natural gas-fired units in service at Contra Costa and Pittsburg operate under tolling agreements with PG&E for 100% of the capacity from these units. All of the Potrero units continue to be subject to RMR arrangements. Therefore, changes in power generation volumes from those facilities, which can be caused by weather, planned outages, or other factors, do not generally affect our gross margin.

2008 versus 2007

Gross Margin Overview

The following table details realized and unrealized gross margin by operating segments (in millions):

	Years Ended December 31,								
		2	2008				2007		
	Realized	Uni	ealized	Total	Realized	Un	realized	Т	otal
Mid-Atlantic	\$ 1,038	\$	676	\$1,714	\$ 1,084	\$	(479)	\$	605
Northeast	189		(10)	179	280		(43)		237
California	127			127	135				135
Other Operations	(17)		120	103	126		(14)		112
Eliminations	6			6	18				18
Total	\$ 1,343	\$	786	\$ 2,129	\$ 1,643	\$	(536)	\$ 1	1,107

Gross margin for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, is further detailed as follows (in millions):

	Mid- Atlantic	Nor	theast	Ended D ifornia	0	r 31, 2008 ther rations	nations	Total
Energy	\$ 517	\$	73	\$ 4	\$	(17)	\$ 6	\$ 583
Contracted and capacity	340		90	123				553
Realized value of hedges	181		26					207
Total realized gross margin	1,038		189	127		(17)	6	1,343
Unrealized gross margin	676		(10)			120		786
Total gross margin	\$ 1,714	\$	179	\$ 127	\$	103	\$ 6	\$ 2,129

	Mid-		Year Ended D	ecember 31, 2007 Other		
	Atlantic	Northeast	California	Operations	Eliminations	Total
Energy	\$ 686	\$ 128	\$ 3	\$ 109	\$ 18	\$ 944
Contracted and capacity	196	87	132	17		432
Realized value of hedges	202	65				267
Total realized gross margin	1,084	280	135	126	18	1,643
Unrealized gross margin	(479)	(43)		(14)		(536)
Total gross margin	\$ 605	\$ 237	\$ 135	\$ 112	\$ 18	\$ 1,107

Energy represents gross margin from the generation of electricity, fuel sales and purchases at market prices, fuel handling, steam sales and our proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities.

Contracted and capacity represents gross margin received from capacity sold in ISO and RTO administered capacity markets, through RMR contracts, through tolling agreements, and from ancillary services. For the year ended December 31, 2007, contracted and capacity also included the Back-to-Back Agreement, which was terminated on August 10, 2007. See Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for further discussion of the Pepco Settlement Agreement.

Realized value of hedges represents the actual margin upon the settlement of our power and fuel hedging contracts and the difference between market prices and contract costs for our coal supply contracts. Power hedging contracts include sales of both power and natural gas used to hedge power prices as well as hedges to capture the incremental value related to the geographic location of our physical assets.

Unrealized gross margin represents the net unrealized gain or loss on our derivative contracts that are recorded as derivative contract assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets, including the reversal of unrealized gains and losses recognized in prior periods and changes in value for future periods.

Our gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2008, was \$2.129 billion as compared to \$1.107 billion for the same period in 2007. The increase in gross margin, which includes net unrealized gains and losses from our hedging activities, was principally a result of the following:

An increase of \$1.322 billion in unrealized gross margin was comprised of the following:

unrealized gains of \$786 million in 2008, which include a \$460 million net increase in the value of hedge contracts for future periods primarily related to changes in forward power and natural gas prices in 2008 and \$326 million from the settlement of power and fuel contracts during the period for which net unrealized losses had been recorded in prior periods; and

unrealized losses of \$536 million in 2007, which include \$438 million from the settlement of power and fuel contracts during the period for which net unrealized gains had been recorded in prior periods and a \$98 million net decrease in the value of hedge contracts for future periods primarily related to increases in forward power prices in 2007.

A decrease of \$300 million in realized gross margin primarily attributable to:

a decrease in energy of \$361 million as a result of an increase in fuel prices, lower generation volumes and a decrease in the contribution of proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities, partially offset by an increase in power prices and a decrease in the cost of emissions allowances;

a decrease of \$60 million in realized value of hedges as a result of a decrease in the settlement value of power hedges, reduced by an increase in the amount by which market prices for coal exceeded the contract prices for the coal that we purchased under our long-term agreements; partially offset by

an increase in contracted and capacity of \$121 million primarily resulting from a full year of PJM RPM capacity payments in 2008 in the Mid-Atlantic. The contracted and capacity gross margin for 2007 includes a refund to us of \$36 million for payments made under the Back-to-Back Agreement for periods after May 31, 2006, as a result of the Pepco Settlement Agreement becoming fully effective in August 2007.

Mid-Atlantic

Our Mid-Atlantic segment, which accounts for approximately 50% of our net generating capacity, includes four generating facilities with total net generating capacity of 5,230 MW.

The following tables summarize the results of operations of our Mid-Atlantic segment (in millions):

	Years En	Years Ended December 31,		
	2008	2007	(Decrease)	
Realized gross margin	\$ 1,038	\$ 1,084	\$ (46)	
Unrealized gross margin	676	(479)	1,155	
Total gross margin	1,714	605	1,109	

Operating Expenses:

Operations and maintenance	412	360	52
Depreciation and amortization	92	81	11
Gain on sales of assets, net	(8)		(8)
Total operating expenses	496	441	55
Operating income	1,218	164	1,054
Total other expense (income), net	1	(5)	6
Income from continuing operations before reorganization items, net and			
income taxes	\$ 1,217	\$ 169	\$ 1,048

Gross Margin

	Years End 2008	led December 31, 2007	Increase/ (Decrease)
Energy	\$ 517	\$ 686	\$ (169)
Contracted and capacity	340	196	144
Realized value of hedges	181	202	(21)
Total realized gross margin	1,038	1,084	(46)
Unrealized gross margin	676	(479)	1,155
Total gross margin	\$ 1,714	\$ 605	\$ 1,109

The decrease of \$46 million in realized gross margin was principally a result of the following:

a decrease of \$169 million in energy, primarily as a result of a substantial increase in the price of coal, partially offset by an increase in power prices and a decrease in the cost of emissions allowances. The decrease in energy also includes a \$13 million lower of cost or market fuel oil inventory adjustment recognized in the fourth quarter of 2008. In addition, generation volumes decreased 11% as a result of contracting dark spreads, lower demand that resulted in less generation from our intermediate and peaking facilities and second quarter 2008 planned outages to allow for the installation of emissions control equipment as part of our compliance with the Maryland Healthy Air Act;

a decrease of \$21 million in realized value of hedges primarily as a result of a decrease in the settlement value of power hedges. In 2008, the average market prices for power exceeded the settlement value of power contracts. In 2007, the settlement value of power contracts exceeded market prices. The decrease in power hedges was partially offset by an increase in the amount by which market prices for coal exceeded the contract prices for the coal that we purchased under our long-term agreements; partially offset by

an increase of \$144 million in contracted and capacity primarily related to higher capacity revenues for 2008 as a result of the commencement of the PJM RPM capacity market in June 2007.

The increase of \$1.155 billion in unrealized gross margin was comprised of the following:

unrealized gains of \$676 million in 2008, which include a \$399 million net increase in the value of hedge contracts for future periods primarily related to changes in forward power and natural gas prices in 2008 and an increase of \$277 million from power and fuel contracts that settled during the period for which net unrealized losses had been recorded in prior periods; and

unrealized losses of \$479 million in 2007, which include \$270 million from the settlement of power and fuel contracts during the period for which net unrealized gains had been recorded in prior periods and a \$209 million net decrease in the value of hedge contracts for future periods primarily related to increases in forward power prices in 2007.

Operating Expenses

The increase of \$55 million in operating expenses is primarily a result of the following:

an increase of \$52 million in operations and maintenance expense, which includes:

an increase of \$29 million related to the timing of our planned outages and an increase in labor and chemical costs related to our pollution control equipment; and

\$23 million in increased allocated corporate overhead costs. With the completion of several dispositions by Mirant in the second and third quarters of 2007 and the shutdown of units 3 and 4 of the Lovett generating facility in the second quarter of 2007, Mirant Mid-Atlantic received a

greater allocation of Mirant s corporate overhead costs in the year ended December 31, 2008, than in the same period in 2007;

an increase of \$11 million in depreciation and amortization expense related to pollution control equipment placed in service as part of our compliance with the Maryland Healthy Air Act; partially offset by

an increase of \$8 million in gain on sales of assets, net primarily as a result of the sales of emissions allowances in 2008.

Northeast

Our Northeast segment is comprised of our three generating facilities located in Massachusetts and one generating facility located in New York with total net generating capacity of 2,535 MW.

The following tables summarize the results of operations of our Northeast segment (in millions):

			rease/
			(91)
(10)	(43)		33
179	237		(58)
167	179		(12)
19	25		(6)
	175		(175)
(30)	(49)		19
156	330		(174)
23	(93)		116
(1)	(7)		6
\$ 24	\$ (86)	\$	110
	2008 \$ 189 (10) 179 167 19 (30) 156 23 (1)	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	2008 2007 (Dec \$ 189 \$ 280 \$ (10) (43) 179 237 167 179 19 25 175 (30) (49) 156 330 23 (93) (1) (7)

Gross Margin

		Years Ended December 31,		
	2008	2007	(Decrease)	
Energy	\$ 73	\$ 128	\$ (55)	
Contracted and capacity	90	87	3	
Realized value of hedges	26	65	(39)	
Total realized gross margin	189	280	(91)	
Unrealized gross margin	(10)	(43)	33	
Total gross margin	\$ 179	\$ 237	\$ (58)	

The decrease of \$91 million in realized gross margin was principally a result of the following:

a decrease of \$55 million in energy, primarily as a result of the shutdown of the Lovett facility, lower generation volumes and increased fuel costs, partially offset by higher power prices; and

a decrease of \$39 million in realized value of hedges for our generation output, as a result of a decrease in the amount by which the settlement value of power contracts exceeded market prices and lower volumes hedged in 2008, partially offset by an increase in the settlement value of fuel contracts.

The increase of \$33 million in unrealized gross margin was comprised of unrealized losses of \$10 million in 2008 compared to \$43 million in 2007. The unrealized losses were related to the settlement of power and fuel contracts during the period for which net unrealized gains had been recorded in prior periods and decreases in value associated with forward power and fuel contracts for future periods primarily as a result of increases in forward power prices.

Operating Expenses

The decrease of \$174 million in operating expenses was principally the result of the following:

a decrease of \$175 million as a result of the impairment loss on our Lovett facility recognized in the second quarter of 2007. See Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information related to this impairment;

a decrease of \$12 million in operations and maintenance expense primarily related to the Lovett facility, which includes a decrease of \$33 million in operating costs, partially offset by \$17 million of shutdown costs at the Lovett facility incurred in 2008. See Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information related to the shutdown of the Lovett facility; and

a decrease of \$19 million in gain on sales of assets. In 2008, subsidiaries in our Northeast segment recognized a gain of \$30 million, of which \$24 million related to emissions allowances sold to third parties. In 2007, subsidiaries in our Northeast segment recognized a gain of \$49 million which includes a \$14 million gain on the sale of certain ancillary equipment included in the sale of the six U.S. natural gas-fired facilities and a \$33 million gain on the sales of emissions allowances, of which \$11 million related to emissions allowances sold to Mirant Mid-Atlantic that are eliminated in our consolidated statement of operations.

California

Our California segment consists of the Contra Costa, Pittsburg and Potrero facilities with total net generating capacity of 2,347 MW.

The following tables summarize the results of operations of our California segment (in millions):

	Years Ended 2008	December 31, 2007	rease/ rease)
Realized gross margin	\$ 127	\$ 135	\$ (8)
Unrealized gross margin			
Total gross margin	127	135	(8)
Operating Expenses:			
Operations and maintenance	76	74	2
Depreciation and amortization	23	13	10
Gain on sales of assets, net	(7)	(2)	(5)
Total operating expenses	92	85	7
Operating income	35	50	(15)
Total other expense (income), net	1	(5)	6
Income from continuing operations before reorganization items, net and			
income taxes	\$ 34	\$ 55	\$ (21)

Gross Margin

	Years En	Years Ended December 31,		
	2008	2007	(Decrease)	
Energy	\$ 4	\$ 3	\$ 1	
Contracted and capacity	123	132	(9)	
Total realized gross margin	127	135	(8)	
Unrealized gross margin				
Total gross margin	\$ 127	\$ 135	\$ (8)	

The decrease of \$9 million in contracted and capacity includes a \$3 million lower of cost or market fuel oil inventory adjustment recognized in the fourth quarter of 2008 and extended outages at unit 3 of the Potrero generating facility in the first quarter of 2008.

Operating Expenses

The increase of \$7 million in operating expenses was principally the result of higher development costs and higher depreciation expense in 2008, partially offset by lower maintenance expenses and an increase in gains on sales of assets, net primarily as a result of the sales of emissions allowances in 2008.

Other Operations

Other Operations includes proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities, unallocated corporate overhead, interest on debt at Mirant Americas Generation and Mirant North America and interest income on our invested cash balances. For the year ended December 31, 2007, Other Operations also included gains and losses related to the Back-to-Back Agreement, which was terminated pursuant to a settlement that became effective in the third quarter of 2007. See Pepco Litigation in Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for further discussion of the Back-to-Back Agreement.

The following tables summarize the results of operations of our Other Operations segment (in millions):

	Years Ended 2008	December 31, 2007	crease/ crease)
Realized gross margin	\$ (17)	\$ 126	\$ (143)
Unrealized gross margin	120	(14)	134
Total gross margin	103	112	(9)
Operating Expenses:			
Operations and maintenance	28	94	(66)
Depreciation and amortization	10	10	
Gain on sales of assets, net	(2)	(5)	3
Total operating expenses	36	99	(63)
Operating income	67	13	54
Total other expense (income), net	123	(282)	405
Income (loss) from continuing operations before reorganization items, net			
and income taxes	\$ (56)	\$ 295	\$ (351)

Gross Margin

	Years Ende 2008	Years Ended December 31, 2008 2007		rease/ crease)
Energy	\$ (17)	\$ 109	\$	(126)
Contracted and capacity		17		(17)
Total realized gross margin	(17)	126		(143)
Unrealized gross margin	120	(14)		134
Total gross margin	\$ 103	\$ 112	\$	(9)

The decrease of \$143 million in realized gross margin was principally a result of the following:

a decrease of \$126 million in energy, comprised of a \$83 million decrease from fuel oil management activities, a \$37 million lower of cost or market fuel oil inventory adjustment recognized in the fourth quarter of 2008 and a \$6 million decrease from proprietary trading activities. The significant decrease in the contribution from fuel oil management activities primarily relates to the timing of the settlement of contracts used to hedge the fair value of fuel oil inventory compared to the timing of the use or sale of the fuel oil; and

a decrease of \$17 million in contracted and capacity resulting from the termination of the Back-to-Back Agreement in the third quarter of 2007. See Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information related to the Pepco Settlement Agreement.

The increase of \$134 million in unrealized gross margin was comprised of the following:

unrealized gains of \$120 million in 2008, which include a \$65 million net increase in the value of contracts for future periods primarily related to changes in forward power prices in 2008 and an increase of \$55 million from power and fuel contracts that settled during the period for which net unrealized losses had been recorded in prior periods; and

unrealized losses of \$14 million in 2007, including:

\$102 million of unrealized losses related to proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities which include \$115 million from the settlement of power and fuel contracts during the year for which unrealized gains had been recorded in prior periods and a \$13 million net increase in value associated with contracts for future periods; partially offset by

\$88 million of unrealized gains on the Back-to-Back Agreement and related hedges. The Back-to-Back Agreement was terminated in the third quarter of 2007.

Operating Expenses

The decrease of \$63 million in operating expenses was primarily a result of a decrease of \$66 million in operations and maintenance expense, which include:

a decrease of \$32 million resulting from the 2007 increase in our estimated obligation to MC Asset Recovery under the Plan. See Note 16 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information related to MC Asset Recovery;

a decrease of \$26 million related to corporate overhead costs included in Other Operations in 2007 but allocated across Mirant s operating segments in 2008;

a decrease of \$16 million related to the 2007 bonus plan for dispositions;

a decrease of \$9 million related to litigation contingencies; partially offset by

an increase of \$27 million related to a decrease in curtailment gains on pension and postretirement benefits reflected as a reduction of operations and maintenance expense.

Other Expense (Income), Net

Other expense (income), net decreased \$405 million primarily as a result of the following:

a decrease in other, net of \$348 million, which includes a gain of \$341 million in 2007 resulting from the termination of the Back-to-Back Agreement and a gain of \$2 million for the refund of excess proceeds from the sales of shares distributed to Pepco, both as a result of the Pepco Settlement Agreement becoming fully effective. See Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information related to the Pepco Settlement Agreement;

a decrease of \$130 million in interest income primarily related to lower average cash balances and lower interest rates on invested cash; partially offset by

a decrease of \$73 million in interest expense related to lower debt outstanding and higher interest capitalized on construction projects in 2008.

Other Significant Consolidated Statements of Operations Comparison

Discontinued Operations

For the year ended December 31, 2008, income from discontinued operations was \$50 million and included insurance recoveries related to the Sual generating facility outages that occurred prior to the sale.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, income from discontinued operations was \$1.562 billion and included:

a pre-tax gain of \$2.003 billion on the sale of the Philippine business, a pre-tax gain of \$63 million on the sale of the Caribbean business, a reduction to the previous impairment of six U.S. natural gas-fired facilities of \$30 million and a gain of \$8 million on the sale of Mirant NY-Gen; partially offset by

an income tax provision of \$704 million related to the sale of the Philippine business; and

operating results for the discontinued operations.

See Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information related to the dispositions and discontinued operations.

2007 versus 2006

Gross Margin Overview

The following table details realized and unrealized gross margin by operating segment (in millions):

		Years Ended December 31,				
		2007			2006	
	Realized	Unrealized	Total	Realized	Unrealized	Total
Mid-Atlantic	\$ 1,084	\$ (479)	\$ 605	\$ 834	\$ 484	\$ 1,318

Northeast	280	(43)	237	286	61	347
California	135		135	112	3	115
Other Operations	126	(14)	112	11	107	118
Eliminations	18		18	38		38
Total	\$ 1,643	\$ (536)	\$ 1,107	\$ 1,281	\$ 655	\$ 1,936

Gross margin for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, is further detailed as follows (in millions):

	Mid-		Year Ended De	ecember 31, 2007 Other		
	Atlantic	Northeast	California	Operations	Eliminations	Total
Energy	\$ 686	\$ 128	\$ 3	\$ 109	\$ 18	\$ 944
Contracted and capacity	196	87	132	17		432
Realized value of hedges	202	65				267
Total realized gross margin	1,084	280	135	126	18	1,643
Unrealized gross margin	(479)	(43)		(14)		(536)
Total Gross Margin	\$ 605	\$ 237	\$ 135	\$ 112	\$ 18	\$ 1,107

	Mid-		Year Ended De	ecember 31, 2006 Other		
	Atlantic	Northeast	California	Operations	Eliminations	Total
Energy	\$ 532	\$ 117	\$ 14	\$ 71	\$ 38	\$ 772
Contracted and capacity	39	44	101	(60)		124
Realized value of hedges	263	125	(3)			385
Total realized gross margin	834	286	112	11	38	1,281
Unrealized gross margin	484	61	3	107		655
Total Gross Margin	\$ 1,318	\$ 347	\$ 115	\$ 118	\$ 38	\$ 1,936

Energy represents gross margin from the generation of electricity, fuel sales and purchases at market prices, fuel handling, steam sales and our proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities.

Contracted and capacity represents gross margin received from capacity sold in ISO and RTO administered capacity markets, through RMR contracts, through tolling agreements and from ancillary services. For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, contracted and capacity also included the Back-to-Back Agreement, which was terminated on August 10, 2007. See Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for further discussion of the Pepco Settlement Agreement.

Realized value of hedges represents the actual margin upon the settlement of our power and fuel hedging contracts and the difference between market prices and contract costs for our coal supply contracts. Power hedging contracts include sales of both power and natural gas used to hedge power prices as well as hedges to capture the incremental value related to the geographic location of our physical assets.

Unrealized gross margin represents the net unrealized gain or loss on our derivative contracts that are recorded as derivative contract assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets, including the reversal of unrealized gains and losses recognized in prior periods and changes in value for future periods.

Our gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2007, was \$1.107 billion as compared to \$1.936 billion for the same period in 2006. The decrease in gross margin, which includes net unrealized gains and losses from our hedging activities, was principally a result of the following:

A decrease of \$1.191 billion in unrealized gross margin was comprised of the following:

unrealized losses of \$536 million in 2007, which include \$438 million from the settlement of power and fuel contracts during the period for which net unrealized gains had been recorded in prior periods and a \$98 million net decrease in the value of hedge contracts for future periods primarily related to increases in forward power prices in 2007; and

unrealized gains of \$655 million in 2006, which include a \$433 million net increase in the value of hedge contracts for future periods primarily related to decreases in forward power prices in 2006 and \$222 million from the settlement of power and fuel contracts during the period for which net unrealized losses had been recorded in prior periods.

An increase of \$362 million in realized gross margin primarily attributable to:

an increase in contracted and capacity of \$308 million, which includes the refund by Pepco of \$36 million of payments made to it under the Back-to-Back Agreement for periods after May 31, 2006, as a result of the Settlement Agreement with Pepco becoming fully effective in August 2007;

an increase in energy of \$172 million as a result of an increase in power prices, a decrease in emissions prices, slightly higher generation volumes and the settlement of favorable fuel oil management positions; partially offset by

a decrease of \$118 million in incremental realized value of hedges.

Mid-Atlantic

Our Mid-Atlantic segment, which accounts for approximately half of our net generating capacity, includes four generating facilities with total net generating capacity of 5,230 MW.

The following tables summarize the results of operations of our Mid-Atlantic segment (in millions):

	Years Ended 2007	December 31, 2006	Increase/ (Decrease)
Realized gross margin	\$ 1,084	\$ 834	\$ 250
Unrealized gross margin	(479)	484	(963)
Total gross margin	605	1,318	(713)
Operating Expenses:			
Operations and maintenance	360	333	27
Depreciation and amortization	81	74	7
Gain on sales of assets, net		(7)	7
Total operating expenses	441	400	41
Operating income	164	918	(754)
Total other expense (income), net	(5)	(4)	(1)
Income from continuing operations before reorganization items, net and			
income taxes	\$ 169	\$ 922	\$ (753)

Gross Margin

	Years E	Years Ended December 31,		
	2007	2006	(Decrease)	
Energy	\$ 686	\$ 532	\$ 154	
Contracted and capacity	196	39	157	
Realized value of hedges	202	263	(61)	
Total realized gross margin	1,084	834	250	

Unrealized gross margin	(479) 484	(963)
Total gross margin	\$ 605	\$ 1,318	\$ (713)

The increase of \$250 million in realized gross margin was principally a result of the following:

an increase of \$154 million in energy, primarily because of an increase in power prices, a decrease in emissions prices and slightly higher generation volumes;

an increase of \$157 million in contracted and capacity related to higher capacity revenues from the PJM RPM, which became effective in June 2007. See Item 1. Regulatory Environment for further discussion of RPM; and

a decrease of \$61 million in realized value of hedges of our generation output primarily as a result of a decrease in the amount by which the settlement value of power contracts exceeded market prices.

The decrease of \$963 million in unrealized gross margin was comprised of the following:

unrealized losses of \$479 million in 2007, which include \$270 million from the settlement of power and fuel contracts during the period for which net unrealized gains had been recorded in prior periods and a \$209 million net decrease in the value of hedge contracts for future periods primarily related to increases in forward power prices in 2007; and

unrealized gains of \$484 million in 2006, which include a \$312 million net increase in the value of hedge contracts for future periods primarily as a result of decreases in forward power prices in 2006 and \$172 million from the settlement of power and fuel contracts during the year for which net unrealized losses had been recorded in prior periods, particularly during the high energy prices of late 2005.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased \$41 million primarily as a result of the following:

an increase of \$27 million in operations and maintenance expense, of which \$18 million was related to higher maintenance performed in conjunction with planned outages for the installation of pollution control equipment and \$8 million related to increased corporate overhead allocations as a result of the dispositions in 2007;

an increase of \$7 million in depreciation and amortization expense primarily related to equipment to improve environmental performance; and

a decrease of \$7 million in gain on sales of assets, net primarily related to a gain of \$6 million on the sale of a building in 2006. *Northeast*

Our Northeast segment is comprised of our facilities located in Massachusetts and New York with total net generating capacity of 2,535 MW.

The following tables summarize the results of operations of our Northeast segment (in millions):

	Years Ended I 2007	December 31, 2006	Increase/ (Decrease)		
Realized gross margin	\$ 280	\$ 286	\$ (6)		
Unrealized gross margin	(43)	61	(104)		
Total gross margin	237	347	(110)		
Operating Expenses:					
Operations and maintenance	179	116	63		
Depreciation and amortization	25	25			
Impairment losses	175	118	57		
Gain on sales of assets, net	(49)	(46)	(3)		
Total operating expenses	330	213	117		

Operating income (loss)	(93)	134	(227)
Total other expense (income), net	(7)	9	(16)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before reorganization items, net and income taxes	\$ (86)	\$ 125	\$ (211)

Gross Margin

	Years J 2007	Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006			
Energy	\$ 128	\$ 117	\$ 11		
Contracted and capacity	87	44	43		
Realized value of hedges	65	125	(60)		
Total realized gross margin	280	286	(6)		
Unrealized gross margin	(43) 61	(104)		
Total gross margin	\$ 237	\$ 347	\$ (110)		

The decrease of \$6 million in realized gross margin was principally a result of the following:

a decrease of \$60 million in realized value of hedges of our generation output, primarily as a result of a decrease in the amount by which the settlement value of power contracts exceeded market prices;

an increase of \$43 million in contracted and capacity from the implementation of the new FCM in the ISO-NE. See Item 1. Regulatory Environment for further information on the implementation of the new FCM; and

an increase of \$11 million in energy, primarily because of an increase in power prices and higher generation volumes. The decrease of \$104 million in unrealized gross margin was comprised of the following:

unrealized losses of \$43 million in 2007, which include \$57 million from the settlement of power and fuel contracts during the period for which unrealized gains had been recorded in prior periods, partially offset by a \$14 million net increase in the value of hedge contracts for future periods primarily related to decreases in forward power prices in 2007; and

unrealized gains of \$61 million in 2006, which include a \$50 million net increase in the value of hedge contracts for future periods primarily related to decreases in forward power prices in 2006 and \$11 million from the settlement of power and fuel contracts during the year for which unrealized losses had been recorded in prior periods, particularly during the high energy prices of late 2005.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased \$117 million primarily as a result of the following:

an increase of \$63 million in operations and maintenance which included:

an increase of \$71 million in 2007, which represents that portion of the 2006 New York property tax settlement that reduced operating expenses for 2006, but which related to prior periods. See Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for further discussion; and

a decrease of \$6 million related to a decrease in maintenance costs primarily as a result of the shutdown of Lovett units 3 and 4 in 2007 and repairs on Lovett unit 5 in 2006.

an increase of \$57 million in impairment losses. In 2007, we recorded an impairment loss of \$175 million on our Lovett facility. In 2006, we recorded an impairment loss of \$118 million on the Bowline unit 3 suspended construction project. See Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information related to these impairments.

California

Our California segment consists of the Contra Costa, Pittsburg and Potrero facilities with total net generating capacity of 2,347 MW.

The following tables summarize the results of operations of our California segment (in millions):

	Years Endec 2007	l December 31, 2006	Increase/ (Decrease)	
Realized gross margin	\$ 135	\$ 112	\$ 23	
Unrealized gross margin		3	(3)	
Total gross margin	135	115	20	
Operating Expenses:				
Operations and maintenance	74	63	11	
Depreciation and amortization	13	13		
Gain on sales of assets, net	(2)		(2)	
Total operating expenses	85	76	9	
Operating income	50	39	11	
Total other expense (income), net	(5)	(34)	29	
Income from continuing operations before reorganization items, net and income taxes	\$ 55	\$ 73	\$ (18)	

Gross Margin

	Years Ended I	Inc	Increase/	
	2007	2006	(Dec	rease)
Energy	\$ 3	\$ 14	\$	(11)
Contracted and capacity	132	101		31
Realized value of hedges		(3)		3
Total realized gross margin	135	112		23
Unrealized gross margin		3		(3)
Total gross margin	\$ 135	\$ 115	\$	20

The increase in our contracted and capacity gross margin and decrease in our energy gross margin were primarily a result of the commencement of a new tolling agreement in the first quarter of 2007 at our Contra Costa and Pittsburg facilities. See Item 1. Business Segments for additional information regarding the tolling agreement.

Operating Expenses

The increase of \$9 million in operating expenses includes an increase of \$11 million in operations and maintenance expense in 2007, resulting from higher maintenance costs related to outages and a \$5 million property tax settlement in 2006.

Other Expense (Income), Net

The decrease of \$29 million in other expense (income), net is primarily a result of a gain of \$26 million in 2006 related to the transfer of Contra Costa unit 8 to PG&E. See California Settlement in Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for further discussion.

Other Operations

Other Operations includes proprietary trading, fuel oil management and gains and losses related to the Back-to-Back Agreement, which was terminated pursuant to a settlement that became effective in the third quarter of 2007. See Pepco Litigation in Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for further discussion of the Back-to-Back Agreement. Other Operations also includes unallocated corporate overhead, interest on debt at Mirant Americas Generation and Mirant North America and interest income on our invested cash balances.

The following tables summarize the results of operations of our Other Operations segment (in millions):

	Years Ended E 2007	Increase/ (Decrease)		
Realized gross margin	\$ 126	\$ 11	\$ 115	
Unrealized gross margin	(14)	107	(121)	
Total gross margin	112	118	(6)	
Operating Expenses:				
Operations and maintenance	94	80	14	
Depreciation and amortization	10	25	(15)	
Impairment losses		1	(1)	
Gain on sales of assets, net	(5)	(40)	35	
Total operating expenses	99	66	33	
Operating income	13	52	(39)	
Total other expense (income), net	(282)	128	(410)	
Income (loss) from continuing operations before reorganization items, net and income taxes	\$ 295	\$ (76)	\$ 371	

Gross Margin

		Years Ended December 31,		
	2007	2006	(Decrease)	
Energy	\$ 109	\$ 71	\$ 38	
Contracted and capacity	17	(60)	77	
Total realized gross margin	120	5 11	115	
Unrealized gross margin	(14) 107	(121)	
Total gross margin	\$ 112	2 \$ 118	\$ (6)	

The increase of \$115 million in realized gross margin was principally a result of the following:

an increase of \$77 million in contracted and capacity related to a decrease in realized losses on the Back-to-Back Agreement and the related hedges of this contract and, as a result of the Settlement Agreement with Pepco becoming fully effective in August 2007, the refund by Pepco of \$36 million of payments made to it under the Back-to-Back Agreement for periods after May 31, 2006; and

an increase of \$38 million in energy related to our proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities as favorable positions entered into prior to 2007 were settled in the current period.

The decrease of \$121 million in unrealized gross margin was comprised of the following:

unrealized losses in 2007 of \$14 million, including:

unrealized losses on proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities of \$102 million, which include \$115 million from the settlement of power and fuel contracts during the period for which

unrealized gains had been recorded in prior periods and a \$13 million net increase in value associated with contracts for future periods; partially offset by

unrealized gains on the Back-to-Back Agreement and related hedges of \$88 million primarily as a result of an increase in forward value related to the prices for forward capacity in PJM and the resulting decrease in the fair value of the liability of that agreement.

unrealized gains in 2006 of \$107 million, which include unrealized gains on proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities of \$61 million and unrealized gains on the Back-to-Back Agreement of \$46 million. Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased \$33 million primarily as a result of the following:

a decrease of \$35 million in gain on sales of assets, net primarily as a result of the 2006 gain on the sale of our remaining claims in the Enron bankruptcy;

an increase of \$14 million in operations and maintenance expense primarily as a result of the following:

an increase of \$35 million related to the accrual for costs of MC Asset Recovery that we are required to pay under the terms of the Plan. See Note 16 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for further discussion;

an increase of \$27 million related to an increase in incentive compensation, including a bonus plan established in connection with the disposition in 2007 of certain businesses and assets;

an increase of \$9 million in litigation contingency accruals; partially offset by

a decrease related to a curtailment gain of \$32 million resulting from an amendment to our postretirement benefits plan;

a decrease of \$19 million in bankruptcy related charges and prepetition disputes; and

a decrease of \$15 million in depreciation expense as a result of the complete depreciation of certain computer equipment. *Other Expense (Income), Net*

Other expense (income), net decreased \$410 million primarily as a result of the following:

a gain of \$341 million resulting from the termination of the Back-to-Back Agreement;

an increase of \$126 million in interest income related to increased cash balances as a result of the proceeds from dispositions completed in 2007; partially offset by

a decrease in gain on sales of investments, which included a gain of \$54 million in 2006 from the sale of a portion of our investment in InterContinental Exchange and \$19 million on the sale of our two NYMEX seats and shares. Other Significant Consolidated Statements of Operations Comparison

Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes increased by \$559 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to 2006, primarily as a result of the \$552 million benefit in 2006 related to the release of the valuation allowance

pertaining to deferred tax assets previously recorded. The 2006 benefit included the estimated value of the NOLs that were used to offset the 2007 taxable gain resulting from the sale of the Philippine business.

Discontinued Operations

For the year ended December 31, 2007, we reported net income from discontinued operations of \$1.562 billion, which includes the reclassification of the results of operations related to the dispositions. Income from discontinued operations increased \$1.450 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007, as compared to 2006 primarily as a result of the following:

an increase of \$2.479 billion in gain on sales of assets, which included:

an increase of \$2.003 billion as a result of the sale of the Philippine business in 2007;

an increase of \$63 million as a result of the gain on the sale of the Caribbean business in 2007;

an increase of \$405 million as a result of the impairments recorded on six U.S. natural gas-fired facilities. For the year ended December 31, 2006, we recorded total impairments of \$375 million. For the year ended December 31, 2007, we recorded a reduction to the impairment of \$30 million; and

an increase of \$8 million as a result of the sale of NY-Gen in 2007.

a 2007 gain of \$24 million related to the agreement for Wrightsville transmission credits. See Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information on the Wrightsville transmission credits;

an increase in the provision for income taxes of \$793 million, primarily related to the sale of the Philippine business; and

a decrease of \$260 million in income from discontinued operations because of the completion of the dispositions, which occurred in the second and third quarters of 2007.

See Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information related to discontinued operations.

Reorganization Items, net

Reorganization items, net for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, are comprised of the following (in millions):

	Yea	Years Ended December 31,			
	2007	2006	(Dec	rease)	
Gain on the New York property tax settlement	\$	\$ (163)	\$	163	
Professional fees and administrative expense	3	2		1	
Interest income, net	(5)	(3)		(2)	

Total

\$(2) **\$**(164) **\$** 162

Under the terms of the New York property tax settlement, in February 2007 we received refunds totaling approximately \$163 million for 1995 through 2003 and paid unpaid but accrued taxes of approximately \$115 million for 2003 through 2006. See Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Funds and Capital Structure

The principal sources of liquidity for our future operations and capital expenditures are expected to be: (1) existing cash on hand and cash flows from the operations of our subsidiaries; (2) letters of credit issued or borrowings made under Mirant North America s senior secured revolving credit facility; and (3) letters of credit issued under Mirant North America s senior secured term loan.

The table below sets forth total cash, cash equivalents and availability under credit facilities of Mirant Corporation and its subsidiaries (in millions):

	At Dece 2008	ember 31, 2007
Cash and Cash Equivalents:		
Mirant Corporation	\$ 1,469	\$ 4,232
Mirant Americas Generation		1
Mirant North America	229	455
Mirant Mid-Atlantic	125	242
Other	8	31
Total cash and cash equivalents	1,831	4,961
Less: Cash restricted and reserved for other purposes	2	15
Total available cash and cash equivalents	1,829	4,946
Available under credit facilities	583	710
Total cash, cash equivalents and credit facilities availability	\$ 2,412	\$ 5,656

We consider all short-term investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. At December 31, 2008, except for amounts held in bank accounts to cover upcoming payables, all of our cash and cash equivalents were invested in AAA-rated U.S. Treasury money market funds.

Available under credit facilities at December 31, 2008, reflects a \$45 million reduction as a result of the expectation that Lehman Commercial Paper, Inc., which filed for bankruptcy in October 2008, will not honor its \$45 million commitment under the Mirant North America senior secured revolving credit facility. See Item 1A. Risk Factors for a description of risks related to the lenders under our credit facility.

We and certain of our subsidiaries, including Mirant Americas Generation and Mirant North America, are holding companies. The chart below is a summary representation of our capital structure and is not a complete corporate organizational chart.

Except for existing cash on hand and, in the case of Mirant North America, borrowings and letters of credit under its credit facilities, the Mirant Corporation, Mirant Americas Generation and Mirant North America holding companies are dependent for liquidity on the distributions and dividends of their subsidiaries.

A significant portion of cash from our operations is generated by the power generation facilities of Mirant Mid-Atlantic. Under the Mirant Mid-Atlantic leveraged leases, Mirant Mid-Atlantic is subject to a covenant that restricts its right to make distributions to Mirant North America. Mirant Mid-Atlantic s ability to satisfy the criteria set by that covenant in the future could be impaired by factors which negatively affect its financial performance, including interruptions in operation or curtailment of operations to comply with environmental restrictions, significant capital and other expenditures and adverse conditions in the power and fuel markets.

Mirant North America is an intermediate holding company that is a subsidiary of Mirant Americas Generation and the parent of its indirect subsidiaries, including Mirant Mid-Atlantic. Mirant North America incurred certain indebtedness pursuant to its senior notes and senior secured credit facilities secured by the assets of Mirant North America and its subsidiaries (other than Mirant Mid-Atlantic and Mirant Energy Trading). The indebtedness of Mirant North America includes certain covenants typical in such notes and credit facilities, including restrictions on dividends, distributions and other restricted payments. Further, the notes and senior secured credit facilities include financial covenants that exclude from the calculation the financial results of any subsidiary that is unable to make distributions or dividends at the time of such calculation. Thus, the inability of Mirant Mid-Atlantic to make distributions to Mirant North America under the leveraged lease transaction would have a material adverse effect on the calculation of the financial covenants under the senior notes and senior secured credit facilities of Mirant North America, including the leverage and interest coverage maintenance covenants under its senior credit facility.

The ability of Mirant Americas Generation to pay its obligations is dependent on the receipt of dividends from Mirant North America, capital contributions from Mirant Corporation and its ability to refinance all or a portion of those obligations as they become due.

Maintaining sufficient liquidity in our business is crucial in order to mitigate the risk of future financial distress to us. Accordingly, we plan on a prospective basis for the expected liquidity requirements of our business considering the factors listed below:

expected expenditures with respect to maintenance activities and capital improvements, and related outages;

expected collateral posted in support of our business;

effects of market price volatility on the amount of collateral posted for economic hedge transactions and risk management transactions;

effects of market price volatility on fuel pre-payment requirements;

seasonal and intra-month working capital requirements;

the development of new generating facilities; and

debt service obligations.

Our operating cash flows may be affected by, among other things: (1) demand for electricity; (2) the difference between the cost of fuel used to generate electricity and the market value of the electricity generated; (3) commodity prices (including prices for electricity, emissions allowances, natural gas, coal and oil); (4) the cost of ordinary course operations and maintenance expenses; (5) planned and unplanned outages; (6) terms with trade creditors; and (7) cash requirements for capital expenditures relating to certain facilities (including those necessary to comply with environmental regulations).

As noted above, the ability of Mirant North America and its subsidiary Mirant Mid-Atlantic to make distributions and pay dividends is restricted under the terms of their debt agreements and leveraged lease documentation, respectively. At December 31, 2008, Mirant North America had distributed to its parent, Mirant Americas Generation, all available cash that was permitted to be distributed under the terms of its debt agreements, leaving \$354 million at Mirant North America and its subsidiaries. Of this amount, \$125 million was held by Mirant Mid-Atlantic which, as of December 31, 2008, met the tests under the leveraged lease documentation permitting it to make distributions to Mirant North America is in compliance with its financial covenants, as of December 31, 2008, it is restricted from making distributions because of the free cash flow requirements under the restricted payment test of its senior credit facility. The primary factor lowering the free cash flow calculation in the restricted payment test is the significant capital expenditure program of Mirant Mid-Atlantic to install emissions controls at its Chalk Point, Dickerson and Morgantown coal-fired units to comply with the Maryland Healthy Air Act. Except for permitted distributions to cover interest payable on Mirant Americas Generation s senior notes, the \$3.883 billion of net assets of Mirant North America and its subsidiaries were restricted from distribution from Mirant North America to its parent, Mirant Americas Generation, as of December 31, 2008. Notwithstanding such restriction, we think that we have sufficient liquidity for our future operations, capital expenditures and debt service obligations from existing cash on hand (including \$1.469 billion at Mirant Corporation), expected cash flows from the operations of our subsidiaries and ability to issue letters of credit or make borrowings under the Mirant North America senior credit facilities.

Uses of Funds

Our requirements for liquidity and capital resources, other than for the day-to-day operation of our generating facilities, are significantly influenced by the following activities: (1) capital expenditures; (2) debt service and payments under the Mirant Mid-Atlantic leveraged leases; (3) collateral required for our asset management and proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities; (4) the development of new generating facilities; and (5) return of cash to stockholders.

Return of Cash to Stockholders. Since November 2007, we have returned \$4.056 billion of excess cash to our stockholders through repurchases of our common stock, including \$2.74 billion in 2008. See *Overview* in this Item 7 for further discussion of our share repurchases.

Capital Expenditures. Capital expenditures excluding capitalized interest were \$683 million, \$560 million and \$133 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Our capital expenditures, excluding capitalized interest, for 2009 and 2010 are expected to be approximately \$754 million and \$422 million, respectively. This forecast does not assume any construction of new generating units during the forecast period. Instead, the current capital expenditure program, which is expected to be funded by cash on hand and operating cash flow, focuses on efficiency, safety, reliability and compliance with existing environmental laws and obligations under consent decrees to which we are a party, including capital expenditures made to comply with the limitations for SO2, NOx and mercury emissions under the Maryland Healthy Air Act. For a more detailed discussion of environmental expenditures we expect to incur in the future, see Item 1. Business .

Debt Service. At December 31, 2008, we had \$2.676 billion of long-term debt with expected interest payments of approximately \$199 million for 2009. See Note 6 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information

Under the terms of its senior secured term facility, Mirant North America is required to use 50% of its free cash flow for each fiscal year (less amounts paid to Mirant Americas Generation for the purpose of paying interest on the Mirant Americas Generation senior notes) to pay down its senior secured term loan, in addition to its scheduled amortization of \$5 million per year. The percentage of free cash flow that Mirant North America is required to use to pay down its senior secured term loan may be reduced to 25% upon the achievement of a net debt to EBITDA ratio of less than 2:1. At December 31, 2008, Mirant North America s net debt to EBITDA ratio was less than 2:1. As such, it was required to use 25% of its free cash flow to pay down its senior secured term loan. We estimate this prepayment, which will be made during the first quarter of 2009, to be \$37 million.

Mirant Mid-Atlantic Operating Leases. Mirant Mid-Atlantic leases the Dickerson and Morgantown baseload units and associated property through 2029 and 2034, respectively. Mirant Mid-Atlantic has an option to extend the leases. Any extensions of the respective leases would be for less than 75% of the economic useful life of the facility, as measured from the beginning of the original lease term through the end of the proposed remaining lease term. We are accounting for these leases as operating leases. While there is variability in the scheduled payment amounts over the lease term, we recognize rent expense for these leases on a straight-line basis in accordance with the applicable accounting literature. Rent expense under the Mirant Mid-Atlantic leases was \$96 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006. As of December 31, 2008, the total notional minimum lease payments for the remaining term of the leases aggregated approximately \$2 billion and the aggregate termination value for the leases was approximately \$1.4 billion and generally decreases over time. In addition, Mirant Mid-Atlantic is required to post rent reserves in an aggregate amount equal to the greater of the next six months rent, 50% of the next 12 months rent or \$75 million.

Cash Collateral and Letters of Credit. In order to sell power and purchase fuel in the forward markets and perform other energy trading and marketing activities, we often are required to provide trade credit support to our counterparties or make deposits with brokers. In addition, we often are required to provide cash collateral or letters of credit to access the transmission grid, to participate in power pools, to fund debt service and rent reserves and for other operating activities. Trade credit support includes cash collateral, letters of credit and financial guarantees. In the event that we default, the counterparty can draw on a letter of credit or apply cash collateral held to satisfy the existing amounts outstanding under an open contract. As of December 31, 2008, we had approximately \$111 million of posted cash collateral and \$301 million of letters of credit outstanding primarily to support our asset management activities, debt service and rent reserve requirements and other commercial arrangements. Our liquidity requirements are highly dependent on the level of our hedging activities, forward prices for energy, emissions allowances and fuel, commodity market volatility and credit terms with third parties. See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information.

The following table summarizes at December 31, 2008 and 2007, for our continuing operations, cash collateral posted with counterparties and brokers, letters of credit issued and surety bonds (in millions):

	At December 3		,
	2008	200	7
Cash collateral posted energy trading and marketing	\$ 67	\$	96
Cash collateral posted other operating activities	44		14
Letters of credit energy trading and marketing	76		100
Letters of credit debt service and rent reserves	101		78
Letters of credit other operating activities	124		112
Surety bonds energy trading and marketing	25		
Total	\$ 437	\$ 4	400

Debt Obligations, Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations

Our debt obligations, off-balance sheet arrangements and contractual obligations as of December 31, 2008, are as follows (in millions):

	Debt Obligations, Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations by Year				and		
	8 i				2013	>5 Years	
Long-term debt	\$4,471	\$ 245	\$ 210	\$ 717	\$ 162	\$ 1,351	\$ 1,786
Mirant Mid-Atlantic operating leases	2,013	142	140	134	132	138	1,327
Other operating leases	57	9	9	7	5	6	21
Fuel commitments	1,254	374	335	314	196	35	
Maryland Healthy Air Act	677	490	187				
Other	336	186	41	32	22	15	40
Total payments	\$ 8,808	\$ 1,446	\$ 922	\$ 1,204	\$ 517	\$ 1,545	\$ 3,174

Our contractual obligations table does not include our derivative obligations which are discussed in Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report and our asset retirement obligations which are discussed in Note 9 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report.

Long-term debt includes the current portion of long-term debt and long-term debt on our consolidated balance sheets. Long-term debt also includes estimated interest on debt. Interest on our variable interest debt is based on the U.S. Dollar LIBOR curve as of December 31, 2008.

Operating leases are off-balance sheet arrangements. These amounts primarily relate to our minimum lease payments associated with our lease of the Dickerson and Morgantown baseload units at our Mid-Atlantic facilities.

Fuel commitments primarily relate to long-term coal agreements and related transportation agreements.

Maryland Healthy Air Act commitments reflect the remaining capital expenditures that we expect to incur to comply with the limitations for SO2, NOx and mercury emissions under the Maryland Healthy Air Act.

Other represents open purchase orders less invoices received related to open purchase orders for general procurement of products and services purchased in the ordinary course of business. These include construction, maintenance and labor activities at our generating facilities. Other also includes our LTSA associated with the maintenance of turbines at our Kendall facility, limestone supply and transportation agreements, our estimated pension and other postretirement benefit funding obligations, deferred compensation plans, FIN 48 liabilities and miscellaneous long-term liabilities, which are included in other noncurrent liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

Cash Flows

The changes in our cash flows are detailed as follows (in millions):

	2008	Years Ended December 31, Increase/ 2007 (Decrease) 2007 2006			Increase/ (Decrease)	
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period	\$ 4,961	\$ 1,385	\$ 3,576	\$ 1,385	\$ 1,551	\$ (166)
Net cash provided by operating activities:						
Continuing operations	677	786	(109)	786	137	649
Discontinued operations	50	178	(128)	178	432	(254)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities:						
Continuing operations	(719)	(524)	(195)	(524)	5	(529)
Discontinued operations	25	5,281	(5,256)	5,281	(163)	5,444
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities:						
Continuing operations	(3,163)	(1,477)	(1,686)	(1,477)	(758)	(719)
Discontinued operations		(669)	669	(669)	181	(850)
Effect of exchange rate changes		1	(1)	1		1
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	\$ 1,831	\$ 4,961	\$ (3,130)	\$ 4,961	\$ 1,385	\$ 3,576

2008 versus 2007

Continuing Operations

Operating Activities. Our cash provided by operating activities is affected by seasonality, changes in energy prices and fluctuations in our working capital requirements. Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations decreased \$109 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, compared to the same period in 2007, primarily as a result of the following:

a decrease in realized gross margin of \$242 million in 2008, compared to the same period in 2007, excluding the non-cash change in lower of cost or market inventory adjustments of \$58 million, of which \$54 million was recognized in the fourth quarter of 2008. See *Results of Operations* for additional discussion of our performance in 2008 compared to the same period in 2007;

an increase in cash used of \$80 million related to changes in net accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other changes in working capital in 2008 compared to 2007, primarily as a result of increases in power prices in 2008 and the net refund of \$48 million related to a New York property tax settlement in 2007. The increase in cash used is net of \$47 million of cash provided by a net increase in collateral that we received from counterparties in 2008;

a decrease in cash provided of \$70 million related to the Pepco Settlement Agreement becoming fully effective in 2007, which is included in other assets in our consolidated statements of cash flows. Pepco repaid \$70 million in 2007 for an advance payment made in 2006 under the Pepco Settlement Agreement;

a decrease in cash provided of \$74 million for interest, net, reflecting lower interest income as a result of lower interest rates on invested cash as well as lower cash balances as a result of share repurchases partially offset by lower interest expense from lower outstanding debt and higher capitalized interest; and

an increase in cash used of \$23 million related to additional contributions to our pension plans in 2008 as compared to 2007.

The increases in cash used by and decreases in cash provided by operating activities are partially offset by the following:

a decrease in cash used of \$173 million because of changes in funds on deposit. In 2008, we had net cash collateral returned to us of \$104 million, primarily related to the cash collateral account to support issuance of letters of credit under the Mirant North America senior secured term loan. In 2007, we posted an additional \$70 million of cash collateral;

a decrease in cash used of \$124 million for inventories primarily as a result of the reduction of fuel inventory levels;

a decrease in operations and maintenance expense of \$46 million excluding a non-cash decrease in curtailment gains on pension and postretirement benefits of \$27 million and other non-cash items; and

a decrease in cash used of \$37 million for settlement of bankruptcy related claims and expenses. *Investing Activities.* Net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations increased by \$195 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, compared to the same period in 2007. This difference was primarily a result of the following:

an increase in cash used of \$143 million for capital expenditures (including capitalized interest of \$20 million) for projects under construction primarily related to our environmental capital expenditures for our Maryland generating facilities;

an increase in cash used of \$37 million primarily related to \$34 million placed in an escrow account in September 2008 to satisfy the conditions of Mirant Potomac River s settlement agreement with the City of Alexandria; and

a decrease of \$15 million in proceeds from the sales of assets in 2008 as compared to 2007. In 2008, we received \$42 million of proceeds from the sale of assets, primarily from the sale of emissions allowances. In 2007, we received \$57 million of proceeds from the sale of assets, which included approximately \$30 million from the sale of ancillary equipment included in the sale of the six U.S. natural gas-fired facilities.

Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities from continuing operations increased by \$1.686 billion for the year ended December 31, 2008, compared to the same period in 2007. This difference was primarily a result of the following:

an increase in cash used of \$1.453 billion for share repurchases. See Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information on share repurchases;

an increase in cash used of \$240 million for repayments and purchases of long-term debt primarily as a result of the retirement of Mirant Americas Generation senior notes due in 2011 of \$276 million in 2008 and \$39 million in 2007; partially offset by

an increase of \$7 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock options in 2008 as compared to 2007. *Discontinued Operations*

Operating Activities. In 2008, net cash provided by operating activities from discontinued operations was primarily a result of \$41 million of business interruption insurance recoveries related to the outages of the Sual generating facility and \$7 million from the sale of transmission credits from our previously owned Wrightsville facility. In 2007, net cash provided by operating activities from discontinued operations included

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

cash flows from the Philippine and Caribbean businesses, six U.S. natural gas-fired facilities and Mirant NY-Gen.

Investing Activities. Net cash provided by investing activities from discontinued operations was \$25 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, compared to \$5.281 billion for the same period in 2007. This difference was primarily a result of the following:

2007 results included the \$5.410 billion in proceeds from the sale of our Caribbean business in the third quarter of 2007 and our Philippine business and six U.S. natural gas-fired facilities in the second quarter of 2007, partially offset by

a decrease in cash used of \$65 million that related to the cash and cash equivalents balance that was included in the assets sold as part of the Philippine business in 2007;

a decrease in cash used of \$47 million that related to the cash and cash equivalents balance that was included in the assets sold as part of the Caribbean business in 2007;

a decrease in cash used of \$20 million primarily related to capital expenditures incurred in 2007 at our Caribbean business prior to its disposition; and

2008 results included \$25 million in insurance recoveries related to repairs to the Sual generating facility and the Swinging Bridge facility of Mirant NY-Gen.

Financing Activities. In 2007, net cash used in financing activities was \$669 million and primarily related to the repayment of \$700 million of long-term debt of our Philippine business, \$83 million related to West Georgia and \$14 million related to our Caribbean business. These payments were partially offset by a decrease in debt service reserves of \$125 million.

2007 versus 2006

Continuing Operations

Operating Activities. Our cash provided by operating activities is affected by seasonality, changes in energy prices and fluctuations in our working capital requirements. Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations increased \$649 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to 2006, primarily as a result of the following:

an increase in realized gross margin of \$289 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to 2006, excluding the non-cash change in lower of cost or market inventory adjustments of \$73 million. See *Results of Operations* for additional discussion of our performance in 2007 compared to 2006;

an increase of \$761 million resulting from a reduction in bankruptcy related claims and expenses. In 2007, we paid \$17 million in claims payable for the New York entities, \$32 million related to MC Asset Recovery and \$4 million related to other Mirant claims. In 2006, we paid \$1.804 billion of bankruptcy claims, of which \$814 million was reflected in cash from operations;

an increase of \$140 million related to the Settlement Agreement with Pepco becoming fully effective in the third quarter of 2007. Pepco repaid \$70 million in 2007 for an advance payment made in the third quarter of 2006 under the Settlement Agreement. These amounts are included in other assets in the consolidated statements of cash flows;

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

an increase of \$155 million related to increases in net interest income as a result of higher cash balances resulting from the dispositions completed in 2007;

an increase from the receipt in 2007 of a net refund of \$48 million related to the New York property tax settlement, which is included in receivables, net in the consolidated statements of cash flows; and

an increase of \$12 million primarily related to changes in our fuel oil and emissions inventories. In 2007, fuel inventory increased \$88 million and emissions inventory decreased \$15 million. In 2006, fuel inventory increased \$38 million and emissions inventory increased \$50 million.

The increases in operating activities were partially offset by the following:

a decrease of \$516 million as a result of changes in posted collateral levels, which are included in funds on deposit in the consolidated statements of cash flows. For the year ended December 31, 2007, we posted an additional \$70 million of cash collateral primarily to support energy marketing activities. The change in collateral for the year ended December 31, 2006, provided a source of cash of \$446 million primarily because of a decrease in cash collateral to support energy marketing activities of \$592 million, and a reduction of \$56 million in cash collateral posted in connection with the Mirant Mid-Atlantic lease upon posting \$75 million of letters of credit. These amounts were partially offset by a use of cash as a result of the deposit of \$200 million into a cash collateral account to support the issuance of letters of credit;

a decrease of \$77 million resulting from an increase in operations and maintenance expenses. See results of operations for additional discussion;

a decrease of \$60 million primarily as a result of the return in 2007 of deposits previously posted by our counterparties which is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated statements of cash flows;

a decrease of \$65 million relating to changes in net accounts receivable and accounts payable in 2007 compared to 2006; and

a decrease of \$38 million related to all other changes in operating assets and liabilities. *Investing Activities.* Net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations increased by \$529 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to 2006. This difference was primarily a result of the following:

an increase of \$449 million in capital expenditures (including capitalized interest of \$22 million) primarily because of our environmental capital expenditures for our Mid-Atlantic generating facilities; and

a decrease in proceeds from the sales of assets and investments of \$86 million. In 2007, we received proceeds from the sale of assets of \$57 million, which included approximately \$30 million from the sale of ancillary equipment included in the sale of the six U.S. natural gas-fired facilities and \$22 million from the sale of equipment from the Bowline unit 3 suspended construction project. In 2006, we received \$143 million from the sale of assets, which included \$45 million from the sale of our remaining bankruptcy claims against Enron and its subsidiaries and \$58 million from the sale of a portion of our investment in InterContinental Exchange. *Financing Activities.* Net cash used in financing activities from continuing operations increased by \$719 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to 2006. This difference was primarily a result of the following:

a decrease in proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt of \$2.017 billion. Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt in 2006 included \$850 million from the Mirant North America senior notes offering, \$700 million from the Mirant North America senior secured term loan and \$465 million drawn on the Mirant North America senior secured revolving credit facility;

a decrease in the repayments of long-term debt of \$1.285 billion, which includes \$990 million of principal payments for debt settled under the Plan in 2006. In 2007, we paid \$138 million on the Mirant North America senior secured term loan and repurchased \$39 million of the Mirant Americas Generation 8.3% senior notes due in 2011. In 2006, we repaid \$465 million on the Mirant North America senior secured revolving credit facility and \$990 million of principal payments for debt settled under the Plan in 2006;

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

a decrease in debt issuance costs of \$51 million. In 2006, we paid \$51 million in debt issuance costs associated with Mirant North America s debt offering, senior secured term loan and secured revolving credit facility; and

an increase of \$47 million used for stock repurchases. In 2007, stock repurchases included 26.66 million shares of Mirant common stock for \$1 billion under the accelerated share repurchase program, 8.27 million shares of Mirant common stock under the open market share repurchase program for approximately \$316 million, of which \$17 million had not yet been paid as of December 31, 2007, and approximately 245,000 shares of Mirant common stock in odd lot buybacks for approximately \$9 million. In 2006, we repurchased 43 million shares of our common stock for \$1.228 billion pursuant to a tender offer in 2006 and 1.18 million shares for approximately \$32 million under the share repurchase program.

Discontinued Operations

Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities from discontinued operations decreased by \$254 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to 2006. In 2006, operating activities included cash flows from the Philippine and Caribbean businesses and six U.S. natural gas-fired facilities for the entire year. In 2007, operating activities included all the discontinued businesses and facilities through their respective dates of sale.

Investing Activities. Net cash provided by investing activities from discontinued operations increased by \$5.444 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to 2006. This difference was primarily a result of the following:

an increase of \$5.410 billion in proceeds from the sale of assets and investments, primarily from the sale of our Philippine and Caribbean businesses and six U.S. natural gas-fired facilities in the second and third quarters of 2007;

a decrease of \$65 million in cash that was included in the assets sold as part of the Philippine business;

a decrease of \$47 million in cash that was included in the assets sold as part of the Caribbean business;

an increase related to the purchases in 2006 of the remaining 5.15% ownership in Mirant Sual for \$35 million and the remaining 4.26% interest in Mirant Pagbilao for \$40 million; and

an increase as a result of funding in 2006 of \$24 million in accordance with the terms and conditions of a stockholder loan agreement for the construction and installation of new generating units at Point Lisas, Trinidad.

Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities from discontinued operations increased by \$850 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, compared to 2006. This difference was primarily a result of the following:

a decrease of \$78 million in repayments of long-term debt. In 2007, we repaid \$700 million related to our Philippine business, \$83 million related to West Georgia and \$14 million related to our Caribbean business. In 2006, we repaid \$551 million related to our Philippine business, \$268 million related to our Caribbean business, \$56 million related to West Georgia and \$2 million related to Zeeland;

a decrease of \$981 million in proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt primarily from the issuance of \$700 million by Mirant Asia-Pacific, \$100 million by Mirant Trinidad Investments and \$180 million by Mirant JPSCO Finance Ltd. in 2006;

a decrease in debt issuance costs of \$40 million primarily related to the Philippines; and

a decrease in the release of cash deposited in debt service reserves of \$10 million.

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

Critical Accounting Estimates

The accounting policies described below are considered critical to obtaining an understanding of our consolidated financial statements because their application requires significant estimates and judgments by management in preparing our consolidated financial statements. Management s estimates and judgments are inherently uncertain and may differ significantly from actual results achieved. Management considers an accounting estimate to be critical if the following conditions apply:

the estimate requires significant assumptions; and

changes in the estimate could have a material effect on our consolidated results of operations or financial condition; or

if different estimates that could have been selected had been used, there could be a material effect on our consolidated results of operations or financial condition.

We have discussed the selection and application of these accounting estimates with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors and our independent auditors. It is management s view that the current assumptions and other considerations used to estimate amounts reflected in our consolidated financial statements are appropriate. However, actual results can differ significantly from those estimates under different assumptions and conditions. The sections below contain information about our most critical accounting estimates, as well as the effects of hypothetical changes in the material assumptions used to develop the estimates.

Revenue Recognition and Accounting for Energy Trading and Marketing Activities

Nature of Estimates Required. We utilize two comprehensive accounting models, an accrual model and a fair value model, in reporting our consolidated financial position and results of operations. We determine the appropriate model for our operations based on applicable accounting standards.

The accrual model is used to account for our revenues from the sale of energy, capacity and ancillary services. We recognize revenue when earned and collection is probable as a result of electricity delivered to customers pursuant to contractual commitments that specify volume, price and delivery requirements. Sales of energy are based on economic dispatch, or they may be as-ordered by an ISO or RTO, based on member participation agreements, but without an underlying contractual commitment. ISO and RTO revenues and revenues for sales of energy based on economic-dispatch are recorded on the basis of MWh delivered, at the relevant day-ahead or real-time prices.

The fair value model is used to measure fair value on a recurring basis for derivative energy contracts that hedge economically our electricity generating facilities or that are used in our proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities. We use a variety of derivative financial instruments, such as futures, forwards, swaps and option contracts, in the management of our business. Such derivative financial instruments have varying terms and durations, or tenors, which range from a few days to a number of years, depending on the instrument.

Pursuant to SFAS 133, derivative financial instruments are reflected in our financial statements at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized currently in earnings unless they qualify for a scope exception. Management considers fair value techniques and valuation adjustments related to credit and liquidity to be critical accounting estimates. These estimates are considered significant because they are highly susceptible to change from period to period and are dependent on many subjective factors. The fair value of derivative financial instruments is included in derivative contract assets and liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. Transactions that are not accounted for using the fair value model under SFAS 133 are either not derivatives or qualify for a scope exception and are accounted for under accrual accounting. With the adoption of SFAS 157 on January 1, 2008, we no longer defer unobservable inception gains and losses, which are transacted at different prices between the bid price and the ask price.

Key Assumptions and Approach Used. Determining the fair value of our derivatives is based largely on observable quoted prices from exchanges and independent brokers in active markets. Our view is that these

prices represent the best available information for valuation purposes. For most delivery locations and tenors where we have positions, we receive multiple independent broker price quotes. If no active market exists, we estimate the fair value of certain derivative financial instruments using price extrapolation, interpolation and other quantitative methods. Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment. Our techniques for fair value estimation include assumptions for market prices, correlation and volatility. The degree of estimation increases for longer duration contracts, contracts with multiple pricing features, option contracts and off-hub delivery points. Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report explains the fair value hierarchy. Our assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy represent approximately 1% of our total assets and less than 1% of our total liabilities measured at fair value at December 31, 2008.

The fair value of derivative contract assets and liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets is also affected by our assumptions as to time value, credit risk and nonperformance risk. The nominal value of the contracts is discounted using a forward interest rate curve based on LIBOR. In addition, the fair value of our derivative contract assets is reduced to reflect the estimated default risk of counterparties on their contractual obligations to us. The default risk of our counterparties for a significant portion of our overall net position is measured based on published spreads on credit default swaps. The fair value of our derivative contract liabilities is reduced to reflect our estimated risk of default on our contractual obligations to counterparties. The credit risk reflected in the fair value of our derivative contract liabilities are calculated with consideration of our master netting agreements with counterparties and our exposure is reduced by cash collateral posted to us against these obligations.

Effect if Different Assumptions Used. The amounts recorded as revenue or cost of fuel, electricity and other products change as estimates are revised to reflect actual results and changes in market conditions or other factors, many of which are beyond our control. Because we use derivative financial instruments and have not elected cash flow or fair value hedge accounting under SFAS 133, certain components of our financial statements, including gross margin, operating income and balance sheet ratios, are at times volatile and subject to fluctuations in value primarily as a result of changes in energy and fuel prices. Significant negative changes in fair value could require us to post additional collateral either in the form of cash or letters of credit. Because the fair value measurements of our material assets and liabilities are based on observable market information, there is not a significant range of values around the fair value estimate. For our derivative financial instruments that are measured at fair value using quantitative pricing models, a significant change in estimate could affect our results of operations and cash flows at the time contracts are ultimately settled. See Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk for further sensitivities in our assumptions used to calculate fair value. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for further information on derivative financial instruments related to energy trading and marketing activities.

Long-Lived Assets

Estimated Useful Lives

Nature of Estimates Required. The estimated useful lives of our long-lived assets are used to compute depreciation expense, determine the carrying value of asset retirement obligations, and estimate expected future cash flows attributable to an asset for the purposes of impairment testing. Estimated useful lives are based, in part, on the assumption that we provide an appropriate level of capital expenditures while the assets are still in operation. Without these continued capital expenditures, the useful lives of these assets could decrease significantly.

Key Assumptions and Approach Used. Estimated useful lives are the mechanism by which we allocate the cost of long-lived assets over the asset s service period. We perform depreciation studies periodically to update changes in estimated useful lives. The actual useful life of an asset could be affected by changes in estimated or actual commodity prices, environmental regulations, various legal factors, competitive forces and our liquidity and ability to sustain required maintenance expenditures and satisfy asset retirement obligations. We use

composite depreciation for groups of similar assets and establish an average useful life for each group of related assets. In accordance with SFAS 144, we cease depreciation on long-lived assets classified as held for sale. Also, we may revise the remaining useful life of an asset held and used subject to impairment testing. See Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information related to our property, plant and equipment.

Effect if Different Assumptions Used. The determination of estimated useful lives is dependent on subjective factors such as expected market conditions, commodity prices and anticipated capital expenditures. Since composite depreciation rates are used, the actual useful life of a particular asset may differ materially from the useful life estimated for the related group of assets. A 10% increase in the weighted average useful lives of our facilities would result in a \$15 million decrease in annual depreciation expense. A 10% decrease in the weighted average useful lives of our facilities would result in a \$14 million increase in annual depreciation expense. In the event the useful lives of significant assets were found to be shorter than originally estimated, depreciation expense may increase, liabilities recognized for future asset retirement obligations may be insufficient and impairments in the carrying value of tangible and intangible assets may result.

Asset Retirement Obligations

Nature of Estimates Required. We account for asset retirement obligations under SFAS 143 and FIN 47. SFAS 143 and FIN 47 require an entity to recognize the fair value of a liability for conditional and unconditional asset retirement obligations in the period in which they are incurred. Retirement obligations associated with long-lived assets included within the scope of SFAS 143 and FIN 47 are those obligations for which a requirement exists under enacted laws, statutes and written or oral contracts, including obligations arising under the doctrine of promissory estoppel. Asset retirement obligations are estimated using the estimated current cost to satisfy the retirement obligation, increased for inflation through the expected period of retirement and discounted back to present value at our credit-adjusted risk free rate. We have identified certain asset retirement obligations within our power generating operations and have a noncurrent liability of \$40 million recorded as of December 31, 2008. These asset retirement obligations are primarily related to asbestos abatement at some of our generating facilities, the removal of oil storage tanks, equipment on leased property and environmental obligations related to the closing of ash disposal sites. In the third quarter of 2008, we revised our current cost assumption for asbestos abatement at our generating facilities based on the actual costs we have incurred as part of the decommissioning of the Lovett facility. The revision resulted in an increase to our asset retirement obligation of approximately \$2 million.

Key Assumptions and Approach Used. The fair value of liabilities associated with the initial recognition of asset retirement obligations is estimated by applying a present value calculation to current engineering cost estimates of satisfying the obligations. Significant inputs to the present value calculation include current cost estimated asset retirement dates and appropriate discount rates. Where appropriate, multiple cost and/or retirement scenarios have been probability weighted.

Effect if Different Assumptions Used. We update liabilities associated with asset retirement obligations as significant assumptions change or as relevant new information becomes available. A 1% increase in our rate of inflation would result in an approximate \$5 million increase to the asset retirement obligation recorded on our balance sheet as of December 31, 2008, and a 1% increase or decrease in our discount rate would result in an approximate \$4 million change.

Asset Impairments

Nature of Estimates Required. We evaluate our long-lived assets, including intangible assets for impairment in accordance with applicable accounting guidance. The amount of an impairment charge is calculated as the excess of the asset s carrying value over its fair value, which generally represents the discounted expected future cash flows attributable to the asset or in the case of assets we expect to sell, at fair value less costs to sell.

SFAS 144 requires management to recognize an impairment charge if the sum of the undiscounted expected future cash flows from a long-lived asset or definite-lived intangible asset is less than the carrying value of that asset. We evaluate our long-lived assets (property, plant and equipment) and definite-lived intangible assets for impairment whenever indicators of impairment exist or when we commit to sell the asset. These evaluations of long-lived assets and definite-lived intangible assets may result from significant decreases in the market price of an asset, a significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which an asset is being used or in its physical condition, a significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate that could affect the value of an asset, as well as other economic or operational analyses. If the carrying amount is not recoverable, an impairment charge is recorded.

Key Assumptions and Approach Used. The determination of an impairment is a two-step process, the first of which involves comparing the undiscounted cash flows to the carrying value of the asset. If the carrying value exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, the fair value of the asset must be calculated on a discounted basis. The fair value of an asset is the price that would be received from a sale of the asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Quoted market prices in active markets are the best evidence of fair value and are used as the basis for the measurement, when available. In the absence of quoted prices for identical or similar assets, fair value is estimated using various internal and external valuation methods. These methods include discounted cash flow analyses and reviewing available information on comparable transactions. The determination of fair value requires management to apply judgment in estimating future energy prices, environmental and maintenance expenditures and other cash flows. Our estimates of the fair value of the assets include significant assumptions about the timing of future cash flows, remaining useful lives and the selection of a discount rate that reflects the risk inherent in future cash flows.

Year Ended December 31, 2008

Background

We have goodwill recorded at our Mirant Mid-Atlantic registrant on a standalone basis, which is eliminated upon consolidation at Mirant Corporation. In accordance with SFAS 142, we are required to test the goodwill balance at Mirant Mid-Atlantic at least annually. We performed the goodwill assessment at October 31, 2008, which, by policy, is our annual testing date. In conducting step one of the goodwill impairment analysis for Mirant Mid-Atlantic, we noted that the carrying value exceeded the calculated fair value of Mirant Mid-Atlantic, indicating that step two of the goodwill impairment analysis was required. Based on the results of the step one goodwill impairment analysis, we were required to test Mirant Mid-Atlantic s long-lived assets for impairment under SFAS 144 before completion of the step two test for goodwill as required under SFAS 142. As a result of the SFAS 144 assessment, we determined that no further analysis was needed as of December 31, 2008, as the undiscounted cash flows exceeded the carrying value for all asset groups reviewed by a significant amount for each asset group tested since the useful lives of the assets extend up to an additional 30 years. For additional information on the assumptions and results of the analysis see discussion below.

SFAS 144 Assumptions and Results

Our SFAS 144 assessment of the Mirant Mid-Atlantic generating facilities in the fourth quarter of 2008 included assumptions about future electricity and fuel prices, future capacity payments under the PJM RPM, the future costs of carbon under the RGGI and a subsequent federal cap-and-trade program and future capital expenditure requirements. Our assumptions related to future electricity and fuel prices were based on observable market prices to the extent available and long-term prices derived from proprietary fundamental market modeling. We assumed a decline in the long term price of coal from market prices observable as of the valuation date. Our long-term capacity prices are based on the assumption that the PJM RPM capacity market would continue consistent with the current structure, with expected increases in revenue as a result of further declines in reserve margins for periods beyond those for which auctions have already been completed. The costs of carbon under the RGGI were based on the September 2008 auction results, escalating annually for periods beyond 2009.

We also assumed that a federal carbon cap-and-trade program would be instituted in the next several years that will replace the RGGI. Capital expenditures include those costs necessary to complete the installation of pollution control equipment to comply with the limitations for SO2, NO_x and mercury emissions under the Maryland Healthy Air Act and expenditures to maintain the operational performance of the generating facilities throughout their estimated useful lives.

For purposes of impairment testing, a long-lived asset or assets must be grouped at the lowest level of independent identifiable cash flows. Each generating facility was determined to be its own group. The leasehold improvements for each leased generating facility were determined to be their own group for impairment testing purposes.

Year Ended December 31, 2007

As a result of entering into an amendment to the 2003 Consent Decree that switched the deadlines for shutting down units 4 and 5 and an agreement with the Town of Stony Point that set the 2007 and 2008 assessed value for property tax purposes for the Lovett facility, we tested the recoverability of the Lovett facility under SFAS 144 in the second quarter of 2007. See Item 1. Business for additional information on the 2003 Consent Decree. Our estimate of cash flows related to our impairment analysis of our Lovett generating facility involved considering scenarios for the future expected operation of the Lovett facility. The most likely scenario considered was the shutdown of unit 5 by April 30, 2008, according to the amended 2003 Consent Decree. We also considered a scenario that assumed operations, utilizing coal as the primary fuel source, through 2012 to allow the Lovett facility to continue to contribute to the reliability of the electric system of the State of New York. As a result of the analysis, we recorded an impairment of long-lived assets of \$175 million in the second quarter of 2007 to reduce the carrying value of the Lovett facility to its estimated fair value.

Year Ended December 31, 2006

In 2006, our assessment of the Bowline unit 3 suspended construction project resulted in the conclusion that the Bowline 3 project as configured and permitted was not economically viable. As a result of this conclusion, we determined the estimated value of the equipment and project termination liabilities. The carrying value of the development and construction costs for Bowline unit 3 exceeded the estimated undiscounted cash flows from the abandonment of the project. We recorded an impairment of \$120 million, which is reflected in impairment losses on the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Effect if Different Assumptions Used. The estimates and assumptions used to determine whether an impairment exists are subject to a high degree of uncertainty. The estimated fair value of an asset would change if different estimates and assumptions were used in our applied valuation techniques, including estimated undiscounted cash flows, discount rates and remaining useful lives for assets held and used. If actual results are not consistent with the assumptions used in estimating future cash flows and asset fair values, we may be exposed to additional losses that could be material to our results of operations.

See Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information on impairments.

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

Nature of Estimates Required. We provide pension and other postretirement benefits to certain union and non-union employees. The benefit costs associated with the pension and other postretirement benefit plans are developed from actuarial valuations. The key assumptions inherent in the actuarial valuations include the discount rate, the expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets and the medical care cost trend rate used for other postretirement healthcare benefits. The assumptions used are subject to significant judgment and changes in the assumptions used may have a material effect on our future benefit costs.

Key Assumptions and Approach Used. The discount rates used as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, were determined based on individual bond matching models comprised of portfolios of high quality corporate bonds with projected cash flows and maturity dates reflecting the time horizon during which the benefits are expected to be paid. The changes in the discount rate from period to period were the result of changes in the long-term interest rates.

The weighted average discount rates used for measuring year-end pension benefit obligations and other postretirement benefit obligations as of their respective measurement dates were as follows:

			Other Postr	etirement	
	Pension	Pension Plans Benefit Pla		Plans	
	2008	2007	2008	2007	
Benefit obligation	5.40%	6.12%	5.37%	6.06%	
The weighted average discount rates used for our pension benefit cost and other pos	stretirement bene	fit costs durin	g each year are	e shown below	

				Other	Postretire	nent	
	Pe	nsion Plans	6	Be	enefit Plans		
	Ye	ears Ended		Y	ears Ended		
	De	cember 31	,	De	ecember 31	,	
	2008	2007	2006	2008	2007	2006	
sts	6.12%	5.66%	5.36%	6.06%	5.66%	5.36%	

~ .

In determining the long-term rate of return on our pension plan assets, we evaluate current and historic market factors including inflation and interest rates. We also evaluate the portfolio by estimating the expected return on the asset mix. Our target investment allocation of our pension plan assets is 70% equity securities and 30% fixed income securities. Based on these factors, our long-term expected return on plan assets was 8.50% as of December 31, 2008 and 2007.

The medical care cost trend rate used for other postretirement healthcare benefits is the assumed long-term growth of medical costs, and is based on costs observed in the prior years.

Effect if Different Assumptions Used. The assumptions used in determining our benefit cost are subject to significant judgment and could result in material changes to our consolidated financial statements if different assumptions were used.

Pension Plans

The following table summarizes the sensitivity of our projected benefit obligation and pension benefit cost to changes in the discount rate and expected long-term rate of return on pension assets:

	Effect on projected benefit obligation at December 31, 2008 (in mill	2009	fect on expense
Increase in discount rate 1%	\$ (36.9)	\$	(2.1)
Decrease in discount rate 1%	\$ 45.6	\$	4.8
Increase in expected long-term rate of return 1%	N/A	\$	(2.6)
Decrease in expected long-term rate of return 1%	N/A	\$	2.6

Other Postretirement Benefits

The following table summarizes the sensitivity of our projected benefit obligation and other postretirement benefit cost to changes in the discount rate for our other postretirement benefits:

	Effect on projected benefit obligation at		
	December 31, 2008		ect on expense
	(in mil	lions)	
Increase in discount rate 1%	\$ (7.8)	\$	(0.8)
Decrease in discount rate 1%	\$ 9.7	\$	0.9

An annual increase or decrease in the assumed medical care cost trend rate of 1% would correspondingly increase or decrease the aggregate of the service and interest cost components of the annual postretirement benefit cost in 2008 by an inconsequential amount.

Stock-Based Compensation

Nature of Estimates Required. We account for stock-based compensation through the recognition in the statement of operations of the grant-date fair value of stock options and other equity-based compensation issued to employees and directors. We consider the assumptions inherent in our valuation and calculation of compensation expense critical to our consolidated financial statements because the underlying assumptions are subject to significant judgment and the resulting compensation expense may be material to our results of operations.

Key Assumptions and Approach Used. The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was used to measure the grant-date fair value of the stock options. The Black-Scholes model requires certain assumptions concerning implied volatility, dividend yield, expected term and grant price. These assumptions have a significant effect on the options fair value. The expected term and expected volatility often have the most effect on the fair value of the option. The inputs to the Black-Scholes model that we used for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are detailed below:

	2008	;	2007	
	Range	Weighted Average	Range	Weighted Average
Expected volatility	31-43%	31.2%	15-28%	19.9%
Expected dividends	%	%	%	%
Expected term				
Service condition awards	3.5 years	3.5 years	2.7 - 3.5 years	3.48 years
Performance condition awards				
Risk-free rate	2.1 - 2.9%	2.1%	4 - 4.7%	4%

We use our own implied volatility from our traded options in accordance with SAB 107. Additionally, we assume there will be no dividends paid over the expected term of the awards. As a result of our lack of exercise history, the simplified method for estimating expected term has been used in accordance with SAB 107, to the extent applicable. In accordance with SAB 110, the simplified method can continue to be applied to stock option grants after December 31, 2007. We plan to continue applying the simplified method in estimating the expected term of future stock option grants until we have sufficient exercise history. The grant price used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model is the NYSE closing price of our common stock on the day of grant. The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual term of the stock option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant.

We have determined that all of the awards granted in 2008 and 2007 qualify for equity accounting treatment. Equity accounting treatment requires awards to be measured at the grant-date fair value with compensation expense recognized over the award s requisite service period, with no subsequent re-measurement.

Compensation cost has been adjusted based on estimated forfeitures. During the year ended December 31, 2008, we recognized approximately \$26 million of compensation expense related to stock options, restricted shares and restricted stock units.

Effect if Different Assumptions Used. As a result of the uncertainty, complexity and judgment involved in the valuation of stock options, the assumptions related to accounting for share-based payments could result in material changes to our consolidated financial statements if different assumptions were used. A 10% increase in the volatility assumption for our valuation of stock options would have resulted in an increase of \$4 million in recognized compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2008. A 1% decrease in the forfeiture rate would result in a change of less than \$1 million in the recognized compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2008. Generally, as the expected term, expected volatility and risk-free rate increase, the option s fair value increases as a result of greater upside potential of the stock. However, as the expected dividend yield increases, the option s fair value may decrease as option holders typically do not receive dividends.

See Note 8 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information on stock-based compensation.

Income Taxes and Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance

Nature of Estimates Required. We currently record a tax provision for state and federal income taxes including any alternative minimum tax as applicable. We also recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the difference between the balance sheet carrying amounts and the tax basis of the assets and liabilities. We must assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recoverable based on expected future taxable income. To the extent that we determine it is more likely than not (greater than 50%) that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized, we must establish a valuation allowance. See Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for additional information regarding our deferred tax assets and the application of our NOLs.

Key Assumptions and Approach Used. Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

Objective positive evidence is necessary to support a conclusion that a valuation allowance is not needed for all or a portion of deferred tax assets when significant negative evidence exists. Because of the high degree of volatility that existed in 2008 in the electricity and commodity markets in which we participate and the likelihood that economic events outside of our control may affect significantly such markets in the foreseeable future, we think that the realization of future taxable income sufficient to utilize existing deferred tax assets cannot be anticipated with the degree of confidence necessary to release the valuation allowance against such assets at this time. We evaluate this position quarterly and make our judgment based on the facts and circumstances at that time. We think that future sources of taxable income, reversing temporary differences and implemented tax planning strategies will be sufficient to realize deferred tax assets for which no valuation allowance has been established.

As of December 31, 2008, our deferred tax assets reduced by the valuation allowance are completely offset by our deferred tax liabilities. A portion of our NOLs (approximately \$341 million) is attributable to tax deductions primarily related to transactions arising during the period that we were in bankruptcy. The recognition of the tax benefit of these bankruptcy period tax deductions, either through realization or reduction of the valuation allowance, will be an increase to additional paid-in-capital in stockholders equity. These NOLs will be

the last utilized for financial reporting purposes. Additionally, our valuation allowance includes \$35 million relating to the tax effects of other comprehensive income items primarily related to employee benefits. These other comprehensive income items will be reduced in the event that the valuation allowance is no longer required.

Under FIN 48, we must reflect in our income tax provision the full benefit of all positions that will be taken in our income tax returns, except to the extent that such positions are uncertain and fall below the recognition requirements of FIN 48. In the event that we determine that a tax position meets the uncertainty criteria of FIN 48, an additional liability or an adjustment to our NOLs, determined under the measurement criteria of FIN 48 will result. This liability or adjustment is referred to as an unrecognized tax benefit. We periodically reassess the tax positions reflected in our tax returns for open years based on the latest information available and determine whether any portion of the tax benefits reflected therein should be treated as unrecognized. The amount of the unrecognized tax benefit requires management to make significant assumptions about the expected outcomes of certain tax positions included in our filed or yet to be filed tax returns.

Effect if Different Assumptions Used. We are subject to an annual limitation on the use of pre bankruptcy emergence NOLs against current and future year taxable income in accordance with Internal Revenue Code §382(1)(6). This limitation includes the effect of net unrealized built-in gains. If a post bankruptcy ownership change within the meaning of Internal Revenue Code §382 as amended, occurs, we will be required to determine a new annual limitation that will apply to the use of all pre ownership change NOLs against taxable income arising in periods subsequent to the ownership change. As a result of changes in our stock ownership, including our repurchases of shares of our common stock since July 11, 2006, and the exercise of a significant number of warrants for our common stock during 2008, we experienced an ownership change within the meaning of Internal Revenue Code §382, as amended, in the third quarter of 2008. Our annual limitation on the amount of taxable income that can be offset by our then existing NOLs has been redetermined as of the date of that ownership change. We do not expect that the ability to offset future taxable income with existing NOLs under the redetermined annual limitation will be significantly different from our ability to do so under the annual limitation prior to the ownership change that occurred in the third quarter of 2008. However, if the Company experiences another ownership change after December 31, 2008 at or near the Company s recent stock price levels, the redetermined annual limitation could be significantly lower and could result in the payment of cash taxes above the amount currently estimated for 2009. The additional cash taxes could range from \$0 to \$150 million depending on the timing of the additional ownership change, if any. Beginning in 2010, tax planning strategies, including the election to amortize over five years the cost of our pollution control equipment installed pursuant to the Maryland Healthy Air Act, would be available to reduce additional cash taxes

We continue to be under audit for multiple years by taxing authorities in various jurisdictions. Considerable judgment is required to determine the tax treatment of particular items that involve interpretations of complex tax laws. A tax liability has been recorded for certain filing positions with respect to which the outcome is uncertain and the effect is estimable. Such liabilities are based on judgment and it can take many years between the time the liability is recorded and the related filing position is no longer subject to question.

Loss Contingencies

Nature of Estimates Required. We record loss contingencies when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. We consider loss contingency estimates to be critical accounting estimates because they entail significant judgment regarding probabilities and ranges of exposure, and the ultimate outcome of the proceedings is unknown and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. We currently have loss contingencies related to litigation, environmental matters, tax matters and others.

Key Assumptions and Approach Used. The determination of a loss contingency requires significant judgment as to the expected outcome of each contingency in future periods. In making the determination as to potential losses and probability of loss, we consider all available positive and negative evidence including the

expected outcome of potential litigation. We record our best estimate of a loss, or the low end of our range if no estimate is better than another estimate within a range of estimates, when the loss is considered probable. As additional information becomes available, we reassess the potential liability related to the contingency and revise our estimates. In our evaluation of legal matters, management holds discussions with applicable legal counsel and relies on analysis of case law and legal precedents.

Effect if Different Assumptions Used. Revisions in our estimates of potential liabilities could materially affect our results of operations and the ultimate resolution may be materially different from the estimates that we make.

Litigation

See Note 16 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for further information related to our legal proceedings.

We are currently involved in certain legal proceedings. We estimate the range of liability through discussions with applicable legal counsel and analysis of case law and legal precedents. We record our best estimate of a loss, or the low end of our range if no estimate is better than another estimate within a range of estimates, when the loss is considered probable. As additional information becomes available, we reassess the potential liability related to our pending litigation and revise our estimates. Revisions in our estimates of the potential liability could materially affect our results of operations and the ultimate resolution may be materially different from the estimates that we make.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk Fair Value Measurements

We are exposed to market risks associated with commodity prices, interest rates and credit risk. We adopted SFAS 157 on January 1, 2008, which affected our valuation, presentation and disclosure of derivative financial instruments used to mitigate our commodity price risk. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for further information on the adoption of SFAS 157. We also adopted FSP FIN 39-1 on January 1, 2008, and elected to discontinue the net presentation of assets and liabilities subject to master netting agreements. See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report for further information on the adoption of FSP FIN 39-1. The election to present our derivative contract assets and liabilities on a gross basis does not affect our credit risk or value at risk at December 31, 2008.

The estimated net fair value of our derivative contract assets and liabilities was a net asset of \$655 million at December 31, 2008. The following table provides a summary of the factors affecting the change in fair value of the derivative contract asset and liability accounts for the year ended December 31, 2008 (in millions):

Fair value of portfolio of assets and liabilities at January 1, 2008, net ⁽¹⁾	\$ (129)
Gains recognized in the period, net:	
New contracts and other changes in fair value ⁽²⁾	583
Roll off of previous values ⁽³⁾	326
Purchases, issuances and settlements ⁽⁴⁾	(125)
Fair value of portfolio of assets and liabilities at December 31, 2008, net	\$ 655

- ⁽¹⁾ Reflects our portfolio of derivative contract assets and liabilities at December 31, 2007, adjusted for a day one net gain of \$1 million recognized upon adoption of SFAS 157 on January 1, 2008.
- (2) The fair value, as of the end of each quarterly reporting period, of contracts entered into during each quarterly reporting period and the gains or losses attributable to contracts that existed as of the beginning of each quarterly reporting period and were still held at the end of each quarterly reporting period.
- ⁽³⁾ The fair value, as of the beginning of each quarterly reporting period, of contracts that settled during each quarterly reporting period.

⁽⁴⁾ Denotes cash settlements during each quarterly reporting period of contracts that existed at the beginning of each quarterly reporting period. The table above does not include long-term coal agreements that are not required to be recorded at fair value under SFAS 133. As such, these contracts are not included in derivative contract assets and liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2008, these coal agreements had an estimated net fair value of approximately \$38 million, which includes a credit reserve of \$18 million for the estimated default risk of our coal suppliers. See *Long-Term Coal Agreement Risk* for further discussion later in this section.

As discussed in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report, we did not elect the fair value option for any financial instruments under SFAS 159. However, we do transact using derivative financial instruments which are required to be recorded at fair value under SFAS 133 in our consolidated balance sheets.

Commodity Price Risk

In connection with our business of generating electricity, we are exposed to energy commodity price risk associated with the acquisition of fuel needed to generate electricity, the price of electricity produced and sold and the fair value of our fuel inventories. A portion of our fuel requirements is purchased in the spot market and a

portion of the electricity we produce is sold in the spot market. In addition, the open positions in our proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities expose us to risks associated with changes in energy commodity prices.

As a result, our financial performance varies depending on changes in the prices of energy and energy-related commodities. See Critical Accounting Estimates for a discussion of the accounting treatment for asset management, proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities.

The financial performance of our business of generating electricity is influenced by the difference between the variable cost of converting a fuel, such as natural gas, oil or coal, into electricity, and the revenue we receive from the sale of that electricity. The difference between the cost of a specific fuel used to generate one MWh of electricity and the market value of the electricity generated is commonly referred to as the conversion spread. Absent the effects of our derivative contract activities, the operating margins that we realize are equal to the difference between the aggregate conversion spread and the cost of operating the facilities that produce the electricity sold.

Conversion spreads are dependent on a variety of factors that influence the cost of fuel and the sales price of the electricity generated over the longer term, including conversion spreads of other generating facilities in the regions in which we operate, facility outages, weather and general economic conditions. As a result of these influences, the cost of fuel and electricity prices do not always change in the same magnitude or direction, which results in conversion spreads for a particular generating facility widening or narrowing (or becoming negative) over any given period.

Through our asset management activities, we enter into a variety of exchange-traded and OTC energy and energy-related derivative financial instruments, such as forward contracts, futures contracts, option contracts and financial swap agreements, to manage our exposure to commodity price risks and changes in conversion spreads. These contracts have varying terms and durations which range from a few days to years, depending on the instrument. Our proprietary trading activities also utilize similar contracts in markets where we have a physical presence to attempt to generate incremental gross margin. Our fuel oil management activities use derivative financial instruments to hedge economically the fair value of our physical fuel oil inventories and to optimize the approximately three and one half million barrels of storage capacity that we own or lease.

Derivative energy contracts that are required to be reflected at fair value are presented as derivative contract assets and liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The net changes in their fair market values are recognized in income in the period of change. The determination of fair value considers various factors, including closing exchange or OTC market price quotations, time value, credit quality, liquidity and volatility factors underlying options. See Item 7. Critical Accounting Estimates for the accounting treatment of asset management, proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities.

Counterparty Credit Risk

The valuation of our derivative contract assets is affected by the default risk of the counterparties with which we transact. We recognized a reserve, which is reflected as a reduction of our derivative contract assets, related to counterparty credit risk of \$52 million and \$4 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

We have historically calculated the credit reserve for all of our derivative contract assets considering our current exposure, net of the effect of credit enhancements, and potential loss exposure from the financial commitments in our risk management portfolio, and applied historical default probabilities using current credit ratings of our counterparties. In accordance with SFAS 157, we calculate the credit reserve through consideration of observable market inputs, when available. In the third quarter of 2008, we changed the methodology used to calculate our credit reserve for our non-collateralized power hedges entered into by Mirant Mid-Atlantic with our major trading partners, which represents 78% of our net notional position at December 31, 2008. These transactions are senior unsecured obligations of Mirant Mid-Atlantic and the counterparties and do not require

either party to post cash collateral for initial margin or for securing exposure as a result of changes in power or natural gas prices. Commencing in the third quarter of 2008, we began to calculate a credit reserve using published spreads on credit default swaps applied to our current exposure and potential loss exposure from the financial commitments in our risk management portfolio. We apply a similar approach to calculate the fair value of our coal contracts that are not included in derivative contract assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets and which also do not require either party to post cash collateral for initial margin or for securing exposure as a result of changes in coal prices. We do not, however, transact in credit default swaps or any other credit derivative. The change in our methodology resulted in an increase to our credit reserve at December 31, 2008, of approximately \$47 million on our derivative contract assets. An increase of 10% in the spread of credit default swaps of our major trading partners for our non-collateralized power hedges entered into by Mirant Mid-Atlantic would result in an increase of \$5 million in our credit reserve as of December 31, 2008. An increase of 10% in the spread of credit default swaps of our coal suppliers would result in an increase of \$2 million in our \$18 million credit reserve of our long-term coal agreements that are not included in derivative contract assets and liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2008.

The default risk for the remainder of the portfolio is generally offset by cash collateral or other credit enhancements. For the remainder of our risk management portfolio, we will continue to use published historical default probabilities to calculate a credit reserve applied to our current exposure, net of the effect of credit enhancements, and potential loss exposure from the financial commitments. Potential loss exposure is calculated as our current exposure plus a calculated five-day value at risk. An increase in counterparty credit risk could affect the ability of our counterparties to deliver on their obligations to us. As a result, we may require our counterparties to post additional collateral or provide other credit enhancements. A downgrade of one notch in the average credit rating of our counterparties in this portion of the portfolio would result in an increase of \$1 million in our credit reserve as of December 31, 2008.

Once we have delivered a physical commodity or have financially settled the credit risk, we are subject to collection risk. Collection risk is similar to credit risk and collection risk is accounted for when we establish our provision for uncollectible accounts. We manage this risk using the same techniques and processes used in credit risk discussed above.

Mirant Credit Risk

In valuing our derivative contract liabilities, we apply a valuation adjustment for non-performance which is based on the probability of our default. We determine this non-performance adjustment value by multiplying our liability exposure, including outstanding balances for realized transactions, unrealized transactions and the effect of credit enhancements, by the one year probability of our default based on our current credit rating. The one year probability of default rate considers the tenor of our portfolio and the correlation of default between counterparties within our industry. The non-performance adjustment related to our credit risk at December 31, 2008 was immaterial. A downgrade of one notch in our credit rating would have an immaterial effect on our consolidated statement of operations as of December 31, 2008.

Broker Quotes

In determining the fair value of our derivative contract assets and liabilities, we use third-party market pricing where available. We consider active markets to be those in which transactions for the asset or liability occur in sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report explains the fair value hierarchy. Our transactions in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy primarily consist of natural gas and crude oil futures traded on the NYMEX and swaps cleared against NYMEX prices. For these transactions, we use the unadjusted published settled prices on the valuation date. Our transactions in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy typically include non-exchange-traded derivatives such as OTC forwards, swaps and options. We value these transactions using quotes from independent brokers or other widely-accepted valuation methodologies. Transactions are classified

in Level 2 if substantially all (greater than 90%) of the fair value can be corroborated using observable market inputs such as transactable broker quotes. In accordance with the exit price objective under SFAS 157, the fair value of our derivative contract assets and liabilities is determined using bid prices for our assets and ask prices for liabilities. The quotes that we obtain from brokers are non-binding in nature, but are from brokers that typically transact in the market being quoted and are based on their knowledge of market transactions on the valuation date. We typically obtain multiple broker quotes on the valuation date for each delivery location that extend for the tenor of our underlying contracts. The number of quotes that we can obtain depends on the relative liquidity of the delivery location on the valuation date. If multiple broker quotes are received for a contract, we use an average of the quoted bid or ask prices. If only one broker quote is received for a delivery location and it cannot be validated through other external sources, we will assign the quote to a lower level within the fair value hierarchy. In some instances, we may combine broker quotes for a liquid delivery hub with broker quotes for the price spread between the liquid delivery hub and the delivery location under the contract. We also may apply interpolation techniques to value monthly strips if broker quotes are only available on a seasonal or annual basis. We perform validation procedures on the broker quotes at least on a monthly basis. The validation procedures include reviewing the quotes for accuracy and comparing them to our internal price curves. In certain instances, we may discard a broker quote if it is a clear outlier and multiple other quotes are obtained. At December 31, 2008, we obtained broker quotes for 100% of our delivery locations classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Inactive markets are considered to be those markets with few transactions, non-current pricing or prices that vary over time or among market makers. Our transactions in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy may involve transactions whereby observable market data, such as broker quotes, are not available for substantially all of the tenor of the contract or we are only able to obtain indicative broker quotes that cannot be corroborated by observable market data. In such cases, we may apply valuation techniques such as extrapolation to determine fair value. Proprietary models may also be used to determine the fair value of certain of our derivative contract assets and liabilities that may be structured or otherwise tailored. The degree of estimation increases for longer duration contracts, contracts with multiple pricing features, option contracts and off-hub delivery points. Our techniques for fair value estimation include assumptions for market prices, correlation and volatility. Our assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy represent approximately 1% of our total assets and less than 1% of our total liabilities measured at fair value at December 31, 2008.

Value at Risk

Our Risk Management Policy limits our trading to certain products and contains limits and restrictions related to our asset management, proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities.

We manage the price risk associated with asset management activities through a variety of methods. Our Risk Management Policy requires that asset management activities are restricted to only those activities that are risk-reducing. We ensure compliance with this restriction at the transactional level by testing each individual transaction executed relative to the overall asset position.

We also use VaR to measure the market price risk of our energy asset portfolio as a result of potential changes in market prices. VaR is a statistical model that provides an estimate of potential loss. We calculate VaR based on the parametric variance/covariance approach, utilizing a 95% confidence interval and a one-day holding period on a rolling 24-month forward looking period. Additionally, we estimate correlation based on historical commodity price changes. Volatilities are based on a combination of historical price changes and implied market rates.

VaR is calculated quarterly on an asset management portfolio comprised of mark-to-market and non mark-to-market energy assets and liabilities including generating facilities and bilateral physical and financial transactions. Asset management VaR levels are substantially reduced as a result of our decision to hedge actively in the forward markets the commodity price risk related to the expected generation and fuel usage of our generating facilities. See Item 1. Commercial Operations for discussion of our hedging strategies.

The following table summarizes year-end, average, high and low VaR for our asset management portfolio (in millions):

		For the Years Ended December 31,	
	2008	2007	
Asset Management VaR			
Year-end	\$ 14	\$ 20	
Average	\$ 18	\$ 29	
High	\$ 21	\$ 40	
Low	\$ 14	\$ 20	

The asset management VaR declined for the year ended December 31, 2008, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2007, primarily as a result of increased hedging activity against our underlying generating facilities.

We calculate VaR daily on portfolios consisting of mark-to-market and non mark-to-market bilateral physical and financial transactions related to our proprietary trading activities and fuel oil management operations.

The following table summarizes year-end, average, high and low VaR for our proprietary trading and fuel oil management operations (in millions):

		ears Ended Iber 31,
	2008	2007
Proprietary Trading and Fuel Oil Management VaR		
Year-end	\$ 1	\$ 2
Average	\$ 2	\$ 3
High	\$ 4	\$5
Low	\$ 1	\$ 1

Because of inherent limitations of statistical measures such as VaR and the seasonality of changes in market prices, the VaR calculation may not reflect the full extent of our commodity price risk exposure on our cash flows and liquidity. Additionally, actual changes in the fair value of mark-to-market energy assets and liabilities could differ from the calculated VaR, and such changes could have a material effect on our financial results.

Interest Rate Risk

Fair Value Measurement

We are also subject to interest rate risk when determining the fair value of our derivative contract assets and liabilities. The nominal value of our derivative contract assets and liabilities is also discounted to account for time value using a LIBOR forward interest rate curve based on the tenor of our transactions. An increase of 100 basis points in the average LIBOR rate would result in a decrease of \$6 million to our derivative contract assets and a decrease of \$5 million to our derivative contract liabilities at December 31, 2008.

Debt

Our debt that is subject to variable interest rates consists of the Mirant North America senior secured term loan and senior secured revolving credit facility. Assuming both are fully drawn, the amount subject to variable interest rates is approximately \$1.2 billion. A 1% per annum increase in the average market rate would result in an increase in our annual interest expense of approximately \$12 million.

Credit Concentration Risk

We also monitor credit concentration risk on both an individual basis and a group counterparty basis. The following table highlights the credit quality and the balance sheet settlement exposures related to these activities as of December 31, 2008 (dollars in millions):

	Be	oosure efore teral(1)	-	edit teral(2)	N	posure let of lateral	% of Net Exposure
Credit Rating Equivalent							Ē
Investment grade:							
Financial institutions	\$	553	\$	20	\$	533	73%
Energy companies		232		73		159	22%
Other							
Non-investment grade:							
Financial institutions							
Energy companies							
Other							
No external ratings:							
Internally-rated investment grade		37				37	5%
Internally-rated non-investment grade		4				4	
Not internally rated							
Total	\$	826	\$	93	\$	733	100%

(1) The table excludes amounts related to contracts classified as normal purchases/normal sales and non-derivative contractual commitments that are not recorded in our consolidated balance sheets, except for any related accounts receivable. Such contractual commitments contain credit and economic risk if a counterparty does not perform.

⁽²⁾ Collateral includes cash and letters of credit offset by any cash collateral posted by us to a counterparty which is in excess of the amount currently owed to that counterparty.

Long-Term Coal Agreement Risk

As noted above, the credit concentration table excludes amounts related to contracts classified as normal purchases/normal sales, including our long-term coal agreements. We have non-performance risk associated with these agreements. There is risk that our coal suppliers may not provide the contractual quantities on the dates specified within the agreements or the deliveries may be carried over to future periods. If our coal suppliers do not perform in accordance with the agreements, we may have to procure coal in the market to meet our needs, or power in the market to meet our obligations. In addition, a number of the coal suppliers do not currently have an investment grade credit rating and, accordingly, we may have limited recourse to collect damages in the event of default by a supplier. We seek to mitigate this risk through diversification of coal suppliers and through guarantees and other collateral arrangements when available. Despite this, there can be no assurance that these efforts will be successful in mitigating credit risk from coal suppliers. Non-performance by our coal suppliers could have a material adverse effect on our future results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Mirant Corporation and subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Mirant Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders equity (deficit), comprehensive income and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2008. We also have audited the Company s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in *Internal Control Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting included within Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Company s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Mirant Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in *Internal Control Integrated Framework* issued by COSO.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, *Fair Value Measurements*, the measurement provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, *Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit and Other Postretirement Plans*, and FASB Staff Position FIN 39-1, *Amendment of FASB Interpretation No. 39*, in 2008. As discussed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, *Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes*, in 2007

/s/ KPMG LLP

Atlanta, Georgia February 26, 2009

F-2

MIRANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

	2008	Years Ended Dec 2007 ons, except per sh	2006
Operating revenues (including unrealized gains (losses) of \$840 million, \$(564) million and \$757	(111 11111)	ns, except per si	iure uutu)
million, respectively)	\$ 3,188	\$ 2,019	\$ 3,087
Cost of fuel, electricity and other products (including unrealized (gains) losses of \$54 million, \$(28)	+ = ,= = = =	+ _,,	+ -,
million and \$102 million, respectively)	1,059	912	1,151
Gross Margin (excluding depreciation and amortization)	2,129	1,107	1,936
Operating Expenses:			
Operations and maintenance	683	707	592
Depreciation and amortization	144	129	137
Impairment losses		175	119
Gain on sales of assets, net	(39)	(45)	(49)
Total operating expenses	788	966	799
Operating Income	1,341	141	1,137
Other Expense (Income), net:			
Interest expense	189	247	289
Interest income	(70)	(202)	(76)
Gain on sales of investments, net	-	(2.1.1)	(76)
Other, net	5	(344)	(38)
Total other expense (income), net	124	(299)	99
Income From Continuing Operations Before Reorganization Items, Net and Income Taxes	1,217	440	1,038
Reorganization items, net	_,	(2)	(164)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	2	9	(550)
Income From Continuing Operations	1,215	433	1,752
Income From Discontinued Operations, net	50	1,562	112
	20	1,002	
Net Income	\$ 1,265	\$ 1,995	\$ 1,864
Basic EPS:			
Basic EPS from continuing operations	\$ 6.53	\$ 1.72	\$ 6.15
Basic EPS from discontinued operations	0.27	6.20	0.39
Basic EPS	\$ 6.80	\$ 7.92	\$ 6.54
Diluted EPS:			
Diluted EPS from continuing operations	\$ 6.11	\$ 1.56	\$ 5.90
Diluted EPS from discontinued operations	0.25	5.64	0.38
Diluted EPS	\$ 6.36	\$ 7.20	\$ 6.28

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

Weighted average shares outstanding	186	252	285
Effect of dilutive securities	13	25	12
Weighted average shares outstanding assuming dilution	199	277	297

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

MIRANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	At Decen 2008 (in mil	2007
ASSETS		
Current Assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 1,831	\$ 4,961
Funds on deposit	204	304
Receivables, net	761	589
Derivative contract assets	2,582	687
Inventories	238	357
Prepaid expenses	132	142
Total current assets	5,748	7,040
Property, Plant and Equipment, net	3,215	2,590
Noncurrent Assets:		
Intangible assets, net	196	206
Derivative contract assets	585	153
Deferred income taxes	565	240
Prepaid rent	258	234
Other	121	75
Total noncurrent assets	1,725	908
Total Assets	\$ 10,688	\$ 10,538
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY		
Current Liabilities:		
Current portion of long-term debt	\$ 46	\$ 142
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	894	718
Derivative contract liabilities	2,268	709
Deferred income taxes	565	240
Other	11	12
Total current liabilities	3,784	1,821
Noncurrent Liabilities:		
Long-term debt	2,630	2,953
Derivative contract liabilities	244	261
Asset retirement obligations	40	44
Pension and other postretirement obligations	148	101
Other	80	48
Total noncurrent liabilities	3,142	3,407
Commitments and Contingencies		

Stockholders Equity:

Stockholders Equity.		
Preferred stock, par value \$.01 per share, authorized 100,000,000 shares, no shares issued at December 31, 2008 and 2007		
Common stock, par value \$.01 per share, authorized 1.5 billion shares, issued 310,666,240 and 301,196,073 at December 31, 2008 and		
2007, respectively, and outstanding 144,629,446 shares and 221,811,972 at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively	3	3
Treasury stock, at cost, 166,036,794 shares and 79,384,101 shares at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively	(5,330)	(2,586)
Additional paid-in capital	11,401	11,357

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

	(2,222)	(3,486)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	(90)	22
Total stockholders equity	3,762	5,310
Total Liabilities and Stockholders Equity \$1	10,688	\$ 10,538

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

MIRANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY (DEFICIT)

	Common Stock	Treasury Stock	Additional Paid-In Capital (in milli	Accumulated Deficit ons)	C Comp	imulated Other orehensive ne (Loss)
Balance, December 31, 2005	\$ 3	\$	\$ 11,298	\$ (7,462)	\$	17
Net income				1,864		
Share repurchases		(1,261)				
Stock-based compensation			17			
Exercise of warrants			2			
Other comprehensive loss						(25)
Adoption of SFAS 158, net of tax						(10)
Balance, December 31, 2006	3	(1,261)	11,317	(5,598)		(18)
Net income				1,995		
Share repurchases		(1,325)				
Stock-based compensation			29			
Exercises of stock options and warrants			11			
Adoption of FIN 48				117		
Other comprehensive income						40
Balance, December 31, 2007	3	(2,586)	11,357	(3,486)		22
Net income			,	1,265		
Share repurchases		(2,744)				
Stock-based compensation			26			
Exercises of stock options and warrants			18			
Adoption of SFAS 157				1		
SFAS 158 measurement date transition				(2)		(1)
Other comprehensive loss						(111)
Balance, December 31, 2008	\$3	\$ (5,330)	\$ 11,401	\$ (2,222)	\$	(90)

MIRANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

		For the Years Ended December 31,		
	2008	2007 (in millions)	2006	
Net Income	\$ 1,265	\$ 1,995	\$ 1,864	
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax				
Cumulative translation adjustment		4	2	
Unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities			(27)	
Pension and other postretirement benefits	(111)	36		
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax	(111)	40	(25)	

Total Comprehensive Income

\$ 1,154 \$ 2,035 \$ 1,839

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

MIRANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:	Fe 2008	or the Years Endo December 31, 2007 (in millions)	ed 2006
Net income	\$ 1,265	\$ 1,995	\$ 1,864
	\$ 1,205 50	1,562	\$ 1,804 112
Income from discontinued operations	50	1,302	112
Income from continuing operations	1,215	433	1,752
Adjustments to reconcile net income from continuing operations to net cash provided by operating activities:			
Depreciation and amortization	148	139	147
Impairment losses		175	119
Gain on sales of assets and investments, net	(39)	(45)	(125)
Derivative contract activities, net	(786)	536	(655)
Deferred income taxes			(552)
Stock-based compensation	25	25	17
Non-cash gain on property tax settlement			(71)
Postretirement benefits curtailment gain	(5)	(32)	
Settlement of the Back-to-Back Agreement with Pepco	(-)	(341)	
Lower of cost or market inventory adjustment	65	7	80
Other, net	4	1	(33)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:		1	(55)
Receivables, net	(213)	184	152
Funds on deposit	104	(69)	456
Inventories	47	(77)	(89)
Other assets		57	
	(29) 220		(80)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		(128)	(218)
Settlement of claims payable	(16)	(53)	(814)
Other liabilities	(63)	(26)	51
Total adjustments	(538)	353	(1,615)
Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations	677	786	137
Net cash provided by operating activities of discontinued operations	50	178	432
Net cash provided by operating activities	727	964	569
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:			
Capital expenditures	(731)	(588)	(139)
Proceeds from the sales of assets and other investments	42	57	143
Restricted deposit payments and other	(30)	7	1
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities of continuing operations	(719)	(524)	5
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities of discontinued operations	25	5,281	(163)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	(694)	4,757	(158)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:			
Share repurchases	(2,761)	(1,308)	(1, 261)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt			2,017
Repayments and purchases of long-term debt	(420)	(180)	(475)
Proceeds from exercises of stock options and warrants	18	11	2
Settlement of debt under the Plan			(990)
			()))

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

Debt issuance costs			(51)
Net cash used in financing activities of continuing operations	(3,163)	(1,477)	(758)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities of discontinued operations		(669)	181
Nat and undin financing activities	(3,163)	(2,146)	(577)
Net cash used in financing activities	(3,103)	(2,140)	(577)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents		1	
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents	(3,130)	3,576	(166)
Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of period	4,961	1,139	1,068
Plus: Cash and Cash Equivalents in Assets Held for Sale, beginning of period		246	483
Less: Cash and Cash Equivalents in Assets Held for Sale, end of period			246
Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of period	\$ 1,831	\$ 4,961	\$ 1,139
Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures:			
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized	\$ 175	\$ 346	\$ 372
Cash paid for income taxes net of refunds received	\$	\$ 33	\$ 165
Cash paid for claims and professional fees from bankruptcy	\$ 17	\$ 63	\$ 1,908

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

F-6

MIRANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

1. Description of Business and Organization

Mirant is a competitive energy company that produces and sells electricity in the United States. The Company owns or leases 10,112 MW of net electric generating capacity in the Mid-Atlantic and Northeast regions and in California. Mirant also operates an integrated asset management and energy marketing organization based in Atlanta, Georgia.

Mirant Corporation was incorporated in Delaware on September 23, 2005. Pursuant to the Plan for Mirant and certain of its subsidiaries, on January 3, 2006, New Mirant emerged from bankruptcy and acquired substantially all of the assets of Old Mirant, a corporation that was formed in Delaware on April 3, 1993, and that had been named Mirant Corporation prior to January 3, 2006. The Plan provides that New Mirant has no successor liability for any unassumed obligations of Old Mirant. Old Mirant was then renamed and transferred to a trust, which is not affiliated with New Mirant.

In the third quarter of 2006, the Company commenced separate auction processes to sell its Philippine (2,203 MW) and Caribbean (1,050 MW) businesses and six U.S. natural gas-fired facilities totaling 3,619 MW, consisting of the Zeeland, West Georgia, Shady Hills, Sugar Creek, Bosque and Apex facilities. On May 1, 2007, the Company completed the sale of the six U.S. natural gas-fired facilities. On June 22, 2007, the Company completed the sale of the sale of its Philippine business. On August 8, 2007, the Company completed the sale of its Caribbean business. In addition, on May 7, 2007, the Company completed the sale of Mirant NY-Gen (121 MW). After transaction costs and repayment of debt, the net proceeds to Mirant from dispositions completed in the year ended December 31, 2007, were approximately \$5.071 billion. See Note 11 for additional information regarding the accounting for these businesses and facilities as discontinued operations.

On November 9, 2007, Mirant announced that it planned to return a total of \$4.6 billion of excess cash to its stockholders based on four factors: (1) the outlook for the business, (2) preserving the Company s credit profile, (3) maintaining adequate liquidity, including for capital expenditures and (4) maintaining sufficient working capital. On September 22, 2008, Mirant announced that it had returned \$3.856 billion of cash to its stockholders through purchases of 110 million shares of its common stock and suspended its program to return excess cash to its stockholders based on the Company s evaluation of the four factors that were set out upon commencement of the share repurchase program. On November 7, 2008, Mirant announced that it was resuming its program of returning excess cash to its stockholders and would purchase an additional \$200 million of shares through open market purchases. This \$200 million was completed in the fourth quarter of 2008 and was in addition to the previous \$3.856 billion of cash returned to stockholders. Between November 2007 and December 2008, Mirant returned approximately \$4.056 billion of cash to its stockholders through purchases in 2008 for approximately \$2.74 billion. Mirant has repurchased approximately 48% of the 256 million basic shares that it had outstanding when the program began in November 2007. See Note 13 for further discussion of the share repurchases.

2. Accounting and Reporting Policies *Basis of Presentation*

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Mirant and its wholly-owned subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with GAAP.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Mirant and its wholly-owned and controlled majority-owned subsidiaries as well as a VIE in which Mirant has an interest and is the primary beneficiary. The financial statements have been prepared from records maintained by Mirant and its subsidiaries in their respective countries of operation. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. As of December 31, 2008, substantially all of Mirant subsidiaries are wholly-owned and located in the United States. The Company s obligations to MC Asset Recovery result in its treatment as a VIE in which Mirant is the primary beneficiary as defined in FIN 46R. The entity, therefore, is included in the Company s consolidated financial statements. See Note 16 for further discussion of MC Asset Recovery.

All amounts are presented in U.S. dollars unless otherwise noted. In accordance with SFAS 144, the results of operations of the Company s businesses and facilities that have been disposed of and have met the criteria for such classification, have been reclassified to discontinued operations. Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year financial statement presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make a number of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Mirant s significant estimates include:

determining the fair value of certain derivative contracts;

estimating future taxable income in evaluating its deferred tax asset valuation allowance;

estimating the useful lives of long-lived assets;

determining the value of asset retirement obligations;

estimating future cash flows in determining impairments of long-lived assets and definite-lived intangible assets;

estimating the expected return on plan assets, discount rates and other actuarial assumptions used in estimating pension and other postretirement benefit plan liabilities;

estimating losses to be recorded for contingent liabilities; and

estimating certain assumptions used in the grant date fair value of stock options. *Revenue Recognition*

Mirant recognizes revenue from the sale of energy when earned and collection is probable. Some sales of energy are based on economic dispatch, or as-ordered by an ISO or RTO, based on member participation agreements, but without an underlying contractual commitment. ISO and RTO revenues and revenues from sales of energy based on economic-dispatch are recorded on the basis of MWh delivered, at the relevant day-ahead or real-time prices. In accordance with EITF 02-3, physical transactions, or revenues from the sale of generated electricity to ISOs and RTOs are recorded on a gross basis in the consolidated statement of operations. Financial transactions, or the buying and selling of energy for trading purposes, are recorded on a net basis in the consolidated statement of operations. When a long-term electric power agreement conveys to the buyer of the electric power the right to use the generating capacity of Mirant s facility, that agreement is evaluated to determine if it is a lease of the generating facility rather than a sale of electric power. Operating lease revenue for the Company s generating facilities is

Table of Contents

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

normally recorded as capacity revenue and included in operating revenues in the consolidated statements of operations. Capacity revenue also consists of revenue received from an ISO or RTO based on auction results or negotiated contract prices for making installed generation capacity available to meet system reliability requirements.

Cost of Fuel, Electricity and Other Products

Cost of fuel, electricity and other products on the Company s consolidated statements of operations includes the costs of goods produced and sold, and services rendered during a reporting period, purchased emissions allowances for SO2 and NOx and the settlements of and changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments used to hedge fuel economically. Cost of fuel, electricity and other products excludes depreciation and amortization. Gross margin is total operating revenues less cost of fuel, electricity and other products.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recorded in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at fair value as either derivative contract assets or liabilities, and changes in fair value are recognized currently in earnings, unless the Company elects to apply fair value or cash flow hedge accounting based on meeting specific criteria in SFAS 133. For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Company did not have any derivative financial instruments that it had designated as fair value or cash flow hedges for accounting purposes. Mirant s derivative financial instruments are categorized by the Company based on the business objective the instrument is expected to achieve: asset management, proprietary trading or fuel oil management. All derivative financial instruments are recorded at fair value, except for certain transactions that qualify for the normal purchases or normal sales exclusion under SFAS 133 and therefore qualify for the use of accrual accounting.

As the Company's derivative financial instruments have not been designated as hedges for accounting purposes, changes in such instruments fair values are recognized immediately in earnings. For asset management activities, changes in fair value of electricity derivative financial instruments are reflected in operating revenue and changes in fair value of fuel derivative financial instruments are reflected in cost of fuel, electricity and other products in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Changes in the fair value and settlements of derivative financial instruments for proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities are recorded on a net basis as operating revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Concentration of Revenues

In 2008, 2007 and 2006, Mirant earned a significant portion of its operating revenue and gross margin from the PJM energy market, where its Mirant Mid-Atlantic generating facilities are located. Mirant Mid-Atlantic s revenues and gross margin as a percentage of Mirant s total revenues and gross margin from continuing operations are as follows:

	Years I	Ended Decembe	er 31,
	2008	2007	2006
Operating revenues	72%	56%	62%
Gross margin	81%	55%	68%
Coal Supplier Concentration Risk			

The Company procures most of its coal supply from a small number of strategic suppliers. In order to mitigate the risk of non-performance, the Company manages its concentration levels to individual suppliers and mines. At December 31, 2008, two of the Company s coal suppliers together represented approximately 50% of the Company s expected coal purchases for 2009.

Concentration of Labor Subject to Collective Bargaining Agreements

At December 31, 2008, approximately 47% of Mirant s employees are subject to collective bargaining agreements, of which 68% are subject to the collective bargaining agreement in the Mid-Atlantic region.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Mirant considers all short-term investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. At December 31, 2008, except for amounts held in bank accounts to cover current payables, all of the Company s cash and cash equivalents were invested in AAA-rated U.S. Treasury money market funds.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash is included in current and noncurrent assets as funds on deposit and other noncurrent assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2008, current and noncurrent funds on deposit were \$204 million and \$48 million, respectively. At December 31, 2007, current and noncurrent funds on deposit were \$304 million and \$7 million, respectively. Restricted cash includes deposits with brokers and cash collateral posted with third parties to support the Company s commodity positions as well as \$122 million and \$200 million deposits as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, by Mirant North America posted under its senior secured term loan to support the issuance of letters of credit.

Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of fuel oil, coal, materials and supplies and purchased emissions allowances. Inventory is generally stated at the lower of cost or market value. Fuel stock is removed from the inventory account as it is used in the production of electricity. Materials and supplies are removed from the inventory account when they are used for repairs, maintenance or capital projects. Purchased emissions allowances cost is computed on an average cost basis. Purchased emissions allowances are removed from inventory and charged to cost of fuel, electricity and other products in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations as they are utilized against emissions volumes that exceed the allowances granted to the Company by the EPA.

Inventories at December 31, 2008 and 2007, consisted of (in millions):

	At Decer	nber 31,
	2008	2007
Fuel stock:		
Fuel oil	\$ 113	\$ 242
Coal	43	38
Other	1	
Materials and supplies	63	67
Purchased emissions allowances	18	10
Total inventories	\$ 238	\$ 357

In 2008, the Company recognized lower of cost or market inventory adjustments of \$65 million, including \$54 million in the fourth quarter of 2008 as a result of a decrease in fuel oil prices.

Granted Emissions Allowances

Included in property, plant and equipment are: (1) emissions allowances granted by the EPA that were projected to be required to offset physical emissions; and (2) emissions allowances granted by the EPA that were projected to be in excess of those required to offset physical emissions related to generating facilities owned by the Company. These emissions allowances were recorded at fair value at the date of the acquisition of the facility and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the respective generating facility and are charged to depreciation and amortization expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Included in other intangible assets are emissions allowances related to the Dickerson and Morgantown generating facilities leased by the Company. Emissions allowances related to leased generating facilities are

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

recorded at fair value at the commencement of the lease. These emissions allowances are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease for leased generating facilities, and are charged to depreciation and amortization expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

As a result of the capital expenditures Mirant is incurring to comply with the requirements of the Maryland Healthy Air Act, the Company anticipates that it will have significant excess SO2 and NOx emissions allowances in future periods. The Company plans to continue to maintain some SO2 and NOx emissions allowances in excess of expected generation in case its actual generation exceeds its current forecasts for future periods and for possible future additions of generating capacity. During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company began a program to sell excess SO2 and NOx emissions allowances dependent upon market conditions.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, which includes materials, labor, associated payroll-related and overhead costs and the cost of financing construction. The cost of routine maintenance and repairs, such as inspections and corrosion removal, and the replacement of minor items of property are charged to expense as incurred. Certain expenditures incurred during a major maintenance outage of a generating facility are capitalized, including the replacement of major component parts and labor and overhead incurred to install the parts. Depreciation of the recorded cost of depreciable property, plant and equipment is determined using primarily composite rates. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the expected life of the related equipment or the lease term. Upon the retirement or sale of property, plant and equipment, the cost of such assets and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from the consolidated balance sheets. No gain or loss is recognized for ordinary retirements in the normal course of business since the composite depreciation rates used by Mirant take into account the effect of interim retirements.

Capitalization of Interest Cost

Mirant capitalizes interest on projects during their construction period. The Company determines which debt instruments represent a reasonable measure of the cost of financing construction in terms of interest costs incurred that otherwise could have been avoided. These debt instruments and associated interest costs are included in the calculation of the weighted average interest rate used for determining the capitalization rate. Once a project is placed in service, capitalized interest, as a component of the total cost of the construction, is amortized over the estimated useful life of the asset constructed. For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Company incurred the following interest costs (in millions):

	Years	Ended Decem	ıber 31,
	2008	2007	2006
Total interest costs	\$ 237	\$ 272	\$ 298
Capitalized and included in property, plant and equipment, net	(48)	(25)	(9)
Interest expense	\$ 189	\$ 247	\$ 289

The amounts of capitalized interest above include interest accrued. For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, cash paid for interest was \$223 million, \$374 million and \$378 million, respectively, of which \$48 million, \$28 million and \$6 million, respectively, was capitalized.

Development Costs

Mirant capitalizes project development costs for generating facilities once it is probable that the project will be completed. These costs include professional fees, permits and other third party costs directly associated with the development of a new project. The capitalized costs are depreciated over the life of the asset or charged to operating expense if the completion of the project is no longer probable. Project development costs are expensed when incurred until the probable threshold is met.

Operating Leases

Mirant leases various assets under non-cancelable leasing arrangements, including generating facilities, office space and other equipment. The rent expense associated with leases that qualify as operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term within operations and maintenance expense in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company s most significant operating leases are Mirant Mid-Atlantic s leases of the Dickerson and Morgantown baseload units, which expire in 2029 and 2034, respectively. Mirant has an option to extend these leases. Any extensions of the respective leases would be for less than 75% of the economic useful life of the facility, as measured from the beginning of the original lease term through the end of the proposed remaining lease term. As of December 31, 2008, the total notional minimum lease payments for the remaining terms of the leases of the Dickerson and Morgantown baseload units of Dickerson and Morgantown are included as leasehold improvements in property, plant and equipment on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Payments made under the terms of the lease agreement in excess of the amount of lease expense recognized are recorded as prepaid rent in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Prepaid rent attributable to periods beyond one year is included in noncurrent assets.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets relate primarily to trading rights, development rights and emissions allowances. Intangible assets with definite useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis to their estimated residual values over their respective useful lives ranging up to 40 years.

Investments

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company completed the sales of investments described below. The related gains are recorded in gain on sales of investments, net in the consolidated statements of operations.

Equity Investment in InterContinental Exchange. The Company sold its remaining investment in InterContinental Exchange for \$58 million and realized a gain of \$54 million.

NYMEX Seats. The Company sold its investment of two seats and shares on the NYMEX for \$20 million and recognized a gain of \$19 million.

Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs are capitalized and amortized as interest expense on a basis that approximates the effective interest method over the term of the related debt.

Income Taxes and Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

SFAS 109 requires that a valuation allowance be established when it is more-likely-than-not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent

upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences are deductible. In making this determination, management considers all available positive and negative evidence affecting specific deferred tax assets, including the Company s past and anticipated future performance, the reversal of deferred tax liabilities and the implementation of tax planning strategies.

Objective positive evidence is necessary to support a conclusion that a valuation allowance is not needed for all or a portion of deferred tax assets when significant negative evidence exists. The Company thinks that future sources of taxable income, reversing temporary differences and implemented tax planning strategies will be sufficient to realize deferred tax assets for which no valuation allowance has been established. A portion of the Company s NOLs (approximately \$341 million) is attributable to excess tax deductions primarily related to bankruptcy transactions. The recognition of the tax benefit of these excess tax deductions, either through realization or reduction of the valuation allowance, will be an increase to additional paid-in-capital in stockholders equity. These NOLs will be the last utilized for financial reporting purposes. Additionally, the Company s valuation allowance includes \$35 million relating to the tax effects of other comprehensive income items primarily related to employee benefits. These other comprehensive income items will be reduced in the event that the valuation allowance is no longer required.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Mirant evaluates long-lived assets, such as property, plant and equipment and purchased intangible assets subject to amortization, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. Such evaluations are performed in accordance with SFAS 144. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. Assets to be disposed of are separately presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are not depreciated. The assets and liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately in the appropriate asset and liability sections of the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income applicable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock and dilutive potential common shares, including common shares from warrants, restricted stock shares, restricted stock units and stock options using the treasury stock method.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

SFAS 107 requires the disclosure of the fair value of all financial instruments that are not otherwise recorded at fair value in the financial statements. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, financial instruments recorded at contractual amounts that approximate fair value include cash and cash equivalents, funds on deposit, customer accounts receivable, notes receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The fair values of such items are not materially sensitive to shifts in market interest rates because of the short term to maturity of these instruments. The fair value of the Company s long-term debt is estimated using quoted market prices when available.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

SFAS 157. On September 15, 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, which established a framework for measuring fair value under GAAP and expanded its disclosure about fair value measurement. SFAS 157 required

companies to disclose the fair value of their financial instruments according to a fair value hierarchy (i.e., Levels 1, 2 and 3, as defined). Additionally, companies are required to provide enhanced disclosure regarding fair value measurements in the Level 3 category, including a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances separately for each major category of assets and liabilities accounted for at fair value. SFAS 157 was effective at the beginning of the first fiscal year after November 15, 2007. Mirant adopted the provisions of SFAS 157 on January 1, 2008, for financial instruments and nonfinancial assets and liabilities recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis.

SFAS 157 clarified that fair value should be measured at the exit price, which is the price to sell an asset or transfer a liability. The exit price may or may not equal the transaction price and the exit price objective applies regardless of a company s intent or ability to sell the asset or transfer the liability at the measurement date. The Company historically measured fair value using the approximate mid-point of the bid and ask prices. Upon adoption of SFAS 157, the Company began measuring fair value based on the bid or ask price from independent broker quotes for its derivative contract assets and liabilities in accordance with the exit price objective.

SFAS 157 also (a) clarified that non-performance risk, including an issuer s credit standing, should be considered when measuring liabilities at fair value, (b) precludes the use of a block discount when measuring instruments traded in an actively quoted market at fair value and (c) requires costs relating to acquiring instruments carried at fair value to be recognized as expense when incurred. SFAS 157 requires that a fair value measurement reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability based on the best available information.

SFAS 157 nullified a portion of the guidance in EITF 02-3. Under EITF 02-3, the transaction price presumption prohibited recognition of a day one gain or loss at the inception of a derivative contract unless the fair value of that derivative was substantially based on quoted prices or a valuation process incorporating observable inputs. Day one gains or losses on transactions that had been deferred under EITF 02-3 were recognized in the period that valuation inputs became observable or when the contract performed.

The provisions of SFAS 157 are applied prospectively, except for the initial effect on three specific items: (1) changes in fair value measurements of existing derivative financial instruments measured initially using the transaction price presumption under EITF 02-3, (2) existing hybrid financial instruments measured initially at fair value using the transaction price and (3) blockage factor discounts. Adjustments to these items required under SFAS 157 are recorded as a transition adjustment to beginning retained earnings in the year of adoption. Upon adoption of SFAS 157, the Company recognized a gain of approximately \$1 million as a cumulative-effect adjustment to accumulated deficit on January 1, 2008. The cumulative-effect adjustment relates entirely to the recognition of inception gains and losses formerly deferred under EITF 02-3. See Note 4 for further discussion of SFAS 157.

FSP FAS 157-3. On October 10, 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-3, which clarifies the application of SFAS 157 in determining the fair value of a financial asset when the market for that asset is not active. FSP FAS 157-3 provides clarity in determining the fair value of a financial asset in a dislocated market, including the use of internal assumptions when relevant observable market inputs do not exist. Additionally, it clarified that the use of broker quotes in a market that is not active may not be the best indication of fair value, and that the nature of the quote should also be considered in the fair value measurement. FSP FAS 157-3 is effective immediately, including with respect to prior periods for which financial statements have not been issued. The Company adopted FSP FAS 157-3 effective September 30, 2008. The adoption of FSP FAS 157-3 did not affect the Company s statements of operations, financial position or cash flows.

SFAS 159. On February 15, 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 159, which permitted an entity to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value by electing a fair value option. Once elected, the fair value option may be applied on an instrument by instrument basis, is irrevocable and is applied only to entire instruments. SFAS 159 also requires companies with trading and available-for-sale securities to report the

unrealized gains and losses for which the fair value option has been elected within earnings for the period presented. SFAS 159 was effective at the beginning of the first fiscal year after November 15, 2007. The Company adopted SFAS 159 on January 1, 2008. The adoption of SFAS 159 did not affect the Company statements of operations, financial position or cash flows because the Company did not elect the fair value option for any of its financial instruments.

FSP FIN 39-1. On April 30, 2007, the FASB issued FSP FIN 39-1, which amended FIN 39, to indicate that the following fair value amounts could be offset against each other if certain conditions of FIN 39 are otherwise met: (a) those recognized for derivative financial instruments executed with the same counterparty under a master netting arrangement and (b) those recognized for the right to reclaim cash collateral (a receivable) or the obligation to return cash collateral (a payable) arising from the same master netting arrangement as the derivative instruments. In addition, a reporting entity is not precluded from offsetting the derivative financial instruments if it determines that the amount recognized upon payment or receipt of cash collateral is not a fair value amount. FSP FIN 39-1 was effective at the beginning of the first fiscal year after November 15, 2007. In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS 161 which, upon adoption, requires the presentation of disclosures for derivative instruments on a gross basis. In SFAS 161, the FASB expressed the view that disclosing the fair value amounts of derivative instruments on a gross basis provides better information about how companies are managing risks. As a result, the Company reevaluated its policy related to the net presentation of the derivative contract assets and liabilities and related receivables and payables subject to master netting agreements. The Company elected to discontinue the net presentation of assets and liabilities subject to master netting agreements upon adoption of FSP FIN 39-1 on January 1, 2008. As required by FSP FIN 39-1, amounts at December 31, 2007, are also presented on a gross basis in the consolidated balance sheet for consistent presentation. As a result, total assets and total liabilities as of December 31, 2007, both increased by \$1.086 billion. The change to gross presentation had no effect on net income, earnings per share or stockholders equity.

The following table sets forth the amounts as previously reported and the currently reported amounts at December 31, 2007 (in millions):

	(as p	per 31, 2007 reviously ported)	tment for resentation	(as cu	er 31, 2007 urrently orted)
Receivables, net	\$	297	\$ 292	\$	589
Derivative contract assets, current		173	514		687
Derivative contract assets, noncurrent		30	123		153
Deferred income taxes, noncurrent		83	157		240
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	\$	426	\$ 292	\$	718
Derivative contract liabilities, current		196	513		709
Deferred income taxes, current		83	157		240
Derivative contract liabilities, noncurrent		137	124		261

At December 31, 2008, the Company had approximately \$1 million of cash collateral posted with counterparties under master netting agreements that was included in funds on deposit on the consolidated balance sheet. In addition, approximately \$20 million of cash collateral payable to counterparties under master netting agreements was included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

SAB 110. On December 21, 2007, the SEC issued SAB 110, which amended SAB 107 to allow for the continued use of the simplified method to estimate the expected term in valuing stock options beyond December 31, 2007. The simplified method can only be applied to certain types of stock options for which sufficient exercise history is not available. The Company adopted SAB 110 on January 1, 2008, and will continue to use the simplified method until it has sufficient exercise history.

SFAS 158. On September 29, 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 158, which includes the requirement to measure postretirement plan assets and benefit obligations as of the date of the employer s fiscal year-end

statement. This requirement is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008. The Company used a September 30 measurement date in 2007 and prior years and transitioned to a fiscal year-end measurement date at December 31, 2008. Mirant elected to use the alternative transition method under SFAS 158. This election resulted in an increase to accumulated deficit of approximately \$2 million in 2008 that represents approximately one quarter of the annual net periodic benefit cost recognized in 2008.

New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted at December 31, 2008

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 141R, which requires an acquirer to recognize the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at their acquisition-date fair values. SFAS 141R also requires disclosure of information necessary for investors and other users to evaluate and understand the nature and financial effect of the business combination. Additionally, SFAS 141R requires that acquisition-related costs be expensed as incurred. The provisions of SFAS 141R became effective for acquisitions completed on or after January 1, 2009; however, the income tax considerations included in SFAS 141R were effective as of that date for all acquisitions, regardless of the acquisition date. The Company adopted SFAS 141R on January 1, 2009. The adoption of SFAS 141R had no effect on the Company s statements of operations, financial position or cash flows.

On February 12, 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-2, which defers the effective date of SFAS 157 for one year for certain nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, with the exception of those assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed on a recurring basis (at least annually). The Company s non-recurring nonfinancial assets and liabilities that could be measured at fair value in the Company s financial statements include long-lived asset impairments and the initial recognition of asset retirement obligations. The Company adopted FSP FAS 157-2 on January 1, 2009, and the adoption had no effect on the Company s statements of operations, financial position or cash flows. The Company will incorporate the recognition and disclosure provisions of SFAS 157 for fair value measurements for non-recurring nonfinancial assets and liabilities in future filings.

On March 19, 2008, the FASB issued SFAS 161, which amends SFAS 133 to enhance the required disclosures for derivative instruments and hedging activities. The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to commodity price risks and changes in conversion spreads and for its proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities. The Company adopted SFAS 161 on January 1, 2009, and expects to modify the presentation of the quantitative information included in its note disclosures in order to differentiate among asset management, proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities and their effect on the Company s financial statements in the Company s Form 10-Q for the first quarter of 2009.

On December 30, 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 132R-1, which requires enhanced disclosures about plan assets of an employer s defined benefit pension or other postretirement plan. FSP FAS 132R-1 will require additional information on how the fair value of plan assets is measured, including a reconciliation of beginning and ending balances for Level 3 inputs and the valuation techniques used to measure fair value. FSP FAS 132R-1 is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2009. The Company will adopt FSP FAS 132R-1 for its defined benefit and other postretirement plans disclosures in its Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009. The Company is currently evaluating the potential effect of adopting FSP FAS 132R-1 on its disclosures in the Company s consolidated financial statements.

3. Accounts Receivable and Notes Receivable

Receivables consisted of the following at December 31, 2008 and 2007 (in millions):

	At Dece 2008	ember 31, 2007
Customer accounts	\$ 751	\$ 542
Notes receivable	5	13
Other	18	64
Less: allowance for uncollectible accounts	(3)	(14)
Total receivables	771	605
Less: long-term receivables included in other long-term assets	(10)	(16)
Total current receivables	\$ 761	\$ 589

4. Financial Instruments

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company, through its asset management activities, enters into a variety of exchange-traded and OTC energy and energy-related derivative financial instruments, such as forward contracts, futures contracts, option contracts and financial swap agreements to manage exposure to commodity price risks and changes in conversion spreads. These contracts have varying terms and durations which range from a few days to years, depending on the instrument. The Company s proprietary trading activities also utilize similar contracts in markets where the Company has a physical presence to attempt to generate incremental gross margin.

Adoption of SFAS 157

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted SFAS 157 as discussed in Note 2, which, among other things, requires enhanced disclosures about assets and liabilities carried at fair value. SFAS 157 clarifies that fair value should be measured at the exit price, which is the price to sell an asset or transfer a liability. In applying the exit price objective upon adoption of SFAS 157, the Company measures fair value based on the bid or ask price from independent broker quotes for its derivative contract assets and liabilities.

Derivative financial instruments are recorded at their estimated fair value in the Company s accompanying consolidated balance sheets as derivative contract assets and liabilities except for certain transactions that qualify for the normal purchases or normal sales exception election that allows for accrual accounting treatment. As defined in SFAS 157, fair value is the price that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Company utilizes certain assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk and/or the risks inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique. These inputs can be readily observable, market-corroborated or generally unobservable. The Company utilizes valuation techniques that attempt to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The determination of the fair values considers various factors, including closing exchange or OTC market price quotations, time value, credit quality, liquidity and volatility factors underlying options and contracts. The fair value of certain derivative financial instruments is estimated using pricing models based on contracts with similar terms and risks. Modeling techniques assume market correlation and volatility, such as using the prices of one delivery point to calculate the price of the contract s different delivery point. The nominal value of the transaction is discounted using a LIBOR forward interest rate curve. In addition, by applying a credit reserve which is calculated based on credit default swaps or published default probabilities for the actual and potential asset value, the fair value of Mirant s derivative financial instruments reflects the risk that the counterparties to these contracts may default on the obligations. Likewise, by applying a reserve for non-performance which is calculated based on the probability of Mirant defaulting, Mirant adjusts its derivative contract liabilities to reflect the price at which a potential market participant would be willing to assume Mirant s liabilities.

Changes in the fair value and settlements of derivative financial instruments used to hedge electricity economically are reflected in operating revenue and changes in the fair value and settlements of derivative financial instruments used to hedge fuel economically are reflected in cost of fuel, electricity and other products in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Changes in the fair value and settlements of derivative financial instruments are recorded on a net basis as operating revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of J, 2008, the Company does not have any derivative financial instruments for which hedge accounting, as defined by SFAS 133, has been elected.

Fair Value Hierarchy

Based on the observability of the inputs used in the valuation techniques for fair value measurement, the Company is required to classify recorded fair value measurements according to the fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy ranks the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurement). The fair value measurement inputs Mirant uses vary from readily observable prices for exchange-traded instruments to price curves that cannot be validated through external pricing sources. Mirant s financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value in the financial statements are classified in three categories based on the inputs used. The high-level guidelines described below are used to determine the appropriate classification of inputs within the fair value hierarchy.

Level 1 inputs Unadjusted quoted prices available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access and transact upon as of the reporting date. Active markets are those in which transactions for the asset or liability occur in sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. Level 1 primarily consists of natural gas and crude oil futures traded on the NYMEX and swaps cleared against NYMEX prices.

Level 2 inputs Pricing inputs other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reported date. Level 2 includes those financial instruments that are valued using quotes from independent brokers or other valuation methodologies. These include widely-accepted methodologies that consider various assumptions, including quoted forward prices for commodities, time value, volatility factors and current market and contractual prices for the underlying instruments, as well as other relevant economic measures. Substantially all of these assumptions are observable in the marketplace throughout the full term of the instrument, can be derived from observable data or are supported by observable levels at which transactions are executed in the marketplace. Instruments in this category include non-exchange-traded derivatives such as OTC forwards, swaps and options.

Level 3 inputs Pricing inputs that are generally less observable than those from objective sources. These inputs may be used with internally developed methodologies or methodologies utilizing significant inputs that represent management s best estimate of fair value. Level 3 instruments include those that may be more structured or otherwise tailored. Inputs such as assumptions for market prices, supply and demand market data, correlation and volatility are used for modeling with internally developed methodologies or methodologies utilizing significant inputs that represent management s best estimate of fair value. At each balance sheet date, the Company performs an analysis of all instruments subject to SFAS 157 and includes in Level 3 all those whose fair value is based on significant unobservable inputs.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement in its entirety falls must be determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and considers factors specific to the asset or liability.

The following tables set forth by level within the fair value hierarchy the Company s financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2008, by category and tenor, respectively. At December 31, 2008, the Company s only financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are derivative financial instruments.

The following table presents financial assets and liabilities, net accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2008, by category (in millions):

	Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Instruments (Level 1)		Ob: I	Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)		Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)		Total	
Total assets	\$	545	\$	2,575	\$	47		3,167	
Total liabilities		(561)		(1,950)		(1)	((2,512)	
Total	\$	(16)	\$	625	\$	46	\$	655	

The following table presents financial assets and liabilities, net accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2008, by tenor (in millions):

	A M for 1 Inst	Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Instruments (I evel 1)		Active Significant Markets Other Significant for Identical Observable Unobservabl			servable puts	Total
2009	\$	(16)	\$	286	\$	45	\$ 315	
2010				81		1	82	
2011				35			35	
2012				37			37	
2013				86			86	
Thereafter				100			100	
Total	\$	(16)	\$	625	\$	46	\$ 655	

The volumetric weighted average maturity, or weighted average tenor, of the derivative contract portfolio at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, was approximately 23 months and 12 months, respectively. The net notional amount, or net short position, of the derivative contract assets and liabilities at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, was approximately 42 million equivalent MWh and 26 million equivalent MWh, respectively.

Level 3 Disclosures

The following tables present a roll forward of fair values of assets and liabilities, net categorized in Level 3 and the amount included in earnings for the year ended December 31, 2008 (in millions):

Fair value of assets and liabilities categorized in Level 3 at January 1, 2008	\$12
Total gains or losses (realized/unrealized):	
Included in earnings of existing contracts (or changes in net assets or liabilities) ⁽¹⁾	(4)
Purchases, issuances and settlements ⁽²⁾	21

Transfers in and /or out of Level 3⁽³⁾

Fair value of assets and liabilities categorized in Level 3 at December 31, 2008

(1) Reflects the total gains or losses on contracts included in Level 3 at the beginning of each quarterly reporting period and at the end of each quarterly reporting period that remain at the end of each quarterly reporting period.

\$46

- ⁽²⁾ Represents the total cash settlements of contracts during each quarterly reporting period that existed at the beginning of each quarterly reporting period.
- (3) Denotes the total contracts that existed at the beginning of each quarterly reporting period and were still held at the end of each quarterly reporting period that were either previously categorized as a higher level for which the inputs to the model became unobservable or assets and liabilities that were previously classified as Level 3 for which the lowest significant input became observable during each quarterly reporting period. Amounts reflect fair value as of the end of each quarterly reporting period.

	Year Ended December 31, 2		
	Operating	Cost of	
	Revenues	Fuel	Total
Gains (losses) included in earnings	\$ 46	\$ (12)	\$ 34
Gains (losses) included in earnings (or changes in net assets) attributable to the change in unrealized gains			
or losses relating to assets still held at December 31, 2008	\$ 52	\$ (7)	\$ 45
Fair Values of Other Financial Instruments			

Other financial instruments recorded at fair value include cash and interest-bearing cash equivalents. The following methods are used by Mirant to estimate the fair value of financial instruments that are not otherwise carried at fair value on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets:

Notes and Other Receivables. The fair value of Mirant s notes receivable are estimated using interest rates it would receive currently for similar types of arrangements.

Long- and Short-Term Debt. The fair value of Mirant s long- and short-term debt is estimated using quoted market prices, when available.

The carrying amounts and fair values of Mirant s financial instruments at December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows (in millions):

	December 31,				
	2	008	2007		
	Carrying Amount Fair Value		Carrying Amount	Fair Value	
Liabilities:					
Long- and short-term debt	\$ 2,676	\$ 2,345	\$ 3,095	\$ 3,009	
Other:					
Notes and other receivables	\$ 13	\$ 12	\$ 20	\$ 24	

5. Long-Lived Assets

Property, plant and equipment, net consisted of the following at December 31, 2008 and 2007 (dollars in millions):

	At December 31,		Depreciable	
	2008	2007	Lives (years)	
Production	\$ 2,412	\$ 2,234	14 to 46	
Leasehold improvements on leased generating facilities	405	214	5 to 34	
Construction work in progress	997	645		
Other	236	219	2 to 12	
Less: accumulated depreciation, amortization and provision for impairment	(835)	(722)		
Total property, plant and equipment, net	\$ 3,215	\$ 2,590		

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

Depreciation of the recorded cost of property, plant and equipment is recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Acquired emissions allowances related to owned facilities are included in production assets above, and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the average life of the related generating facilities. Depreciation expense was approximately \$135 million, \$121 million and \$129 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Intangible Assets, net

Following is a summary of intangible assets at December 31, 2008 and 2007 (dollars in millions):

	Weighted Average	At December 31, 2008 Gross			At December 31, 200 Gross		
	Amortization Lives	Carrying Amount		mulated tization	Carrying Amount		mulated tization
Trading rights	26 years	\$ 27	\$	(6)	\$ 27	\$	(5)
Development rights	38 years	62		(12)	62		(11)
Emissions allowances	31 years	150		(34)	151		(29)
Other intangibles	27 years	14		(5)	14		(3)
Total intangible assets		\$ 253	\$	(57)	\$ 254	\$	(48)

Trading rights are intangible assets recognized in connection with asset purchases that represent the Company s ability to generate additional cash flows by incorporating Mirant s trading activities with the acquired generating facilities.

Development rights represent the right to expand capacity at certain acquired generating facilities. The existing infrastructure, including storage facilities, transmission interconnections and fuel delivery systems and contractual rights acquired by Mirant, provide the opportunity to expand or repower certain generating facilities.

Emissions allowances represent allowances granted for the leasehold baseload units at the Dickerson and Morgantown facilities.

Amortization expense was approximately \$9 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, and \$8 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. Assuming no future acquisitions, dispositions or impairments of intangible assets, amortization expense is estimated to be approximately \$9 million for each of the next five years.

Impairments on Assets Held and Used

In accordance with SFAS 144, an asset classified as held and used shall be tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. An asset impairment charge must be recognized if the sum of the undiscounted expected future cash flows from a long-lived asset is less than the carrying value of that asset. The amount of any impairment charge is calculated as the excess of the carrying value of the asset over its fair value. Fair value is estimated based on the discounted future cash flows from that asset or determined by other valuation techniques.

In 2000, the State of New York issued an NOV to the previous owner of the Company s Lovett facility alleging NSR violations associated with the operation of that facility prior to its acquisition by the Company. On June 11, 2003, Mirant New York, Mirant Lovett and the State of New York entered into a consent decree (the 2003 Consent Decree). The 2003 Consent Decree was approved by the Bankruptcy Court on October 15, 2003. Under the 2003 Consent Decree, Mirant Lovett had three options: (1) install emissions controls on the Lovett facility s two coal-fired units (units 4 and 5); (2) shut down unit 4 and convert unit 5 to natural gas; or (3) shut down unit 5 in 2007 and unit 4 in 2008. The Company concluded that the installation of the required emissions controls was uneconomic. The Company also concluded that operating unit 5 on natural gas was uneconomic.

On October 19, 2006, Mirant Lovett notified the New York Public Service Commission, the NYISO, Orange and Rockland and certain other affected transmission and distribution companies in New York of its intent to discontinue operation of units 3 and 5 of the Lovett facility in April 2007.

On May 10, 2007, Mirant Lovett entered into an amendment to the 2003 Consent Decree with the State of New York that switched the deadlines for shutting down units 4 and 5 so that the deadline for compliance by unit 5 was extended until April 30, 2008, and the deadline for unit 4 was shortened. The Company discontinued operation of unit 4 as of May 7, 2007. In addition, the Company discontinued operation of unit 3 because it was uneconomic to run the unit.

In the second quarter of 2007, the Company performed an impairment analysis of the Lovett facility and, as a result of this analysis, recorded an impairment loss of \$175 million to reduce the carrying value of the Lovett facility to its estimated fair value. The carrying value of the Lovett facility prior to the impairment was approximately \$185 million. The remaining depreciable life for the Lovett facility was also adjusted to April 30, 2008, based on the high likelihood of a shutdown of unit 5 on that date.

On October 20, 2007, Mirant Lovett submitted notices of its intent to discontinue operations of unit 5 of the Lovett generating facility as of midnight on April 19, 2008, to the New York Public Service Commission, the NYISO, Orange and Rockland and several other potentially affected transmission and distribution companies in New York. The Company ceased operation of unit 5 on April 19, 2008, and has substantially completed the demolition of the Lovett facility.

In 2006, the Company s assessment of the Bowline unit 3 suspended construction project resulted in the conclusion that the Bowline unit 3 project as configured and permitted was not economically viable. As a result of this conclusion, the Company determined the estimated value of the equipment and project termination liabilities. At December 31, 2006, the carrying value of the development and construction costs for Bowline unit 3 exceeded the estimated undiscounted cash flows from the abandonment of the project. The Company recorded an impairment of \$120 million, which is reflected in impairment losses on the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2006.

6. Long-term Debt

Long-term debt at December 31, 2008 and 2007 was as follows (in millions):

	At Dec 2008	ember 31, 2007	Interest Rate	Secured/ Unsecured
Long-term debt:				
Mirant Americas Generation:				
Senior notes:				
Due 2011	\$ 535	\$ 811	8.30%	Unsecured
Due 2021	450	450	8.50%	Unsecured
Due 2031	400	400	9.125%	Unsecured
Unamortized debt premium/discount	(3)	(3)		
Mirant North America:				
Senior secured term loan, due 2009 to 2013	415	555	LIBOR + 1.75%	Secured
Senior notes, due 2013.	850	850	7.375%	Unsecured
Capital leases, due 2009 to 2015	29	32	7.375% -8.19%	
Total	2,676	3,095		
Less: current portion of long-term debt	(46)	(142)		
Total long-term debt, excluding current portion	\$ 2,630	\$ 2,953		

Mirant Americas Generation Senior Notes

The senior notes are senior unsecured obligations of Mirant Americas Generation having no recourse to any subsidiary or affiliate of Mirant Americas Generation. In the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company purchased and retired \$276 million and \$39 million, respectively, of Mirant Americas Generation senior notes due in 2011.

Mirant North America Senior Secured Credit Facilities

Mirant North America, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Mirant Americas Generation, entered into senior secured credit facilities in January 2006, which are comprised of a senior secured term loan and a senior secured revolving credit facility. The senior secured term loan had an initial principal balance of \$700 million, which has amortized to \$415 million as of December 31, 2008. At the closing, \$200 million drawn under the senior secured term loan was deposited into a cash collateral account to support the issuance of up to \$200 million of letters of credit. Although the senior secured revolving credit facility has lender commitments of \$800 million, availability thereunder reflects a \$45 million reduction as a result of the expectation that Lehman Commercial Paper, Inc., which filed for bankruptcy in October 2008, will not honor its \$45 million commitment under the facility. During the year ended December 31, 2008, Mirant North America transferred to the senior secured revolving credit facility approximately \$78 million of letters of credit previously supported by the cash collateral account and withdrew approximately \$78 million from the cash collateral account, thereby reducing the cash collateral account to approximately \$122 million. At December 31, 2008, there were approximately \$172 million of letters of credit outstanding under the senior secured revolving credit facility. At December 31, 2008, a total of \$583 million was available under the senior secured revolving credit facility and the senior secured term loan for cash draws or for the issuance of letters of credit.

In addition to quarterly principal installments of \$1.32 million, Mirant North America is required to make annual principal prepayments under the senior secured term loan equal to a specified percentage of its excess free cash flow, which is based on adjusted EBITDA less capital expenditures and as further defined in the loan agreement. On March 19, 2008, Mirant North America made a mandatory principal prepayment of approximately \$135 million on the term loan. At December 31, 2008, the current estimate of the mandatory principal prepayment of the term loan in March 2009 is approximately \$37 million. This amount has been reclassified from long-term debt to current portion of long-term debt at December 31, 2008. The primary causes of the difference between the March 2008 prepayment and the expected March 2009 prepayment are lower adjusted EBITDA and higher capital expenditures in 2008 compared to 2007.

The senior secured credit facilities are senior secured obligations of Mirant North America. In addition, certain subsidiaries of Mirant North America (not including Mirant Mid-Atlantic or Mirant Energy Trading) have jointly and severally guaranteed, as senior secured obligations, the senior secured credit facilities. The senior secured credit facilities have no recourse to any other Mirant entities.

Mirant North America Senior Notes

In December 2005, Mirant North America issued senior notes in an aggregate principal amount of \$850 million that bear interest at 7.375% and mature on December 31, 2013. The original senior notes were issued in a private placement and were not registered with the SEC. The proceeds of the original senior notes offering initially were placed in escrow pending the emergence of Mirant North America from bankruptcy. The proceeds were released from escrow in connection with Mirant North America s emergence from bankruptcy and the closing of the senior secured credit facilities.

In connection with the issuance of the original senior notes, Mirant North America entered into a registration rights agreement under which it agreed to complete an exchange offer for the original senior notes. On June 29, 2006, Mirant North America completed its registration under the Securities Act of \$850 million of

the senior notes and initiated the exchange offer. The exchange offer was completed on August 4, 2006, with \$849.965 million of the outstanding original senior notes being tendered for the senior notes. The terms of the senior notes are identical in all material respects to the terms of the original senior notes, except that the senior notes are registered under the Securities Act and generally are not subject to transfer restrictions or registration rights.

Interest on the notes is payable on each June 30 and December 31. The senior notes are senior unsecured obligations of Mirant North America. In addition, certain subsidiaries of Mirant North America (not including Mirant Mid-Atlantic or Mirant Energy Trading) have jointly and severally guaranteed, as senior unsecured obligations, the senior notes. The Mirant North America senior notes have no recourse to any other Mirant entities. The notes are redeemable at the option of Mirant North America, in whole or in part, at any time prior to December 31, 2009, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, plus a make-whole premium. At any time on or after December 31, 2009, Mirant North America may redeem the notes at specified redemption prices, together with accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of redemption. Under the terms of the notes at a price equal to 101% of their principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of purchase all or a portion of the notes at a price equal to 101% of their principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of purchase. In addition, certain asset dispositions or casualty events will be triggering events which may require Mirant North America to use the proceeds from those asset dispositions or casualty events to make an offer to purchase the notes at 100% of their principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of purchase the notes at specified redenges or casualty events will be triggering events which may require Mirant North America to use the proceeds from those asset dispositions or casualty events to make an offer to purchase the notes at 100% of their principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of purchase the notes at committee to be used, within certain time periods, to repay senior secured indebtedness, to repay indebtedness under the senior secured credit facilities (with a corresponding r

Capital Leases

Long-term debt includes a capital lease by Mirant Chalk Point. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the current portion of the long-term debt under this capital lease was \$3 million. The amount outstanding under the capital lease, which matures in 2015, is \$28 million with an 8.19% annual interest rate. This lease is of an 84 MW peaking electric power generating facility. Depreciation expense related to this lease was approximately \$2 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006. The annual principal payments under this lease are approximately \$3 million in 2009 and 2010, \$4 million in 2011 and 2012, \$5 million in 2013 and \$9 million thereafter. The gross amount of assets under the capital lease, recorded in property, plant and equipment, net, was \$24 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007. The related accumulated depreciation was \$13 million and \$12 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Debt Maturities

At December 31, 2008, the annual scheduled maturities of debt during the next five years and thereafter were as follows (in millions):

2009	\$	46
2010		9
2011		544
2012		8
2013	1	1,213
Thereafter		856
Total	\$ 2	2,676

With the exception of 2009, the annual scheduled maturities above do not include estimates of Mirant North America s required principal prepayments of its senior secured term loan based on its excess free cash flow.

Sources of Funds and Capital Structure

The principal sources of liquidity for the Company s future operations and capital expenditures are expected to be: (1) existing cash on hand and cash flows from the operations of the Company s subsidiaries; (2) letters of credit issued or borrowings made under Mirant North America s senior secured revolving credit facility; and (3) letters of credit issued under Mirant North America s senior secured term loan.

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries, including Mirant Americas Generation and Mirant North America, are holding companies and, as a result, the Company and such subsidiaries are dependent upon dividends, distributions and other payments from their respective subsidiaries to generate the funds necessary to meet their obligations. The ability of certain of the Company s subsidiaries to pay dividends and make distributions is restricted under the terms of their debt or other agreements. In particular, a substantial portion of the cash from the Company s operations is generated by Mirant Mid-Atlantic. The Mirant Mid-Atlantic leveraged leases contain a number of covenants, including limitations on dividends, distributions and other restricted payments. Under its leveraged leases, Mirant Mid-Atlantic is not permitted to make any dividends, distributions and other restricted payments unless: (1) it satisfies the fixed charge coverage ratio on a historical basis for the last period of four fiscal quarters; (2) it is projected to satisfy the fixed charge coverage ratio for the next two periods of four fiscal quarters; and (3) no significant lease default or event of default has occurred and is continuing. In the event of a default under the leveraged leases or if the restricted payment tests are not satisfied, Mirant Mid-Atlantic would not be able to distribute cash. Based on the Company s calculation of the fixed charge coverage ratios under the leveraged leases as of December 31, 2008, Mirant Mid-Atlantic meets the required 1.7 to 1.0 ratio for restricted payments, both on a historical and projected basis.

Mirant North America is an intermediate holding company that is a subsidiary of Mirant Americas Generation and the parent of its indirect subsidiaries, including Mirant Mid-Atlantic. Mirant North America incurred certain indebtedness pursuant to its senior notes and senior secured credit facilities secured by the assets of Mirant North America and its subsidiaries (other than Mirant Mid-Atlantic and Mirant Energy Trading). The indebtedness of Mirant North America includes certain covenants typical in such notes and credit facilities, including restrictions on dividends, distributions and other restricted payments. Further, the notes and senior secured credit facilities include financial covenants that will exclude from the calculation the financial results of any subsidiary that is unable to make distributions or pay dividends at the time of such calculation. Thus, the inability of Mirant Mid-Atlantic to make distributions to Mirant North America under the leveraged lease transaction would have a material adverse effect on the calculation of the financial covenants under the senior notes and senior secured credit facilities of Mirant North America, including the leverage and interest coverage maintenance covenants under its senior credit facility.

The ability of Mirant Americas Generation to pay its obligations is dependent on the receipt of dividends from Mirant North America, capital contributions from Mirant and its ability to refinance all or a portion of those obligations as they become due.

As described above, Mirant North America and Mirant Mid-Atlantic have restrictions on their ability to pay dividends or make intercompany loans and advances under their financing arrangements or other third party agreements. At December 31, 2008, Mirant North America had distributed to its parent, Mirant Americas Generation, all available cash that was permitted to be distributed under the terms of its debt agreements, leaving \$354 million at Mirant North America and its subsidiaries. Of this amount, \$125 million was held by Mirant Mid-Atlantic which, as of December 31, 2008, met the tests under the leveraged lease documentation permitting it to make distributions to Mirant North America. While Mirant North America is in compliance with its financial covenants, as of December 31, 2008, it is restricted from making distributions because of the free cash flow requirements under the restricted payment test of its senior credit facility. The primary factor lowering the free cash flow calculation in the restricted payment test is the significant capital expenditure program of Mirant Mid-Atlantic to install emissions controls at its Chalk Point, Dickerson and Morgantown coal-fired units to comply with the Maryland Healthy Air Act. Except for permitted distributions to cover interest payable on Mirant Americas Generation is senior notes, the \$3.883 billion of net assets of Mirant North America and its

subsidiaries were restricted from distribution from Mirant North America to its parent, Mirant Americas Generation, as of December 31, 2008. Notwithstanding such restriction, Mirant thinks that it will have sufficient liquidity for its future operations, capital expenditures and debt service obligations from existing cash on hand, expected cash flows from the operations of its subsidiaries and the ability to issue letters of credit or make borrowings under the Mirant North America senior credit facilities.

7. Income Taxes

Income from continuing operations before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was \$1.217 billion, \$442 million and \$1.202 billion, respectively.

The income tax provision (benefit) from continuing operations consisted of the following (in millions):

	Years Ended December 31,			
	2008	2007	2006	
Current income tax provision	\$ 2	\$9	\$ 2	
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)			(552)	
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	\$ 2	\$9	\$ (550)	

A reconciliation of the Company s federal statutory income tax provision to the effective income tax provision adjusted for permanent and other items for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, is as follows (in millions):

	Years Ended December 31,		
	2008	2007	2006
Provision (benefit) for income taxes based on United States federal statutory income			
tax rate	\$ 426	\$ 154	\$ 419
State and local income tax (benefit), net of federal income taxes	119	(95)	79
Discontinued operations	18	21	(64)
Return to provision adjustments:			
Professional fees during bankruptcy			65
Previously deferred intercompany gain			22
Foreign reorganization gain			83
Other		(86)	50
Effect of Internal Revenue Code Section §382(1)(6) and §382(1)(5)		(321)	297
Effect of implementing FIN 48		44	
Effect of other comprehensive income transactions	(35)		
Reorganization adjustments		(170)	
Taxes accrued on foreign earnings			16
Excess tax deductions related to bankruptcy transactions		(212)	(22)
Change in deferred tax asset valuation allowance	(528)	671	(1,513)
Other differences, net	2	3	18
Tax provision (benefit)	\$ 2	\$9	\$ (550)

The tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases which give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities for continuing operations are as follows (in millions):

	Dec 2008	ember 31, 2007
Deferred Tax Assets:	2000	2007
Employee benefits	\$ 96	\$ 64
Reserves	17	16
Loss carry forwards	1,355	1,464
Property and intangible assets	17	141
Derivative contracts		52
Other	77	88
Subtotal	1,562	1,825
Valuation allowance	(1,258)	(1,786)
Net deferred tax assets	304	39
Deferred Tax Liabilities:		
Derivative contracts	(267)	
Other	(37)	(39)
Net deferred tax liabilities	(304)	(39)
		(
Net deferred taxes	\$	\$

NOLs

As required by applicable accounting principles, an enterprise that anticipates the realization of a pre-tax gain must recognize the benefit or detriment of the deferred tax assets and liabilities associated with the transaction in the year in which it becomes more likely than not that the gain will be realized. In accordance with EITF 93-17, *Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for a Parent Company s Excess Tax Basis in the Stock of a Subsidiary that Is Accounted for as a Discontinued Operation*, the Company recognized a tax benefit in 2006 arising from and related solely to the sale of the Philippine business. Conversely, in 2007, the Company recognized an income tax provision of \$721 million that arose from and was specifically related to the sale of the Philippine business. The entire amount of this provision was recorded in income from discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2007.

As a result of changes in the Company s stock ownership, including the Company s repurchases of shares of its common stock since July 11, 2006, and the exercise of a significant number of warrants for Mirant common stock during 2008, in the third quarter, the Company experienced an ownership change within the meaning of Internal Revenue Code Section (§) 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The Company s annual limitation on the amount of taxable income that can be offset by the Company s then existing NOLs has been redetermined as of the date of the ownership change. The Company does not expect that the ability to offset future taxable income with existing NOLs under the redetermined annual limitation will be significantly different from the Company s ability to do so under the annual limitation prior to the ownership change that occurred in the third quarter of 2008. However, if the Company experiences another ownership change after December 31, 2008 at or near the Company s recent stock price levels, the redetermined annual limitation could be significantly lower and could result in the payment of cash taxes above the amount currently estimated for 2009. Beginning in 2010, tax planning strategies, including the election to amortize over five years the cost of the Company s pollution control equipment installed pursuant to the Maryland Healthy Air Act, would be available to reduce additional cash taxes.

The December 31, 2008, federal NOL carry forward for financial reporting was \$3.1 billion with expiration dates from 2022 to 2026. Similarly, there is an aggregate amount of \$5.3 billion of state NOL carry forwards with various expiration dates (based on the company s review of the application of apportionment factors and other state tax limitations).

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

SFAS 109 requires that a valuation allowance be established when it is more-likely-than-not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences are deductible. In making this determination, management considers all available positive and negative evidence affecting specific deferred tax assets, including the Company s past and anticipated future performance, the reversal of deferred tax liabilities and the implementation of tax planning strategies.

Objective positive evidence is necessary to support a conclusion that a valuation allowance is not needed for all or a portion of deferred tax assets when significant negative evidence exists. The Company evaluates this position quarterly and makes its judgment based on the facts and circumstances at that time. The Company thinks that future sources of taxable income, reversing temporary differences and implemented tax planning strategies will be sufficient to realize deferred tax assets for which no valuation allowance has been established.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company s deferred tax assets reduced by the valuation allowance are completely offset by its deferred tax liabilities. A portion of the Company s NOLs (approximately \$341 million) is attributable to tax deductions primarily related to transactions arising during the period that the Company was in bankruptcy. The recognition of the tax benefit of these bankruptcy period tax deductions, either through realization or reductions of the valuation allowance, will be an increase to additional paid-in-capital in stockholders equity. These NOLs will be the last utilized for financial reporting purposes. Additionally, the Company s valuation allowance includes \$35 million relating to the tax effects of other comprehensive income items primarily related to employee benefits. These other comprehensive income items will be reduced in the event that the valuation allowance is no longer required.

Tax Uncertainties

The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. Prior to adoption of FIN 48, Mirant recognized contingent liabilities related to tax uncertainties when it was probable that a loss had occurred and the loss or range of loss could be reasonably estimated. The recognition of contingent losses for tax uncertainties required management to make significant assumptions about the expected outcomes of certain tax contingencies. Under FIN 48, the Company must reflect in its income tax provision the full benefit of all positions that will be taken in the Company s income tax returns, except to the extent that such positions are uncertain and fall below the recognition requirements of FIN 48. In the event that the Company determines that a tax position meets the uncertainty criteria of FIN 48, an additional liability or an adjustment to the Company s NOLs, determined under the measurement criteria of FIN 48 will result. The Company periodically reassesses the tax positions in its tax returns for open years based on the latest information available and determines whether any portion of the tax benefits reflected should be treated as unrecognized. As a result of applying the criteria under FIN 48, for continuing operations, the Company recognized at adoption a decrease in accrued liabilities of \$61 million and an increase of \$26 million in taxes receivable. For discontinued operations, the adoption of FIN 48 was an increase in stockholders equity of \$117 million. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits for continuing operations is as follows (in millions):

	For the Ye Decem	
	2008	2007
Unrecognized tax benefits, January 1	\$ 15	\$ 13
Increases based on tax positions related to the current year		
Increases for tax positions for prior years		2
Settlements	(2)	
Lapse of statute of limitations		
Unrecognized tax benefits, December 31	\$ 13	\$ 15

The unrecognized tax benefits included the review of tax positions relating to open tax years beginning in 1999 and continuing to the present. The Company s major tax jurisdictions are the United States at the federal

level and multiple state jurisdictions. For United States federal income taxes, all tax years subsequent to 2004 remain open and for state income taxes, the earliest open year is 1999. However, both the federal and state NOL carry forwards from any closed year are subject to examination until the year that such NOL carry forwards are utilized and that year is closed for audit. The Company does not anticipate any significant changes in its unrecognized tax benefits over the next 12 months. Included in the balance at December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company had \$2 million and \$4 million, respectively, of unrecognized tax benefits that would affect the effective tax rate if they were recognized. The Company s tax provision includes an immaterial amount related to the accrual for any penalties and interest subsequent to its adoption of FIN 48.

8. Employee Benefit Plans Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

Mirant provides pension benefits to its non-union and union employees through various defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans. These benefits are based on pay, service history and age at retirement. Defined benefit pensions are not provided for non-union employees hired after April 1, 2000, who participate in a profit sharing arrangement. Most pension benefits are provided through tax-qualified plans that are funded in accordance with ERISA and Internal Revenue Service requirements. Certain executive pension benefits that cannot be provided by the tax-qualified plans are provided through unfunded non-tax-qualified plans. The measurement dates for the defined benefit plans were December 31 for 2008 and September 30 for 2007 and 2006.

Mirant also provides certain medical care and life insurance benefits for eligible retired employees which are accounted for on an accrual basis using an actuarial method that recognizes the net periodic costs as employees render service to earn the postretirement benefits. The measurement dates for these postretirement benefit plans were December 31 for 2008 and September 30 for 2007 and 2006.

During the fourth quarter of 2006, Mirant amended the postretirement benefit plan covering non-union employees to eliminate all employer provided subsidies through a gradual phase-out by 2011. As a result, Mirant recognized a reduction in other postretirement liabilities of \$32 million. Since the amendment occurred after the 2006 measurement date, the plan curtailment was recognized during the first quarter of 2007 as a reduction in operations and maintenance expense for the year ended December 31, 2007.

During the second quarter of 2008, Mirant severed certain employees as a result of the shutdown of the Lovett facility. As a result, the Company recognized a curtailment gain of approximately \$5 million for its pension and postretirement benefits plans which was reflected as a reduction of operations and maintenance expense for the year ended December 31, 2008.

SFAS 158 is designed to improve financial reporting by requiring an employer to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of pension, retiree medical and other postretirement benefit plans on its balance sheets rather than only disclosing the funded status in the financial statement footnotes. The Company adopted SFAS 158 on December 31, 2006, and recognized an increase in other noncurrent liabilities of \$21 million related to its underfunded defined benefit pension plans and recognized a decrease in other noncurrent liabilities of \$5 million related to its other postretirement benefit plans. Effective December 31, 2008, SFAS 158 also requires that companies measure the funded status of plans as of the year-end balance sheet date. Mirant historically used September 30 as the date to measure the funded status of its plans. SFAS 158 offered two transition methods for companies that did not use a year-end measurement date to transition to a December 31, 2008, measurement date. Mirant elected to use the alternative transition method under SFAS 158 for changing its measurement date, which resulted in an increase to the accumulated deficit of \$2 million and accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) of \$1 million as of January 1, 2008. Effective December 31, 2008, Mirant transitioned to a year-end measurement date for the funded status of its plans.

The following table shows the projected benefit obligations and funded status for the defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans of Mirant s continuing operations (in millions):

	Tax Qu Pension 2008		Non-Tax (Pension 2008	-	Otl Postreti Benefit 2008	irement
Change in benefit obligation:	2000	2007	2000	2007	2000	2007
Benefit obligation, beginning of year	\$ 243	\$ 244	\$9	\$9	\$57	\$ 107
Service cost	10	8			2	1
Interest cost	18	14			4	4
Amendments						(9)
Benefits paid	(11)	(8)			(3)	(2)
Curtailments	(1)				(2)	(32)
Actuarial (gain) loss	27	(15)			4	(12)
Benefit obligation, end of year	\$ 286	\$ 243	\$9	\$9	\$ 62	\$ 57
Change in plan assets:						
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year	\$ 205	\$151	\$	\$	\$	\$
Return on plan assets	(52)	21				
Employer contributions	64	41			3	2
Benefits paid	(11)	(8)			(3)	(2)
Fair value of plan assets, end of year	\$ 206	\$ 205	\$	\$	\$	\$
Funded Status:						
Underfunded at measurement date	\$ (80)	\$ (38)	\$ (9)	\$ (9)	\$ (62)	\$ (57)

The accumulated benefit obligation exceeded the fair value of plan assets at December 31, 2008 and 2007, for the tax qualified pension plans. The total accumulated benefit obligation as of December 31, 2008, was \$260 million. The total accumulated benefit obligation as of September 30, 2007, was \$213 million.

The discount rates used as of December 31, 2008 and September 30, 2007, were determined based on individual bond-matching models comprised of portfolios of high quality corporate bonds with projected cash flows and maturity dates reflecting the expected time horizon during which that benefit will be paid. Bonds included in the model portfolios are from a cross-section of different issuers, are AA-rated or better, and are non-callable so that the yield to maturity can actually be attained without intervening calls.

The weighted average assumptions used for measuring year-end pension and other postretirement benefit plan obligations as of their respective measurement dates were as follows:

	Pension Pla	ans	Other Postretirement Benefit Plans	
	2008	2007	2008	2007
count rate	5.40%	6.12%	5.37%	6.06%
te of compensation increases	3.37%	3.64%	3.00%	3.00%

Mirant assumed healthcare cost trend rates used for measuring year-end other postretirement benefit plan obligations as of their respective measurement dates were as follows:

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

	2008	2007
Assumed medical inflation for next year:		
Before age 65	8.50%	8.00%
Age 65 and after	8.50%	9.50%
Assumed ultimate medical inflation rate	5.00%	5.00%
Year in which ultimate rate is reached	2018	2015

An annual increase or decrease in the assumed medical care cost trend rate of 1% would correspondingly increase or decrease the total accumulated benefit obligation of other postretirement benefit plans at December 31, 2008, by an inconsequential amount.

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets for pensions and other postretirement benefit plan obligations are shown below at December 31, 2008 and 2007 (in millions):

	•	Tax-Qualified Non-Tax Qualified Pension Plans Pension Plans				her irement t Plans
	2008	2007	2008	2007	2008	2007
Current liabilities	\$	\$	\$ (1)	\$	\$ (2)	\$ (3)
Noncurrent liabilities	(80)	(38)	(8)	(9)	(60)	(54)
Total liability	\$ (80)	\$ (38)	\$ (9)	\$ (9)	\$ (62)	\$ (57)

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income at December 31, 2008 and 2007, for pensions and other postretirement benefit plan obligations are as follows (in millions):

	Tax-Qu Pensior		Non- Tax Pensior	•	Otl Postreti Benefit	irement
	2008	2007	2008	2007	2008	2007
Net gain (loss)	\$ (93)	\$7	\$ (2)	\$ (1)	\$(16)	\$(15)
Prior service credit (cost)	(2)	(3)	(2)	(2)	26	38
Total amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	\$ (95)	\$4	\$ (4)	\$ (3)	\$ 10	\$ 23

Expected amortization payments. The estimated net gain (loss) and prior service credit (cost) for the defined benefit pension plans that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost in 2009 are (1.3) million and (0.5) million, respectively. Additionally, as of January 1, 2008, Mirant recognized 0 and (0.1) million of net gain (loss) and prior service cost, respectively, to accumulated other comprehensive income for defined benefit pension plans as part of the transition adjustment related to the change in measurement date under SFAS 158.

The estimated net gain (loss) and prior service credit (cost) for other postretirement benefit plans that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year are (0.8) million and 5.8 million, respectively. Additionally, as of January 1, 2008, Mirant recognized (0.2) million of net loss and 1.7 million of prior service credit to accumulated other comprehensive income for other postretirement benefit plans as part of the transition adjustment related to the change in measurement date under SFAS 158.

The components of the net periodic benefit cost (credit) of Mirant s continuing operations pension and other postretirement benefit plans for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, are shown below (in millions):

		Pension Plans			her Postretire Benefit Plan	s
	Years Ended December 31, 2008 2007 2006			Years 2008	Ended Decen 2007	nber 31, 2006
Service cost	\$ 8	\$ 9	\$ 10	\$ 1	\$ 2	\$ 4
Interest cost	15	14	14	3	4	7
Expected return of plan assets	(17)	(13)	(10)			
Net amortization ⁽¹⁾	1	1	2	(5)	(3)	(1)
Curtailments	(1)			(4)	(32)	
Net periodic benefit cost (credit)	\$6	\$ 11	\$ 16	\$ (5)	\$ (29)	\$ 10

⁽¹⁾ Net amortization amount includes prior service cost and actuarial gains or losses.

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligation recognized in other comprehensive income for Mirant s continuing operations pension and other postretirement benefit plans (excluding \$6 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 related to plans disposed of in 2007 as part of the various asset sales) for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, were as follows (in millions):

	Pension Plans December 31, 2008 2007	Ben	ostretirement efit Plans ember 31, 2007
Net loss (gain)	\$ 100 \$ (24) \$ 1	\$ (12)
Prior service cost (credit)	(1)	(9)
Amortization of:			
Net loss		(1)	(15)
Prior service cost (credit)	(1)	12	19
Total loss (income) recognized in other comprehensive income	\$ 99 \$ (25) \$ 12	\$ (17)

The resulting total amount recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other comprehensive income for the pension plans for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, was \$105 million and \$(14) million, respectively. The resulting total amount recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other comprehensive income for the other postretirement benefit plans for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, was \$7 million and \$(46) million, respectively.

The weighted average assumptions used for Mirant s pension benefit cost and other postretirement benefit costs during each year were as follows:

	Pension Plans Years Ended December 31,			Other Postretirement Benefit Plans Years Ended December 31,			
	2008	2007	2006	2008	2007	2006	
Discount rate	6.12%	5.66%	5.36%	6.06%	5.66%	5.36%	
Rate of compensation increases	3.64%	3.70%	3.82%	3.00%	3.00%	3.00%	
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets	8.50%	8.50%	8.50%	%	%	%	

Mirant s assumed health care cost trend rates used to measure the expected cost of benefits covered by its other postretirement plan were as follows:

	2008	2007	2006
Assumed medical inflation for next year:			
Before age 65	8.00%	9.00%	10.00%
Age 65 and after	9.50%	11.00%	12.50%
Assumed ultimate medical inflation rate	5.00%	5.00%	5.00%
Year in which ultimate rate is reached	2015	2011	2011

An annual increase or decrease in the assumed medical care cost trend rate of 1% would correspondingly increase or decrease the aggregate of the service and interest cost components of the annual other postretirement benefit cost in 2008 by an inconsequential amount.

In determining the long-term rate of return for plan assets, the Company evaluates historic and current market factors such as inflation and interest rates before determining long-term capital market assumptions. The Company also considers the effects of diversification and portfolio rebalancing. To check for reasonableness and appropriateness, the Company reviews data about other companies, including their historic returns.

For purposes of expense recognition, the Company uses a market-related value of assets that recognizes the difference between the expected return and the actual return on plan assets over a five-year period. Unrecognized asset gains or losses associated with its plan assets, will be recognized in the calculation of the market-related value of assets and subject to amortization in future periods.

The following table shows the target allocation and percentage of fair value of plan assets by asset category for Mirant s qualified pension plans as of December 31, 2008 and 2007:

	Target	Percent o Value of Plan Decembe	Assets at
	Allocation	2008	2007
U.S. Stocks	50%	34%	55%
Non-U.S. Stocks	20	13	15
Fixed income	30	28	30
Cash		25	
Total	100%	100%	100%

For the qualified pension plans, Mirant uses a mix of equities and fixed income investments with the objective of maximizing the long-term return of pension plan assets at a prudent level of risk. The Company s risk tolerance is established through consideration of plan liabilities, plan funded status and corporate financial condition. Equity investments are diversified across U.S. and non-U.S. stocks. For U.S. stocks, Mirant employs both a passive and active approach by investing in an index that mirrors the Russell 1000 Index and an actively managed small cap fund. For non-U.S. stocks, Mirant is invested in both developed and emerging market international equity funds that are benchmarked against the Europe, Australia and Far East Index. Fixed income investments are in a long U.S. government/credit index fund. Investment risk is monitored on an ongoing basis through quarterly portfolio reviews and annual pension liability measurements.

Primarily as a result of declines in the overall market of equity securities during 2008, the fair value of Mirant s pension plan assets declined considerably in 2008. As a result, the Company contributed \$60 million to its pension plans in December of 2008 and a total of \$64 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Approximately \$51 million of the \$60 million the Company contributed in the fourth quarter of 2008 is included in the cash amount in the table above at December 31, 2008. This amount will be invested according to the Company s target allocation in 2009.

Mirant currently expects to contribute approximately \$23 million to the tax-qualified pensions for the 2009 plan year. Of this amount, approximately \$8 million is expected to be contributed during 2009 with the remainder contributed in 2010 based on the 2009 plan valuations. In addition, the Company expects to contribute approximately \$1 million to the non-tax-qualified pension plans during 2009.

Mirant expects the following benefits to be paid from the pension and other postretirement benefit plans (in millions):

	Pensio	n Plans	Other Postretirement Benefits Plans		
Projected Benefit Payments to Plan Participants	nts to Tax- Non-Tax Qualified Qualified		Before Medicare Subsidy	Medicare Subsidy	
2009	\$ 9.1	\$ 0.8	\$ 2.5	\$	
2010	9.8	0.9	2.5		
2011	10.3	0.9	2.1		
2012	11.3	0.9	2.5		
2013	12.6	0.9	2.9	0.1	
2014 through 2018	86.1	4.8	20.8	0.8	

Employee Savings and Profit Sharing Plan

The Company maintains a defined contribution employee savings plan with a profit sharing arrangement whereby employees may contribute a portion of their base compensation to the employee savings plan, subject to limits under the Internal Revenue Code. The Company provides a matching contribution each payroll period equal to 75% of the employee s contributions up to 6% of the employee s pay for that period. For unionized employees, matching levels vary by bargaining unit.

Under the profit sharing arrangement, the Company contributes a quarterly fixed contribution of 3% of eligible pay and may make an annual discretionary contribution for non-union employees not accruing a benefit under the defined benefit pension plan. Certain unionized employees are also eligible for the annual discretionary profit sharing contribution.

Expenses recognized for the matching, fixed profit sharing and discretionary profit sharing contributions were as follows (in millions):

	Ма	tching	Fixed Profit Sharing]	Discretionary Profit Sharing	
2008	\$	5	\$ 2	\$	2	
2007		5	2		2	
2006		5	2		1	

Stock-based Compensation

The Mirant Corporation 2005 Omnibus Incentive Plan for certain employees and directors of Mirant became effective on January 3, 2006. The Omnibus Incentive Plan provides for the granting of nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares, performance units, cash-based awards, other stock-based awards, covered employee annual incentive awards and non-employee director awards. Under the Omnibus Incentive Plan, 18,575,851 shares of Mirant common stock are available for issuance to participants. Shares covered by an award are counted as used only to the extent that they are actually issued. Any shares related to awards that terminate by expiration, forfeiture, cancellation or otherwise without the issuance of such shares will be available again for grant under the Omnibus Incentive Plan. The Company utilizes both service condition and performance condition forms of stock-based compensation.

On October 5, 2006, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved the implementation of a special bonus plan to reward participants for successful completion of the Company's planned business and asset sales as well as to provide certain participants with an incentive to remain with the Company. The grants consisted of cash and restricted stock units. On November 13, 2006, the Company's Compensation Committee, pursuant to the Company's 2005 Omnibus Incentive Plan, awarded certain equity grants to five executive management members. The grants consisted of options to acquire the Company's common stock and restricted stock units. These grants were considered performance condition awards, as the payout under the November 13, 2006, awards was based on achieving certain target amounts related to the sales of the Company's Philippine and Caribbean businesses and six natural gas-fired facilities in the United States. The performance conditions were met at December 31, 2007, and the awards became fully vested and non-forfeitable on June 30, 2008.

SFAS 123R was adopted by the Company during the first quarter of 2006, using the modified prospective transition method. The Company recognizes compensation expense related to service condition and performance condition stock-based compensation. Compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was as follows (in millions):

		Years Ended December 31,					
	20	008	20	007	20)06	
Service condition stock-based compensation	\$	21	\$	21	\$	16	
Performance condition stock-based compensation		5		8		1	
Total compensation expense	\$	26	\$	29	\$	17	

The amounts in the table above are included in operations and maintenance expense in the consolidated statements of operations, with the exception of approximately \$4 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, which is included in income from discontinued operations, net. As of December 31, 2008, there was approximately \$22 million of total unrecognized compensation cost, excluding estimated forfeitures, related to non-vested share-based compensation granted through service condition awards, which is expected to be recognized on a straight-line basis over a weighted average period of approximately 1.4 years.

Stock Options

The fair value of stock options is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model based on the assumptions noted in the following table. As a result of the Company s bankruptcy and other factors, historical information concerning the Company s stock price volatility for purposes of valuing stock option grants is not sufficient. Therefore, the implied volatility derived from peer group companies was used as the basis for valuing the stock options granted through September 30, 2006. Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company re-evaluated the use of implied volatility derived from peer group companies and determined that sufficient evidence existed to place exclusive reliance on Mirant s own implied volatility of its traded options in accordance with SAB 107. As a result of the lack of exercise history for the Company, the simplified method for estimating expected term has been used in accordance with SAB 107 and SAB 110, to the extent applicable. For performance condition awards, the Company utilized the contractual term as the expected term. The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual term of the stock option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant. The table below includes significant assumptions used in valuing the Company s stock options:

	Years Ended December 31, 2008 2007 2006					
		Weighted		Weighted		Weighted
	Range	Average	Range	Average	Range	Average
Expected volatility	31 - 43%	31.2%	15 - 28%	19.9%	21 - 37%	31.6%
Expected dividends	%	%	%	%	%	%
Expected term						
Service condition awards	3.5 years	3.5 years	2.7 - 3.5 years	3.48 years	5.2 - 6 years	5.9 years
Performance condition awards					3 years	3 years
Risk-free rate	2.1 - 2.9%	2.1%	4 - 4.7%	4%	4.3 - 5.1%	4.5%

Service Condition Awards

During 2006, Mirant made awards of nonqualified stock options to purchase approximately 3 million shares. These stock options were granted with a 10-year term. Options to purchase approximately 1.8 million shares vest 25% six months from the grant date and 25% on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date. Options to purchase approximately 1.1 million shares vest in three equal installments on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date. Options to purchase approximately 41,000 shares were granted to non-management members of the Board of Directors and vest one year from the grant date.

During 2007, the Company granted options to purchase a total of approximately 605,000 shares. These stock options were granted with a five-year term, and vest in three equal installments on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date. Options to purchase approximately 15,000 shares were granted to non-management members of the Board of Directors and vest one year from the grant date.

During 2008, the Company granted options to purchase a total of approximately 752,000 shares. These stock options were granted with a five-year term, and vest in three equal installments on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date. There were no stock options granted to non-management members of the Board of Directors during 2008.

The granted options provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change of control (as defined in the Omnibus Incentive Plan) or, in certain circumstances, as a result of a termination of employment. Options to purchase approximately 808,000, 1.1 million and 525,000 shares vested during 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, of which approximately 37,000, 177,000 and 87,000 shares for 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, became exercisable as a result of accelerated vesting resulting from the termination of an employee. The weighted average grant-date fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, was \$9.49, \$8.44 and \$10.42 per share, respectively.

A summary of the Company s option activity under the Omnibus Incentive Plan is presented below:

Stock Options	Number of Shares	Α	eighted verage cise Price	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term (years)	I	ggregate ntrinsic Value housands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2006		\$			\$	
Granted	2,987,936	\$	24.89			
Exercised or converted	(23,287)	\$	25.05		\$	
Forfeited	(162,930)	\$	24.96			
Expired		\$				
Outstanding at December 31, 2006	2,801,719	\$	24.89	9.2	\$	18,720
Granted	605,386	\$	37.91			ĺ.
Exercised or converted	(371,306)	\$	25.98		\$	
Forfeited	(131,755)	\$	29.64			
Expired		\$				
*						
Outstanding at December 31, 2007	2,904,044	\$	27.25	7.4	\$	34,069
Granted	751,511	\$	36.87			,
Exercised or converted	(659,804)	\$	25.63		\$	
Forfeited	(69,540)	\$	36.12			
Expired	(55,215)	\$	31.95			
-						
Outstanding at December 31, 2008	2,870,996	\$	29.83	5.8	\$	
	_,,	¥	_,	2.0	Ŧ	
Exercisable or convertible at December 31, 2008	1,244,568	\$	26.44	6.7	\$	
	1,2,000	Ψ		0.7	Ψ	

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

The range of exercise prices for stock options granted is presented below:

	High	Low
2008	\$ 37.02	\$ 26.20
2007	\$ 45.77	\$ 37.71
2006	\$ 28.89	\$ 23.70

Cash received from the exercise of stock options under the Omnibus Incentive Plan for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, was approximately \$17 million, \$10 million and \$583,000, respectively, and no related tax benefit was recognized during the years then ended.

Performance Condition Awards

On November 13, 2006, Mirant made awards of nonqualified stock options to purchase approximately 830,000 shares to five members of executive management. These options were granted with a three-year term and vested on June 30, 2008, as the Company achieved the required performance target amounts by December 31, 2007. The options provided for accelerated vesting if there was a change of control (as defined in the Omnibus Incentive Plan) or, in certain circumstances, as a result of a termination of employment. At December 31, 2007, options to purchase approximately 100,000 shares became exercisable as a result of accelerated vesting resulting from the termination of an employee. The weighted average grant date fair value of performance condition stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2006, was \$6.08 per share. There were no performance condition stock options granted during 2008 or 2007.

A summary of option activity for performance condition awards under the Omnibus Incentive Plan is presented below:

Stock Options	Number of Shares	A	eighted verage cise Price	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Term (years)	In	gregate trinsic Value 10usands)
Outstanding at January 1, 2006		\$			\$	
Granted	830,000	\$	28.89			
Exercised or converted		\$				
Forfeited		\$				
Expired		\$				
Outstanding at December 31, 2006	830,000	\$	28.89	2.9	\$	2,224
Granted		\$				
Exercised or converted		\$				
Forfeited		\$				
Expired		\$				
•						
Outstanding at December 31, 2007	830,000	\$	28.89	1.9	\$	8,375
Granted	,	\$,
Exercised or converted	(44,507)	\$	28.89		\$	
Forfeited		\$				
Expired	(55,493)	\$	28.89			
1						
Outstanding at December 31, 2008	730,000	\$	28.89	.9	\$	
	750,000	Ψ	20.07	.,	Ŷ	
Exercisable or convertible at December 31, 2008	730.000	\$	28.89	.9	\$	
Exercisable of conventible at Deceniber 31, 2000	750,000	φ	20.07	.9	φ	

Restricted Stock Shares and Restricted Stock Units

Service Condition Awards

During 2006, the Company issued approximately 392,000 restricted stock units and 205,000 restricted stock shares under the Omnibus Incentive Plan. Approximately 350,000 restricted stock units vest 25% six months from the grant date, and 25% on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date. Approximately 34,000 of the restricted stock units and 205,000 of the restricted stock shares vest in three equal installments on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date. Approximately 34,000 of the restricted stock units and 205,000 of the restricted stock units were granted to non-management members of the Board of Directors and vest one year from the grant date. The granted restricted stock units and restricted stock shares provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change of control (as defined in the Omnibus Incentive Plan) or, in certain circumstances, as a result of a termination of employment.

During 2007, the Company issued approximately 428,000 restricted stock units under the Omnibus Incentive Plan. Approximately 419,000 of the restricted stock units vest on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date. Approximately 9,000 of the restricted stock units were granted to non-management members of the Board of Directors and vest one year from the grant date. The granted restricted stock units and restricted stock shares provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change of control (as defined in the Omnibus Incentive Plan) or, in certain circumstances, as a result of a termination of employment.

During 2008, the Company issued approximately 403,000 of restricted stock units under the Omnibus Incentive Plan. Approximately 388,000 of the restricted stock units vest on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date. Approximately 15,000 of the restricted stock units were granted to non-management members of the Board of Directors and vest one year from the grant date. The granted restricted stock units and restricted stock shares provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change of control (as defined in the Omnibus Incentive Plan) or, in certain circumstances, as a result of a termination of employment.

Approximately 269,000, 213,000 and 105,000 restricted stock units vested during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, of which, approximately 13,000, 54,000 and 17,000, respectively, became fully vested as a result of the termination of employees.

The grant date fair value of the restricted stock shares and restricted stock units is equal to the Company s closing stock price on the grant date. As restricted stock shares and restricted stock units vest, the outstanding balance of restricted stock shares and restricted stock units decreases and the number of outstanding shares of common stock increases by an equal amount. A summary of the Company s restricted stock shares and restricted stock shares and restricted stock shares and restricted stock shares and restricted stock shares of common stock increases by an equal amount. A summary of the Company s restricted stock shares and restricted stock units for service condition award is presented below:

Restricted Stock Shares and Restricted Stock Units	Number of Shares	Aver Da	'eighted age Grant ate Fair Value
Outstanding at January 1, 2006		\$	
Granted	597,596	\$	24.89
Vested	(104,991)	\$	24.84
Forfeited	(32,586)	\$	24.96
Outstanding at December 31, 2006	460,019	\$	24.90
Granted	428,035	\$	37.89
Vested	(212,700)	\$	26.65
Forfeited	(45,381)	\$	33.16
Outstanding at December 31, 2007	629,973	\$	32.54
Granted	403,300	\$	36.90
Vested	(269,337)	\$	31.63
Forfeited	(68,117)	\$	37.01
Outstanding at December 31, 2008	695,819	\$	34.98

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

Performance Condition Awards

During 2006, the Company issued 283,554 restricted stock units under the Omnibus Incentive Plan. Approximately 140,000 were awarded on October 31, 2006 to certain key employees and approximately 143,000 on November 13, 2006, to five members of executive management. The restricted stock units vested on June 30, 2008, based on the Company achieving the performance target amounts by December 31, 2007. The granted restricted stock units provided for accelerated vesting if there is a change of control (as defined in the Omnibus Incentive Plan) or, in certain circumstances, as a result of a termination of employment. Approximately 3,000 and 37,000 restricted stock units and shares vested during the year ended December 31, 2007, as a result of the termination of employees. The grant date fair value of the restricted stock and restricted stock units for performance condition awards is equal to the Company s closing stock price on the grant date.

A summary of the Company s restricted stock units awarded is as follows:

Restricted Stock Units	Number of Shares	Aver: Da	eighted age Grant ite Fair Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2006		\$	
Granted	283,554	\$	29.23
Vested		\$	
Forfeited		\$	
Outstanding at December 31, 2006	283,554	\$	29.23
Granted		\$	
Vested	(36,564)	\$	29.25
Forfeited		\$	
Outstanding at the December 31, 2007	246,990	\$	29.22
Granted		\$	
Vested	(246,990)	\$	29.22
Forfeited		\$	
Outstanding at December 31, 2008		\$	

9. Asset Retirement Obligations

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted SFAS 143, which requires an entity to recognize the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation in the period in which it is incurred. Additionally, effective December 31, 2005, the Company adopted FIN 47, which expands the scope of asset retirement obligations to be recognized to include asset retirement obligations that may be uncertain as to the nature or timing of settlement. Upon initial recognition of a liability for an asset retirement obligation or a conditional asset retirement obligation, an entity shall capitalize an asset retirement cost by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset by the same amount as the liability. Over time, the liability is accreted to its present value each period and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Retirement obligations associated with long-lived assets included within the scope of SFAS 143 and FIN 47 are those for which a legal obligation exists under enacted laws, statutes and written or oral contracts, including obligations arising under the doctrine of promissory estoppel.

The Company identified certain asset retirement obligations within its power generating facilities. These asset retirement obligations are primarily related to asbestos abatement in facilities on owned or leased property and other environmental obligations related to fuel storage facilities, wastewater treatment facilities, ash disposal sites and pipelines.

Asbestos abatement is the most significant type of asset retirement obligation identified for recognition in connection with the Company s adoption of FIN 47. The EPA has regulations in place governing the removal of

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

asbestos. Because of the nature of asbestos, it can be difficult to ascertain the extent of contamination in older facilities unless substantial renovation or demolition takes place. Therefore, the Company incorporated certain assumptions based on the relative age and size of its facilities to estimate the current cost for asbestos abatement. The actual abatement cost could differ from the estimates used to measure the asset retirement obligation. As a result, these amounts will be subject to revision when actual abatement activities are undertaken. In the third quarter of 2008, the Company increased its current cost estimates for asset retirement obligations associated with asbestos abatement at its generating facilities as a result of the cost of the asbestos abatement at the Lovett facility. The increase in the current cost estimates resulted in an increase to the asset retirement obligations of approximately \$2 million.

The following table sets forth the balances of the asset retirement obligations as of January 1, 2007, and the additions and accretion of the asset retirement obligations for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007. The asset retirement obligations are included in noncurrent liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets (in millions):

	For the Y Decen	ears End 1ber 31,	ed
	2008	20	007
Beginning balance January 1	\$ 44	\$	40
Liabilities recorded in the period	2		3
Liabilities settled during the period	(9)		(2)
Accretion expense	3		3
Ending balance, December 31	\$ 40	\$	44

10. Commitments and Contingencies

Mirant has made firm commitments to buy materials and services in connection with its ongoing operations and has made financial guarantees relative to some of its investments.

Cash Collateral

In order to sell power and purchase fuel in the forward markets and perform other energy trading and marketing activities, the Company often is required to provide trade credit support to its counterparties or make deposits with brokers. In addition, the Company often is required to provide cash collateral for access to the transmission grid to participate in power pools and for other operating activities. In the event of default by the Company, the counterparty can apply cash collateral held to satisfy the existing amounts outstanding under an open contract.

The following is a summary of cash collateral posted with counterparties as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 (in millions):

	At Dece 2008	ember 31, 2007
Cash collateral posted energy trading and marketing	\$ 67	\$ 96
Cash collateral posted other operating activities	44	14
Total	\$111	\$ 110

Commitments

In addition to debt and other obligations in the consolidated balance sheets, Mirant has the following annual commitments under various agreements at December 31, 2008, related to its operations (in millions):

	Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations by Year						
	Total	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	>5 Years
Mirant Mid-Atlantic operating leases	\$ 2,013	\$ 142	\$ 140	\$134	\$132	\$138	\$ 1,327
Other operating leases	57	9	9	7	5	6	21
Fuel commitments	1,254	374	335	314	196	35	
Maryland Healthy Air Act	677	490	187				
Other	336	186	41	32	22	15	40
Total payments	\$ 4,337	\$ 1,201	\$712	\$487	\$ 355	\$ 194	\$ 1,388

The Company s contractual obligations table does not include the derivative obligations which are discussed in Note 4 and the asset retirement obligations which are discussed in Note 9.

Operating Leases

Mirant Mid-Atlantic leases the Dickerson and Morgantown baseload units and associated property through 2029 and 2034, respectively. Mirant Mid-Atlantic has an option to extend the leases. Any extensions of the respective leases would be for less than 75% of the economic useful life of the facility, as measured from the beginning of the original lease term through the end of the proposed remaining lease term. The Company is accounting for these leases as operating leases and recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis. Rent expense totaled \$96 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, and is included in operations and maintenance expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company has paid approximately \$354 million and \$330 million, respectively, of lease payments in excess of rent expense recognized, which is recorded in prepaid rent and prepaid expenses on the consolidated balance sheets. Of these amounts, \$96 million is included in prepaid expenses on the Company s consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007.

As of December 31, 2008, the total notional minimum lease payments for the remaining terms of the leases aggregated approximately \$2.0 billion and the aggregate termination value for the leases was approximately \$1.4 billion, which generally decreases over time. Mirant Mid-Atlantic leases the Dickerson and the Morgantown baseload units from third party owner lessors. These owner lessors each own the undivided interests in these baseload generating facilities. The subsidiaries of the institutional investors who hold the membership interests in the owner lessors are called owner participants. Equity funding by the owner participants plus transaction expenses paid by the owner participants totaled \$299 million. The issuance and sale of pass through certificates raised the remaining \$1.2 billion needed for the owner lessors to acquire the undivided interests.

The pass through certificates are not direct obligations of Mirant Mid-Atlantic. Each pass through certificate represents a fractional undivided interest in one of three pass through trusts formed pursuant to three separate pass through trust agreements between Mirant Mid-Atlantic and U.S. Bank National Association (as successor in interest to State Street Bank and Trust Company of Connecticut, National Association), as pass through truste. The property of the pass through trusts consists of lessor notes. The lessor notes issued by an owner lessor are secured by that owner lessor s undivided interest in the lease facilities and its rights under the related lease and other financing documents.

Mirant has commitments under other operating leases with various terms and expiration dates.

Fuel Commitments

Fuel commitments primarily relate to long-term coal agreements and related transportation agreements.

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

Maryland Healthy Air Act

Maryland Healthy Air Act commitments reflect the remaining capital expenditures that the Company expects to incur to comply with the limitations for SO2, NOx and mercury emissions under the Maryland Healthy Air Act.

Other

Other represents the open purchase orders less invoices received related to open purchase orders for procurement of products and services purchased in the ordinary course of business. These include construction, maintenance and labor activities at the Company's generating facilities. Other also includes the Company's LTSA associated with the maintenance of turbines at the Kendall facility, limestone supply and transportation agreements, estimated pension and other postretirement benefit funding obligations, deferred compensation plans, FIN 48 liabilities and miscellaneous long-term liabilities, which are included in other noncurrent liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

Guarantees

Mirant generally conducts its business through various operating subsidiaries, which enter into contracts as a routine part of their business activities. In certain instances, the contractual obligations of such subsidiaries are guaranteed by, or otherwise supported by, Mirant or another of its subsidiaries, including expressed guarantees or letters of credit issued under the credit facilities of Mirant North America.

In addition, Mirant and its subsidiaries enter into various contracts that include indemnification and guarantee provisions. Examples of these contracts include financing and lease arrangements, purchase and sale agreements, commodity purchase and sale agreements, construction agreements and agreements with vendors. Although the primary obligation of Mirant or a subsidiary under such contracts is to pay money or render performance, such contracts may include obligations to indemnify the counterparty for damages arising from the breach thereof and, in certain instances, other existing or potential liabilities. In many cases, the Company s maximum potential liability cannot be estimated, because some of the underlying agreements contain no limits on potential liability.

Upon issuance or modification of a guarantee, the Company determines if the obligation is subject to initial recognition and measurement of a liability and/or disclosure of the nature and terms of the guarantee under FIN 45. Generally, guarantees of the performance of a third party are subject to the recognition and measurement, as well as the disclosure provisions, of FIN 45. Such guarantees must initially be recorded at fair value, as determined in accordance with the interpretation. The Company did not have any guarantees at December 31, 2008, that met the recognition requirements under FIN 45.

Alternatively, guarantees between and on behalf of entities under common control are subject only to the disclosure provisions of FIN 45. The Company must disclose information as to the term of the guarantee and the maximum potential amount of future gross payments (undiscounted) under the guarantee, even if the likelihood of a claim is remote.

Letters of Credit and Surety Bonds

As of December 31, 2008, Mirant and its subsidiaries were contingently obligated for \$301 million under letters of credit issued under the credit facilities of Mirant North America, which includes \$122 million of letters of credit issued pursuant to its senior secured term loan and \$172 million of letters of credit issued pursuant to its revolving credit facility. Most of these letters of credit are issued in support of the obligations of Mirant North America and its subsidiaries to perform under commodity agreements, financing or lease agreements or other commercial arrangements. In the event of default by the Company, the counterparty can draw on a letter of credit

to satisfy the existing amounts outstanding under an open contract. A majority of these letters of credit expire within one year of issuance, and it is typical for them to be renewed on similar terms. In addition, the Company has entered into a cash-collateralized letter of credit facility pursuant to which it posted letters of credit in support of the Company s response to a request for proposals for new power generation.

The Company has obligations under surety bonds that were posted as credit support for the RGGI auction that was held in December 2008. These surety bonds expire within one year, and it is typical for them to be renewed on similar terms. As of December 31, 2008, Mirant and its subsidiaries posted a \$25 million surety bond as credit support for the RGGI auction.

Following is a summary of letters of credit issued and surety bonds as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 (in millions):

	At Dece	mber 31,
	2008	2007
Letters of credit energy trading and marketing	\$ 76	\$ 100
Letters of credit debt service and rent reserves	101	78
Letters of credit other operating activities	124	112
Surety bonds energy trading and marketing	25	
Total	\$ 326	\$ 290

Purchase and Sale Guarantees and Indemnifications

In connection with the purchase or sale of an asset or a business by Mirant through a subsidiary, Mirant is typically required to provide certain assurances to the counterparties for the performance of the obligations of such a subsidiary under the purchase or sale agreements. Such assurances may take the form of a guarantee issued by Mirant or a subsidiary on behalf of the obligor subsidiary. The scope of such guarantees would typically include any indemnity obligations owed to such counterparty. While the terms thereof vary in the scope, exclusions, thresholds and applicable limits, the indemnity obligations of a seller typically include liabilities incurred as a result of a breach of a purchase and sale agreement, including the indemnifying party s representations or warranties, unpaid and unreserved tax liabilities and specified retained liabilities, if any. These obligations generally have a term of 12 months from the closing date and are intended to protect the non-indemnifying parties against breaches of the agreement or risks that are difficult to predict or estimate at the time of the transaction. In most cases, the contract limits the liability of the indemnifying party. While the primary indemnity periods under the agreements for the sales of the Philippine and Caribbean businesses and six U.S. natural gas-fired facilities have elapsed without any claims being made, Mirant continues to have indefinite indemnity obligations in respect of certain representations and covenants that are typically not subject to lapse. No claims have been made in respect thereof and the Company does not expect that it will be required to make any material payments under these guarantee and indemnity provisions.

Commercial Purchase and Sales Arrangements

In connection with the purchase and sale of fuel, emissions allowances and energy to and from third parties with respect to the operation of Mirant s generating facilities, the Company may be required to guarantee a portion of the obligations of certain of its subsidiaries. These obligations may include liquidated damages payments or other unscheduled payments. The majority of the current guarantees are set to expire before the end of 2010, although the obligations of the issuer will remain in effect until all the liabilities created under the guarantee have been satisfied or no longer exist. As of December 31, 2008, Mirant and its subsidiaries were contingently obligated for a total of \$101 million under such arrangements. The Company does not expect that it will be required to make any material payments under these guarantees.

Other Guarantees and Indemnifications

As of December 31, 2008, Mirant has issued \$67 million of guarantees of obligations that its subsidiaries may incur in connection with construction agreements, equipment leases and on-going litigation. The Company does not expect that it will be required to make any material payments under these guarantees.

The Company, through its subsidiaries, participates in several power pools with RTOs. The rules of these RTOs require that each participant indemnify the pool for defaults by other members. Usually, the amount indemnified is based upon the activity of the participant relative to the total activity of the pool and the amount of the default. Consequently, the amount of such indemnification by the Company cannot be quantified.

On a routine basis in the ordinary course of business, Mirant and its subsidiaries indemnify financing parties and consultants or other vendors who provide services to the Company. The Company does not expect that it will be required to make any material payments under these indemnity provisions.

Because some of the guarantees and indemnities Mirant issues to third parties do not limit the amount or duration of its obligations to perform under them, there exists a risk that the Company may have obligations in excess of the amounts described above. For those guarantees and indemnities that do not limit the Company s liability exposure, the Company may not be able to estimate its potential liability until a claim is made for payment or performance, because of the contingent nature of these contracts.

11. Dispositions *Overview*

The Company had no assets or liabilities held for sale at December 31, 2008 or 2007. The Company disposed of certain discontinued operations and other assets in 2007. In the third quarter of 2006, Mirant commenced separate auction processes to sell its Philippine (2,203 MW) and Caribbean (1,050 MW) businesses and six U.S. natural gas-fired facilities totaling 3,619 MW, consisting of the Zeeland (903 MW), West Georgia (613 MW), Shady Hills (469 MW), Sugar Creek (561 MW), Bosque (546 MW) and Apex (527 MW) facilities.

The sale of the six U.S. natural gas-fired facilities was completed on May 1, 2007. In the third quarter of 2006, the Company recorded an impairment loss of \$396 million to reduce the carrying value of the six facilities held for sale to estimated fair value. In subsequent periods, the Company recorded reductions to the impairment loss of approximately \$51 million resulting from the sale process. As a result, the Company recognized a cumulative loss of \$345 million related to the sale of the six facilities. The net proceeds to Mirant after transaction costs and retiring \$83 million of project-related debt were \$1.306 billion.

The Company completed the sale of Mirant NY-Gen on May 7, 2007. The Company recognized a gain of \$8 million related to the sale. The proceeds related to the sale were immaterial as a result of the transfer of the net liabilities of Mirant NY-Gen.

The sale of the Philippine business was completed on June 22, 2007. The Company recognized a gain of \$2.003 billion related to the sale. The net proceeds to Mirant after transaction costs and the repayment of \$642 million of debt were \$3.21 billion.

The sale of the Caribbean business was completed on August 8, 2007. The Company recognized a gain of approximately \$63 million in the third quarter of 2007 related to the sale. The net proceeds to Mirant after transaction costs and final working capital adjustments were \$555 million.

During the second quarter of 2007, the Company recognized \$9 million of other comprehensive income, net of tax, related to the sale of the Philippine business. Of this amount, \$5 million was related to a pension liability

that was settled as part of the sale and \$4 million was related to a cumulative translation adjustment. During the third quarter of 2007, the Company recognized \$11 million of other comprehensive loss, net of tax, related to pension and other postretirement benefits as part of the sale of the Caribbean business.

Discontinued Operations

The Company has reclassified amounts for prior periods in the financial statements to report separately, as discontinued operations, the revenues and expenses of components of the Company that have been disposed of as of December 31, 2008.

The Company sold its Wrightsville power generating facility in 2005, but retained transmission credits that arose from transmission system upgrades associated with the construction of the Wrightsville facility. During the third quarter of 2007, Mirant entered into an agreement that established the amount of the outstanding transmission credits. As a result of the agreement, Mirant recognized a gain of \$24 million in income from discontinued operations in the third quarter of 2007.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, income from discontinued operations included the results of operations of the Caribbean business, the Philippine business, the six U.S. natural gas-fired facilities and Mirant NY-Gen through their respective dates of sale and the gain related to Wrightsville described above. For the year ended December 31, 2006, income from discontinued operations included the results of operations of all the discontinued businesses and assets for the entire year, as well as the Wichita Falls facility in Texas through its May 2006 date of sale.

As part of the sale of Mirant NY-Gen, Mirant retained the rights to future insurance recoveries related to repairs of the dam at the Swinging Bridge facility. In the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company reached an insurance settlement and recognized a gain of \$10 million, which is included in income from discontinued operations.

A summary of the operating results for these discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 is as follows (in millions):

	U.S.	Year Ended De Philippines	Total		
Operating revenues	\$ 82	\$ 200	Caribbean \$514	\$ 796	
Operating expenses (income):	\$ 0 <u>2</u>	φ 200	φ 311	φ 170	
Gain on sales of assets	(38)	(2,003)	(63)	(2,104)	
Other operating expenses	56	67	433	556	
Total operating expenses (income)	18	(1,936)	370	(1,548)	
Operating income	64	2,136	144	2,344	
Provision (benefit) for income taxes		704	13	717	
Other expense (income), net		33	32	65	
Net income	\$ 64	\$ 1,399	\$ 99	\$ 1,562	

	Year Ended December 31, 2006				
	U.S.	Philippines	Caribbean	Total	
Operating revenues	\$ 303	\$ 469	\$ 825	\$ 1,597	
Operating expenses:					
Loss on sales of assets	375			375	
Other operating expenses	221	187	686	1,094	
Total operating expenses	596	187	686	1,469	
Operating income (loss)	(293)	282	139	128	

Table of Contents

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

Provision (benefit) for income taxes Other expense (income), net	1 9	(104) 30	26 54	(77) 93
Net income (loss)	\$ (303)	\$ 356	\$ 59	\$ 112

On July 12, 2006, the Company s Sual generating facility in the Philippines had an unplanned outage of unit 2 as a result of a failure of the generator. The repairs on unit 2 were completed on March 4, 2007, and the unit returned to operation. On October 23, 2006, unit 1 at the Sual generating facility had an unplanned outage as a result of a failure of the generator. The repairs on unit 1 were completed on June 12, 2007, and the unit returned to operation.

As part of the sale of the Philippine business, Mirant retained the rights to future insurance recoveries related to outages of the Sual generating facility that occurred prior to the sale. In 2007, the Company received a total of \$23 million related to these recoveries. In the second quarter of 2008, the Company entered into a settlement and received approximately \$50 million in additional insurance recoveries. For the year ended December 31, 2008, income from discontinued operations includes a gain of \$50 million related to this settlement. Of this amount, \$41 million related to business interruption recoveries and is included in cost of fuel, electricity and other products and \$9 million related to property insurance recoveries and is included in total operating expenses.

12. Bankruptcy Related Disclosures

Mirant s Plan was confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court on December 9, 2005, and the Company emerged from bankruptcy on January 3, 2006. For financial statement presentation purposes, Mirant recorded the effects of the Plan at December 31, 2005.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, amounts related to allowed claims, estimated unresolved claims and professional fees associated with the bankruptcy that are to be settled in cash were \$14 million and \$27 million, respectively, and these amounts were recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. These amounts do not include unresolved claims that will be settled in common stock or the stock portion of claims that are expected to be settled with cash and stock. For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Company paid approximately \$16 million, \$53 million and \$814 million, respectively, in cash related to bankruptcy claims, which is reflected in cash flows from operating activities from continuing operations. In addition, for 2006, approximately \$990 million is reflected in cash flows from financing activities from continuing operations and \$45 million from discontinued operations and together represent the principal amount of debt claims. As of December 31, 2008, approximately 850,000 of the shares of Mirant common stock to be distributed under the Plan have not yet been distributed and have been reserved for distribution with respect to claims that are disputed by the Mirant Debtors and have yet to be resolved. See Note 16 for further discussion of the Chapter 11 proceedings.

Reorganization Items, net

Reorganization items, net represents expense, income and gain or loss amounts that were recorded in the financial statements as a result of the bankruptcy proceedings. In 2006, reorganization items, net relate to refunds received from various New York tax jurisdictions for the settlement of the property tax dispute related to the New York subsidiaries. Reorganization items, net for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, are comprised of the following (in millions):

	Year	December 31,	
	2008	2007	2006
Gain on New York property tax settlement	\$	\$	\$ (163)
Professional fees and administrative expense			3 2
Interest income, net		((5) (3)
Total	\$	\$ (2) \$ (164)

13. Stockholders Equity and Earnings Per Share *Stockholders Equity*

On January 3, 2006, all shares of Mirant s old common stock were cancelled and 300 million shares of Mirant s new common stock were issued. At December 31, 2008, approximately 850,000 shares of common stock are reserved for unresolved claims pursuant to Mirant s emergence from bankruptcy.

Mirant also issued two series of warrants that will expire on January 3, 2011. The Series A Warrants and Series B Warrants entitled the holders as of the date of issuance to purchase an aggregate of approximately 35 million and 18 million shares of New Mirant common stock, respectively. The exercise price and number of common shares issuable are subject to adjustments based on the occurrence of certain events, including (1) dividends or distributions, (2) rights offerings or (3) other distributions. Mirant s common stock is currently traded on the NYSE under the ticker symbol MIR. For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, there were approximately 8.2 million and 0.2 million of Series A Warrants, respectively, and 10.1 million and 0.5 million of Series B Warrants, respectively, that were exercised. Substantially all of these exercises were made by net share settlement, resulting in the issuance of approximately 8.2 million and 0.4 million net shares of common stock for the years ended December 31, 2008, there were approximately 26.9 million Series A Warrants and 7.1 million Series B Warrants are recorded as a component of additional paid-in capital in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

On January 3, 2006, the Omnibus Incentive Plan for certain employees and directors of Mirant became effective. Under the Omnibus Incentive Plan, 18,575,851 shares of Mirant common stock are available for issuance to participants. See Note 8 for further discussion of the Omnibus Incentive Plan.

Share Repurchases

During the third quarter of 2006, the Company repurchased 43 million shares of Mirant common stock for an aggregate purchase price of approximately \$1.228 billion. On September 28, 2006, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had authorized a \$100 million share repurchase program which expired in September 2007. As of September 30, 2007, the Company had repurchased 1.18 million shares under this program for an aggregate purchase price of approximately \$32 million.

In January 2007, the Company began a program of repurchasing shares at market prices from stockholders holding less than 100 shares of Mirant stock. For the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company repurchased approximately 245,000 shares for approximately \$9 million. The Company did not make any purchases under this program in 2008.

On November 9, 2007, Mirant announced that it planned to return a total of \$4.6 billion of excess cash to its stockholders based on four factors: (1) the outlook for the business, (2) preserving the Company s credit profile, (3) maintaining adequate liquidity, including for capital expenditures and (4) maintaining sufficient working capital. On September 22, 2008, Mirant announced that it had returned \$3.856 billion of cash to its stockholders and suspended its program to return excess cash to its stockholders based on its evaluation of the four factors that were set out upon commencement of the share repurchase program. On November 7, 2008, Mirant announced that it was resuming its program of returning excess cash to its stockholders and would purchase an additional \$200 million of shares through open market purchases. This \$200 million of purchases was completed in the fourth quarter of 2008 and was in addition to the previous \$3.856 billion of cash returned to its stockholders. A detailed timeline of the program is as follows:

On November 9, 2007, Mirant announced that the first stage of the cash distribution would be accomplished through an accelerated share repurchase program for \$1 billion, plus open market purchases for up to an additional \$1 billion. In the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company repurchased 26.66 million shares of common stock for \$1 billion through the accelerated share repurchase program.

On February 29, 2008, the Company announced that it had decided to return the remaining \$2.6 billion of cash through open market purchases of common stock but that it would continue to evaluate the most efficient method to return the cash to stockholders.

On May 15, 2008, the accelerated share repurchase program was completed and Mirant received an additional 682,387 shares, resulting in a total of 27.34 million shares purchased. The final price of shares repurchased under the accelerated share repurchase program was \$36.57 per share, which was determined based on a discount to the volume weighted average trading price of Mirant s common stock over the period of the accelerated share repurchase program.

Between November 2007 and December 2008, Mirant returned approximately \$4.056 billion of cash to its stockholders through purchases of 122 million shares of its common stock, including 86 million shares that were purchased through open market purchases in 2008 for approximately \$2.74 billion. The Company has repurchased approximately 48% of the 256 million basic shares that it had outstanding when the program began in November 2007.

Earnings per Share

Mirant calculates basic EPS by dividing income available to stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted EPS gives effect to dilutive potential common shares, including unvested restricted shares and restricted stock units, stock options and warrants. The Company excluded 0.6 million, 0.5 million and 3.4 million of potential common shares representing antidilutive stock options from the earnings per share calculations for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The following table shows the computation of basic and diluted EPS for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 (in millions except per share data):

	2008	2007	2006
Net income from continuing operations	\$ 1,215	\$ 433	\$ 1,752
Net income from discontinued operations	50	1,562	112
Net income as reported	\$ 1,265	\$ 1,995	\$ 1,864
Basic and diluted:			
Weighted average shares outstanding basic	186	252	285
Shares from assumed exercise of warrants and options	13	25	11
Shares from assumed vesting of restricted stock and restricted stock units			1
Weighted average shares outstanding diluted	199	277	297
Basic EPS			
EPS from continuing operations	\$ 6.53	\$ 1.72	\$ 6.15
EPS from discontinued operations	0.27	6.20	0.39
Basic EPS	\$ 6.80	\$ 7.92	\$ 6.54
Diluted EPS			
EPS from continuing operations	\$ 6.11	\$ 1.56	\$ 5.90
EPS from discontinued operations	0.25	5.64	0.38
Diluted EPS	\$ 6.36	\$ 7.20	\$ 6.28

14. Segment Reporting

The Company has four operating segments: Mid-Atlantic, Northeast, California and Other Operations. The Mid-Atlantic segment consists of four generating facilities located in Maryland and Virginia with total net generating capacity of 5,230 MW. The Northeast segment consists of three generating facilities located in Massachusetts and one generating facility located in New York with total net generating capacity of 2,535 MW. The California segment consists of three generating facilities located in or near the City of San Francisco, with total net generating capacity of 2,347 MW. Other Operations includes proprietary trading and fuel oil management activities. For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, Other Operations also included gains and losses related to the Back-to-Back Agreement which was terminated pursuant to a settlement that became effective in the third quarter of 2007. See Note 17 for further discussion of the Back-to-Back Agreement. Other Operations also includes unallocated corporate overhead, interest on debt at Mirant Americas Generation and Mirant North America and interest income on the Company s invested cash balances. In the following tables, eliminations are primarily related to intercompany sales of emissions allowances and interest on intercompany notes receivable and notes payable.

Operating Segments

	Mid- Atlantic	No	rtheast	Cal	ifornia (in	Other erations ns)	Eliı	minations	Total
2008:									
Operating revenues ⁽¹⁾	\$ 2,279	\$	617	\$	186	\$ 102	\$	4	\$ 3,188
Cost of fuel, electricity and other products ⁽²⁾	565		438		59	(1)		(2)	1,059
Gross margin	1,714		179		127	103		6	2,129
Operating Expenses:									
Operations and maintenance	412		167		76	28			683
Depreciation and amortization	92		19		23	10			144
Loss (gain) on sales of assets, net	(8)		(30)		(7)	(2)		8	(39)
Total operating expenses	496		156		92	36		8	788
Operating income (loss)	1,218		23		35	67		(2)	1,341
Total other expense (income), net	1		(1)		1	123			124
Income (loss) from continuing operations before									
income taxes	1,217		24		34	(56)		(2)	1,217
Provision for income taxes						2			2
Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$ 1,217	\$	24	\$	34	\$ (58)	\$	(2)	\$ 1,215
Total assets	\$ 5,620	\$	722	\$	181	\$ 7,253	\$	(3,088)	\$ 10,688
Gross property additions	\$ 641	\$	25	\$	6	\$ 59	\$		\$ 731

⁽¹⁾ Includes unrealized gains of \$685 million, \$35 million and \$120 million for Mid-Atlantic, Northeast and Other Operations, respectively.

⁽²⁾ Includes unrealized losses of \$9 million and \$45 million for Mid-Atlantic and Northeast, respectively.

Operating Segments

	Mid- Atlantic	Nor	theast	Cali	ifornia (in :	Other erations ns)	Eliı	minations	Total
2007:									
Operating revenues ⁽¹⁾	\$ 1,133	\$	664	\$	177	\$ 45	\$		\$ 2,019
Cost of fuel, electricity and other products ⁽²⁾	528		427		42	(67)		(18)	912
Gross margin	605		237		135	112		18	1,107
Operating Expenses:									
Operations and maintenance	360		179		74	94			707
Depreciation and amortization	81		25		13	10			129
Impairment losses			175						175
Loss (gain) on sales of assets, net			(49)		(2)	(5)		11	(45)
Total operating expenses	441		330		85	99		11	966
Operating income (loss)	164		(93)		50	13		7	141
Total other income, net	(5)		(7)		(5)	(282)			(299)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before	1(0					205		7	140
reorganization items and income taxes	169		(86)		55	295		7	440
Reorganization items, net Provision for income taxes			(2)			9			(2)
Provision for income taxes						9			9
Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$ 169	\$	(84)	\$	55	\$ 286	\$	7	\$ 433
Total assets	\$ 4,008	\$	696	\$	195	\$ 7,327	\$	(1,688)	\$ 10,538
Gross property additions	\$ 531	\$	17	\$	3	\$ 37	\$		\$ 588

(1) Includes unrealized losses of \$474 million, \$76 million and \$14 million for Mid-Atlantic, Northeast and Other Operations, respectively.

⁽²⁾ Includes unrealized losses of \$5 million for Mid-Atlantic and unrealized gains of \$33 million for Northeast.

Operating Segments

	Mid- Atlantic	No	ortheast	Cal	ifornia (in	Other erations s)	Eliı	ninations	Total
2006:									
Operating revenues ⁽¹⁾	\$ 1,901	\$	811	\$	171	\$ 204	\$		\$ 3,087
Cost of fuel, electricity and other products ⁽²⁾	583		464		56	86		(38)	1,151
Gross margin	1,318		347		115	118		38	1,936
Operating Expenses:									
Operations and maintenance	333		116		63	80			592
Depreciation and amortization	74		25		13	25			137
Impairment losses			118			1			119
Loss (gain) on sales of assets, net	(7)		(46)			(40)		44	(49)
Total operating expenses	400		213		76	66		44	799
Operating income	918		134		39	52		(6)	1,137
Total other expense (income), net	(4)		9		(34)	128			99
Income (loss) from continuing operations before reorganization items and income taxes	922		125		73	(76)		(6)	1,038
Reorganization items, net	922		(164)		15	(70)		(0)	(164)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes			(104)			(552)			(550)
riovision (benefit) for medine taxes			2			(332)			(550)
Income from continuing operations	\$ 922	\$	287	\$	73	\$ 476	\$	(6)	\$ 1,752
Total assets	\$ 3,947	\$	1,264	\$	449	\$ 5,276	\$	(3,078)	\$ 7,858
Gross property additions	\$ 112	\$	12	\$	1	\$ 14	\$		\$ 139

(1) Includes unrealized gains of \$519 million, \$119 million, \$3 million and \$116 million for Mid-Atlantic, Northeast, California, and Other Operations, respectively.

⁽²⁾ Includes unrealized losses of \$35 million, \$58 million and \$9 million for Mid-Atlantic, Northeast and Other Operations, respectively.

	Mid-	Property, Pl	0	aphic Areas nent and Oth Other	er Intangible Ass	sets
	Atlantic	Northeast	California (in	Operation millions)	s Elimination	is Total
At December 31, 2008	\$ 3,565	\$ 396	\$ 138	\$ 111	\$ (799	9) \$3,411
At December 31, 2007	\$ 2,999	\$ 381	\$ 153	\$ 62	2 \$ (799	9) \$2,796

15. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Summarized quarterly financial data for 2008 and 2007, is as follows (in millions except per share data):

	Quarters Ended				
	March 31, 2008	June 30, 2008	September 30, 2008	December 31, 2008	
Operating revenue	\$ 302(1)	\$ (393) ⁽²⁾	\$ 2,172 ₍₃₎	\$ 1,107 ₍₄₎	
Cost of fuel, electricity and other products	240(1)	166(2)	360(3)	293(4)	
Operating income (loss)	(133)	(790)	1,638	626	
Income (loss) from continuing operations	(154)	(832)	1,607	594	
Income (loss) from discontinued operations	2	49		(1)	
Consolidated net income (loss)	(152)	(783)	1,607	593	
Weighted average shares outstanding basic	216	201	175	151	
Income (loss) from continuing operations per weighted average shares					
outstanding basic	(0.71)	(4.14)	9.18	3.94	
Net income (loss) per weighted average shares outstanding basic	(0.70)	(3.90)	9.18	3.93	
Weighted average shares outstanding diluted	216	201	185	151	
Income (loss) from continuing operations per weighted average shares					
outstanding diluted	(0.71)	(4.14)	8.69	3.94	
Net income (loss) per weighted average shares outstanding diluted	\$ (0.70)	\$ (3.90)	\$ 8.69	\$ 3.93	

	Quarters Ended					
	March 31,	June 30,	September 30,	December 31,		
	2007	2007	2007	2007		
Operating revenue	\$ 351	\$ 542	\$ 717	\$ 409		
Cost of fuel, electricity and other products	275	229	195	213		
Operating income (loss)	(103)	(71)	318	(3)		
Income (loss) from continuing operations	(133)	(83)	642	7		
Income from discontinued operations	81	1,339	133	9		
Consolidated net income (loss)	$(52)^{(5)}$	1,256(6)	775(7)	16		
Weighted average shares outstanding basic	256	256	256	238		
Income (loss) from continuing operations per weighted average shares						
outstanding basic	(0.52)	(0.32)	2.51	0.03		
Net income (loss) per weighted average shares outstanding basic	(0.20)	4.91	3.03	0.07		
Weighted average shares outstanding diluted	256	256	283	264		
Income (loss) from continuing operations per weighted average shares						
outstanding diluted	(0.52)	(0.32)	2.27	0.03		
Net income (loss) per weighted average shares outstanding diluted	\$ (0.20)	\$ 4.91	\$ 2.74	\$ 0.06		

(1) Includes unrealized losses of \$302 million in operating revenues and \$1 million of unrealized losses in cost of fuel, electricity and other products primarily as a result of significant increases in energy prices in the quarter.

- (2) Includes unrealized losses of \$911 million in operating revenues and \$37 million of unrealized gains in cost of fuel, electricity and other products primarily as a result of significant increases in energy prices in the quarter.
- (3) Includes unrealized gains of \$1.438 billion in operating revenues and \$43 million of unrealized losses in cost of fuel, electricity and other products primarily as a result of significant decreases in energy prices in the quarter.

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

⁽⁴⁾ Includes unrealized gains of \$615 million in revenues and \$47 million in unrealized losses in cost of fuel, electricity and other products primarily as a result of significant decreases in energy prices in the quarter.

- ⁽⁵⁾ Includes a curtailment gain on postretirement benefits of \$32 million and an income tax benefit of \$27 million related to adjustments in the estimated value of the NOLs used to offset the taxable gain in 2007 related to the sale of the Philippine business.
- ⁽⁶⁾ Includes a gain of \$8 million on the sale of Mirant NY-Gen, an impairment of \$175 million to reduce the carrying value of the Lovett facility to its estimated fair value and an after tax gain of \$1.3 billion related to the sale of the Philippine business.
- ⁽⁷⁾ Includes a gain of \$379 million related to the Pepco Settlement Agreement, a gain of \$62 million on the sale of the Caribbean business and a gain of \$24 million related to the agreement regarding Wrightsville transmission credits.

In the third quarter of 2006, the Company commenced separate auction processes to sell its Philippine and Caribbean businesses and six of its U.S. natural gas-fired facilities. On May 1, 2007, the Company completed the sale of the six U.S. natural gas-fired facilities. On June 22, 2007, the Company completed the sale of its Philippine business and on August 8, 2007, the Company completed the sale of its Caribbean business. In addition, on May 7, 2007, the Company completed the sale of Mirant NY-Gen. The Company reclassified the related revenues and expenses of these businesses and assets to discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of operations.

16. Litigation and Other Contingencies

The Company is involved in a number of significant legal proceedings. In certain cases, plaintiffs seek to recover large and sometimes unspecified damages, and some matters may be unresolved for several years. The Company cannot currently determine the outcome of the proceedings described below or the ultimate amount of potential losses and therefore has not made any provision for such matters unless specifically noted below. Pursuant to SFAS 5, management provides for estimated losses to the extent information becomes available indicating that losses are probable and that the amounts are reasonably estimable. Additional losses could have a material adverse effect on the Company s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Environmental Matters

EPA Information Request. In January 2001, the EPA issued a request for information to Mirant concerning the implications under the EPA s NSR regulations promulgated under the Clean Air Act of past repair and maintenance activities at the Potomac River facility in Virginia and the Chalk Point, Dickerson and Morgantown facilities in Maryland. The requested information concerned the period of operations that predates the ownership and lease of those facilities by Mirant Potomac River, Mirant Chalk Point and Mirant Mid-Atlantic. Mirant responded fully to this request. Under the APSA, Pepco is responsible for fines and penalties arising from any violation associated with operations prior to the acquisition or lease of the facilities by Mirant Potomac River, Mirant Chalk Point and Mirant Mid-Atlantic. If a violation is determined to have occurred at any of the facilities, Mirant Potomac River, Mirant Chalk Point and Mirant Mid-Atlantic, as the owner or lessee of the facility, may be responsible for the cost of purchasing and installing emissions control equipment, the cost of which may be material. Mirant Chalk Point and Mirant Mid-Atlantic have installed and are installing a variety of emissions control equipment on the Chalk Point, Dickerson and Morgantown facilities in Maryland to comply with the Maryland Healthy Air Act, but that equipment may not include all of the emissions control equipment that could be required if a violation of the EPA s NSR regulations is determined to have occurred at one or more of those facilities. If such a violation is determined to have occurred after the acquisition or lease of the facilities by Mirant Potomac River, Mirant Chalk Point and Mirant Mid-Atlantic or, if occurring prior to the acquisition or lease, is determined to constitute a continuing violation, Mirant Potomac River, Mirant Chalk Point or Mirant Mid-Atlantic could also be subject to fines and penalties by the state or federal government for the period after its acquisition or lease of the facility at issue, the cost of which may be material, although applicable bankruptcy law may bar such liability for periods prior to January 3, 2006, when the Plan became effective for Mirant Potomac River, Mirant Chalk Point and Mirant Mid-Atlantic.

Faulkner Fly Ash Facility. By letter dated April 2, 2008, the Environmental Integrity Project and the Potomac Riverkeeper notified Mirant and various of its subsidiaries that they and certain individuals intend to file suit alleging that violations of the Clean Water Act are occurring at the Faulkner Fly Ash Facility owned by Mirant MD Ash Management. The April 2, 2008, letter alleges that the Faulkner facility discharges certain pollutants at levels that exceed Maryland s water quality criteria, that it discharged certain pollutants without obtaining an appropriate National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit, and that Mirant MD Ash Management failed to perform monthly monitoring required under an applicable NPDES permit. The letter indicated that the organizations intend to file suit to enjoin the violations alleged, to obtain civil penalties for past violations occurring after January 3, 2006, and to recover attorneys fees. Mirant disputes the allegations of violations of the Clean Water Act made by the two organizations in the April 2, 2008, letter.

In late May 2008, the MDE filed a complaint in the Circuit Court for Charles County, Maryland, against Mirant MD Ash Management and Mirant Mid-Atlantic. The complaint alleges violations of Maryland s water pollution laws similar to those asserted in the April 2, 2008, letter from the Environmental Integrity Project and the Potomac Riverkeeper. The MDE complaint requests that the court (1) prohibit continuation of the alleged unpermitted discharges, (2) require Mirant MD Ash Management and Mirant Mid-Atlantic to cease from disposing of any further coal combustion byproducts at the Faulkner Fly Ash Facility and close and cap the existing disposal cells within one year and (3) assess civil penalties of up to \$10,000 per day for each violation. The discharges that are the subject of the MDE s complaint result from a leachate treatment system installed by Mirant MD Ash Management in accordance with a December 18, 2000, Complaint and Consent Order (the December 2000 Consent Order) entered by the Maryland Secretary of the Environment, Water Management Administration pursuant to an agreement between the MDE and Pepco, the previous owner of the Faulkner Fly Ash Facility. Mirant MD Ash Management and Mirant Mid-Atlantic on July 23, 2008, filed a motion seeking dismissal of the MDE complaint, arguing that the discharges are permitted by the December 2000 Consent Order.

Mirant Potomac River Wind Screen NOV. On December 18, 2008, the Virginia DEQ issued an NOV to Mirant Potomac River asserting that on November 21, 2008 and December 10, 2008, observations of the windscreens installed on fencing surrounding the coal pile at the Potomac River facility indicated that the screening was not properly fastened, resulting in a potential violation of Virginia s Air Pollution Control Law and regulations. The NOV did not seek a specific penalty amount but noted that the violations identified could subject Mirant Potomac River to civil penalties of varying amounts under different provisions of the Virginia Code, including a potential civil fine of up to \$100,000.

Notice of Intent to Sue Regarding Chalk Point Emissions. Mirant, Mirant Mid-Atlantic and Mirant Chalk Point received a letter dated January 22, 2009, from the Environmental Integrity Project, the Chesapeake Climate Action Network and an individual providing notice that they intend to file suit alleging that Mirant Chalk Point has failed to install controls to limit emissions of particulate matter on two units of the Chalk Point generating facility that burn residual fuel oil. The January 22, 2009, letter alleges that the failure to install such controls violates the Clean Air Act and Maryland environmental regulations. The letter states that the organizations intend to file suit to enjoin the violations alleged, to obtain civil penalties for past noncompliance and to recover attorney s fees. Mirant disputes the allegations of violations of the Clean Air Act and Maryland environmental regulations made by the two organizations in the January 22, 2009, letter.

New York State Administrative Claims. On January 24, 2006, the State of New York and the NYSDEC filed a notice of administrative claims in the Company s Chapter 11 proceedings asserting a claim seeking to require the Company to provide funding to its subsidiaries owning generating facilities in New York to satisfy certain specified environmental compliance obligations, citing various then outstanding matters between the State and the Company s subsidiaries owning generating facilities in New York related to compliance with environmental laws and regulations. On April 12, 2008, the State of New York and the NYSDEC filed a separate notice of administrative claims in the bankruptcy proceedings of Mirant New York, Mirant Bowline and Mirant Lovett (all of which emerged from bankruptcy in 2007) alleging various potential violations of New York environmental laws and regulations related to the operation of the Bowline and Lovett generating facilities

during the period those entities were in bankruptcy. Except for the alleged violations described below in Lovett Coal Ash Management Facility Notice of Hearing and Complaint, all of the matters or alleged violations set out in the January 24, 2006, and April 12, 2008, administrative claims have now been resolved.

Riverkeeper Suit Against Mirant Lovett. On March 11, 2005, Riverkeeper, Inc. filed suit against Mirant Lovett in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York under the Clean Water Act. The suit alleges that Mirant Lovett failed to implement a marine life exclusion system at its Lovett generating facility and to perform monitoring for the exclusion of certain aquatic organisms from the facility s cooling water intake structures in violation of Mirant Lovett s water discharge permit issued by the State of New York. The plaintiff requested the court to enjoin Mirant Lovett from continuing to operate the Lovett generating facility in a manner that allegedly violates the Clean Water Act, to impose civil penalties of \$32,500 per day of violation, and to award the plaintiff attorneys fees. Mirant Lovett s view is that it has complied with the terms of its water discharge permit, as amended by a Consent Order entered June 29, 2004. On April 20, 2005, the district court approved a stipulation agreed to by the plaintiff and Mirant Lovett became final and non-appealable, which stay expired in late 2007. Mirant Lovett has filed a motion seeking dismissal of the suit on the grounds that it complied with the terms of its water discharge permit, the closure of the Lovett generating facility in April 2008 moots the plaintiff s request for injunctive relief, and the discharge in bankruptcy received by Mirant Lovett in 2007 bars any claim for penalties.

Lovett Coal Ash Management Facility Notice of Hearing and Complaint. On April 16, 2008, the staff of the NYSDEC filed a complaint with the NYSDEC against Mirant Lovett alleging various violations of New York s Environmental Conservation Law arising from the coal ash management facility (CAMF) located at the Lovett generating facility, including the alleged discharge of pollutants into the groundwater in excess of allowed levels. The complaint also contends that Mirant Lovett failed to provide an adequate Leachate Assessment Report related to the CAMF that the NYSDEC staff asserts was required under the terms of a Consent Order dated June 2, 2006. The complaint requests that Mirant Lovett be required to perform various assessments related to groundwater quality and causes of leachate from the CAMF and seeks assessment of a civil penalty of \$200,000 and the recovery of \$15,000 for the portion of a penalty imposed under the June 2, 2006, Consent Order that had been suspended. Mirant Lovett disputes the allegations made by the NYSDEC staff in its complaint and thinks that it has complied with the June 2, 2006, Consent Order.

Notices of Intent to Sue for Alleged Violations of the Endangered Species Act. Mirant and Mirant Delta have received two letters, one dated September 27, 2007, sent on behalf of the Coalition for a Sustainable Delta, four water districts, and an individual and the second dated October 16, 2007, sent on behalf of San Francisco Baykeeper (collectively with the parties sending the September 27, 2007, letter, the Noticing Parties), providing notice that the Noticing Parties intend to file suit alleging that Mirant Delta has violated, and continues to violate, the Federal Endangered Species Act through the operation of its Contra Costa and Pittsburg generating facilities. The Noticing Parties contend that the facilities use of water drawn from the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta for cooling purposes results in harm to four species of fish listed as endangered species. The Noticing Parties assert that Mirant Delta s authorizations to take (i.e., cause harm to) those species, a biological opinion and incidental take statement issued by the National Marine Fisheries Service on October 17, 2002, for three of the fish species and a biological opinion and incidental take statement issued by the United States Fish and Wildlife Service on November 4, 2002, for the fourth fish species, have been violated by Mirant Delta and no longer apply to permit the effects on the four fish species caused by the operation of the Contra Costa and Pittsburg generating facilities. Following receipt of these letters, in late October 2007, Mirant Delta received correspondence from the United States Fish and Wildlife Service, the National Marine Fisheries Service and the Army Corps of Engineers clarifying that Mirant Delta continued to be authorized to take the four species of fish protected under the Federal Endangered Species Act. The agencies have initiated a process that will review the environmental effects of Mirant Delta s water usage, including effects on the protected species of fish. That process could lead to changes in the manner in which Mirant Delta can use river water for the operation of the Contra Costa and Pittsburg generating facilities. In a subsequent letter, the Coalition for a Sustainable Delta also

alleged violations of the National Environmental Policy Act and the California Endangered Species Act associated with the operation of Mirant Delta s facilities. Mirant Delta disputes the allegations made by the Noticing Parties. No lawsuits have been filed to date, and San Francisco Baykeeper on February 1, 2008, withdrew its notice of intent to sue.

Chapter 11 Proceedings

On July 14, 2003, and various dates thereafter, Mirant Corporation and certain of its subsidiaries (collectively, the Mirant Debtors) filed voluntary petitions for relief under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the Bankruptcy Court. Mirant and most of the Mirant Debtors emerged from bankruptcy on January 3, 2006, when the Plan became effective. The remaining Mirant Debtors (Mirant New York, Mirant Bowline, Mirant Lovett, Mirant NY-Gen and Hudson Valley Gas) emerged from bankruptcy on various dates in 2007. As of December 31, 2008, approximately 850,000 of the shares of Mirant common stock to be distributed under the Plan had not yet been distributed and have been reserved for distribution with respect to claims disputed by the Mirant Debtors that have not been resolved. Under the terms of the Plan, upon the resolution of such a disputed claim, the claimant will receive the same pro rata distributions of Mirant common stock, cash, or both common stock and cash as previously allowed claims, regardless of the price at which Mirant common stock is trading at the time the claim is resolved.

To the extent the aggregate amount of the payouts determined to be due with respect to disputed claims ultimately exceeds the amount of the funded claim reserve, Mirant would have to issue additional shares of common stock to address the shortfall, which would dilute existing Mirant stockholders, and Mirant and Mirant Americas Generation would have to pay additional cash amounts as necessary under the terms of the Plan to satisfy such pre-petition claims. If Mirant is required to issue additional shares of common stock to satisfy unresolved claims, certain parties who received approximately 21 million of the 300 million shares of common stock distributed under the Plan are entitled to receive additional shares of common stock to avoid dilution of their distributions under the Plan.

Actions Pursued by MC Asset Recovery

Under the Plan, the rights to certain actions filed by Mirant and various of its subsidiaries against third parties were transferred to MC Asset Recovery. MC Asset Recovery, although wholly-owned by Mirant, is governed by managers who are independent of Mirant and its other subsidiaries. Under the Plan, any cash recoveries obtained by MC Asset Recovery from the actions transferred to it, net of fees and costs incurred in prosecuting the actions, are to be paid to the unsecured creditors of Mirant Corporation in the Chapter 11 proceedings and the holders of the equity interests in Mirant immediately prior to the effective date of the Plan except where such a recovery results in an allowed claim in the bankruptcy proceedings, as described below. Mirant may not reduce such payments for the taxes owed on any net recoveries up to \$175 million. If the aggregate recoveries exceed \$175 million net of costs, then Mirant may reduce the payments to be made to such unsecured creditors and former holders of equity interests under the Plan by the amount of any taxes it will owe on the amount in excess of \$175 million. Mirant also is obligated to make contributions to MC Asset Recovery as necessary to pay professional fees and certain other costs reasonably incurred by MC Asset Recovery, including expert witness fees and other costs of the actions transferred to MC Asset Recovery. In June 2008, Mirant and MC Asset Recovery, with the approval of the Bankruptcy Court, agreed to limit the total amount of funding to be provided by Mirant to MC Asset Recovery to \$67.8 million, and the amount of such funding obligation not yet incurred by Mirant has been fully accrued. Mirant is entitled to be repaid the amounts it funds from any recoveries obtained by MC Asset Recovery before any distribution is made from such recoveries to the unsecured creditors of Mirant Corporation or the holders of the equity interests in Mirant immediately prior to the effective date of the Plan. Most of the actions transferred to MC Asset Recovery remain pending, and through December 31, 2008, those actions had not resulted in recoveries in excess of the fees and costs incurred by MC Asset Recovery.

Certain of the actions transferred to MC Asset Recovery seek to recover damages for fraudulent transfers that occurred prior to the filing of Mirant s bankruptcy proceedings. Each of those actions alleges that the defendants engaged in transactions with Mirant or its subsidiaries at a time when they were insolvent or were rendered insolvent by the resulting transfers and that they did not receive fair value for those transfers. If MC Asset Recovery succeeds in obtaining any recoveries on these avoidance claims transferred to it, the party or parties from which such recoveries are obtained could seek to file claims in Mirant s bankruptcy proceedings. Mirant would vigorously contest any such claims on the grounds that, among other things, the avoidance claims being pursued by MC Asset Recovery seek to recover only amounts received by third parties in excess of fair value and that the recovery of such amounts does not reinstate any enforceable pre-petition obligation that could give rise to a claim. If such a claim were to be allowed by the Bankruptcy Court as a result of a recovery by MC Asset Recovery, then the party receiving the claim would be entitled to either Mirant common stock or such stock and cash as provided under the Plan. Under such circumstances, the order entered by the Bankruptcy Court on December 9, 2005, confirming the Plan provides that Mirant would retain from the net amount recovered an amount equal to the dollar amount of the resulting allowed claim rather than distribute such amount to the creditors and former equity holders as described above.

California and Western Power Markets

FERC Refund Proceedings Arising Out of California Energy Crisis. High prices experienced in California and western wholesale electricity markets in 2000 and 2001 caused various purchasers of electricity in those markets to initiate proceedings seeking refunds. Several of those proceedings remain pending either before the FERC or on appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit (the Ninth Circuit). The proceedings that remain pending include proceedings (1) ordered by the FERC on July 25, 2001, (the FERC Refund Proceedings) to determine the amount of any refunds and amounts owed for sales made by market participants, including Mirant Americas Energy Marketing, in the CAISO or the Cal PX markets from October 2, 2000, through June 20, 2001 (the Refund Period), (2) ordered by the FERC to determine whether there had been unjust and unreasonable charges for spot market bilateral sales in the Pacific Northwest from December 25, 2000, through June 20, 2001 (the Pacific Northwest Proceeding), and (3) arising from a complaint filed in 2002 by the California Attorney General that sought refunds for transactions conducted in markets administered by the CAISO and the Cal PX outside the Refund Period set by the FERC and for transactions between the DWR and various owners of generation and power marketers, including Mirant Americas Energy Marketing and subsidiaries of Mirant Americas Generation. Various parties appealed the FERC orders related to these proceedings to the Ninth Circuit seeking review of a number of issues, including changing the Refund Period to include periods prior to October 2, 2000, and expanding the sales of electricity subject to potential refund to include bilateral sales made to the DWR and other parties. While various of these appeals remain pending, the Ninth Circuit ruled in orders issued on August 2, 2006, and September 9, 2004, that the FERC should consider further whether to grant relief for sales of electricity made in the CAISO and Cal PX markets prior to October 2, 2000, at rates found to be unjust, and, in the proceeding initiated by the California Attorney General, what remedies, including potential refunds, are appropriate where entities, including Mirant Americas Energy Marketing, purportedly did not comply with certain filing requirements for transactions conducted under market-based rate tariffs.

On January 14, 2005, Mirant and certain of its subsidiaries (the Mirant Settling Parties) entered into a Settlement and Release of Claims Agreement (the California Settlement) with PG&E, Southern California Edison Company, San Diego Gas and Electric Company, the CPUC, the DWR, the EOB and the Attorney General of the State of California (collectively, the California Parties). The California Settlement was approved by the FERC on April 13, 2005, and became effective on April 15, 2005, upon its approval by the Bankruptcy Court. The California Settlement resulted in the release of most of Mirant Americas Energy Marketing s potential liability (1) in the FERC Refund Proceedings for sales made in the CAISO or the Cal PX markets, (2) in the Pacific Northwest Proceeding, and (3) in any proceedings at the FERC resulting from the complaint filed in 2002 by the California Attorney General. Based on the California Settlement, on April 15, 2008, the FERC dismissed Mirant Americas Energy Marketing and the other subsidiaries of the Company from the proceeding initiated by the complaint filed in 2002 by the California Attorney General.

Under the California Settlement, the California Parties and those other market participants who have opted into the settlement have released the Mirant Settling Parties, including Mirant Americas Energy Marketing, from any liability for refunds related to sales of electricity and natural gas in the western markets from January 1, 1998, through July 14, 2003. Also, the California Parties have assumed the obligation of Mirant Americas Energy Marketing to pay any refunds determined by the FERC to be owed by Mirant Americas Energy Marketing to other parties that do not opt into the settlement for transactions in the CAISO and Cal PX markets during the Refund Period, with the liability of the California Parties for such refund obligation limited to the amount of certain receivables assigned by Mirant Americas Energy Marketing to the California Parties under the California Settlement. The settlement did not relieve Mirant Americas Energy Marketing of liability for any refunds that the FERC determines it to owe (1) to participants in the Cal PX and CAISO markets that are not California Parties (or that did not elect to opt into the settlement) for periods outside the Refund Period and (2) to participants in bilateral transactions with Mirant Americas Energy Marketing that are not California Parties (or that did not elect to opt into the settlement).

Resolution of the refund proceedings that remain pending before the FERC or that currently are on appeal to the Ninth Circuit could ultimately result in the FERC concluding that the prices received by Mirant Americas Energy Marketing in some transactions occurring in 2000 and 2001 should be reduced. The Company s view is that the bulk of any obligations of Mirant Americas Energy Marketing to make refunds as a result of sales completed prior to July 14, 2003, in the CAISO or Cal PX markets or in bilateral transactions either have been addressed by the California Settlement or have been resolved as part of Mirant Americas Energy Marketing s bankruptcy proceedings. To the extent that Mirant Americas Energy Marketing s potential refund liability arises from contracts that were transferred to Mirant Energy Trading as part of the transactions under those contracts.

FERC Show Cause Proceeding Relating to Trading Practices. On June 25, 2003, the FERC issued a show cause order (the Trading Practices Order) to more than 50 parties, including Mirant Americas Energy Marketing and subsidiaries of Mirant Americas Generation. The Trading Practices Order identified certain specific trading practices that the FERC indicated could constitute gaming or anomalous market behavior in violation of the CAISO and Cal PX tariffs, and required sellers previously involved in transactions of those types to demonstrate why such transactions were not violations of the CAISO and Cal PX tariffs. On September 30, 2003, and December 19, 2003, the Mirant entities filed with the FERC for approval of a settlement agreement (the Trading Settlement Agreement) entered into between certain Mirant entities and the FERC Trial Staff and an amendment to that agreement, under which Mirant Americas Energy Marketing would pay \$332,411 and the FERC would have an allowed unsecured claim in Mirant Americas Energy Marketing s bankruptcy proceeding for \$3.67 million to settle the show cause proceeding. The FERC approved the Trading Settlement Agreement, as amended, on June 27, 2005, and the Bankruptcy Court approved it on August 24, 2005. Certain parties filed motions for rehearing with the FERC, which it denied on October 11, 2006. A party to the proceeding appealed the FERC s June 27, 2005, order to the Ninth Circuit. In December 2008, the Ninth Circuit entered an order granting that party s request to voluntarily dismiss its appeal, which dismissal caused the Trading Settlement Agreement to become effective.

Mirant Americas Energy Marketing Contract Dispute with Southern California Water. On December 21, 2001, Southern California Water Company filed a complaint at the FERC seeking reformation of the purchase price of energy under a long-term contract it had entered with Mirant Americas Energy Marketing, claiming that the prices under that contract were unjust and unreasonable because, when it entered the contract, western power markets were dysfunctional and non-competitive. The contract was for the purchase of 15 MWs during the period April 1, 2001, through December 31, 2006. On June 25, 2003, the FERC dismissed this proceeding. Southern California Water appealed that dismissal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, which on December 19, 2006, reversed the dismissal of the complaint and a number of other similar complaints and remanded the proceedings to the FERC. On June 26, 2008, the United States Supreme Court affirmed the remand of the Southern California Water proceeding and the other similar proceedings to the FERC, concluding that the

FERC should analyze further (1) whether the contracts at issue imposed an excessive burden on consumers in the later periods covered by the contracts, not just at their outset, and (2) whether any of the sellers engaged in unlawful market manipulation, which the Court concluded would remove the premise underlying the FERC s dismissal of the complaints that the rates agreed to in the contracts were based on fair, arm s length negotiations. On December 18, 2008, the FERC issued an order on remand providing for the record to be supplemented through further written filings by the parties regarding the specific issues raised by the ruling entered by the United States Supreme Court. Upon the transfer of the assets of the trading and marketing business to Mirant Energy Trading under the Plan, Mirant Energy Trading assumed Mirant Americas Energy Marketing s contract obligations to Southern California Water Company, including any potential refund obligations.

Maryland Public Service Commission Complaint to the FERC re PJM Offer Capping Rules

In certain market conditions, such as where congestion requires the dispatch of a generating facility that bid a higher price for electricity than other available generating facilities, PJM s market rules (the Offer Capping Rules) limit the amount that the owner of a generating facility may bid to sell electricity from that facility to its incremental cost to produce that electricity. As approved by the FERC, the Offer Capping Rules contain exemptions for generating facilities entering service during certain years (none of which are owned by the Company) and for generating facilities (some of which are owned by the Company) that can relieve congestion arising at certain defined transmission interfaces. On January 15, 2008, the Maryland Public Service Commission (the MD PSC) filed a complaint with the FERC requesting that the FERC remove all exemptions to the Offer Capping Rules during hours when the PJM market reflects potentially non-competitive conditions, as determined by the PJM Market Monitor.

The complaint alleges that these exemptions to the Offer Capping Rules likely result in higher market clearing prices for electricity in PJM, and higher revenues to the Company and other owners of generation that are selling electricity, during the periods when the exemptions prevent the application of the Offer Capping Rules to one or more generating facilities. The MD PSC requested that the FERC require a recalculation of prices in the PJM energy markets without application of the exemptions to the Offer Capping Rules for each day from January 15, 2008, through the date that the Commission grants the requested relief and that it require owners of generation to refund any revenues received in excess of the amounts that would have been received had the exemptions not been applied.

In addition, the MD PSC alleged that PJM violated its tariff by not publicly disclosing since mid 2006 quarterly analyses performed by the PJM Market Monitor of the potential for the exercise of market power by owners of generation during periods when market conditions caused the exemptions to the Offer Capping Rules to apply. The MD PSC requested the FERC to initiate an investigation of whether owners of generation exercised market power during such periods, and, if so, to order refunds beginning as of September 8, 2006, or the first date that the FERC determines that PJM violated its tariff.

On May 16, 2008, the FERC issued an order eliminating the exemptions to the Offer Capping Rules challenged by the MD PSC in its complaint, denying the MD PSC is request for refunds, and establishing a proceeding to examine what test should be applied to determine whether a generator should be exempted from the Offer Capping Rules because of lack of market power in circumstances where transmission constraints require the dispatch of a higher priced generating facility in lieu of available lower priced generation. A coalition of electricity generators, of which the Company is a member, filed a request for rehearing. On December 18, 2008, the FERC issued an order denying all requests for rehearing.

Complaint Challenging Capacity Rates Under the RPM Provisions of PJM s Tariff

On May 30, 2008, a variety of parties, including the state public utility commissions of Maryland, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, and Delaware, ratepayer advocates, certain electric cooperatives, various groups representing industrial electricity users, and federal agencies (the RPM Buyers), filed a complaint with the FERC asserting that capacity auctions held to determine capacity payments under PJM s reliability pricing model

(RPM) tariff had produced rates that were unjust and unreasonable. PJM conducted the capacity auctions that are the subject of the complaint to set the capacity payments in effect under the RPM provisions of PJM s tariff for twelve month periods beginning June 1, 2008, June 1, 2009, and June 1, 2010. The RPM Buyers allege that (i) the time between when the auctions were held and the periods that the resulting capacity rates would be in effect were too short to allow competition from new resources in the auctions, (ii) the administrative process established under the RPM provisions of PJM s tariff was inadequate to restrain the exercise of market power through the withholding of capacity to increase prices, and (iii) the locational pricing established under the RPM provisions of PJM s tariff created opportunities for sellers to raise prices while serving no legitimate function. The RPM Buyers asked the FERC to reduce significantly the capacity rates established by the capacity auctions and to set June 1, 2008, as the date beginning on which any rates found by the FERC to be excessive would be subject to refund. If the FERC were to reduce the capacity payments set through the capacity auctions to the rates proposed by the RPM Buyers, the capacity revenue the Company expects to receive for the periods June 1, 2008 through May 31, 2011, would be reduced by approximately \$600 million. On September 19, 2008, the FERC issued an order dismissing the complaint. The FERC found that no party had violated the RPM provisions of PJM s tariff and that the prices determined during the auctions were in accordance with the tariff s provisions. The RPM Buyers have filed a request for rehearing.

Stockholder-Bondholder Litigation

Mirant Securities Consolidated Action. Twenty lawsuits filed in 2002 against Mirant and four of its officers have been consolidated into a single action, *In re Mirant Corporation Securities Litigation*, before the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia. In their original complaints, the plaintiffs alleged, among other things, that the defendants violated federal securities laws by making material misrepresentations and omissions to the investing public regarding Mirant s business operations and future prospects during the period from January 19, 2001, through May 6, 2002, because of potential liabilities arising out of its activities in California during 2000 and 2001. The plaintiffs sought unspecified damages, including compensatory damages, and the recovery of reasonable attorneys fees and costs.

In November 2002, the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint that added as defendants the Southern Company (Southern), the directors of Mirant immediately prior to its initial public offering of stock and various firms that were underwriters for the initial public offering by the Company. In addition to the claims set out in the original complaint, the amended complaint asserted claims under the Securities Act, alleging that the registration statement and prospectus for the initial public offering in 2000 of Mirant s old common stock cancelled under the Plan misrepresented and omitted material facts. On December 11, 2003, the plaintiffs filed a proof of claim against Mirant in the Chapter 11 proceedings, but they subsequently withdrew their claim in October 2004. On August 29, 2005, the district court, at the request of the plaintiffs, dismissed Mirant as a defendant in this action. On August 5, 2008, the district court addressed various pending motions to dismiss filed by the remaining defendants by requiring the plaintiffs to submit an amended complaint within thirty days, after which the defendants could refile their motions to dismiss. The plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint on September 5, 2008, and the defendants filed motions seeking dismissal of that amended complaint. On January 7, 2009, the district court dismissed the complaint with prejudice, and that dismissal was not appealed and has become final.

Other Legal Matters

The Company is involved in various other claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

17. Settlements and Other Charges *Pepco Litigation*

In 2000, Mirant purchased power generating facilities and other assets from Pepco, including certain PPAs between Pepco and third parties. Under the terms of the APSA, Mirant and Pepco entered into the Back-to-Back Agreement with respect to certain PPAs, including Pepco s long-term PPA with Panda-Brandywine, LP, under which (1) Pepco agreed to resell to Mirant all capacity, energy, ancillary services and other benefits to which it was entitled under those agreements and (2) Mirant agreed to pay Pepco each month all amounts due from Pepco to the sellers under those agreements for the immediately preceding month associated with such capacity, energy, ancillary services and other benefits. The Back-to-Back Agreement, which did not expire until 2021, obligated Mirant to purchase power from Pepco at prices that typically were higher than the market prices for power.

In the bankruptcy proceedings, the Mirant Debtors sought to reject the Back-to-Back Agreement or to recharacterize it as pre-petition debt, which efforts, if successful, would have resulted in the Mirant Debtors having no further obligation to perform and in Pepco receiving a claim in the bankruptcy proceedings for its resulting damages. Pending a final determination of the Mirant Debtors ability to reject or recharacterize the Back-to-Back Agreement and certain other agreements with Pepco, the Plan provided that the Mirant Debtors obligations under the APSA and the Back-to-Back Agreement were interim obligations of Mirant Power Purchase and were unconditionally guaranteed by Mirant.

On May 30, 2006, Mirant and various of its subsidiaries (collectively the Mirant Settling Parties) entered into the Settlement Agreement (the Pepco Settlement Agreement) with Pepco and various of its affiliates (collectively the Pepco Settling Parties). The Pepco Settlement Agreement could not become effective until it had been approved by the Bankruptcy Court and that approval order had become a final order no longer subject to appeal. The Bankruptcy Court entered an order approving the Pepco Settlement Agreement on August 9, 2006. That order was appealed, but the appeal was dismissed by agreement of the parties in August 2007, and the Pepco Settlement Agreement became effective August 10, 2007. The Pepco Settlement Agreement fully resolved the contract rejection motions that remained pending in the bankruptcy proceedings, as well as other matters disputed between Pepco and Mirant and its subsidiaries. Under the Pepco Settlement Agreement, Mirant Power Purchase assumed the remaining obligations under the APSA, and Mirant has guaranteed its performance. The Back-to-Back Agreement was rejected and terminated effective as of May 31, 2006.

The Pepco Settlement Agreement granted Pepco a claim against Old Mirant in Old Mirant s bankruptcy proceedings that was to result in Pepco receiving common stock of Mirant and cash having a value, after liquidation of the stock by Pepco, equal to \$520 million. Shortly after the Pepco Settlement Agreement became effective, Mirant distributed approximately 14 million shares of Mirant common stock from the shares reserved for disputed claims under the Plan to Pepco to satisfy its claim. The Mirant shares in the share reserve, including the shares distributed to Pepco, have been treated as issued and outstanding since Mirant emerged from bankruptcy. Pepco s liquidation of those shares resulted in net proceeds of approximately \$522 million and Pepco paid Mirant the amount in excess of \$520 million. Pepco also refunded to Mirant Power Purchase approximately \$36 million Pepco had received under the Back-to-Back Agreement for energy, capacity or other services delivered after May 31, 2006, through the date the Pepco \$70 million under the terms of the Pepco Settlement Agreement shortly after the appeal was filed. Pepco repaid the \$70 million once the Pepco Settlement Agreement became fully effective.

Upon the distribution of the shares to Pepco, Mirant recognized a gain of \$379 million in the third quarter of 2007. The gain included (1) \$341 million representing the fair value of the derivative contract liability that was reversed as a result of the rejection of the Back-to-Back Agreement, (2) \$36 million refunded by Pepco for payments made under the Back-to-Back Agreement for periods after May 31, 2006, and (3) \$2 million for the

excess payment Pepco received from liquidation of the shares that were distributed to it. The \$341 million and \$2 million were included in other income, net and the \$36 million was included in gross margin in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2007.

New York Tax Proceedings

Mirant New York, Mirant Bowline, Mirant Lovett and Hudson Valley Gas (collectively the New York Companies) were the petitioners in various proceedings (the Tax Certiorari Proceedings) initially brought in the New York state courts challenging the assessed values determined by local taxing authorities for the Bowline and Lovett generating facilities and a natural gas pipeline (the HVG Property) owned by Hudson Valley Gas. Mirant Bowline had challenged the assessed value of the Bowline generating facility and the resulting local tax assessments for tax years 1995 through 2006. Mirant Bowline succeeded to rights held by Orange and Rockland for the tax years prior to its acquisition of the Bowline facility in 1999 under its agreement with Orange and Rockland for the purchase of that facility. Mirant Lovett had challenged the assessed value of the Lovett facility for each of the years 2000 through 2006. Hudson Valley Gas had challenged the assessed value of the HVG Property for each of the years 2004 through 2006. As of December 31, 2006, Mirant Bowline and Mirant Lovett had not paid property taxes on the Bowline and Lovett generating facilities that fell due in the period from September 30, 2003, through December 31, 2006, in order to preserve their respective rights to offset the overpayments of taxes made in earlier years against the sums payable on account of current taxes. Hudson Valley Gas had not paid property taxes that fell due in the period from September 30, 2004, through December 31, 2006.

On December 13, 2006, Mirant and the New York Companies entered into a settlement agreement (the Tax Settlement Agreement) with the Town of Haverstraw (Haverstraw), the Town of Stony Point (Stony Point), the Haverstraw-Stony Point Central School District (the School District), the County of Rockland (the County), the Village of Haverstraw (Haverstraw Village), and the Village of West Haverstraw (West Haverstraw Village and collectively with Haverstraw, Stony Point, the School District, the County, and Haverstraw Village, the Tax Jurisdictions). The Tax Settlement Agreement was approved by the Bankruptcy Court on December 14, 2006, and resolved all pending disputes regarding real property taxes between the New York Companies and the Tax Jurisdictions. Under the agreement, the New York Companies received total refunds of \$163 million from the Tax Jurisdictions and paid unpaid but accrued taxes to the Tax Jurisdictions of \$115 million, resulting in the New York Companies received by the New York Companies was recognized as a gain in the financial statements in the fourth quarter of 2006. In addition, the New York Companies had previously accrued a liability based upon the unpaid taxes as billed by the Tax Jurisdictions. As a result of the reductions of the unpaid taxes that occurred pursuant to the terms of the Tax Settlement Agreement, the New York Companies also recognized in the fourth quarter of 2006 a reduction of operating expenses of approximately \$23 million related to 2006 and a gain of approximately \$71 million related to prior periods.

California Settlement

The California Settlement described in Note 16 in *California and Western Power Markets FERC Refund Proceedings Arising Out of California Energy Crisis* included a provision that either (1) the partially constructed Contra Costa 8 project, which was a planned 530 MW combined cycle generating facility, and related equipment (collectively, the CC8 Assets) were to be transferred to PG&E or (2) PG&E would receive additional alternative consideration of \$70 million (the CC8 Alternative Consideration). To fund the CC8 Alternative Consideration, PG&E received an allowed, unsecured claim in the bankruptcy proceedings against Mirant Delta that resulted in a distribution to PG&E of cash and Mirant common stock with an aggregate value of approximately \$70 million. PG&E was required to liquidate the common stock received as part of that distribution and place the net resulting amount plus any cash received into an escrow account.

The California Settlement provided that if the transfer of the CC8 Assets to PG&E did not occur on or before June 30, 2008, then the CC8 Alternative Consideration was to be paid to PG&E and the Mirant Settling Parties would retain the CC8 Assets. If PG&E closed on its acquisition of the CC8 Assets, the funds in the escrow account were to be paid to Mirant Delta. The transfer of the CC8 Assets to PG&E was completed on November 28, 2006, and the \$70 million escrow account was paid to Mirant Delta. The Company recognized in the fourth quarter of 2006 a gain of \$27 million for the amount by which the escrow account exceeded the carrying amount of the CC8 Assets. The gain was included in other income in the Company s consolidated statements of operations.

Potomac River Settlement

On June 1, 2007, the Virginia DEQ, at the direction of the Virginia State Air Pollution Control Board, issued a state operating permit for the Potomac River generating facility that significantly restricted the facility s operations by imposing stringent limits on its SO2 emissions and constraining unit operations so that no more than three of the facility s five units could operate at one time. On November 30, 2007, the Virginia State Air Pollution Control Board directed the Virginia DEQ to develop an alternative and more comprehensive state operating permit that would allow completion of a proposed project to merge the stacks of certain of the units at the Potomac River facility, set SO2 emissions limits for the facility and allow for greater operating flexibility. In July 2008, the City of Alexandria, Virginia (in which the Potomac River generating facility is located) and Mirant Potomac River entered into an agreement containing certain terms that were included in a proposed comprehensive state operating permit for the Potomac River generating facility issued by the Virginia DEQ that month. Under that agreement, Mirant Potomac River committed to spend \$34 million over several years to reduce particulate emissions. The \$34 million was placed in escrow and is included in funds on deposit and other noncurrent assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and in the Company s estimated capital expenditures. On July 30, 2008, the Virginia State Air Pollution Control Board approved the comprehensive permit with terms consistent with the agreement between Mirant Potomac and the City of Alexandria, and the Virginia DEQ issued the permit on July 31, 2008.

Prior to the issuance of the comprehensive state operating permit in July 2008, the Potomac River generating facility operated under a state operating permit issued June 1, 2007, that significantly restricted the facility s operations by imposing stringent limits on its SO2 emissions and constraining unit operations so that no more than three of the facility s five units could operate at one time. In compliance with the comprehensive permit, in 2008 the Company merged the stacks for units 3, 4 and 5 into one stack at the Potomac River generating facility and, in January 2009, the Company merged the stacks for units 1 and 2 into one stack. With the completion of the stack combinations, the permit issued in July 2008 will not constrain operations of the Potomac River generating facility below historical operations and will allow operation of all five units at one time. Certain provisions of Virginia s air emissions regulations adopted to implement the CAIR, however, could constrain the facility s operations. Mirant Potomac River has challenged those regulations in court.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure None.

Item 9A. *Controls and Procedures* Inherent Limitations in Control Systems

A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements resulting from error or fraud may occur and not be detected. As a result, our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures, or our internal control over financial reporting, will prevent all error and all fraud.

Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b), our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined by Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of December 31, 2008. Based upon this assessment, our management concluded that, as of December 31, 2008, these disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Appearing as exhibits to this annual report are the certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer required in accordance with Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Management s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined by Rules 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). The Company s internal control framework and processes have been designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles. Internal control over financial reporting includes those processes and procedures that:

pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded properly to allow for the preparation of financial statements, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company;

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements; and

provide reasonable assurance as to the detection of fraud.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, we carried out an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008. In conducting our assessment, management utilized the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in *Internal Control Integrated Framework*. Based on this assessment, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2008.

Our independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, has issued reports on their assessment of internal control over financial reporting and our consolidated financial statements. KPMG LLP s reports can be found on pages F-1 and F-2. Our audit committee appoints, retains, oversees, evaluates, compensates and terminates on its sole authority our independent auditors and approves all audit engagements, including the scope, fees and terms of each engagement. The audit committee s oversight process is intended to ensure that we will continue to have high-quality, cost-efficient independent auditing services.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During the quarter ended December 31, 2008, there were no changes in Mirant s internal control over financial reporting or in other factors that could materially affect or is reasonably likely to affect such internal controls over financial reporting.

Item 9B. *Other Information* None.

88

PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be filed on or before March 27, 2009, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be filed on or before March 27, 2009, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be filed on or before March 27, 2009, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be filed on or before March 27, 2009, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, to be filed on or before March 27, 2009, and is incorporated herein by reference.

89

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) 1. Financial Statements

Our consolidated financial statements, including the notes thereto and independent auditors report thereon, are set forth on pages F-1 through F-63 of the Annual Report on Form 10-K, and are incorporated herein by reference.

2. Financial Statement Schedules

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Mirant Corporation and subsidiaries:

We have audited and reported separately herein on the consolidated financial statements of Mirant Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders equity (deficit), comprehensive income and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2008. In connection with our audits of the aforementioned consolidated financial statement schedules as listed within Item 15. These financial statement schedules are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statement schedules based on our audits.

In our opinion, such financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, *Fair Value Measurements*, the measurement provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, *Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit and Other Postretirement Plans*, and FASB Staff Position FIN 39-1, *Amendment of FASB Interpretation No. 39*, in 2008. As discussed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, *Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes*, in 2007

/s/ KPMG LLP

Atlanta, Georgia February 26, 2009

90

Schedule I

MIRANT CORPORATION (PARENT)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

	For the Years Ended December 31, 2008 2007 200 (in millions)		, 006			
Operating income (loss)	\$	18	\$	(3)	\$	(3)
Other Expense (Income), net:				, í		, í
Equity earnings of subsidiaries	(1,10	61)	(2	,636)	(1	,145)
Interest expense-affiliate				24		48
Interest income-nonaffiliate	(:	53)	((142)		(28)
Interest income-affiliate		(1)		(4)		(14)
Other, net				(1)		(4)
Total other expense (income), net	(1,2)	15)	(2	,759)	(1	,143)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes	1,23	33	2	,756	1	,140
Provision (benefit) for income taxes		3		5		(554)
Income from continuing operations	1,23	30	2	751	1	,694
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net		35	((756)		170
Net income	\$ 1,20	65	\$ 1	,995	\$ 1	,864

Schedule I

MIRANT CORPORATION (PARENT)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

	At Decer 2008 (in mil	2007
ASSETS		,
Current Assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 1,461	\$ 4,231
Notes receivables-affiliate	81	41
Other	12	3
Total current assets	1,554	4,275
Noncurrent Assets:		
Investments in affiliates	2,199	1,198
Other	24	1
Total noncurrent assets	2,223	1,199
Total Assets	\$ 3,777	\$ 5,474
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY Current Liabilities: Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Payable to affiliates	\$ 13 2	\$ 43 121
Total current liabilities	15	164
Commitments and Contingencies		
Stockholders Equity:		
Preferred stock, par value \$.01 per share, authorized 100,000,000 shares, no shares issued at December 31, 2008 and 2007		
Common stock, par value \$.01 per share, authorized 1.5 billion shares, issued 310,666,240 and 301,196,073 at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and outstanding 144,629,446 shares and 221,811,972 at December 31,		
2008 and 2007, respectively	3	3
Treasury stock, at cost, 166,036,794 shares and 79,384,101 shares at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively	(5,330)	(2,586)
Additional paid-in capital	11,401	11,357
Accumulated deficit	(2,222)	(3,486)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	(90)	22
Total stockholders equity	3,762	5,310
Total Liabilities and Stockholders Equity	\$ 3,777	\$ 5,474

MIRANT CORPORATION (PARENT)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

	Fc 2008	or the Years Endo December 31, 2007 (in millions)	ed 2006
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:	¢ 1.265	¢ 1.005	¢ 1064
Net income	\$ 1,265 35	\$ 1,995	\$ 1,864
Income (loss) from discontinued operations	33	(756)	170
Income from continuing operations	1,230	2,751	1,694
Adjustments to reconcile net income from continuing operations to net cash provided by operating activities:			
Equity earnings of subsidiaries	(1,161)	(2,636)	(1,145)
Cash dividends received from subsidiaries	301	5,147	542
Deferred income taxes			(551)
Other, net	(9)	20	81
Total adjustments	(869)	2,531	(1,073)
Net cash provided by operating activities	361	5,282	621
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:			
Repayments (issuance) of notes receivables-affiliate	(40)	(36)	7
Net cash used in investing activities Cash Flows from Financing Activities:	(40)	(36)	7
Share repurchases	(2,761)	(1,308)	(1,261)
Capital contributions to subsidiaries	(317)	(93)	(68)
Issuance (repayment) of debt-affiliate	(31)	8	715
Other	18	12	2
Net cash used in financing activities Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of period	(3,091) (2,770) 4,231	(1,381) 3,865 366	(612) 16 350
Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of period	\$ 1,461	\$ 4,231	\$ 366

Schedule I

MIRANT CORPORATION (PARENT)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT

NOTES TO REGISTRANTS CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Background and Basis of Presentation

The condensed parent company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Rule 12-04, Schedule I of Regulation S-X, as the restricted net assets of Mirant Corporation s subsidiaries exceed 25 percent of the consolidated net assets of Mirant Corporation. These statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated statements and notes thereto of Mirant Corporation.

Mirant Corporation is a holding company that was incorporated in Delaware on September 23, 2005. Pursuant to the Plan for Mirant and certain of its subsidiaries, on January 3, 2006, New Mirant emerged from bankruptcy and acquired substantially all of the assets of Old Mirant, a corporation that was formed in Delaware on April 3, 1993, and that had been named Mirant Corporation prior to January 3, 2006. The Plan provides that New Mirant has no successor liability for any unassumed obligations of Old Mirant. Old Mirant was then renamed and transferred to a trust, which is not affiliated with New Mirant.

Equity earnings of subsidiaries consists of earnings of direct subsidiaries of Mirant Corporation (parent), which includes earnings of subsidiaries whose operations were classified as discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements of Mirant Corporation.

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net includes discontinued operations activity for only Mirant Corporation (parent), which is primarily related to deferred taxes stemming from discontinued operations and parent level consolidation entries related to intercompany transactions.

2. Commitments and Contingencies

As of December 31, 2008, the parent company had \$11 million of guarantees which are included in Note 10 Commitments and Contingencies Guarantees.

See Note 16 Litigation and Other Contingencies for a detailed discussion of Mirant Corporation s contingencies.

Schedule II

MIRANT CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

		As of December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 Additions						
Description	Balance at Beginning of Period	Charged to Income	0	rged to ther counts (in millior		uctions	En	nce at nd of eriod
Provision for uncollectible accounts (current)								
2008	\$12	\$ 3	\$	2	\$	(4)	\$	13
2007	75	11		3		(77)		12
2006	84	15		(24)				75
Provision for uncollectible accounts (noncurrent)								
2008	\$ 6	\$41	\$	(2)	\$	(3)	\$	42
2007	24			(3)		(15)		6
2006	72	14		24		(86)		24

3. Exhibit Index

Exhibit No. 2.1	Exhibit Name Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of April 17, 2007, between Mirant International Investments, Inc. and Marubeni Caribbean Power Holdings, Inc. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 18, 2007)
2.2	Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of January 15, 2007, by and between Mirant Americas, Inc. and LS Power (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 18, 2007)
2.3	Stock and Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 11, 2006, by and among Mirant Asia-Pacific Ventures, Inc., Mirant Asia-Pacific Holdings, Inc., Mirant Sweden International AB (publ), and Tokyo Crimson Energy Holdings Corporation (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 13, 2006)
3.1	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 3, 2006)
3.2	Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 6, 2008)
4.1	Form of Warrant Agreement between Registrant and Mellon Investor Services LLC, as Warrant Agent (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 3, 2006)
4.2	Indenture between the Company and Bankers Trust Company, as Trustee, relating to the Notes (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Mirant Americas Generation, Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-63240)
4.3	Second Supplemental Indenture (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Mirant Americas Generation, Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-63240)
4.4	Third Supplemental Indenture (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Mirant Americas Generation, Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-63240)
4.5	Fifth Supplemental Indenture (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Mirant Americas Generation, Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-4/A Amendment No. 1, Registration No. 333-85124 as Exhibit 4.6)
4.6*	Form of Sixth Supplemental Indenture
4.7	Form of Seventh Supplemental Indenture (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Mirant Americas Generation, Inc. Form 10-Q filed May 14, 2007)
4.8	Form of Senior Note Indenture between Mirant North America, LLC, Mirant North America Escrow, LLC, MNA Finance Corp. and Law Debenture Trust Company of New York, as Trustee (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant s Form 10-K filed March 14, 2006)
4.9	Form of 8.625% Series A Pass Through Certificate (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.10	Form of 9.125% Series B Pass Through Certificate (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.11	Form of 10.060% Series C Pass Through Certificate (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)

Exhibit No. 4.12(a)	Exhibit Name Pass Through Trust Agreement A between Southern Energy Mid-Atlantic, LLC and State Street Bank and Trust Company of Connecticut, National Association, as Pass Through Trustee, dated as of December 19, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.4a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.12(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical agreements to Pass Through Trust Agreement constituting Exhibit 4.12(a) hereto (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.4b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.13(a)	Participation Agreement (Dickerson L1) among Southern Energy Mid-Atlantic, LLC, as Lessee, Dickerson OL1 LLC, as Owner Lessor, Wilmington Trust Company, as Owner Manager, SEMA OP3, as Owner Participant and State Street Bank and Trust Company of Connecticut, National Association, as Lease Indenture Trustee and as Pass Through Trustee, dated as of December 18, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.5a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.13(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical agreements to Participation Agreement constituting Exhibit 4.13(a) hereto (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.5b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.14(a)	Participation Agreement (Morgantown L1) among Southern Energy Mid-Atlantic, LLC, as Lessee, Morgantown OL1 LLC, as Owner Lessor, Wilmington Trust Company, as Owner Manager, SEMA OP1, as Owner Participant and State Street Bank and Trust Company of Connecticut, National Association, as Lease Indenture Trustee and as Pass Through Trustee, dated as of December 18, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.6a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.14(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical agreements to Participation Agreement constituting Exhibit 4.14(a) hereto (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.6b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.15(a)	Facility Lease Agreement (Dickerson L1) between Southern Energy Mid-Atlantic, LLC, as Lessee, and Dickerson OL1 LLC, as Owner Lessor, dated as of December 19, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.7a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.15(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical agreements to Facility Lease Agreement constituting Exhibit 4.15(a) hereto (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.7b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.16(a)	Facility Lease Agreement (Morgantown L1) between Southern Energy Mid-Atlantic, LLC, as Lessee, and Morgantown OL1 LLC, as Owner Lessor, dated as of December 19, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.8a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.16(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical agreements to Facility Lease Agreement constituting Exhibit 4.16(a) hereto (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.8b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.17(a)	Indenture of Trust, Mortgage and Security Agreement (Dickerson L1) between Dickerson OL1 LLC, as Lessor, and State Street Bank and Trust Company of Connecticut, National Association, as Lease Indenture Trustee, dated as of December 19, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.9a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.17(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical agreements to Indenture of Trust, Mortgage and Security Agreement constituting Exhibit 4.17(a) hereto (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.9b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)

Exhibit No.	Exhibit Name
4.18(a)	Indenture of Trust, Mortgage and Security Agreement (Morgantown L1) between Morgantown OL1 LLC, as Lessor, and State Street Bank and Trust Company of Connecticut, National Association, as Lease Indenture Trustee, dated as of December 19, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.10a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.18(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical agreements to Indenture of Trust, Mortgage and Security Agreement constituting Exhibit 4.18(a) hereto (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.10b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.19(a)	Series A Lessor Note for Dickerson OL1 LLC (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.11a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.19(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical notes to Lessor Notes Constituting Exhibit 4.19(a) (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.11b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.20(a)	Series A Lessor Note for Morgantown OL1 LLC (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.12a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.20(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical notes to Lessor Notes Constituting Exhibit 4.20(a) (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.12b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.21(a)	Series B Lessor Note for Dickerson OL1 LLC (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.13a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.21(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical notes to Lessor Notes Constituting Exhibit 4.21(a) (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.13b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.22(a)	Series B Lessor Note for Morgantown OL1 LLC (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.14a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.22(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical notes to Lessor Notes Constituting Exhibit 4.22(a) (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.14b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.23(a)	Series C Lessor Note for Morgantown OL1 LLC (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.15a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.23(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical notes to Lessor Notes Constituting Exhibit 4.23(a) (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.15b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.24(a)	Supplemental Pass Through Trust Agreement A between Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC, and State Street Bank and Trust Company of Connecticut, National Association, as Pass Through Trustee, dated as of June 29, 2001 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.17a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
4.24(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical to Supplemental Pass Through Trust Agreement constituting Exhibit 4.24(a) hereto (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.17b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)

Exhibit No. 10.1	Exhibit Name Accelerated Share Repurchase Agreement, dated November 9, 2007, by and between Mirant Corporation and J.P. Morgan Securities, Inc., as agent for J.P. Morgan Chase Bank (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 13, 2007)
10.2	Engineering, Procurement and Construction Agreement, dated as of July 30, 2007, between Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC, Mirant Chalk Point, LLC and Stone & Webster, Inc. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 3, 2007)
10.3	Tax Settlement Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2006, by and between Mirant Corporation, Mirant New York, Inc., Mirant Bowline, LLC, Mirant Lovett, LLC, Hudson Valley Gas Corporation and the Town of Haverstraw, the Town of Stony Point, the Haverstraw-Stony Point Central School District, the County of Rockland, the Village of Haverstraw, and the Village of West Haverstraw (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 15, 2006)
10.4	Settlement Agreement and Release dated May 30, 2006 by and between Registrant and PEPCO (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 31, 2006)
10.5	Employment Agreement between Registrant and Robert M. Edgell (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 4, 2006)
10.6	Employment Agreement between Registrant and Thomas Legro (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 1, 2005)
10.7	Employment Agreement between Registrant and James V. Iaco (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 4, 2005)
10.8	Employment Agreement between Registrant and S. Linn Williams (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 4, 2005)
10.9	Employment Agreement between Registrant and Edward R. Muller (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 3, 2005)
10.10	Form of Stock Option Award Agreement (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 16, 2006)
10.11	Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 16, 2006)
10.12	Description of Mirant Corporation Special Bonus Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 11, 2006)
10.13	Mirant Corporation 2006 Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Form 10-Q filed November 7, 2008)
10.14	2006 Short-term Incentive Plan Description (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.55 to the Registrant s Form 10-K filed March 14, 2006)
10.15	Form of Stock Option Award Agreement (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 18, 2006)
10.16	Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 18, 2006)
10.17	2005 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 3, 2006)
10.18*	Second Amended and Restated Mirant Services Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

Exhibit No.	Exhibit Name
10.19	2006 Mirant Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant s Form 10-K filed March 14, 2006)
10.20*	First Amendment to the 2006 Mirant Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan
10.21*	Mirant Services Supplemental Benefit (Savings) Plan
10.22*	Mirant Services Supplemental Benefit (Pension) Plan
10.23	Form of Amended and Restated Mirant Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors and Select Employees (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.55 to the Registrant s Form 10-K filed March 11, 2002)
10.24	First Amendment to the Mirant Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors and Select Employees (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.56 to the Registrant s Form 10-K filed March 11, 2002)
10.25	Second Amendment to the Mirant Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors and Select Employees (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.87 to the Registrant s Form 10-Q filed October 28, 2003)
10.26	Third Amendment to the Mirant Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors and Select Employees (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the Registrant s Form 10-K filed March 15, 2005)
10.27	Fourth Amendment to the Mirant Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors and Select Employees (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant s Form 10-K filed March 14, 2006)
10.28	Mirant North America, LLC Credit Agreement with Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Goldman Sachs Credit Partners L.P., and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Registrant s Form 10-K filed March 14, 2006)
10.29	Payment Guaranty, dated as of December 11, 2006, by Mirant Corporation, to and in favor of Tokyo Crimson Energy Holdings Corporation (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 13, 2006)
10.30	Payment Guaranty, dated as of December 11, 2006, made by The Tokyo Electric Power Company, Incorporated in favor of Mirant Asia-Pacific Ventures, Inc. and Mirant Asia-Pacific Holdings, Inc. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 13, 2006)
10.31	Payment Guaranty, dated as of December 11, 2006, by Marubeni Corporation in favor of Mirant Asia-Pacific Ventures Inc. and Mirant Asia-Pacific Holdings, Inc. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 13, 2006)
10.32*	First Amendment to the Employment Agreement between Registrant and Robert M. Edgell
10.33*	First Amendment to the Employment Agreement between Registrant and Thomas Legro
10.34*	First Amendment to the Employment Agreement between Registrant and James V. Iaco
10.35*	First Amendment to the Employment Agreement between Registrant and S. Linn Williams
10.36*	First Amendment to the Employment Agreement between Registrant and Edward R. Muller
10.37*	Second Amendment to the Employment Agreement between Registrant and Robert M. Edgell
10.38*	Second Amendment to the Employment Agreement between Registrant and Thomas Legro

Exhibit No. 10.39*	Exhibit Name Second Amendment to the Employment Agreement between Registrant and James V. Iaco
10.40*	Second Amendment to the Employment Agreement between Registrant and S. Linn Williams
10.41*	Second Amendment to the Employment Agreement between Registrant and Edward R. Muller
10.42(a)	Facility Site Lease Agreement (Dickerson L1) between Southern Energy Mid-Atlantic, LLC, Dickerson OL1 LLC and Southern Energy MD Ash Management, LLC dated as of December 19, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
10.42(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical agreements to Facility Site Lease Agreement constituting Exhibit 10.42(a) hereto (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
10.43(a)	Facility Site Lease Agreement (Morgantown L1) between Southern Energy Mid-Atlantic, LLC, Morgantown OL1 LLC and Southern Energy MD Ash Management, LLC dated as of December 19, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
10.43(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical agreements to Facility Site Lease Agreement constituting Exhibit 10.43(a) hereto (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
10.44(a)	Facility Site Sublease Agreement (Dickerson L1) between Southern Energy Mid-Atlantic, LLC, Dickerson OL1 LLC dated as of December 19, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
10.44(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical agreements to Facility Site Sublease Agreement constituting Exhibit 10.44(a) hereto (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
10.45(a)	Facility Site Sublease Agreement (Morgantown L1) between Southern Energy Mid-Atlantic, LLC, Morgantown OL1 LLC dated as of December 19, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
10.45(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical agreements to Facility Site Sublease Agreement constituting Exhibit 10.45(a) hereto (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
10.46(a)	Shared Facilities Agreement (Dickerson) between Southern Energy Mid-Atlantic, LLC, Dickerson OL1 LLC, Dickerson OL2 LLC, Dickerson OL3 LLC, and Dickerson OL4 LLC, dated as of December 18, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
10.46(b)	Shared Facilities Agreement (Morgantown) between Southern Energy Mid-Atlantic, LLC, Morgantown OL1 LLC, Morgantown OL2 LLC, Morgantown OL3 LLC, Morgantown OL4 LLC, Morgantown OL5 LLC, Morgantown OL6 LLC, and Morgantown OL7 LLC, dated as of December 18, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
10.47(a)	Assignment and Assumption Agreement (Dickerson) between Southern Energy Mid-Atlantic, LLC, Dickerson OL1 LLC, Dickerson OL3 LLC, and Dickerson OL4 LLC, dated as of December 19, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.16a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)

Exhibit No.	Exhibit Name
10.47(b)	Assignment and Assumption Agreement (Morgantown) between Southern Energy Mid-Atlantic, LLC, Morgantown OL1 LLC, Morgantown OL2 LLC, Morgantown OL3 LLC, Morgantown OL4 LLC, Morgantown OL5 LLC, Morgantown OL6 LLC, and Morgantown OL7 LLC, dated as of December 19, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.16b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
10.48(a)	Ownership and Operation Agreement (Dickerson) between Southern Energy Mid-Atlantic, LLC, Dickerson OL1 LLC, Dickerson OL2 LLC, Dickerson OL3 LLC, and Dickerson OL4 LLC, dated as of December 18, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
10.48(b)	Ownership and Operation Agreement (Morgantown) between Southern Energy Mid-Atlantic, LLC, Morgantown OL1 LLC, Morgantown OL2 LLC, Morgantown OL3 LLC, Morgantown OL4 LLC, Morgantown OL5 LLC, Morgantown OL6 LLC, and Morgantown OL7 LLC, dated as of December 18, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
10.49(a)	Guaranty Agreement (Dickerson L1) between Southern Energy, Inc. and Dickerson OL1 LLC dated as of December 19, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
10.49(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical agreements to Guaranty Agreement constituting Exhibit 10.49(a) hereto (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
10.50(a)	Guaranty Agreement (Morgantown L1) between Southern Energy, Inc. and Morgantown OL1 LLC dated as of December 19, 2000 (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22a to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
10.50(b)	Schedule identifying substantially identical agreements to Guaranty Agreement constituting Exhibit 10.50(a) hereto (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22b to the Mirant Mid-Atlantic, LLC Registration Statement on Form S-4, Registration No. 333-61668)
21.1*	Subsidiaries of Registrant
23.1*	Consent of KPMG LLP dated February 26, 2009
24.1*	Powers of Attorney
31.1*	Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. Section 7241, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2*	Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. Section 7241, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1*	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Rule 13a-14(b))
32.2*	Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Rule 13a-14(b))

* Asterisk indicates exhibits filed herewith.

Date: February 26, 2009

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

MIRANT CORPORATION

By: /s/ Edward R. Muller Edward R. Muller Chairman of the Board, President and

Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

> Signatures /s/ Edward R. Muller

> > Edward R. Muller

Title Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 26, 2009 /s/ JAMES V. IACO Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer James V. Iaco (Principal Financial Officer) Date: February 26, 2009 /s/ THOMAS LEGRO Senior Vice President and Controller (Principal Accounting Officer) Thomas Legro Date: February 26, 2009 * Director A. D. Correll Date: February 26, 2009 * Director Thomas W. Cason Date: February 26, 2009 Director Terry G. Dallas Date: February 26, 2009 * Director Thomas H. Johnson Date: February 26, 2009

Edgar Filing: MIRANT CORP - Form 10-K

*	Director
John T. Miller Date: February 26, 2009	
*	Director
Robert C. Murray Date: February 26, 2009	

Signatures		Title
*	Director	
John M. Quain Date: February 26, 2009		
*	Director	
William L. Thacker Date: February 26, 2009 * By attorney-in-fact.		

/s/ Тномаs Legro Thomas Legro Date: February 26, 2009